## REPROGRAMMING STROMAL CELLS IN CHRONIC INFLAMMATION AND CANCER

EDITED BY: Ioannis S. Pateras, Tomer Cooks, Ana Igea and Océane C. B. Martin PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology







#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88971-960-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88971-960-0

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

## REPROGRAMMING STROMAL CELLS IN CHRONIC INFLAMMATION AND CANCER

Topic Editors: Ioannis S. Pateras, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece Tomer Cooks, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Israel Ana Igea, University of Vigo, Spain Océane C. B. Martin, Université de Bordeaux, France

**Citation:** Pateras, I. S., Cooks, T., Igea, A., Martin, O. C. B., eds. (2021). Reprogramming Stromal Cells in Chronic Inflammation and Cancer. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88971-960-0

# Table of Contents

04 Editorial: Reprogramming Stromal Cells in Chronic Inflammation and Cancer

Ana Igea, Océane C. B. Martin, Tomer Cooks and Ioannis S. Pateras

06 Characterization of Human Colon Organoids From Inflammatory Bowel Disease Patients

Emilie d'Aldebert, Muriel Quaranta, Morgane Sébert, Delphine Bonnet, Sylvain Kirzin, Guillaume Portier, Jean-Pierre Duffas, Sophie Chabot, Philippe Lluel, Sophie Allart, Audrey Ferrand, Laurent Alric, Claire Racaud-Sultan, Emmanuel Mas, Céline Deraison and Nathalie Vergnolle

**19** *Fate of Adipose Progenitor Cells in Obesity-Related Chronic Inflammation* Iryna Pyrina, Kyoung-Jin Chung, Zoi Michailidou, Michael Koutsilieris, Triantafyllos Chavakis and Antonios Chatzigeorgiou

## 27 Fibroblast Reprogramming in Gastrointestinal Cancer Maria-Theodora Melissari, Niki Chalkidi, Michalis E. Sarris and Vasiliki Koliaraki

- 36 Hepatic Stellate Cells and Hepatocarcinogenesis
   Anna E. Barry, Rajkumar Baldeosingh, Ryan Lamm, Keyur Patel, Kai Zhang,
   Dana A. Dominguez, Kayla J. Kirton, Ashesh P. Shah and Hien Dang
- 52 Tumor-Educated Neutrophils Activate Mesenchymal Stem Cells to Promote Gastric Cancer Growth and Metastasis Jiahui Zhang, Cheng Ji, Wei Li, Zheying Mao, Yinghong Shi, Hui Shi, Runbi Ji, Hui Qian, Wenrong Xu and Xu Zhang
- 63 Cellular Interactions and Inflammation in the Pathogenesis of Cutaneous T-Cell Lymphoma

Veronica Stolearenco, Martin R. J. Namini, Siri S. Hasselager, Maria Gluud, Terkild B. Buus, Andreas Willerslev-Olsen, Niels Ødum and Thorbjørn Krejsgaard

75 Stromal Expression of the Core Clock Gene Period 2 Is Essential for Tumor Initiation and Metastatic Colonization

Lee Shaashua, Shimrit Mayer, Chen Lior, Hagar Lavon, Alexander Novoselsky and Ruth Scherz-Shouval

- **87** Organotypic Modeling of the Tumor Landscape Maria M. Haykal, Clara Nahmias, Christine Varon and Océane C. B. Martin
- **105** Targeting NR4A Nuclear Receptors to Control Stromal Cell Inflammation, Metabolism, Angiogenesis, and Tumorigenesis Daniel Crean and Evelyn P. Murphy

Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology





## Editorial: Reprogramming Stromal Cells in Chronic Inflammation and Cancer

## Ana Igea<sup>1†</sup>, Océane C. B. Martin<sup>2†</sup>, Tomer Cooks<sup>3†</sup> and Ioannis S. Pateras<sup>4,5,\*†</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Biomedical Research Center (CINBIO), Universidade de Vigo, Vigo, Spain, <sup>2</sup>Universite de Bordeaux, CNRS, IBGC, UMR5095, Bordeaux, France, <sup>3</sup>The Shraga Segal Department of Microbiology, Immunology and Genetics, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Beer-Sheva, Israel, <sup>4</sup>Department of Histology and Embryology, Medical School, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece, <sup>5</sup>2nd Department of Pathology, "Attikon" University Hospital, Medical School, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece

Keywords: inflammation, reprogramming, chronic inflammatory diseases, cancer, tumor microenvironment, 3D models, organoid, organotypic 3D culture

Editorial on the Research Topic

#### Reprogramming Stromal Cells in Chronic Inflammation and Cancer

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Ruby Yun-Ju Huang, National Taiwan University, Taiwan

#### Reviewed by:

Panayotis Verginis, University of Crete, Greece Açelya Yilmazer, Ankara University, Turkey

#### \*Correspondence:

loannis S. Pateras ipateras@med.uoa.gr ispasath2004@yahoo.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Pathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

Received: 21 June 2021 Accepted: 19 October 2021 Published: 05 November 2021

#### Citation:

Igea A, Martin OCB, Cooks T and Pateras IS (2021) Editorial: Reprogramming Stromal Cells in Chronic Inflammation and Cancer. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 9:728439. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.728439 Despite extensive research effort in recent decades, the underlying mechanisms involved in the reprogramming of stromal cells in chronic inflammatory conditions and cancer are still ill-defined. This research topic includes original research and reviews of important concepts on inflammatory microenvironment remodeling and 3D models.

Adipose progenitor cells constitute a small and heterogeneous group of cells that can be modulated by mature adipocytes as well as by resident immune cells to determine their function and their differentiation potential. Several pathologies can destabilize the relationships created and break the equilibrium. In their review, Pyrina and others summarize the current knowledge about various factors and different immune and stromal cell populations that fate decisions of the adipose progenitor cells in the context of obesity-related inflammation. They define how in the course of obesity the pro-inflammatory microenvironment through multiple contact- and paracrine-mediated interactions shape the differentiation of preadipocytes, towards a pro-fibrotic transcriptional mode that in turn promotes fibrosis.

The NR4A receptors are potent sensors of changes in cellular microenvironment allowing the control of physiological and pathological processes. In their review, Murphy and Crean illustrate how this subfamily of nuclear receptors can be considered as transcriptional regulators in mesenchymal stromal cells, cell cycle progression and cytokine production to control local immune response in physiological or in chronic inflammatory conditions. Authors made a focus on recent advances in the pharmacological control of these receptors.

Gastrointestinal cancers are among the most frequent cancer-types worldwide and have been strongly linked with chronic inflammation. For that reason, current studies and therapies focus on cancer cells but also on the cells present in the tumor microenvironment (TME). Melissari and others review the role of cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs), a major component of the TME, in tumor initiation, promotion and metastasis. They focus on the mechanisms that drive fibroblast reprogramming in gastrointestinal cancers, as well as on recent advances in therapies and patient prognosis.

The role of tumor infiltrating neutrophils in cancer progression of gastric cancer is highly appreciated (Jailon et al., 2020). Zhang and others demonstrated that tumor-educated neutrophils secreted IL-17, IL-23, and TNF $\alpha$ , that induced the transition of mesenchymal stem cells to CAFs. CAFs in turn promoted gastric cancer growth revealing a pro-tumorigenic role of neutrophils in cancer microenvironment.

In an additional publication focusing on CAFs, the emerging grasp of the TME is consistently unfolding even in cellendogenous and evolutionally conserved mechanisms. In their research article, the group led by Ruth Scherz-Shouval have worked on the synchronized cellular circadian clock which was previously reported to facilitate a plethora of processes including gene regulation and homeostasis in the cell. The authors were able to reveal a novel aspect of the circadian clock disrupted during tumorigenesis and metastasis as cancer cells were compared to normal fibroblasts. Out of many related genes, Period 2 (Per2) was identified as a cardinal hub associated with this disruption. When Per2 was eliminated or knocked-out, the authors were able to abolish the metastatic progression. Notably, the expression of Per2 was found mainly in CAFs, a critical component of the TME.

The role of fibroblasts is further described in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (CTCL) which refer to a group of lymphoproliferative diseases characterized by the accumulation of malignant T cells in chronically inflamed skin lesions. In their review, Stoleranco and others describe the crosstalk between fibroblasts, keratinocytes and malignant T cells and how they contribute to CTCL progression. Among the complex signaling networks, authors focus on the activation of STAT proteins, the development of a Th2 inflammatory microenvironment, neovascularization of the tumor tissue and changes in the skin architecture.

Notably, there is growing evidence describing the role of the TME in the development and progression of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) (Santhakumar et al., 2020). HCC typically arises from fibrotic or cirrhotic liver, characterized by alterations in extracellular matrix (ECM) components. Upon various non-tumoral components, such as immune and endothelial cells, the hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) are the tissue-specific pericytes that are now reported to play a major role in HCC progression. The article from the group of Hien Dang reviewed the recent findings connecting the dots in the hepatic TME promoted by intercellular interaction involving HSCs. As fibrosis and cirrhosis are the fundamental preceding conditions for HCC, activation of HSCs is a key factor that contributes to these processes. HSCs were reported to secrete pro-fibrogenic cytokines, to interact with neighboring liver natural killer (NK) cells, to induce senescence and to undergo

#### REFERENCES

- Jaillon, S., Ponzetta, A., Di Mitri, D., Santoni, A., Bonecchi, R., and Mantovani, A. (2020). Neutrophil Diversity and Plasticity in Tumour Progression and Therapy. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 20, 485–503. doi:10.1038/s41568-020-0281-y
- Santhakumar, C., Gane, E. J., Liu, K., and McCaughan, G. W. (2020). Current Perspectives on the Tumor Microenvironment in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Hepatol. Int.* 14 (6), 947–957. doi:10.1007/s12072-020-10104-3

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

an increase in DNA methylation, all contributing to their participation in supporting the tumor cells and their prosperity. Notably, HSCs were found to share intercellular cross talk with T-regulatory cells, Myeloid Derived Suppressor Cells (MDSCs) and endothelial cells suggested by their ability to produce angiogenic factors. Furthermore, HSCs were reported to interact with non-cellular elements in the tissue, mostly evident by the ability to remodel the ECM directly. The conception that HSCs play a dramatic role in HCC development, can be translated into the clinics by using drugs such as metformin (targeting the JNK pathway) or anti-angiogenic agents.

Two studies in this special issue highlight the advantages of 3D models to study human pathology. Vergnolle and others characterized morphological and functional phenotypes of colonic organoids from Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) and control patients. The authors demonstrated that IBD organoid cultures preserved an inflammatory phenotype and that clinically used treatments reduced some parameters associated with this inflammatory phenotype. This study highlights that IBD patient organoids constitute a reliable human pre-clinical model to study IBD pathology and investigate new strategies targeting epithelial repair. In the second study, Haykal and others, depict the importance of using and developing new models and tools taking into consideration tissue complexity. A focus is made on organotypic models allowing to study cancer progression in complex settings and offering potential benefits for personalized medicine.

Altogether, these topical articles highlight the complex interactions between parenchymal cells and the surrounding stroma in different contexts. Besides, the advantages of 3D models to study the human pathophysiology of chronic inflammatory diseases and cancer and for pharmacological drug testing are underlined. In the era of personalized medicine, a profound knowledge of tissue microenvironment could improve prognosis and therapy in clinical practice.

#### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AI, OM, TC, and IP conceived and wrote the editorial.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Igea, Martin, Cooks and Pateras. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Characterization of Human Colon Organoids From Inflammatory Bowel Disease Patients

Emilie d'Aldebert<sup>1</sup>, Muriel Quaranta<sup>1</sup>, Morgane Sébert<sup>1</sup>, Delphine Bonnet<sup>2</sup>, Sylvain Kirzin<sup>3</sup>, Guillaume Portier<sup>1,3</sup>, Jean-Pierre Duffas<sup>3</sup>, Sophie Chabot<sup>4</sup>, Philippe Lluel<sup>4</sup>, Sophie Allart<sup>5</sup>, Audrey Ferrand<sup>1</sup>, Laurent Alric<sup>2</sup>, Claire Racaud-Sultan<sup>1</sup>, Emmanuel Mas<sup>1,6</sup>, Céline Deraison<sup>1</sup> and Nathalie Vergnolle<sup>1,7\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> IRSD, INSERM, INRA, ENVT, UPS, Université de Toulouse, Toulouse, France, <sup>2</sup> Department of Internal Medicine and Digestive Diseases, CHU Purpan, Toulouse, France, <sup>3</sup> Pole Digestif, CHU de Toulouse, Toulouse, France, <sup>4</sup> Urosphere SAS, Toulouse, France, <sup>5</sup> Plateforme d'Imagerie, CPTP, INSERM, INRA, ENVT, UPS, Université de Toulouse, Toulouse, France, <sup>6</sup> Unité de Gastroentérologie, Hépatologie, Nutrition, Diabétologie et Maladies Héréditaires du Métabolisme, Hôpital des Enfants, CHU de Toulouse, Toulouse, France, <sup>7</sup> Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Océane C. B. Martin, Université de Bordeaux, France

#### Reviewed by:

John Charles Rotondo, University of Ferrara, Italy Martha Ruskin Stampfer, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, United States

\*Correspondence: Nathalie Vergnolle nathalie.vergnolle@inserm.fr

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

> Received: 11 March 2020 Accepted: 23 April 2020 Published: 04 June 2020

#### Citation:

d'Aldebert E, Quaranta M, Sébert M, Bonnet D, Kirzin S, Portier G, Duffas J-P, Chabot S, Lluel P, Allart S, Ferrand A, Alric L, Racaud-Sultan C, Mas E, Deraison C and Vergnolle N (2020) Characterization of Human Colon Organoids From Inflammatory Bowel Disease Patients. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 8:363. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.00363 Inflammatory Bowel Diseases (IBD) are chronic inflammatory disorders, where epithelial defects drive, at least in part, some of the pathology. We reconstituted human intestinal epithelial organ, by using three-dimension culture of human colon organoids. Our aim was to characterize morphological and functional phenotypes of control (non-IBD) organoids, compared to inflamed organoids from IBD patients. The results generated describe the epithelial defects associated with IBD in primary organoid cultures, and evaluate the use of this model for pharmacological testing of anti-inflammatory approaches. Human colonic tissues were obtained from either surgical resections or biopsies, all harvested in non-inflammatory zones. Crypts were isolated from controls (non-IBD) and IBD patients and were cultured up to 12-days. Morphological (size, budding formation, polarization, luminal content), cell composition (proliferation, differentiation, immaturity markers expression), and functional (chemokine and tight junction protein expression) parameters were measured by immunohistochemistry, RT-qPCR or western-blot. The effects of inflammatory cocktail or anti-inflammatory treatments were studied in controls and IBD organoid cultures respectively. Organoid cultures from controls or IBD patients had the same cell composition after 10 to 12days of culture, but IBD organoid cultures showed an inflammatory phenotype with decreased size and budding capacity, increased cell death, luminal debris, and inverted polarization. Tight junction proteins were also significantly decreased in IBD organoid cultures. Inflammatory cytokine cocktail reproduced this inflammatory phenotype in non-IBD organoids. Clinically used treatments (5-ASA, glucocorticoids, anti-TNF) reduced some, but not all parameters. Inflammatory phenotype is associated with IBD epithelium, and can be studied in organoid cultures. This model constitutes a reliable human pre-clinical model to investigate new strategies targeting epithelial repair.

#### Keywords: inflammation, Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis, organoid, intestine

Abbreviations: CD, Crohn's disease; IBD, inflammatory bowel diseases; UC, ulcerative colitis.

## INTRODUCTION

Inflammatory Bowel Diseases (IBD) are chronic inflammatory disorders of the intestine that include Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC). IBD cause lifelong inflammatory disorders and severely impair the quality of life in patients (Panaccione et al., 2005). Current treatments target the inflammatory reaction per se, and in particular the recruitment of inflammatory cells (Neurath, 2017). However, the idea that a healed intestinal epithelium is necessary in addition to inhibition of immune cell recruitment has emerged. Mucosal healing is now considered as the next therapeutic challenge for IBD. This means that not only symptomatic improvement is expected with treatment, but also endoscopic remission, showing repaired tissues (absence of frailty, blood, erosion or ulcers) (Dave and Loftus, 2012). Indeed, a more favorable prognosis is associated with mucosal healing: patients having lower relapse and hospitalization rates (Peyrin-Biroulet et al., 2011; Burisch et al., 2013). Some of the current treatments used in the clinic are considered to favor, at least in part epithelial healing. This is the case for Mesalamine (5-ASA) (Baumgart et al., 2005), but also for anti-Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF) (Fischer et al., 2013) and glucocorticoid treatments, which restore barrier function (Fischer et al., 2014). However, their effects on epithelial functions are considered very limited and the hope for future treatments is to strengthen the effects of therapies on epithelial healing.

The consensus to explain IBD's etiology is to consider that in genetically predisposed individuals, a combination of immune disorders with intrinsic (epithelial barrier function for instance) and extrinsic (microbiota) factors lead to the development of chronic inflammation. Genome-wide association studies have identified a number of epithelial mediators and epithelial signaling pathways associated with IBD (McCole, 2014). These studies brought the epithelium at the forefront for the development of new therapeutic strategies, although epithelial dysfunctions in IBD have not been exhaustively defined yet (Khor et al., 2011; Rivas et al., 2011; McCole, 2014). Novel models focusing on epithelial biology are therefore necessary in the context of IBD. Such models are important both to better characterize epithelial dysfunctions associated with IBD and to assess new therapeutic strategies aiming at promoting intestinal epithelium healing.

The technological breakthrough represented by the culture of organoids from isolated tissue stem cells now allows to re-create in vitro an intestinal epithelial organ (Sato and Clevers, 2013). This technology is based on the isolation of intestinal crypts, which are then cultured in three-dimensions. In the presence of appropriate growth factors, intestinal stem cells present in the isolated crypts proliferate and enter into differentiation processes, recreating a complex epithelium, which contains all cell types that compose the intestinal epithelium (paneth cells, enteroendocrine cells, goblet cells, enterocytes, tuft cells, etc.). The epithelium generated by three-dimension cultures of isolated crypts closes on itself, forming a sphere, in which epithelial cells are orientated with their apical side toward the lumen (Sébert et al., 2018). While a number of studies have employed culture organoids from intestinal crypts (Sugimoto et al., 2018; Yip et al., 2018; Ramesh et al., 2019), only very few studies have investigated the possibility to culture organoids from IBD patient-isolated intestinal crypts (Dotti et al., 2017; Noben et al., 2017; Howell et al., 2018). Importantly, they reported transcriptional or methylation differences between organoids from UC or CD patients compared to controls (Dotti et al., 2017; Howell et al., 2018). Both studies suggested that intestinal epithelial cells undergo changes during IBD development that could be involved in pathogenesis. However, none of these two studies has performed any characterization of the morphology, cell composition or functions of IBD organoid cultures. The potential for human IBD organoid cultures to be used as a model to test therapeutic options that could target the epithelium in IBD has not yet been addressed either. Here, we have characterized the morphological and functional phenotype of IBD patient's epithelium by using organoid cultures. Further, we have tried to establish whether organoid cultures from IBD patients could be used to test therapeutic approaches on epithelial healing.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Human Tissue Materials**

Biological samples were obtained from individuals treated at the Toulouse University Hospital who gave informed consent. The MICILIP research protocol was approved by the national ethics committee (#NCT01990716) and was financially supported by the Toulouse University Hospital (Denadai-Souza et al., 2018). The biocollection that included colonic resections was approved under the CODECOH national agreement: Colic collection: DC2015-2443). These samples were freshly collected from non-IBD controls (healthy zones of tissues resected from patients with colorectal cancer or endometriosis) and from IBD patients (in non-inflammatory zones). Tissues were collected from 26 patients with Crohn's disease, 8 patients with ulcerative colitis, and from 18 non-IBD patients. Characteristics and treatments for patients are provided in **Supplementary Table S1**.

## Isolation and Culture of Colon Crypts

Fresh colonic tissues or biopsies were harvested and colon crypts were isolated and cultured mostly as previously described (Jung et al., 2011; Sato et al., 2011), with some adaptation that are described in **Supplementary Material**.

## Treatments

Control organoids were treated by a pro-inflammatory cytokines cocktail [IL-1 $\beta$ , IL6, TNF- $\alpha$  (PeproTech)] at the concentration of 10 ng/ml (**Supplementary Figure S1**). IBD organoids were treated independently by three routinely used medications for the treatment of IBD patients: (anti-TNF $\alpha$  or 100  $\mu$ M), methylprednisolone (10 or 100  $\mu$ M), and 5-ASA (50 or 500  $\mu$ M) (**Supplementary Figure S2**).

## Immunofluorescence Labeling

Organoids (in chamber slide) were fixed with 4% formaldehyde (FA, Sigma Aldrich) in Hank's Buffered Salt Solution (HBSS, Gibco) at 37°C for 40 min. Organoids were permeabilized with 0.5% triton X-100 (Sigma Aldrich) in HBSS at RT for 40 min and were incubated with a blocking buffer containing 3%

bovine serum albumin (BSA, Sigma Aldrich) in HBSS overnight at 4°C. Organoids were incubated 2 h at 37°C with primary antibodies. Next, organoids were incubated with secondary antibodies 1.5 h at 37°C and then stained for 20 min with DAPI (Invitrogen) and Phalloidin (see **Supplementary Table S2** for all antibodies) (Cenac et al., 2015). Finally, slides were mounted with Vectashield mounting medium (VectoLaboratories).

#### **Colonoid Imaging**

The images of organoids were taken by confocal microscopy with a Leica SP8. Image J software was used to process and analyze images. Ten images at 20X and 10 images at 63X objectives were analyzed for each well, and an average of 2 wells were analyzed for each condition. To assess barrier function, organoids were incubated with 1 mg/ml of fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)labeled dextran 4-kDa for 2-h at 37°C, and images were analyzed on a confocal microscope with a X63 lense.

## **RNA and Protein Extraction**

After an average of 10 days of culture, organoids (8–10 wells in 48 wells plates) were incubated in cell recovery solution (Corning) for 30 min at 4°C. After centrifugation, pellet-containing cells were resuspended in RP1 buffer (NucleoSpin® RNA/Protein kit, Macherey Nagel). Total RNA and protein were extracted according to the manufacturer's protocol.

## **Reverse Transcription, and Real-Time Quantitative PCR Analysis**

One  $\mu$ g of each purified RNA preparation was reversetranscribed using Maxima First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Fermentas Life sciences) and cDNAs were analyzed by qPCR using relevant primers as previously described (Rolland-Fourcade et al., 2017). qPCR analysis was performed on a LightCycler® 480 Real-time PCR system device (Roche Applied Science) using the LightCycler® 480 SYBR Green I Master (Roche Applied Science), according to the manufacturer's instructions, and specific primers (**Supplementary Table S3**). All experiments included a standard curve and all samples were analyzed in duplicate and expressed as a relative amount (2– $\Delta$ Ct). Relative expression of targeted genes was compared to GlycerAldehyde-3-Phosphate DesHydrogenase (GAPDH).

## Western Blot

Fifty microgram of total proteins were separated by 4–20% Mini-Protean Gel (Bio-Rad). Separated proteins were transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane. Primary antibodies (**Supplementary Table S2**) as well as peroxidase conjugated secondary antibodies were used according to standard Western blot procedures. Peroxidase was detected by using the ECL<sup>TM</sup> Prime Western Blotting system (GE Healthcare). Quantification of signals was done using Image Lab software (Bio-Rad).

## **Metabolic Activity Assay**

Organoids were plated in 96-wells opaque plates after 6 or 9 days of culture. CellTiter-Glo<sup>®</sup> 3D reagent (Promega, France) was added to each well (volume 1:1), and incubated for 30-min

at room temperature (Sébert et al., 2018). Triplicate measures were performed for each condition. Luminescence was measured with a Varioskan Flash (Thermo Scientific), and images of each well were taken with Apotome, in order to evaluate the surface occupied by all organoids (Fiji software). Results were normalized with the ATP standard curve and were expressed as ATP concentration per total surface of organoids.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Analyses were performed using the GraphPad Prism 5 software. Statistical significance was determined by Student's *t*-test, Mann–Whitney, and Wilcoxon tests where appropriate. Significance was accepted for p < 0.05.

## RESULTS

## **Characterization of Colonoid Cultures**

Human colon crypts were purified from fresh tissue samples obtained from colectomies or biopsies harvested in healthy zones of non-IBD patient tissues. Crypts fragments (Figure 1A day 0 panel) were cultured in a three-dimensional Matrigel matrix for 10-12 days. CD45 immunostaining was negative in all crypt fragment samples, indicating that no inflammatory cells were present before the organoid culture began (not shown). Within the first 2 days, crypt architecture disappeared to form organoid structures composed of a monolayer of epithelial cells and a central lumen. At days 10-12 of culture, two types of structures were observed: colonospheres, which are composed of a monolayer of epithelial cells with a central lumen and colonoids exhibiting budding crypts (Figure 1). The epithelium of colonospheres and colonoids was polarized, with the basolateral side facing outwards ( $\beta$ -catenin labeling) and the apical side oriented toward the lumen (actin labeling) (Figure 1B).

At 10–12-days of culture, human colon organoids had positive staining for cytokeratin 20 (**Figure 2A**), chromogranin A (**Figure 2B**), and mucin 2 (**Figure 2C**), demonstrating that differentiated cells: colonocytes, enteroendocrine cells, and goblet cells respectively, were present in cultured colon organoids (**Figure 2**). In 12-days cultured organoids, epithelial turnover was present and characterized by Ki67 staining in proliferative zones and active caspase-3 staining in apoptotic zones (**Figures 2D,E**). Interestingly, apoptosis as revealed by caspase-3 staining was predominantly observed inside the lumen of organoids. Finally, 10–12-days cultured human colon organoids demonstrated functional barrier properties, as observed by cobblestone organization of epithelial cells highlighted by occludin staining (**Figure 2F**) and by the lack of passage of fluorescent dextran 4-kDa added to the medium (**Figure 2G**).

## Organoids From IBD Patients Have a Morphological Phenotype Different From Healthy Controls and Retain Some Inflammatory Features

Next, crypts isolated from tissues of both non-IBD and IBD patients (Crohn's and ulcerative colitis) were cultured. In IBD



patients, tissues for crypt isolation were harvested at the margin of the inflamed zone, where the epithelium was still intact. Five categories of organoid structures were present in these cultures (Figure 3A). (1) Organoids with a simple columnar epithelium, (2) Organoids with a simple squamous epithelium, (3) Pseudostratified epithelium (4) Organoids with both squamous and columnar epithelium depending on the zones within the organoid and (5) Transitional structures, where the epithelium showed no organization. The proportion of simple columnar organoids was significantly decreased in IBD patient organoid cultures compared to controls (Figure 3A). In contrast, the proportion of pseudostratified structures was significantly increased in IBD patient organoid cultures compared to controls (Figure 3A). This last observation is consistent with the fact that in tissues from IBD patients, pseudostratified epithelium is often observed in healing zones (Feakins and British Society of Gastroenterology., 2013).

In addition, organoids from IBD patients had a significant smaller size than control organoids (**Figure 3B**). Similarly, the ratio of the number of colonoids (as opposed to colonospheres) over the total number of structures was significantly lower in organoids from IBD patients, as compared to control organoids (**Figure 3C**). As a matter of fact, mostly immature colonospheres were observed in cultures of organoids from IBD patients. As described above, in organoid cultures from control tissues, the organoids were polarized, with an apical side oriented toward the lumen. We called these organoids "orientated" (see **Figure 3D**). However, we noticed that in organoid cultures from IBD patients, a large number of organoids had an inverse orientation, with the cortical actin staining (representative of the apical side) facing outwards of the structures (photomicrograph in Figure 3D). We called these structures "inverted" and we quantified them. The proportion of inverted structures in organoid cultures from IBD patient was significantly higher than in cultures of control organoids, with nearly three times more inverted organoids (Figure 3D). Some organoids had debris inside their lumen, most likely due to excessive cell death, while others had clear lumen (Figure 3E microphotographs). We quantified the proportion of "clear" lumen structures and found it significantly lower in organoid cultures from IBD patients compared to controls (Figure 3E).

The expression of functional molecules characteristic of an inflammatory phenotype was studied in organoid cultures from IBD patients and controls. First, the mRNA expression of inflammatory cytokines such as MCP1 (Figure 4A), CXCL-8 (Figure 4B), and IP-10 (not shown) was similar in colon organoids from IBD patients or controls. Second, Western blot analysis of tight junction proteins revealed a significant decreased expression of ZO1, Occludin and Claudin-1 for colon organoids from IBD patients compared to controls (Figure 4C-F).

Metabolic status of organoids was investigated by dosing ATP in organoid cultures (**Figure 5**). Organoids from IBD patients demonstrated a significantly reduced viability/metabolic activity status, compared to cultured organoids from control non-IBD. This significant difference was observed both at day 6 and day 9 of culture (**Figure 5**).



Taken together, these data demonstrated that cultured colon organoids from IBD patients have a different phenotype from non-IBD controls. After 10–12 days of culture, IBD epithelial organoids retained some inflammatory features, such as pseudostratification, slow growth, altered polarization and decreased expression of tight junction proteins. Interestingly, these inflammatory features appeared both in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis organoid cultures.

## Pro-inflammatory Cocktail Can Induce a Pro-inflammatory Phenotype in Control Organoids

We next investigated whether inflammatory stimulation of control non-IBD organoid cultures could induce an inflammatory phenotype in cultured organoids. We stimulated control colon organoid cultures at day 3 and day 6 of cultures, with an inflammatory cocktail composed of Interleukin-1, Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha (TNF $\alpha$ ) and Interleukin-6 (10 ng/ml each) (**Supplementary Figure S1**). Inflammatory cocktail stimulation did not significantly change the distribution of organoid categories (columnar, squamous, pseudostratified, transitional, etc.) (**Figure 3A**). However, incubation with the inflammatory cocktail significantly reduced the size of organoids in cultures (**Figure 3B**), the proportion of colonoids (**Figure 3C**) and increased the number of "inverted" organoid structures (**Figure 3D**), while having no effect on the proportion of "clear lumen" structures (**Figure 3E**). Incubation with the inflammatory cocktail was also able to induce a significant mRNA overexpression by colon organoids of the two inflammatory chemokines MCP-1 (**Figure 4A**) and CXCL-8 (**Figure 4B**), but did not change the expression of IP-10 (not shown). Inflammatory stimulation of control non-IBD organoid cultures significantly decreased the expression of tight junction proteins ZO1, and Occludin, but not Claudin-1, compared to control (unstimulated) condition (**Figures 4C-F**). Finally, cell viability as observed by measurement of ATP production was also significantly reduced in control organoids incubated with the inflammatory cocktail, but this reduction was observed right after the stimulation (day 6), and did not last at day 9 (**Figure 5**).

## Cell Composition Is Identical Between Controls and Inflamed Organoids

We wanted to determine whether the inflammatory phenotype observed for IBD organoids and for inflammatory cocktailstimulated organoids could be explained by different organoid cell composition compared to controls. We therefore investigated the mRNA expression of proliferation genes (cyclin D1 and Ki67), the expression of intestinal stem cell markers (LGR5 and Ephrin B2), and the expression of differentiation markers (KRT20, Chromogranin A and MUC2). Cyclin D1 and Ki67, two proliferation markers were similarly expressed



#### FIGURE 3 | Continued

Kruskal Wallis, and Dunns). (A) Morphological classification of cultured organoids in subgroups: simple columnar, simple squamous, pseudostratified columnar, simple squamous and columnar, and transitional. Control organoids derived from non-IBD patients were represented by black signs, blue signs represented control organoids treated with an inflammatory cocktail (IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-6, at 10 ng/ml) from day 3 to day 10. Organoids derived from IBD patient tissues were represented by red lines. *P*-value < 0.05 (One way anova, Kruskal–Wallis, and Dunns). For (**B–E**), control organoids cultured from non-IBD patient tissues were represented by circles, square signs represented control organoids treated with an inflammatory cocktail (IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-6, at 10 ng/ml) from day 3 to day 10. Organoids cultured from non-IBD patient tissues were represented by circles, square signs represented control organoids treated with an inflammatory cocktail (IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-6, at 10 ng/ml) from day 3 to day 10, and organoids derived from IBD patient tissues were represented by triangles: open symbols for Ulcerative Colitis and closed symbols for Cronh's disease. (**B**) Average size of organoids (µm). (**C**) The number of colonoids (budding structures) per total number of organoid closed symbols for visualize oriented (actin labeling toward the lumen) (right panel). (**D**) DAPI nucleus (cyan) and actin (blue) labeling were used in cross sections of organoid cultures (right panels) to visualize oriented (actin labeling toward the lumen) (right puper panel) and inverted organoids (oriented plus inverted) was represented. (**E**) Nuclei labeling in cross sections of organoids to visualize clear (right upper panel) and dense (right bottom panel) lumen, the arrow showed the presence of debris in the lumen. The number of organoids with "clear" empty lumen per total number of organoids (empty, dense and without lumen) was represented.

in control organoid cultures and in inflamed organoids (both inflammatory cocktail-stimulated and IBD organoids (**Figures 6A,B**). Intestinal stem cell markers LGR5 and Ephrin B2 were also similarly expressed in control organoids and inflamed organoids (**Figures 6C,D**). Finally, the differentiation markers KRT20, Chromogranin A and MUC2 were also similarly expressed in the three types of organoid cultures: controls non-IBD, controls non-IBD plus inflammatory cocktail, or IBD organoids (**Figures 6E–G**).

Taken together, these results suggested that inflamed organoids have similar proliferation, stem cell and differentiation capacities compared to controls. Differences in biological activities of inflamed organoids rather than their cell composition might explain their morphological and functional differences.

#### Effects of Clinically Used Treatments on the Inflammatory Phenotype of Human Colon Organoids From IBD Patients

Human colon organoids from IBD patients were cultured in the presence or not of treatments currently used in the clinics: 5-ASA, methyl-prednisolone and anti-TNF (see Supplementary Figure S2 for protocol). Four morphological parameters significantly altered in IBD organoid cultures compared to controls were followed: (1) the size of organoids (Figure 7A), (2) the proportion of colonoids (budding structures) (Figure 7B), (3) the proportion of structures with empty (clear) lumen (Figure 7C) and (4) the polarity of organoids (Figure 7D). The purpose of these experiments was to investigate whether clinically used treatments can modify the inflammatory phenotype of individual patient organoid cultures. Overall, considering the medians (shown by the line in each groups of Figure 7), all treatments had positive effects on some of the observed parameter, in a dose-dependent manner. However, not all treatments were efficient on all parameters.

Considering the lower size of IBD organoid structures compared to non-inflamed organoids, anti-TNF and 5-ASA, but not methyl prednisolone treatments had a significant effect, increasing the size of organoids compared to the no-treatment condition (**Figure 7A**). Both anti-TNF and 5-ASA treatments were able to bring the size of some IBD organoid cultures toward the level of controls (doted line) (**Figure 7A**). Only the highest dose of anti-TNF treatment and the two doses of 5-ASA treatment significantly increased the size of organoids compared to untreated cultures (**Figure 7A**). The positive effects of 5-ASA and anti-TNF treatments on the size of IBD organoids were observed both on Crohn's and ulcerative colitis organoid cultures (**Figure 7A**).

IBD organoid cultures showed a very low proportion of budding structures compared to controls. This is characterized by low counts of colonoids (**Figures 3C**, **7B**). All three treatments (anti-TNF, methyl prednisolone and 5-ASA) trended to bring the proportion of colonoids to control levels (doted line), but only the highest dose of prednisolone treatment was able to increase significantly the proportion of budding structures, compared to the untreated culture condition (**Figure 7B**). Positive effects of treatments on colonoid counts were observed both in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis organoid cultures (**Figure 7B**).

The number of empty (clear) lumen structures in organoid cultures was significantly decreased in IBD organoids compared to non-inflamed organoids (**Figure 3E**). This decreased proportion of organoids with clear lumen was unchanged in cultures containing anti-TNF or 5-ASA, but was significantly increased by the two doses of prednisolone added to the culture media (**Figure 7C**). For this parameter as well, the positive effect of prednisolone treatment was observed similarly in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis organoid cultures (**Figure 7C**).

Finally, it was observed that organoids from IBD patients had an increased inverted polarization compared to noninflamed controls (**Figures 3D**, **7D**). Treatment with anti-TNF did not reduce significantly the proportion of inverted organoids compared to untreated conditions, but the median of highest dose of anti-TNF treatment was close to the uninflamed (non-IBD) level (doted line). The highest dose of ethyl prednisolone treatment and the two doses of 5-ASA treatments significantly reduced the number of inverted organoids compared to untreated culture (**Figure 7D**). The positive effect of treatment was observed similarly in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis organoid cultures (**Figure 7D**).

## DISCUSSION

The present study brings a number of new and important information on organoid cultures. It characterizes both morphological, and gene expression changes in primary organoid cultures from IBD patients, compared to primary organoid cultures from the colon of non-IBD individuals. Importantly,



**FIGURE 4** | Chemokine (MCP-1 and CXCL-8) and tight junction molecule (ZO-1, Occludin and Claudin-1) mRNA and protein expression respectively, in controls (circles), controls exposed to an inflammatory cocktail (IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-6, at 10 ng/ml) from day 3 to day 10 (squares) and organoids from IBD patients (triangles): ulcerative colitis (UC) patients (opened triangles) and Crohn's disease (CD) patients (closed triangles). mRNA or proteins were extracted from organoids after 10 days of culture and data were normalized by GAPDH or actin expression respectively. Red lines represented medians. *P*-value < 0.05 for \*, <0.01 for \*\*, and <0.005 for \*\*\*(One-way Anova, Kruskal Wallis, and Dunns). **(A)** MCP1 mRNA expression. **(B)** IL-8 mRNA expression. **(C)** Representative Western-blot of the ZO-1, Occludin, Claudin-1 and Actin protein expression in tissues from 3 representative samples from controls (non-IBD), and IBD (Crohn's disease: CD, and ulcerative colitis: UC) patients. **(D)** Quantification of ZO-1 relative protein expression. **(E)** Quantification of Occludin relative protein expression. **(F)** Quantification of Claudin relative protein expression.

these data demonstrated that even after 10–12 days of culture, and in absence of any further immunological stimulation (no CD45 staining in isolated crypts), crypt stem cells isolated from IBD tissues regrow abnormal epithelium. This could be due to the long-term impregnation to inflammatory mediators of crypts isolated from IBD patient tissues. To grow organoids, tissues were harvested at the margin of inflamed tissues in non-inflamed zones. This choice was made in order to be certain that the



9-days and harvested from control (non-IBD) patients (circles), control (non-IBD) organoids exposed to inflammatory cocktail (IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-6, at 10 ng/ml) from day 3 to day 10 (squares) and organoids from IBD patients (triangles): ulcerative colitis (UC) patients (opened triangles) and Crohn's disease (CD) patients (closed triangles). Red lines represented medians. *P*-value < 0.05 for \* and <0.01 for \*\* (One-way Anova, Kruskal Wallis, and Dunns).

isolated epithelium would be intact of ulcers and that sufficient and reproducible crypt numbers would be isolated. Therefore, isolated crypts might have been exposed chronically to adjacent inflammatory mediators. Such chronic exposure of intestinal epithelium to inflammatory mediators could induce epigenetic changes that are conserved in organoid cultures even in the absence of inflammatory mediators. Indeed, epigenetic variations have been identified in tissues from IBD patients (Kellermayer, 2012; McGovern et al., 2015). Interestingly, another recent study performed with organoid cultures from ulcerative colitis patients also suggests an imprinting of IBD stem cells (Dotti et al., 2017). In that study, authors identified a set of genes that exhibited sustained differential expression in cultured organoids from ulcerative colitis patients. These genes include LYZ, CLDN18, hZG16, hCLCA1, MUC12, and AQP8, which are involved in antimicrobial, barrier, mucus production or water transport functions. Another study recently confirmed that differential expression of mucus production gene (MUC2) is observed in organoids from IBD patients, and in particular from Crohn's disease patients, compared to controls (Noben et al., 2017). Taken together, such data implies that long-lasting epithelial defects are present in IBD patient epithelium, and may be acquired during the course of the disease thereby contributing to the perpetuation of the pathology. Another hypothesis to explain the IBD phenotype in organoid cultures, is that some genetic mutations that have been associated with IBD are involved in architectural organization of the colonic epithelium, conferring a permanent epithelial phenotype. This could be confirmed in future studies that would perform IBD organoid cultures after several cell passages, but it was not the purpose of the present study. Large-scale genome-wide association studies have identified more than 200 loci associated with IBD (Liu et al., 2015). Some of these genes are involved in innate immune response, impaired mechanisms of phagocytosis and autophagy, T cell signaling, but also epithelial barrier function (Prager et al., 2015). For instance, genes such as ECM1, CDH1, LAMB1, ADAM17A, KIND1/FERMT1 or HNF4a are known to be involved in barrier function and single nucleotide polymorphism has been associated with IBD for these genes (Kern et al., 2007; Blaydon et al., 2011; Bianco et al., 2015). If such polymorphism is associated with a functional phenotype of impaired barrier function, then this could explain the decreased expression of tight junction proteins we observed in cultured organoids. The OSMR gene coding for the Oncostatin M receptor is also associated with IBD and is known to promote epithelial cell proliferation. Here again, such mutation could explain the smaller size of IBD organoids we observed (Beigel et al., 2014; Bianco et al., 2015). Mutations in the type VII collagen gene COL7A1 are associated with IBD (Freeman et al., 2008; Uhlig, 2013). Considering the major role of type VII collagen in keratinocyte polarity (Dayal et al., 2014), a similar role could be proposed in intestinal epithelial cells, although no studies have yet investigated such role in this cell type. The inverted phenotype that we observed in 70% of IBD organoids could be explained by such mutation. Future studies will be needed to investigate the association of IBD gene polymorphism with specific organoid culture phenotype. However, our present study also highlights the possibility for pharmacological intervention to revert, at least in part, some of the inflammatory phenotype of organoid cultures. This could undermine the importance of genetic defects in IBD-associated epithelial dysfunctions. Altogether, the present model of primary organoid cultures could be considered as a most relevant model to recapitulate in vitro, the epithelial defects associated with IBD, and to potentially follow IBD epithelial features.

Our results generated with IBD patient organoid cultures suggested that inflamed organoids have similar proliferation, stem cell and differentiation capacities compared to controls. This was evidenced by the conserved expression of proliferation genes cyclin D1 and Ki67, of intestinal stem cell markers LGR5 and Ephrin B2, and of differentiation markers KRT20, Chromogranin A and MUC2. Similar results were reported by a recent study in which, organoid cultures from ulcerative colitis patients were compared to organoid cultures from non-inflamed controls, showing similar self-renewal capacity and comparable molecular features (Dotti et al., 2016). Importantly, the organoid structures that were followed in the present study expressed the cytokeratin-20 (KRT20) protein (Figure 2A), providing proofs of success in achieving human primary keratinocyte cultures as previously demonstrated (Torreggiani et al., 2019), and confirming the epithelial origin of those cells.

A second important point highlighted by the present study is that the phenotype of inflamed organoid can be recapitulated *in vitro*, by exposing control organoids to an inflammatory cocktail. We showed that a cytokine cocktail induced in control organoid cultures, the same size reduction, inverted phenotype, decreased proportion of colonoids, ZO-1 and Occludin decreased expression, decreased metabolic activity as it was observed in IBD patient organoid cultures. This suggests that *in vivo* as



**FIGURE 6** [mRNA expression of proliferation markers [Cyclin D1 and Ki67 (**A**) and (**B**) respectively], immaturity markers [LGR5 and Ephrin B2 (**C**) and (**D**) respectively], and differentiation markers [Carbonic Anhydrase-1: CA1, Cytokeratine-20: KRT20 (**E**), Carbonic Anhydrase-1: CA1 (**F**), and Mucin 2: MUC2 (**G**)] in 10 days cultured organoids from controls (circles), control organoids exposed to inflammatory cocktail (IL-1β, TNF-α, and IL-6, at 10 ng/ml) from day 3 to day 10 of cultures (squares) and organoids from IBD patients (triangles): ulcerative colitis (UC) patients (opened triangles) and Crohn's disease (CD) patients (closed triangles). Data were normalized to GAPDH. Red lines in graphs represented medians. No statistical significant difference was observed.

well, these parameters might be under the long-term control of inflammatory mediators. However, some other features of IBD organoids were not recapitulated in control organoids exposed to the inflammatory cocktail. This involves the increased presence of apoptotic debris in the lumen of IBD organoids, and their decreased expression of Claudin-1. This means that for these parameters, short-term exposure to inflammatory mediators might not be sufficient to induce this particular phenotype. Rather, genomic imprinting or mutation might be involved to induce these epithelial phenotypes. Indeed, a frequent occurrence of private variants of the X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein has been associated with Crohn's disease (Zeissig et al., 2015). Importantly, some inflammatory features such as chemokine (CXCL-8 and MCP-1) release are induced by transient exposure to inflammatory cocktail, but are not maintained in IBD organoid cultures (**Figures 4A,B**). This could mean that in the context of IBD, the regulation of those genes does not depend on longterm imprinting or gene mutation, but is a consequence of acute inflammatory response. Therefore, this model of stimulated organoid culture appears as a unique new tool that will help defining intestinal epithelium gene regulation by individual or combined mediators. In addition, it will clearly serve to screen



**FIGURE 7** | Effects of different treatments used in clinics on the morphological characteristics of IBD organoids. IBD organoids were derived from IBD patients. Crohn's disease (CD) patient organoids were represented with closed symbols and keyboard symbols, while ulcerative colitis (UC) patient organoids were represented by the same symbol in all figure panels. IBD organoids were treated from day 0 to day 10 with anti-TNF (Remicade) at 1, 10, and 100 μM, or methyl-prednisolone (Solupred) at 10 and 100 μM, or 5-ASA (Pentasa) at 50 and 500 μM. Where possible, an average of 20 organoids was studied per condition per patient. Medians were represented by red lines on graphs. Doted lines represented for each criteria, the median measured for this criteria in control (non-IBD), non-treated organoid cultures. Statistics were not performed on these graphs due to the low n number in some groups. (A) Average size of organoids (μm) (B) Number of colonoids (budding structures) per total number of organoids (colonospheres plus colonoïds) (C) Number of organoids with empty lumen per total number of organoids (empty, dense and without lumen). (D) Number of inverted organoids per total number of organoids (oriented plus inverted).

the efficacy of new therapeutic approaches targeting the effects of inflammatory mediators on epithelial repair.

A third major point raised by the present study is the demonstration that IBD organoid cultures could be used to test the effects of therapeutic options on epithelial biology. We demonstrated that overall, all treatments (anti-TNF, corticosteroids and 5-ASA) had positive impact on the observed parameters in a dose-dependent manner. This is important as it means that such treatments could participate at least to some extent, to epithelial regeneration and repair. The fact that these treatments positively impacted inflamed IBD organoid cultures seems surprising as these treatments were originally developed to target the immune response. It was interesting to note that not all treatments were efficient on the same parameters, and also that some treatments could be more efficient than others in some patients. This first result paves the way to a more extensive study, including large numbers of patients that could aim at defining whether the response of culture organoids could be predictive of the patient's response to treatment. Similarly, the effects of new therapeutic options focusing on epithelial repair could therefore be tested directly in tissues from patients, and their efficiency could be compared to that of clinically used treatments.

## CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the extensive characterization of colon organoid cultures from IBD patients compared to non-IBD controls that we have performed in the present study brings important new knowledge. First, it demonstrates the possible use of such model to further characterize epithelial dysfunctions associated with IBD. Second, we showed that this model constitutes a reliable human preclinical model to investigate new therapeutic approaches targeting epithelial repair.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

#### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by either the MICILIP research protocol (National Ethics Committee #NCT01990716), or the biocollection for human samples that included colonic resections (CODECOH national agreement: Colic collection: DC2015-2443). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

EA, MQ, and MS have performed the experiments, analyzed the data, and contributed to the manuscript drafting. DB, SK, GP, J-PD, SA, CD, LA, and EM have provided technical and/or material support, and contributed to manuscript editing. SC, PL, CD, CR-S, AF, EM, and NV have analyzed and critically reviewed the data, obtained funding, and contributed to the manuscript editing. EA and NV performed the study design, concept, supervision, and manuscript writing.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the Agence Nationale de la Recherche (R12177BB to NV), the Region Midi-Pyrénées (to

## REFERENCES

- Panaccione, R., Ferraz, J. G., and Beck, P. (2005). Advances in medical therapy of inflammatory bowel disease. *Curr.Opin.Pharmacol.* 5, 566–572.
- Neurath, M. F. (2017). Current and emerging therapeutic targets for IBD. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 14, 269–278. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2016.208
- Dave, M., and Loftus, E. V. (2012). Mucosal healing in inflammatory bowel disease-a true paradigm of success? *Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y)* 8, 29–38.
- Burisch, J., Jess, T., Martinato, M., Lakatos, P. L., and EpiCom, E. (2013). The burden of inflammatory bowel disease in Europe. *J Crohns Colitis* 7, 322–337. doi: 10.1016/j.crohns.2013.01.010

NV), by the European Research Council (ERC-2012-StG-20111109) (to NV), by the FUI (Fond Unique Interministeriel) Program ORGANOCAN-2 financed by the Region Midi-Pyrenees, the "Banque Publique d'Investissement" of France, Toulouse-Metropole, and the "Conseil Departemental du Tarn." Tissue collection was financially supported by the "Délégation Régionale à la Recherche Clinique des Hôpitaux de Toulouse," through the MICILIP project. Equipments obtained from the use of Fonds Européens de Développement Régional (FEDER), and the region Occitanie were used in the present research program (Nanorgan project).

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank for technical assistance Anissa Edir-Kribi, Daisy Jonkers, and Elhaseen Elamin, for administrative assistance Madame Helene Weiss, and the COST Action BM1106 GENIEUR for support through the student exchanges program. Results presented in **Figure 5** were included in the Ph.D. thesis of MS (Sebert, 2018).

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcell.2020.00363/ full#supplementary-material

**FIGURE S1** | Protocol for the culture of organoids from IBD and non-IBD patients. Inflamed organoids were obtained from colon biopsies or resection of IBD patients. But inflamed organoids could be obtained from control patients. When control organoids were formed (at day 3) a chronic inflammatory stress (IL-1β, TNF-α, and IL-6, at 10 ng/ml) was applied at each change of medium. After 10 days of culture morphological and functional study was performed as well as expression of pro-inflammatory mediators or expression of tight junction proteins.

**FIGURE S2** | Inflamed organoids obtained from colon biopsies or resection of IBD patients were subjected or not to a clinical treatment [anti-TNF (10 or 100  $\mu$ M); methyl-prednisolone (10 or 100  $\mu$ M); 5-ASA (50 or 500  $\mu$ M)]. Treatments were added at day 0 and at each medium change. After 10 days of culture morphological study was performed.

TABLE S1 | Characteristics and outcomes of control and IBD patients.

 TABLE S2 | Antibodies used for immunofluorescence labeling (IF) and western blot (WB) studies.

TABLE S3 | Primers used for quantitative RT-PCR studies (from 5' to 3').

- Peyrin-Biroulet, L., Ferrante, M., Magro, F., Campbell, S., Franchimont, D., Fidder, H., et al. (2011). Results from the 2nd Scientific Workshop of the ECCO. I: Impact of mucosal healing on the course of inflammatory bowel disease. *J Crohns Colitis* 5, 477–483. doi: 10.1016/j.crohns.2011. 06.009
- Baumgart, D. C., Vierziger, K., Sturm, A., Wiedenmann, B., and Dignass, A. U. (2005). Mesalamine promotes intestinal epithelial wound healing in vitro through a TGF-beta-independent mechanism. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 40, 958– 964. doi: 10.1080/00365520510015854
- Fischer, A., Gluth, M., Pape, U. F., Wiedenmann, B., Theuring, F., and Baumgart, D. C. (2013). Adalimumab prevents barrier dysfunction and antagonizes distinct effects of TNF-alpha on tight junction proteins and signaling pathways

in intestinal epithelial cells. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 304, G970–G979. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00183.2012

- Fischer, A., Gluth, M., Weege, F., Pape, U. F., Wiedenmann, B., Baumgart, D. C., et al. (2014). Glucocorticoids regulate barrier function and claudin expression in intestinal epithelial cells via MKP-1. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 306, G218–G228. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00095.2013
- McCole, D. F. (2014). IBD candidate genes and intestinal barrier regulation. Inflamm Bowel Dis 20, 1829–1849. doi: 10.1097/MIB.00000000000000090
- Khor, B., Gardet, A., and Xavier, R. J. (2011). Genetics and pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. *Nature* 474, 307–317. doi: 10.1038/nature10209
- Rivas, M. A., Beaudoin, M., Gardet, A., Stevens, C., Sharma, Y., Zhang, C. K., et al. (2011). Consortium and I. I. B. D. G. Consortium: Deep resequencing of GWAS loci identifies independent rare variants associated with inflammatory bowel disease. *Nat Genet* 43, 1066–1073. doi: 10.1038/ng.952
- Sato, T., and Clevers, H. (2013). Growing self-organizing mini-guts from a single intestinal stem cell: mechanism and applications. *Science* 340, 1190–1194. doi: 10.1126/science.1234852
- Sébert, M., Denadai-Souza, A., Quaranta, M., Racaud-Sultan, C., Chabot, S., Lluel, P., et al. (2018). Thrombin modifies growth, proliferation and apoptosis of human colon organoids: a protease-activated receptor 1- and protease-activated receptor 4-dependent mechanism. *Br J Pharmacol* 175, 3656–3668. doi: 10. 1111/bph.14430
- Sugimoto, S., Ohta, Y., Fujii, M., Matano, M., Shimokawa, M., Nanki, K., et al. (2018). Reconstruction of the Human Colon Epithelium In Vivo. *Cell Stem Cell* 22, 171.e–176.e. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2017.11.012
- Yip, H. Y. K., Tan, C. W., Hirokawa, Y., and Burgess, A. W. (2018). Colon organoid formation and cryptogenesis are stimulated by growth factors secreted from myofibroblasts. *PLoS One* 13:e0199412. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0199412
- Ramesh, P., Kirov, A. B., Huels, D. J., and Medema, J. P. (2019). Isolation, Propagation, and Clonogenicity of Intestinal Stem Cells. *Methods Mol Biol* 2002, 61–73. doi: 10.1007/7651\_2018\_179
- Dotti, I., Mora-Buch, R., Ferrer-Picon, E., Planell, N., Jung, P., Masamunt, M. C., et al. (2017). Alterations in the epithelial stem cell compartment could contribute to permanent changes in the mucosa of patients with ulcerative colitis. *Gut* 66, 2069–2079. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2016-312609
- Howell, K. J., Kraiczy, J., Nayak, K. M., Gasparetto, M., Ross, A., Lee, C., et al. (2018). DNA Methylation and Transcription Patterns in Intestinal Epithelial Cells From Pediatric Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Diseases Differentiate Disease Subtypes and Associate With Outcome. *Gastroenterology* 154, 585–598. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.10.007
- Noben, M., Verstockt, B., de Bruyn, M., Hendriks, N., Assche, G. Van, Vermeire, S., et al. (2017). Epithelial organoid cultures from patients with ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease: a truly long-term model to study the molecular basis for inflammatory bowel disease? *Gut* 66, 2193–2195. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2016-313667
- Denadai-Souza, A., Bonnart, C., Tapias, N. S., Marcellin, M., Gilmore, B., Alric, L., et al. (2018). Functional Proteomic Profiling of Secreted Serine Proteases in Health and Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Scientific Reports* 8, 7834. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-26282-y
- Sato, T., Stange, D. E., Ferrante, M., Vries, R. G., Van Es, J. H., Van den Brink, S., et al. (2011). Long-term expansion of epithelial organoids from human colon, adenoma, adenocarcinoma, and Barrett's epithelium. *Gastroenterology* 141, 1762–1772. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.07.050
- Jung, P., Sato, T., Merlos-Suárez, A., Barriga, F. M., Iglesias, M., Rossell, D., et al. (2011). Isolation and in vitro expansion of human colonic stem cells. *Nat Med* 17, 1225–1227. doi: 10.1038/nm.2470
- Cenac, N., Bautzova, T., Faouder, P. Le, Veldhuis, N. A., Poole, D. P., Rolland, C., et al. (2015). Quantification and Potential Functions of Endogenous Agonists of Transient Receptor Potential Channels in Patients With Irritable Bowel Syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 149, 433–444e7. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015. 04.011
- Rolland-Fourcade, C., Denadai-Souza, A., Cirillo, C., Lopez, C., Jaramillo, J. O., Desormeaux, C., et al. (2017). Epithelial expression and function of trypsin-3 in irritable bowel syndrome. *Gut* 66, 1767–1778. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2016-312094
- Feakins, R. M., and British Society of Gastroenterology. (2013). Inflammatory bowel disease biopsies: updated British Society of Gastroenterology reporting

guidelines. J Clin Pathol 66, 1005-1026. doi: 10.1136/jclinpath-2013-201885

- McGovern, D. P., Kugathasan, S., and Cho, J. H. (2015). Genetics of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *Gastroenterology* 149, 1163–1176e2. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015. 08.001
- Kellermayer, R. (2012). Epigenetics and the developmental origins of inflammatory bowel diseases. *Can J Gastroenterol* 26, 909–915.
- Liu, J. Z., van Sommeren, S., Huang, H., Ng, S. C., Alberts, R., Takahashi, A., et al. (2015). Association analyses identify 38 susceptibility loci for inflammatory bowel disease and highlight shared genetic risk across populations. *Nat Genet* 47, 979–986. doi: 10.1038/ng.3359
- Prager, M., Buettner, J., and Buening, C. (2015). Genes involved in the regulation of intestinal permeability and their role in ulcerative colitis. *J Dig Dis* 16, 713–722. doi: 10.1111/1751-2980.12296
- Blaydon, D. C., Biancheri, P., Di, W. L., Plagnol, V., Cabral, R. M., Brooke, M. A., et al. (2011). Inflammatory skin and bowel disease linked to ADAM17 deletion. *N Engl J Med* 365, 1502–1508. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1100721
- Kern, J. S., Herz, C., Haan, E., Moore, D., Nottelmann, S., von Lilien, T., et al. (2007). Chronic colitis due to an epithelial barrier defect: the role of kindlin-1 isoforms. J Pathol 213, 462–470. doi: 10.1002/path.2253
- Bianco, A. M., Girardelli, M., and Tommasini, A. (2015). Genetics of inflammatory bowel disease from multifactorial to monogenic forms. *World J Gastroenterol* 21, 12296–12310. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i43.12296
- Beigel, F., Friedrich, M., Probst, C., Sotlar, K., Goke, B., Diegelmann, J., et al. (2014). Oncostatin M mediates STAT3-dependent intestinal epithelial restitution via increased cell proliferation, decreased apoptosis and upregulation of SERPIN family members. *PLoS One* 9:e93498. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0093498
- Uhlig, H. H. (2013). Monogenic diseases associated with intestinal inflammation: implications for the understanding of inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut* 62, 1795–1805. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303956
- Freeman, E. B., Koglmeier, J., Martinez, A. E., Mellerio, J. E., Haynes, L., Sebire, N. J., et al. (2008). Gastrointestinal complications of epidermolysis bullosa in children. *Br J Dermatol* 158, 1308–1314. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2008.08507.x
- Dayal, J. H., Cole, C. L., Pourreyron, C., Watt, S. A., Lim, Y. Z., Salas-Alanis, J. C., et al. (2014). Type VII collagen regulates expression of OATP1B3, promotes front-to-rear polarity and increases structural organisation in 3D spheroid cultures of RDEB tumour keratinocytes. J Cell Sci 127(Pt 4), 740–751. doi: 10.1242/jcs.128454
- Dotti, I., Mora-Buch, R., Ferrer-Picon, E., Planell, N., Jung, P., Masamunt, M. C., et al. (2016). Alterations in the epithelial stem cell compartment could contribute to permanent changes in the mucosa of patients with ulcerative colitis. *Gut* 66, 2069–2079.
- Torreggiani, E., Rossini, M., Bononi, I., Pietrobon, S., Mazzoni, E., Iaquinta, M. R., et al. (2019). Protocol for the long-term culture of human primary keratinocytes from the normal colorectal mucosa. *J Cell Physiol* 234, 9895–9905. doi: 10.1002/ jcp.28300
- Zeissig, Y., Petersen, B. S., Milutinovic, S., Bosse, E., Mayr, G., Peuker, K., et al. (2015). XIAP variants in male Crohn's disease. *Gut* 64, 66–76. doi: 10.1136/ gutjnl-2013-306520
- Sebert, M. (2018). Effects of thrombin of human colic epithelium on organoids (3D ex vivo model). In: BSB: Physiopathologies. Toulouse: Université Paul Sabatier.

Conflict of Interest: SC and PL were employed by the company Urosphere SAS.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 d'Aldebert, Quaranta, Sébert, Bonnet, Kirzin, Portier, Duffas, Chabot, Lluel, Allart, Ferrand, Alric, Racaud-Sultan, Mas, Deraison and Vergnolle. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Fate of Adipose Progenitor Cells in Obesity-Related Chronic Inflammation

Iryna Pyrina<sup>1</sup>, Kyoung-Jin Chung<sup>1</sup>, Zoi Michailidou<sup>2</sup>, Michael Koutsilieris<sup>3</sup>, Triantafyllos Chavakis<sup>1,2,4</sup> and Antonios Chatzigeorgiou<sup>1,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Institute for Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine, University Hospital and Faculty of Medicine Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany, <sup>2</sup> Centre for Cardiovascular Science, Queen's Medical Research Institute, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, United Kingdom, <sup>3</sup> Department of Physiology, Medical School, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece, <sup>4</sup> Paul Langerhans Institute Dresden of the Helmholtz Center Munich, University Hospital and Faculty of Medicine, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Ana Igea, Biomedical Research Center, University of Vigo, Spain

#### Reviewed by:

Rana Gupta, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, United States Mikhail Kolonin, The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, United States

> \*Correspondence: Antonios Chatzigeorgiou achatzig@med.uoa.gr

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

**Received:** 05 May 2020 **Accepted:** 26 June 2020 **Published:** 14 July 2020

#### Citation:

Pyrina I, Chung K-J, Michailidou Z, Koutsilieris M, Chavakis T and Chatzigeorgiou A (2020) Fate of Adipose Progenitor Cells in Obesity-Related Chronic Inflammation. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 8:644. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.00644 Adipose progenitor cells, or preadipocytes, constitute a small population of immature cells within the adipose tissue. They are a heterogeneous group of cells, in which different subtypes have a varying degree of commitment toward diverse cell fates, contributing to white and beige adipogenesis, fibrosis or maintenance of an immature cell phenotype with proliferation capacity. Mature adipocytes as well as cells of the immune system residing in the adipose tissue can modulate the function and differentiation potential of preadipocytes in a contact- and/or paracrine-dependent manner. In the course of obesity, the accumulation of immune cells within the adipose tissue contributes to the development of a pro-inflammatory microenvironment in the tissue. Under such circumstances, the crosstalk between preadipocytes and immune or parenchymal cells of the adipose tissue may critically regulate the differentiation of preadipocytes into white adipocytes, beige adipocytes, or myofibroblasts, thereby influencing adipose tissue expansion and adipose tissue dysfunction, including downregulation of beige adipogenesis and development of fibrosis. The present review will outline the current knowledge about factors shaping cell fate decisions of adipose progenitor cells in the context of obesity-related inflammation.

Keywords: preadipocyte, adipose progenitor, inflammation, adipogenesis, beiging, obesity, fibrosis

## INTRODUCTION

In the past two decades, adipose tissue (AT) has been extensively studied in both rodents and humans, especially regarding mechanisms involved in obesity-related metabolic dysregulation. There are two morphologically and functionally distinct types of AT: white AT (WAT) and brown AT (BAT). WAT is predominantly responsible for energy storage in the form of triglycerides and secretes hormonal regulators, namely adipokines, such as leptin and adiponectin, which can regulate whole-body's metabolic homeostasis. BAT, in contrast, has a non-shivering heat production capacity, due to expression of uncoupling protein-1 (UCP-1) (Kershaw and Flier, 2004; Peirce et al., 2014; Rosen and Spiegelman, 2014). Beige, or brite adipocytes represent a type of adipocytes that morphologically resemble white rather than brown fat cells and reside within WAT, but express

UCP-1 and exert brown-like properties (Rosen and Spiegelman, 2014; Alexaki and Chavakis, 2016; Cinti and Giordano, 2020).

In addition to adipocytes, the stromal vascular cell fraction (SVF) of the AT contains further cell types, such as endothelial cells, various immune cells and adipocyte progenitors (preadipocytes or adipose progenitors cells, APs) (Ailhaud et al., 1992; Church et al., 2014). APs reside in perivascular regions of the AT, and can differentiate into mature adipocytes (Tang et al., 2008; Rosen and Spiegelman, 2014; Vishvanath et al., 2016). A recent study defined a developmental hierarchy of APs starting from Dipeptidvl peptidase-4-postive (DPP4<sup>+</sup>) cells that give rise to committed ICAM1<sup>+</sup> and CD142<sup>+</sup> preadipocytes capable of adipogenic differentiation (Merrick et al., 2019). Commonly, preadipocytes are described as CD45<sup>-</sup>, CD31<sup>-</sup>, Lin<sup>-</sup>, CD29<sup>+</sup>, and Sca-1<sup>+</sup> cells (Rodeheffer et al., 2008; Tang et al., 2008; Berry and Rodeheffer, 2013). Platelet-derived growth factor-receptor  $\beta$  positive (PDGFR $\beta^+$ ) APs were described as predisposed to a white adipogenic (Gao et al., 2018), while PDGFR $\alpha^+$  progenitors to a beige adipogenic or a fibrogenic phenotype (Lee et al., 2012; Marcelin et al., 2017). A recent study provides an insight in the heterogeneity of APs in the mouse VAT based on scRNAseq analysis, demonstrating the existence of two distinct populations of AT-derived stem cells and three populations of preadipocytes (Cho et al., 2019).

During obesity, the expansion of the AT is driven by two processes: hypertrophy (increased adipocyte size) and hyperplasia (increased adipocyte numbers). Hyperplastic growth is considered more metabolically favorable (Shao et al., 2018; Vishvanath and Gupta, 2019), while AT hypertrophy is associated with the development of hypoxia and release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines by the adipocytes, leading to the recruitment of immune cells and the formation of a pro-inflammatory microenvironment in the AT (Arner et al., 2010; Chatzigeorgiou et al., 2014; García-Martín et al., 2015; Choe et al., 2016; Chung et al., 2018; Michailidou, 2019). Macrophages play a crucial role in the development of AT inflammation. They shift from an anti-inflammatory M2-like  $(M2-M\Phi)$  to a pro-inflammatory M1-like  $(M1-M\Phi)$  phenotype and form "crown-like" structures surrounding dead adipocytes (Cinti et al., 2005; Lumeng et al., 2007a; Chawla et al., 2011; Cinti and Giordano, 2020). M1-M $\Phi$  secrete pro-inflammatory mediators such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF), interleukin 1 beta (IL-1β), and IL-6 (Chawla et al., 2011; Chmelar et al., 2013; Shapouri-Moghaddam et al., 2018). AT inflammation is also featured by the accumulation within the obese AT of several innate and adaptive immune cells including natural killer cells, neutrophils, CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic- and type l T helper-lymphocytes, which also produce pro-inflammatory factors (Cildir et al., 2013; Chung et al., 2018; Kane and Lynch, 2019).

Studies suggest that various stromal cells, including AT fibroblasts and endothelial cells, create an adipose niche for APs (Jiang et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2018), while resident and infiltrating immune cells also contribute to the niche formation, especially in the context of obesity-related inflammation (Nawaz et al., 2017). Considering that preadipocytes are plastic cells that respond to both niche and systemic signals (Jeffery et al., 2016), the pro-inflammatory microenvironment of the obese AT might

play a critical role in determining the fate of APs. The present review focuses on the current knowledge about AP fate driven by both intracellular and extracellular factors in the context of obesity-related chronic inflammation.

## ADIPOGENESIS

## White Adipogenesis and AT Expansion

The hyperplastic growth of the AT occurs through the process of adipogenesis, namely the highly dynamic transformation of immature fibroblast-like precursor cells into mature lipidloaded adipocytes (Rosen and MacDougald, 2006). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- $\gamma$  (PPAR $\gamma$ ) and members of the CCAAT-enhancer-binding proteins (C/EBP) family are masterregulators of this process. However, a considerable number of signaling pathways, including Wnt, Notch, Hedgehog, MAPK, and pro- and anti-adipogenic mediators (KLF and GATA transcription factors, cell cycle proteins) regulate the adipogenic conversion (Farmer, 2006; Rosen and MacDougald, 2006; Ghaben and Scherer, 2019). Of note, APs from different AT depots display qualitative and quantitative heterogeneity. For instance, in both mice and humans, APs from subcutaneous fat depots have shown in vitro higher growth rates and adipogenic potential compared to those from visceral AT (Permana et al., 2004; Tchkonia et al., 2005; Macotela et al., 2012). Nevertheless, in vivo evidence from adult C57BL/6 mice, supports that following HFD-feeding, visceral AT expands through both adipocyte hypertrophy and hyperplasia, while subcutaneous AT almost exclusively via cellular hypertrophy (Vishvanath and Gupta, 2019). Several markers, such as CD36 and Zfp423 have been suggested to define preadipocyte populations with pronounced adipogenic capacity (Gupta et al., 2012; Gao et al., 2017).

A crosstalk between APs and immune cells could orchestrate adipogenesis in both lean and obese state (Bing, 2015; Chung et al., 2017). For instance, macrophages constitute 5-10% of the SVF in lean mice and their numbers increase in obesity (Weisberg et al., 2003; Weinstock et al., 2019; Daemen and Schilling, 2020). Both proliferation of tissue-resident macrophages and monocyte infiltration contribute to the expansion of this population in the obese AT (Weisberg et al., 2003; Amano et al., 2014; Zheng et al., 2016). Several studies have shown that pro-inflammatory macrophage-conditioned medium inhibits AP differentiation and leads to insulin resistance in mouse and human preadipocytes in vitro (Constant et al., 2006; Lacasa et al., 2007; Lumeng et al., 2007b). The potential contribution of individual components of the macrophage secretome to this process has gained strong attention. TNF is a major factor contributing to the anti-adipogenic effect of macrophages, possibly via an epigenetic reprogrammingdependent mechanism (Isakson et al., 2009; Andersen et al., 2019). IL-6 exerts an inhibitory effect on IRS-1, Glut4, and PPARy, thereby contributing to the decreased adipogenic capacity of human preadipocytes (Rotter et al., 2003; Gustafson and Smith, 2006; Almuraikhy et al., 2016). IL-1ß from proinflammatory macrophages inhibits insulin sensitivity in both

APs and mature adipocytes of mice and humans (Lagathu et al., 2006; Gao et al., 2014). Moreover, the aforementioned cytokines participate in a positive-feedback loop induction of pro-inflammatory gene expression (IL-6, MCP-1, IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF, and IL-8) in APs (Gustafson and Smith, 2006; Isakson et al., 2009; Gao et al., 2014). Priming of human preadipocytes toward a pro-inflammatory phenotype is also mediated by elevated extracellular glucose levels, which accompany obesity and insulin resistance (Rønningen et al., 2015). Pro-inflammatory priming of murine preadipocytes is also mediated by leptin, the levels of which are elevated during obesity (Ouchi et al., 2011; Palhinha et al., 2019). Contrastingly, adiponectin, which is decreased in the obese AT, promotes the differentiation of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes and insulin sensitivity (Fu et al., 2005).

Besides macrophages that contribute to obese AT remodeling, other immune cells within the AT can affect preadipocyte differentiation as well. For instance, murine monocyte-derived dendritic cells (DCs), which accumulate in the obese AT, display anti-adipogenic properties *in vitro* (Pamir et al., 2015; Macdougall and Longhi, 2019). The inhibition of AP differentiation during obesity and AT inflammation promotes the hypertrophic, rather than hyperplastic expansion of the AT, due to storage of the supplied energy in the form of lipids by mature adipocytes and not by differentiating APs (Hammarstedt et al., 2018; Gustafson et al., 2019).

Apart from immune cells, the interaction of APs with the highly abundant endothelial cells of the AT may shape the adipogenic potential of preadipocytes, likely via vasculaturederived factors (Cao, 2007). Indeed, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is considered a key factor coupling adipo- and angiogenesis in the mouse AT and may favor adipogenesis within adipogenic/angiogenic cell clusters (Nishimura et al., 2007; Sun et al., 2012; Breier et al., 2017). Along this line, a recent study suggested a possible role of endothelial cells in the regulation of fatty acid transport and PPAR $\gamma$  activation in human preadipocytes, due to secretion of PPAR $\gamma$  ligands by endothelial cells (Gogg et al., 2019). Moreover, a spatial and functional overlap of CD34<sup>+</sup> APs with pericytes has been described, which plays a role in the stabilization of the AT vasculature (Traktuev et al., 2008).

Of interest, a subpopulation of CD142<sup>+</sup> adipogenesisregulatory cells (Aregs) was recently identified among the stromal cell population of the mouse AT. This unique subtype of precursor cells is increased in the obese AT and can suppress the differentiation of preadipocytes in a paracrine-dependent manner (Schwalie et al., 2018). However, as described above, a later study did not support this finding (Merrick et al., 2019).

#### **Beige Adipogenesis**

Beige adipogenesis is integral to the metabolic homeostasis of WAT. It contributes to insulin sensitivity by upregulating molecular thermogenic signatures of WAT. Specifically, upon adrenergic stimulation or exposure to cold, beige or brite adipocytes can upregulate UCP-1 expression and adopt a thermogenic phenotype, resembling brown adipocytes (Wu et al., 2012; Alexaki and Chavakis, 2016; Wang and Seale, 2016; Shao et al., 2019). However, a non-canonical UCP-1 mechanism can also contribute to the formation of this phenotype (Bertholet et al., 2017; Ikeda et al., 2018). Lineage-tracing studies allowed to distinguish between Myf5<sup>+</sup> progenitors that can differentiate into brown adipocytes or myocytes, and Myf5<sup>-</sup> precursors that are committed to white and beige adipocyte differentiation (Gesta et al., 2007; Obregon, 2014; Peirce et al., 2014). Furthermore, apart from the common white-beige progenitor, beige adipocytes can also derive from a transdifferentiation of mature white adipocytes into beige ones (Lee et al., 2012; Rosenwald et al., 2013).

Until now, "beiging" or "browning" of the WAT is considered as metabolically more favorable than "whitening," and is essentially a feature of the lean WAT, while it is diminished in the course of obesity and the development of AT inflammation (Alexaki and Chavakis, 2016). Indeed, several innate and adaptive immune cell types have been implicated in the regulation of beige adipogenesis in a positive or negative fashion (Lee et al., 2015; Chung et al., 2017). Multiple studies have suggested the beneficial role of cells of type 2 immunity, such as eosinophils and M2- $M\Phi$  in the induction and maintenance of beige adipogenesis in mice, especially in the lean WAT (Lee et al., 2013; Qiu et al., 2014; Alexaki and Chavakis, 2016). For instance, the release of IL-4 by eosinophils is required for the maintenance of the alternatively activated M2-M $\Phi$  population, which promote induction of beige adipogenesis in mice (Wu et al., 2011; Qiu et al., 2014; Hui et al., 2015). Nevertheless, contradictory data exist pertinent to the mechanism by which M2-M $\Phi$  exert their beige adipogenesis-promoting effect on APs and mature adipocytes and whether the latter may depend on the release of catecholamines by the M2-M $\Phi$  or not (Qiu et al., 2014; Fischer et al., 2017). In addition, type 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2) promote beige adipogenesis in mice, predominantly by propagating the maintenance of eosinophils and M2-M $\Phi$  in a IL-5- and IL-13-related manner (Molofsky et al., 2013). Along this line, type 2 cytokines secreted by ILC2s and eosinophils can stimulate beige adipogenesis in murine PDGFR $\alpha^+$  APs, thereby triggering signaling via the IL-4Rα present on the latter (Lee et al., 2015). Another mechanism suggests that mouse AT beiging is stimulated by IL-33-mediated activation of ILC2 and the release by them of a methionine-enkephalin peptide (Brestoff et al., 2014). Interestingly, a recent study showed that murine PRDM16-expressing adipocytes, favor a fibrogenic-toadipogenic transition of APs, thus promoting beige adipogenesis by secreting  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate (Wang W. et al., 2019).

In contrast, the development of a pro-inflammatory microenvironment in the obese WAT restricts the potential of APs toward beige adipogenesis. The increased numbers of M1-M $\Phi$  and the concomitant release of pro-inflammatory mediators, such as IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF, contribute to the impaired browning of the obese murine WAT and the suppression of UCP-1 expression, likely in a Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) and Nod-like receptor 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome-dependent way (Sakamoto et al., 2016; Okla et al., 2018). Additionally, signaling via the IL-18/IL-18R1 system has been reported to impede energy expenditure and mouse AT beiging *in vivo* (Pazos et al., 2015). Interestingly, a major mechanism involved in the diminished beige adipogenesis in mice and humans during obesity-related



WAT inflammation relies on the direct integrin-mediated interaction between M1-like macrophages and APs as well as mature adipocytes (Chung et al., 2017). Furthermore,  $CD8^+$  T cells were also shown to inhibit beiging of the obese murine WAT in an IFN- $\gamma$ -dependent manner (Moysidou et al., 2018).

## **FIBROSIS**

Fibrosis is considered a pathophysiological consequence of the persistent low-grade inflammation in the WAT in obesity. Myofibroblasts are the major cell type contributing to the extracellular matrix (ECM) deposition in fibrosis of various organs. They can originate from different precursor cells under the effect of transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF- $\beta$ 1) and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) deriving from inflammatory cells (Wynn, 2008; Sun et al., 2013; Marcelin et al., 2019).

TGF- $\beta$  inhibits human preadipocyte differentiation into mature adipocytes, while it promotes collagen production and cell proliferation, a process that can be controlled by Jak-Stat signaling (Weiner et al., 1989; Keophiphath et al., 2009; Babaei et al., 2018). TGF- $\beta$  is involved in the generation of Sca-1<sup>-</sup>SMA<sup>+</sup>ITGA5<sup>+</sup> fibrogenic progenitor cells in the murine WAT. This process depends on myocardin-related transcription factor A (MRTFA) and results in the shift of the fate of perivascular progenitors from APs with adipogenic potential toward pro-fibrotic cells (Lin et al., 2018).

PDGFRa has been recognized as an anti-adipogenic factor that favors the generation of profibrotic cells in mice (Iwayama et al., 2015; Sun et al., 2017). Marcelin et al. showed the existence of two subsets of PDGFR $\alpha^+$  adipocyte progenitors based on the level of their CD9 expression. In both humans and mice, AT CD9<sup>high</sup> cells were described as pro-fibrotic progenitors, while CD9<sup>low</sup> precursors were rather committed to adipogenesis. The CD9<sup>low</sup> subpopulation was almost lost in the fibrotic obese WAT, while CD9<sup>high</sup> progenitors' frequency positively correlated with the degree of WAT fibrosis (Marcelin et al., 2017). Similar characterizations of profibrotic vs. adipogenic cells were identified in humans and mice based on Ly6C and CD34 expression. Specifically, Hepler et al. (2018) described in the mouse AT the coexistence of Ly6C<sup>+</sup> PDGFR $\beta^+$  fibroinflammatory progenitors along with the highly adipogenic Ly6C<sup>-</sup>CD9<sup>-</sup>PDGFR $\beta^+$  cells. Similarly, CD34<sup>high</sup> APs were described as pro-fibrotic cells in the human visceral AT according to their secretome profile (Buffolo et al., 2019). On the contrary, another study did not find significant differences in proliferative, adipogenic and fibrogenic potential between CD34<sup>-</sup>, CD34<sup>low</sup>, and CD34<sup>high</sup> cells (Raajendiran et al., 2019). Subpopulations of fibro-inflammatory progenitors increase in

numbers following AT expansion, and exert an anti-adipogenic effect on other adipocyte precursor cells via secretion of soluble factors (Marcelin et al., 2017; Hepler et al., 2018; Buffolo et al., 2019).

Importantly, the extent of AT fibrosis positively correlates with the number of crown-like structures in the obese AT (Cinti et al., 2005; Buechler et al., 2015), implying that AT fibrosis may be triggered by the pro-inflammatory microenvironment. Transcriptomic analysis of human preadipocytes cultured with conditioned medium from pro-inflammatory macrophages revealed an upregulation in the expression of ECM components (Henegar et al., 2008). Moreover, macrophage-derived IL-1β promotes the expression of ECM remodeling enzymes, such as metalloproteinases 1 (MMP1) and 3 (MMP3), in human APs (Gao and Bing, 2011). Not only cells of the monocytic lineage contribute to the stimulation of ECM production by preadipocytes. Mast cells accumulate in the mouse and human obese AT preferentially in depots with progressed fibrosis and provoke the secretion of collagen V by AT fibroblasts, which can contribute to the suppression of the adipogenic differentiation of APs. Of note, the secretion of collagen V in the obese AT is triggered by the release of mast cell protease 6 (MCP-6) by mature mast cells (Divoux et al., 2012; Hirai et al., 2014). Other ECM components of the AT, like collagen VI and its derivative endotrophin, can trigger fibrosis in the AT and contribute to preadipocytes' myofibroblastic transformation (Khan et al., 2009; Sun et al., 2014; Jones et al., 2020). Additionally, while ILC2 drive beige adipogenesis, type 1 innate lymphoid cells (ILC1) promote AT fibrogenesis in human and mice in an IFN-y dependent manner (Wang H. et al., 2019).

In conclusion, in the lean WAT, APs represent a highly heterogeneous cell population; yet with intrinsic white or beige differentiation potential rather than a pro-fibrotic one. Contrastingly, in obesity, interactions of APs with cells of both the innate and adaptive immunity that accumulate in the obese WAT can trigger fibrosis by inducing a pro-fibrotic transcriptional program in APs.

## CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVE

APs are a highly heterogeneous population of stromal AT cells. Different subtypes of APs can have a varying degree of commitment toward white, beige adipocyte or fibroblast

#### REFERENCES

- Ailhaud, G., Grimaldi, P., and Négrel, R. (1992). Cellular and molecular aspects of adipose tissue development. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 12, 207–233. doi: 10.1146/ annurev.nu.12.070192.001231
- Alexaki, V. I., and Chavakis, T. (2016). The role of innate immunity in the regulation of brown and beige adipogenesis. *Rev. Endocr. Metab. Disord.* 17, 41–49. doi: 10.1007/s11154-016-9342-7
- Almuraikhy, S., Kafienah, W., Bashah, M., Diboun, I., Jaganjac, M., Al-Khelaifi, F., et al. (2016). Interleukin-6 induces impairment in human subcutaneous

differentiation. Along this line, extensive in vivo and in vitro studies report the identification of numerous AP subpopulations. However, in several of these studies the characterization of the multiple AP subtypes is based on different experimental approaches (Burl et al., 2018; Cho et al., 2019; Min et al., 2019). This issue is further complicated by the regional variation of APs within the different fat depots and the distinct abundance of different progenitor subtypes therein. Thus, the identification of reliable and broadly acceptable molecular and surface markers to distinguish the various AP subtypes is imperative. It is recognized, that the number of adipocytes is set during childhood and adolescence and stays nearly constant in adulthood with a 10% turnover rate in lean and obese individuals (Spalding et al., 2008; Rodríguez et al., 2015; Meln et al., 2019). Consequently, a deeper insight into AP subtypes and crosstalk mechanisms with other cells could shed the light on how the fate of preadipocytes can be predetermined early in life and lead to the development of obesity and accompanying metabolic complications later.

Importantly, the crosstalk between APs and immune cells in the AT orchestrates AP fate in both lean and obese state. For instance, obesity-related AT inflammation leads to reduced beige adipogenic and increased pro-fibrotic potential of APs. So far, the majority of studies have focused on the interaction between macrophages and APs, while less information exists pertinent to the role of cells of the adaptive immunity as well as less abundant stromal cell types, which may also shape the differentiation potential of APs (**Figure 1**). Identification of the specific contribution of different immune and stromal cell populations, which may affect fate decisions of APs, as well as better understanding of the molecular mechanisms implicated in this crosstalk is needed for the development of new therapeutic strategies against obesity-related AT dysfunction.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

IP, TC, and AC wrote the manuscript, while ZM, K-JC, and MK edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the German Research Foundation (Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, Grant No. 1862/3-1 to AC and Grant Nos. IRTG2251 and SFB-TR 127 to TC).

adipogenesis in obesity-associated insulin resistance. *Diabetologia* 59, 2406–2416. doi: 10.1007/s00125-016-4031-3

- Amano, S. U., Cohen, J. L., Vangala, P., Tencerova, M., Nicoloro, S. M., Yawe, J. C., et al. (2014). Local proliferation of macrophages contributes to obesityassociated adipose tissue inflammation. *Cell Metab.* 19, 162–171. doi: 10.1016/j. cmet.2013.11.017
- Andersen, E., Ingerslev, L. R., Fabre, O., Donkin, I., Altuntaş, A., Versteyhe, S., et al. (2019). preadipocytes from obese humans with type 2 diabetes are epigenetically reprogrammed at genes controlling adipose tissue function. *Int. J. Obes.* 43, 306–318. doi: 10.1038/s41366-018-0031-3

- Arner, E., Westermark, P. O., Spalding, K. L., Britton, T., Rydén, M., Frisén, J., et al. (2010). Adipocyte turnover: relevance to human adipose tissue morphology. *Diabetes* 59, 105–109. doi: 10.2337/db09-0942
- Babaei, R., Schuster, M., Meln, I., Lerch, S., Ghandour, R. A., Pisani, D. F., et al. (2018). Jak-TGFβ cross-talk links transient adipose tissue inflammation to beige adipogenesis. *Sci. Signal.* 11:eaai7838. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aai7838
- Berry, R., and Rodeheffer, M. S. (2013). Characterization of the adipocyte cellular lineage in vivo. Nat. Cell Biol. 15, 302–308. doi: 10.1038/ncb2696
- Bertholet, A. M., Kazak, L., Chouchani, E. T., Bogaczyńska, M. G., Paranjpe, I., Wainwright, G. L., et al. (2017). Mitochondrail patch clamp of beige adipocytes reveals UCP1-positive and UCP1-negative cells both exhibiting futile creatine cycling. *Cell Metab.* 25, 811.e4–822.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.03.002
- Bing, C. (2015). Is interleukin-1β a culprit in macrophage-adipocyte crosstalk in obesity? *Adipocyte* 4, 149–152. doi: 10.4161/21623945.2014.979661
- Breier, G., Chavakis, T., and Hirsch, E. (2017). Angiogenesis in metabolic-vascular disease. *Thromb. Haemost.* 117, 1289–1295. doi: 10.1160/TH17-05-0325
- Brestoff, J. R., Kim, B. S., Saenz, S. A., Stine, R. R., Monticelli, L. A., Sonnenberg, G. F., et al. (2014). Group 2 innate lymphoid cells promote beiging of white adipose tissue and limit obesity. *Nature* 519, 242–246. doi: 10.1038/nature14115
- Buechler, C., Krautbauer, S., and Eisinger, K. (2015). Adipose tissue fibrosis. World J. Diabetes 6, 548–553. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v6.i4.548
- Buffolo, M., Pires, K. M., Ferhat, M., Ilkun, O., Makaju, A., Achenbach, A., et al. (2019). Identification of a paracrine signaling mechanism linking CD34high progenitors to the regulation of visceral fat expansion and remodeling. *Cell Rep.* 29, 270.e5–282.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.08.092
- Burl, R. B., Ramseyer, V. D., Rondini, E. A., Pique-Regi, R., Lee, Y. H., and Granneman, J. G. (2018). Deconstructing adipogenesis induced by β3adrenergic receptor activation with single-cell expression profiling. *Cell Metab.* 28, 300.e4–309.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.05.025
- Cao, Y. (2007). Angiogenesis modulates adipogenesis and obesity. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 2362–2368. doi: 10.1172/JCI32239
- Chatzigeorgiou, A., Kandaraki, E., Papavassiliou, A. G., and Koutsilieris, M. (2014). Peripheral targets in obesity treatment: a comprehensive update. *Obes Rev.* 15, 487–503. doi: 10.1111/obr.12163
- Chawla, A., Nguyen, K. D., and Goh, Y. P. (2011). Macrophage-mediated inflammation in metabolic disease. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 11, 738–749. doi: 10. 1038/nri3071
- Chmelar, J., Chung, K. J., and Chavakis, T. (2013). The role of innate immune cells in obese adipose tissue inflammation and development of insulin resistance. *Thromb. Haemost.* 109, 399–406. doi: 10.1160/TH12-09-0703
- Cho, D. S., Lee, B., and Doles, J. D. (2019). Refining the adipose progenitor cell landscape in healthy and obese visceral adipose tissue using single-cell gene expression profiling. *Life Sci. Alliance* 2:e201900561. doi: 10.26508/lsa. 201900561
- Choe, S. S., Huh, J. Y., Hwang, I. J., Kim, J. I., and Kim, J. B. (2016). Adipose tissue remodeling: its role in energy metabolism and metabolic disorders. *Front. Endocrinol.* 7:30. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2016.00030
- Chung, K. J., Chatzigeorgiou, A., Economopoulou, M., Garcia-Martin, R., Alexaki, V. I., Mitroulis, I., et al. (2017). A self-sustained loop of inflammation-driven inhibition of beige adipogenesis in obesity. *Nat. Immunol.* 18, 654–664. doi: 10.1038/ni.3728
- Chung, K. J., Nati, M., Chavakis, T., and Chatzigeorgiou, A. (2018). Innate immune cells in the adipose tissue. *Rev. Endocr. Metab. Disord.* 19, 283–292. doi: 10. 1007/s11154-018-9451-6
- Church, C. D., Berry, R., and Rodeheffer, M. S. (2014). Isolation and study of adipocyte precursors. *Methods Enzymol.* 537, 31–46. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-411619-1.00003-3
- Cildir, G., Akincilar, S. C., and Tergaonkar, V. (2013). Chronic adipose tissue inflammation: all immune cells on the stage. *Trends Mol. Med.* 19, 487–500. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2013.05.001
- Cinti, S., and Giordano, A. (2020). "The adipose organ," in *The First Outstanding* 50 Years of "Università Politecnica Delle Marche, eds S. Longhi, A. Monteriù, L. Aquilanti, M. G. Ceravolo, O. Carnevali, M. Giordano, et al. (Berlin: Springer), 167–183. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-33832-9
- Cinti, S., Mitchell, G., Barbatelli, G., Murano, I., Ceresi, E., Faloia, E., et al. (2005). Adipocyte death defines macrophage localization and function in adipose tissue of obese mice and humans. J. Lipid Res. 46, 2347–2355. doi: 10.1194/jlr. M500294-JLR200

- Constant, V. A., Gagnon, A., Landry, A., and Sorisky, A. (2006). Macrophageconditioned medium inhibits the differentiation of 3T3-L1 and human abdominal preadipocytes. *Diabetologia* 49, 1402–1411. doi: 10.1007/s00125-006-0253-0
- Daemen, S., and Schilling, J. D. (2020). The interplay between tissue niche and macrophage cellular metabolism in obesity. *Front. Immunol.* 10:3133. doi: 10. 3389/fimmu.2019.03133
- Divoux, A., Moutel, S., Poitou, C., Lacasa, D., Veyrie, N., Aissat, A., et al. (2012). Mast cells in human adipose tissue: link with morbid obesity, inflammatory status, and diabetes. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 97, 1677–1685. doi: 10.1210/ jc.2012-1532
- Farmer, S. R. (2006). Transcriptional control of adipocyte formation. *Cell Metab.* 4, 263–273. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2006.07.001
- Fischer, K., Ruiz, H. H., Jhun, K., Finan, B., Oberlin, D. J., van der Heide, V., et al. (2017). Alternatively activated macrophages do not synthesize catecholamines or contribute to adipose tissue adaptive thermogenesis. *Nat. Med.* 23, 623–630. doi: 10.1038/nm.4316
- Fu, Y., Luo, N., Klein, R. L., and Garvey, W. T. (2005). Adiponectin promotes adipocyte differentiation, insulin sensitivity, and lipid accumulation. J. Lipid Res. 46, 1369–1379. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M400373-JLR200
- Gao, D., and Bing, C. (2011). Macrophage-induced expression and release of matrix metalloproteinase 1 and 3 by human preadipocytes is mediated by IL-1 $\beta$  via activation of MAPK signaling. *J. Cell Physiol.* 226, 2869–2880. doi: 10.1002/jcp. 22630
- Gao, D., Madi, M., Ding, C., Fok, M., Steele, T., Ford, C., et al. (2014). Interleukin-1β mediates macrophage-induced impairment of insulin signaling in human primary adipocytes. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 307, E289–E304. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00430.2013
- Gao, H., Volat, F., Sandhow, L., Galitzky, J., Nguyen, T., Esteve, D., et al. (2017). CD36 is a marker of human adipocyte progenitors with pronounced adipogenic and triglyceride accumulation potential. *Stem Cells* 3, 1799–1814. doi: 10.1002/ stem.2635
- Gao, Z., Daquinag, A. C., Su, F., Snyder, B., and Kolonin, M. G. (2018). PDGFRα/PDGFRβ signaling balance modulates progenitor cell differentiation into white and beige adipocytes. *Development* 145, dev155861. doi: 10.1242/dev. 155861
- García-Martín, R., Alexaki, V. I., Qin, N., Rubín de Celis, M. F., Economopoulou, M., Ziogas, A., et al. (2015). Adipocyte-specific hypoxia-inducible factor 2α deficiency exacerbates obesity-induced brown adipose tissue dysfunction and metabolic dysregulation. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 36, 376–393. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00430-15
- Gesta, S., Tseng, Y. H., and Kahn, C. R. (2007). Developmental origin of fat: tracking obesity to its source. *Cell* 131, 242–256. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.10.004
- Ghaben, A. L., and Scherer, P. E. (2019). Adipogenesis and metabolic health. *Nat. Rew. Mol. Cell Biol.* 20, 242–258. doi: 10.1038/s41580-018-0093-z
- Gogg, S., Nerstedt, A., Boren, J., and Smith, U. (2019). Human adipose tissue microvascular endothelial cells secrete PPARγ ligands and regulate adipose tissue lipid uptake. *JCI Insight* 4:e125914. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.125914
- Gupta, R. K., Mepani, R. J., Kleiner, S., Lo, J. C., Khandekar, M. J., Cohen, P., et al. (2012). Zfp423 expression identifies committed preadipocytes and localizes to adipose endothelial and perivascular cells. *Cell Metab.* 15, 230–239. doi: 10. 1016/j.cmet.2012.01.010
- Gustafson, B., Nerstedt, A., and Smith, U. (2019). Reduced subcutaneous adipogenesis in human hypertrophic obesity is linked to senescent precursor cells. *Nat. Commun.* 10:2757. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-10688-x
- Gustafson, B., and Smith, U. (2006). Cytokines promote Wnt signaling and inflammation and impair the normal differentiation and lipid accumulation in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 9507–9516. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M512077200
- Hammarstedt, A., Gogg, S., Hedjazifar, S., Nerstedt, A., and Smith, U. (2018). Impaired adipogenesis and dysfunctional adipose tissue in human hypertrophic obesity. *Physiol. Rev.* 98, 1911–1941. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00034.2017
- Henegar, C., Tordjman, J., Achard, V., Lacasa, D., Cremer, I., Guerre-Millo, M., et al. (2008). Adipose tissue transcriptomic signature highlights the pathological relevance of extracellular matrix in human obesity. *Genome Biol.* 9:R14. doi: 10.1186/gb-2008-9-1-r14
- Hepler, C., Shan, B., Zhang, Q., Henry, G. H., Shao, M., Vishvanath, L., et al. (2018). Identification of functionally distinct fibro-inflammatory and

adipogenic stromal subpopulations in visceral adipose tissue of adult mice. *eLife* 7:e39636. doi: 10.7554/eLife.39636

- Hirai, S., Ohyane, C., Kim, Y. I., Lin, S., Goto, T., Takahashi, N., et al. (2014). Involvement of mast cells in adipose tissue fibrosis. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 306, 247–255. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00056.2013
- Hui, X., Gu, P., Zhang, J., Nie, T., Pan, Y., Wu, D., et al. (2015). Adiponectin enhances cold-induced browning of subcutaneous adipose tissue via promoting m2 macrophage proliferation. *Cell Metab.* 22, 279–290. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet. 2015.06.004
- Ikeda, K., Maretich, P., and Kajimura, S. (2018). The common and distinct features of brown and beige adipocytes. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 29, 191–200. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2018.01.001
- Isakson, P., Hammarstedt, A., Gustafson, B., and Smith, U. (2009). Impaired preadipocyte differentiation in human abdominal obesity: role of Wnt, tumor necrosis factor-alpha, and inflammation. *Diabetes* 58, 1550–1557. doi: 10.2337/ db08-1770
- Iwayama, T., Steele, C., Yao, L., Dozmorov, M. G., Karamichos, D., Wren, J. D., et al. (2015). PDGFRα signaling drives adipose tissue fibrosis by targeting progenitor cell plasticity. *Genes Dev.* 29, 110–119. doi: 10.1101/gad.260554.115
- Jeffery, E., Wing, A., Holtrup, B., Sebo, Z., Kaplan, J. L., Saavedra-Peña, R., et al. (2016). The adipose tissue microenvironment regulates depot-specific adipogenesis in obesity. *Cell Metab.* 24, 142–150. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.05. 012
- Jiang, Y., Berry, D. C., Jo, A., Tang, W., Arpke, R. W., Kyba, M., et al. (2017). A PPARγ transcriptional cascade directs adipose progenitor cell-niche interaction and niche expansion. *Nat. Commun.* 8:15926. doi: 10.1038/ncomms15926
- Jones, J. E. C., Rabhi, N., Orofino, J., Gamini, R., Perissi, V., Vernochet, C., et al. (2020). The Adipocyte acquires a fibroblast-like transcriptional signature in response to a high fat diet. *Sci Rep.* 10:2380. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-59284-w
- Kane, H., and Lynch, L. (2019). Innate immune control of adipose tissue homeostasis. *Trends Immunol.* 40, 857–872. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2019.07.006
- Keophiphath, M., Achard, V., Henegar, C., Rouault, C., Clément, K., and Lacasa, D. (2009). Macrophage-secreted factors promote a profibrotic phenotype in human preadipocytes. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 23, 11–24. doi: 10.1210/me.2008-0183
- Kershaw, E. E., and Flier, J. S. (2004). Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 89, 2548–2556. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-0395
- Khan, T., Muise, E. S., Iyengar, P., Wang, Z. V., Chandalia, M., Abate, N., et al. (2009). Metabolic dysregulation and adipose tissue fibrosis: role of collagen VI. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 29, 1575–1591. doi: 10.1128/mcb.01300-08
- Lacasa, D., Taleb, S., Keophiphath, M., Miranville, A., and Clement, K. (2007). Macrophage-secreted factors impair human adipogenesis: involvement of proinflammatory state in preadipocytes. *Endocrinology* 148, 868–877. doi: 10. 1210/en.2006-0687
- Lagathu, C., Yvan-Charvet, L., Bastard, J. P., Maachi, M., Quignard-Boulangé, A., Capeau, J., et al. (2006). Long-term treatment with interleukin-1β induces insulin resistance in murine and human adipocytes. *Diabetologia* 49, 2162– 2173. doi: 10.1007/s00125-006-0335-z
- Lee, M. W., Odegaard, J. I., Mukundan, L., Qiu, Y., Molofsky, A. B., Nussbaum, J. C., et al. (2015). Activated type 2 innate lymphoid cells regulate beige fat biogenesis. *Cell* 160, 74–87. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.12.011
- Lee, Y. H., Petkova, A. P., and Granneman, J. G. (2013). Identification of an adipogenic niche for adipose tissue remodeling and restoration. *Cell Metab.* 18, 355–367. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.08.003
- Lee, Y. H., Petkova, A. P., Mottillo, E. P., and Granneman, J. G. (2012). In vivo identification of bipotential adipocyte progenitors recruited by β3adrenoceptor activation and high-fat feeding. *Cell.Metab.* 15, 480–491. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.03.009
- Lin, J. Z., Rabhi, N., and Farmer, S. (2018). Myocardin-related transcription factor a promotes recruitment of ITGA5+ profibrotic progenitors during obesityinduced adipose tissue fibrosis. *Cell Rep.* 23, 1977–1987. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep. 2018.04.057
- Lumeng, C. N., Bodzin, J. L., and Saltiel, A. R. (2007a). Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 175–184. doi: 10.1172/JCI29881
- Lumeng, C. N., Deyoung, S. M., and Saltiel, A. R. (2007b). Macrophages block insulin action in adipocytes by altering expression of signaling and glucose transport proteins. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 292, 166–174. doi: 10. 1152/ajpendo.00284.2006

- Macdougall, C. E., and Longhi, M. P. (2019). Adipose tissue dendritic cells in steady-state. *Immunology* 156, 228–234. doi: 10.1111/imm.13034
- Macotela, Y., Emanuelli, B., Mori, M. A., Gesta, S., Schulz, T. J., Tseng, Y. H., et al. (2012). Intrinsic differences in adipocyte precursor cells from different white fat depots. *Diabetes* 61, 1691–1699. doi: 10.2337/db11-1753
- Marcelin, G., Ferreira, A., Liu, Y., Atlan, M., Aron-Wisnewsky, J., Pelloux, V., et al. (2017). A PDGFRα-mediated switch toward CD9high adipocyte progenitors controls obesity-induced adipose tissue fibrosis. *Cell Metab.* 25, 673–685. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.01.010
- Marcelin, G., Silveira, A. L. M., Martins, L. B., Ferreira, A. V., and Clément, K. (2019). Deciphering the cellular interplays underlying obesityinduced adipose tissue fibrosis. J. Clin. Invest. 129, 4032–4040. doi: 10.1172/JCI129192
- Meln, I., Wolff, G., Gajek, T., Koddebusch, J., Lerch, S., Harbrecht, L., et al. (2019). Dietary calories and lipids synergistically shape adipose tissue cellularity during postnatal growth. *Mol. Metab.* 24, 139–148. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2019.03.012
- Merrick, D., Sakers, A., Irgebay, Z., Okada, C., Calvert, C., Morley, M. P., et al. (2019). Identification of a mesenchymal progenitor cell hierarchy in adipose tissue. *Science* 364:eaav2501. doi: 10.1126/science.aav2501
- Michailidou, Z. (2019). Fundamental roles for hypoxia signalling in adipose tissue metabolism and inflammation in obesity. *Curr. Opin. Physiol.* 12, 39–43. doi: 10.1016/j.cophys.2019.09.005
- Min, S. Y., Desai, A., Yang, Z., Sharma, A., DeSouza, T., Genga, R. M. J., et al. (2019). Diverse repertoire of human adipocyte subtypes develops from transcriptionally distinct mesenchymal progenitor cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 116, 17970–17979. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1906512116
- Molofsky, A. B., Nussbaum, J. C., Liang, H. E., Van Dyken, S. J., Cheng, L. E., Mohapatra, A., et al. (2013). Innate lymphoid type 2 cells sustain visceral adipose tissue eosinophils and alternatively activated macrophages. *J. Exp. Med.* 210, 535–549. doi: 10.1084/jem.20121964
- Moysidou, M., Karaliota, S., Kodela, E., Salagianni, M., Koutmani, Y., Katsouda, A., et al. (2018). CD8+ T cells in beige adipogenesis and energy homeostasis. *JCI Insight* 3:e95456. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.95456
- Nawaz, A., Aminuddin, A., Kado, T., Takikawa, A., Yamamoto, S., Tsuneyama, K., et al. (2017). CD206+ M2-like macrophages regulate systemic glucose metabolism by inhibiting proliferation of adipocyte progenitors. *Nat. Commun.* 8:286. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00231-231
- Nishimura, S., Manabe, I., Nagasaki, M., Hosoya, Y., Yamashita, H., Fujita, H., et al. (2007). Adipogenesis in obesity requires close interplay between differentiating adipocytes, stromal cells, and blood vessels. *Diabetes* 56, 1517–1526. doi: 10. 2337/db06-1749
- Obregon, M. J. (2014). Adipose tissues and thyroid hormones. *Front. Physiol*. 5:479. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2014.00479
- Okla, M., Zaher, W., Alfayez, M., and Chung, S. (2018). Inhibitory effects of tolllike receptor 4, NLRP3 inflammasome, and interleukin-1β on white adipocyte browning. *Inflammation* 41, 626–642. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.03.040
- Ouchi, N., Parker, J. L., Lugus, J. J., and Walsh, K. (2011). Adipokines in inflammation and metabolic disease. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 11, 85–97. doi: 10. 1038/nri2921
- Palhinha, L., Liechocki, S., Hottz, E. D., Pereira, J. A. D. S., de Almeida, C. J., Moraes-Vieira, P. M. M., et al. (2019). Leptin induces proadipogenic and proinflammatory signaling in adipocytes. *Front. Endocrinol.* 10:841. doi: 10. 3389/fendo.2019.00841
- Pamir, N., Liu, N. C., Irwin, A., Becker, L., Peng, Y., Ronsein, G. E., et al. (2015). Granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor-dependent dendritic cells restrain lean adipose tissue expansion. J. Biol. Chem. 290, 14656–14667. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.645820
- Pazos, P., Lima, L., Tovar, S., González-Touceda, D., Diéguez, C., and García, M. C. (2015). Divergent responses to thermogenic stimuli in BAT and subcutaneous adipose tissue from interleukin 18 and interleukin 18 receptor 1-deficient mice. *Sci Rep.* 5, 17977. doi: 10.1038/srep17977
- Peirce, V., Carobbio, S., and Vidal-Puig, A. (2014). The different shades of fat. *Nature* 510, 76–83. doi: 10.1038/nature13477
- Permana, P. A., Nair, S., Lee, Y. H., Luczy-Bachman, G., Vozarova De Courten, B., and Tataranni, P. A. (2004). Subcutaneous abdominal preadipocyte differentiation in vitro inversely correlates with central obesity. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 286, E958–E962. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00544.2003
- Qiu, Y., Nguyen, K. D., Odegaard, J. I., Cui, X., Tian, X., Locksley, R. M., et al. (2014). Eosinophils and type 2 cytokine signaling in macrophages orchestrate

development of functional beige fat. Cell 157, 1292–1308. doi: 10.1016/j.cell. 2014.03.066

- Raajendiran, A., Ooi, G., Bayliss, J., O'Brien, P. E., Schittenhelm, R. B., Clark, A. K., et al. (2019). Identification of metabolically distinct adipocyte progenitor cells in human adipose tissues. *Cell Rep.* 27, 1528.e7–1540.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep. 2019.04.010
- Rodeheffer, M. S., Birsoy, K., and Friedman, J. M. (2008). Identification of white adipocyte progenitor cells in vivo. *Cell* 135, 240–249. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008. 09.036
- Rodríguez, A., Ezquerro, S., Méndez-Giménez, L., Becerril, S., and Frühbeck, G. (2015). Revisiting the adipocyte: a model for integration of cytokine signaling in the regulation of energy metabolism. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 309, E691–E714. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00297.2015
- Rønningen, T., Shah, A., Reiner, A. H., Collas, P., and Moskaug, J. Ø (2015). Epigenetic priming of inflammatory response genes by high glucose in adipose progenitor cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 467, 979–986. doi: 10.1016/j. bbrc.2015.10.030
- Rosen, E. D., and MacDougald, O. A. (2006). Adipocyte differentiation from the inside out. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 7, 885–896. doi: 10.1038/nrm2066
- Rosen, E. D., and Spiegelman, B. M. (2014). What we talk about when we talk about fat. *Cell* 156, 20–44. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.012
- Rosenwald, M., Perdikari, A., Rülicke, T., and Wolfrum, C. (2013). Bi-directional interconversion of brite and white adipocytes. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 15, 659–667. doi: 10.1038/ncb2740
- Rotter, V., Nagaev, I., and Smith, U. (2003). Interleukin-6 (IL-6) induces insulin resistance in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and is, like IL-8 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha, overexpressed in human fat cells from insulinresistant subjects. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 45777–45784. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M3019 77200
- Sakamoto, T., Nitta, T., Maruno, K., Yeh, Y. S., Kuwata, H., Tomita, K., et al. (2016). Macrophage infiltration into obese adipose tissues suppresses the induction of UCP1 level in mice. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 310, E676–E687. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00028.2015
- Schwalie, P. C., Dong, H., Zachara, M., Russeil, J., Alpern, D., Akchiche, N., et al. (2018). A stromal cell population that inhibits adipogenesis in mammalian fat depots. *Nature* 559, 103–108. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0226-8
- Shao, M., Vishvanath, L., Busbuso, N. C., Hepler, C., Shan, B., Sharma, A. X., et al. (2018). De Novo adipocyte differentiation from Pdgfrβ+ preadipocytes protects against pathologic visceral adipose expansion in obesity. *Nat. Commun.* 9:890. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03196-x
- Shao, M., Wang, Q. A., Song, A., Vishvanath, L., Busbuso, N. C., Scherer, P. E., et al. (2019). Cellular origins of beige fat cells revisited. *Diabetes* 68, 1874–1885. doi: 10.2337/db19-0308
- Shapouri-Moghaddam, A., Mohammadian, S., Vazini, H., Taghadosi, M., Esmaeili, S. A., Mardani, F., et al. (2018). Macrophage Plasticity, polarization, and function in health and disease. J. Cell Physiol. 233, 6425–6440. doi: 10.1002/ jcp.26429
- Spalding, K. L., Arner, E., Westermark, P. O., Bernard, S., Buchholz, B. A., Bergmann, O., et al. (2008). Dynamics of fat cell turnover in humans. *Nature* 453, 783–787. doi: 10.1038/nature06902
- Sun, C., Berry, W. L., and Olson, L. E. (2017). PDGFRα controls the balance of stromal and adipogenic cells during adipose tissue organogenesis. *Development* 144, 83–94. doi: 10.1242/dev.135962
- Sun, K., Park, J., Gupta, O. T., Holland, W. L., Auerbach, P., Zhang, N., et al. (2014). Endotrophin triggers adipose tissue fibrosis and metabolic dysfunction. *Nat. Commun.* 19:3485. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4485
- Sun, K., Tordjman, J., Clément, K., and Scherer, P. E. (2013). Fibrosis and adipose tissue dysfunction. *Cell Metab.* 18, 470–477. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.06.016
- Sun, K., Wernstedt Asterholm, I., Kusminski, C. M., Bueno, A. C., Wang, Z. V., Pollard, J. W., et al. (2012). Dichotomous effects of VEGF-A on adipose tissue dysfunction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 5874–5879. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1200447109
- Tang, W., Zeve, D., Suh, J. M., Bosnakovski, D., Kyba, M., Hammer, R. E., et al. (2008). White fat progenitor cells reside in the adipose vasculature. *Science* 322, 583–586. doi: 10.1126/science.1156232

- Tchkonia, T., Tchoukalova, Y. D., Giorgadze, N., Pirtskhalava, T., Karagiannides, I., Forse, R. A., et al. (2005). Abundance of two human preadipocyte subtypes with distinct capacities for replication, adipogenesis, and apoptosis varies among fat depots. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 288, E267–E277. doi: 10.1152/ ajpendo.00265.2004
- Traktuev, D. O., Merfeld-Clauss, S., Li, J., Kolonin, M., Arap, W., Pasqualini, R., et al. (2008). A population of multipotent CD34-positive adipose stromal cells share pericyte and mesenchymal surface markers, reside in a periendothelial location, and stabilize endothelial networks. *Circ Res.* 102, 77–85. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.107.159475
- Vishvanath, L., and Gupta, R. K. (2019). Contribution of adipogenesis to healthy adipose tissue expansion in obesity. J. Clin. Invest. 129, 4022–4031. doi: 10.1172/ JCI129191
- Vishvanath, L., MacPherson, K. A., Hepler, C., Wang, Q. A., Shao, M., Spurgin, S. B., et al. (2016). Pdgfrβ+ mural preadipocytes contribute to adipocyte hyperplasia induced by high-fat-diet feeding and prolonged cold exposure in adult mice. *Cell Metab.* 23, 350–359. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.10.018
- Wang, W., Ishibashi, J., Trefely, S., Shao, M., Cowan, A. J., Sakers, A., et al. (2019). A PRDM16-driven metabolic signal from adipocytes regulates precursor cell fate. *Cell Metab.* 30, 174.e5–189.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2019.05.005
- Wang, H., Shen, L., Sun, X., Liu, F., Feng, W., Jiang, C., et al. (2019). Adipose group 1 innate lymphoid cells promote adipose tissue fibrosis and diabetes in obesity. *Nat. Commun.* 10:3254. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-11270-1
- Wang, W., and Seale, P. (2016). Control of brown and beige fat development. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 17, 691–702. doi: 10.1038/nrm.2016.96
- Weiner, F. R., Shah, A., Smith, P. J., Rubin, C. S., and Zern, M. A. (1989). Regulation of collagen gene expression in 3T3-L1 cells. Effects of adipocyte differentiation and tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Biochemistry* 28, 4094–4099. doi: 10.1021/bi00435a070
- Weinstock, A., Brown, E. J., Garabedian, M. L., Pena, S., Sharma, M., Lafaille, J., et al. (2019). Single-cell RNA sequencing of visceral adipose tissue leukocytes reveals that caloric restriction following obesity promotes the accumulation of a distinct macrophage population with features of phagocytic cells. *Immunometabolism* 1:e190008. doi: 10.20900/immunometab20190008
- Weisberg, S. P., McCann, D., Desai, M., Rosenbaum, M., Leibel, R. L., and Ferrante, A. W. Jr. (2003). Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. *J. Clin. Invest.* 112, 1796–1808. doi: 10.1172/JCI200319246. Introduction
- Wu, D., Molofsky, A. B., Liang, H. E., Ricardo-Gonzalez, R. R., Jouihan, H. A., Bando, J. K., et al. (2011). Eosinophils sustain adipose alternatively activated macrophages associated with glucose homeostasis. *Science* 32, 243–247. doi: 10/1126/science.1201475
- Wu, J., Boström, P., Sparks, L. M., Ye, L., Choi, J. H., Giang, A. H., et al. (2012). Beige adipocytes are a distinct type of thermogenic fat cell in mouse and human. *Cell* 150, 366–376. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.05.016
- Wynn, T. A. (2008). Cellular and molecular mechanisms of fibrosis. J. Pathol. 16, 26–39. doi: 10.1002/path.2277
- Zhang, R., Gao, Y., Zhao, X., Gao, M., Wu, Y., Han, Y., et al. (2018). FSP1-positive fibroblasts are adipogenic niche and regulate adipose homeostasis. *PLoS Biol.* 16:e2001493. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.2001493
- Zheng, C., Yang, Q., Cao, J., Xie, N., Liu, K., Shou, P., et al. (2016). Local proliferation initiates macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue during obesity. *Cell Death Dis.* 7:e2167. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2016.54

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Pyrina, Chung, Michailidou, Koutsilieris, Chavakis and Chatzigeorgiou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Fibroblast Reprogramming in Gastrointestinal Cancer

#### Maria-Theodora Melissari<sup>†</sup>, Niki Chalkidi<sup>†</sup>, Michalis E. Sarris and Vasiliki Koliaraki<sup>\*</sup>

Institute for Fundamental Biomedical Research, Biomedical Sciences Research Center "Alexander Fleming", Vari, Greece

Gastrointestinal cancers are a significant cause of cancer mortality worldwide and have been strongly linked with chronic inflammation. Current therapies focus on epithelial/cancer cells; however, the importance of the tumor microenvironment in the development and treatment of the disease is also now well established. Cancerassociated fibroblasts (CAFs) are a major component of the tumor microenvironment, and are actively participating in tumor initiation, promotion and metastasis. They structurally and functionally affect cancer cell proliferation, tumor immunity, angiogenesis, extracellular matrix remodeling and metastasis through a variety of signaling pathways. CAFs originate predominantly from resident mesenchymal cells, which are activated and reprogrammed in response to cues from cancer cells. In recent years, chronic inflammation of the gastrointestinal tract has also proven an important driver of mesenchymal cell activation and subsequent CAF development, which in turn are capable of regulating the transition from acute to chronic inflammation and cancer. In this review, we will provide a concise overview of the mechanisms that drive fibroblast reprogramming in cancer and the recent advances on the downstream signaling pathways that regulate the functional properties of the activated mesenchyme. This new mechanistic insight could pave the way for new therapeutic strategies and better prognosis for cancer patients.

Keywords: cancer-associated fibroblasts, tumor microenvironment, synthetic activation, epigenetic reprogramming, metabolic reprogramming

## INTRODUCTION

CAFs are an essential component of the tumor microenvironment and accumulating evidence supports their substantial contribution to cancer development and progression (Kalluri, 2016; Kobayashi et al., 2019; Sahai et al., 2020). They originate predominantly from tissue-resident fibroblasts that are activated in response to signals from cancer cells and the tumor microenvironment. Additional cellular sources, such as bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells (BM-MSCs), fibrocytes, as well as epithelial and endothelial cells have also been reported. Fibroblast activation includes increased proliferation, changes in their physicochemical properties, such as shape alteration and increased contractility, and the production of a variety of effector molecules. These include cytokines and chemokines, extracellular matrix (ECM) components and remodeling enzymes, growth factors, metabolites and signaling molecules that mediate CAF functions to support cancer growth, metastasis and resistance to therapy (Kalluri, 2016; Kobayashi et al., 2019; Sahai et al., 2020). The increased insight into CAF functions and their association with poor prognosis in cancer patients has brought into focus the potential of CAF

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Ana Igea, University of Vigo, Spain

#### Reviewed by:

Cristina Peña, Ramón y Cajal University Hospital, Spain Enza Lonardo, Institute of Genetics and Biophysics (CNR), Italy

#### \*Correspondence:

Vasiliki Koliaraki koliaraki@fleming.gr <sup>†</sup> These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorshio

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

> Received: 12 May 2020 Accepted: 23 June 2020 Published: 15 July 2020

#### Citation:

Melissari M-T, Chalkidi N, Sarris ME and Koliaraki V (2020) Fibroblast Reprogramming in Gastrointestinal Cancer. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 8:630. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.00630 targeting for cancer treatment. It is thus interesting to consider the possibility of the reversal of CAF reprogramming as a promising therapeutic strategy in cancer, although potential anti-tumor CAF properties should also be taken into account (Gieniec et al., 2019).

In this review, we summarize current knowledge on how fibroblasts are converted to CAFs, particularly focusing on gastrointestinal cancers, including colorectal cancer (CRC), pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC), hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), and gastric cancer (GC). We specifically analyze the three major types of CAF reprogramming, namely synthetic, epigenetic and metabolic, and focus on the signals and downstream molecular pathways that regulate this transition (**Figure 1**).

## FIBROBLAST REPROGRAMMING: TYPES AND UNDERLYING MOLECULAR MECHANISMS

#### **Synthetic Activation**

A variety of signals, such as growth factors, cytokines, chemokines, Toll-like receptor (TLR) and Hedgehog ligands, mechanical forces and ECM components activate fibroblasts to produce effector molecules that are responsible for CAF functions (**Figure 1A**; Kalluri, 2016; Kobayashi et al., 2019; Sahai et al., 2020). TGF $\beta$  and IL-1 are probably the most ubiquitous and well-characterized such stimuli.

TGF $\beta$  is a dominant effector in all gastrointestinal cancers and mediates the conversion of fibroblasts to CAFs. Its importance is highlighted by the association of a CAF-specific TGF<sup>β</sup> signature with poor prognosis, immune cell exclusion and resistance to immunotherapy in CRC (Calon et al., 2015; Tauriello et al., 2018). The pleiotropic effects of TGF<sup>β</sup> encompass changes in fibroblast adhesion through the production of collagens and fibronectin, changes in cell shape through  $\alpha$ SMA overexpression, increased proliferation and increased synthetic activity, including the production of ECM enzymes, growth factors, chemokines, and cytokines (Calon et al., 2012; Hawinkels et al., 2014; Ishimoto et al., 2017; Biffi et al., 2019). TGFβ functions predominantly by downstream activation of SMADs and JAK/ STAT signaling pathways, as shown in CRC and liver fibrosis (Calon et al., 2012; Tang et al., 2017). In contrast, it downregulates IL-1R1 and blocks the JAK/STAT cascade in PDAC fibroblasts, favoring thus the generation of CAFs with a myofibroblastic phenotype (Biffi et al., 2019). Notably, it also promotes epithelialto-mesenchymal and endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition, as well as the recruitment of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal cells (BM-MSCs) and fibrocytes (Polyak and Weinberg, 2009; Quante et al., 2011). Other growth factors can also regulate CAF reprogramming either alone or in combination with TGFβ. For example, PDGF has been shown to drive recruitment and activation of fibroblasts in CRC and GC and its blockade leads to reduced tumor growth and metastasis (Ostman, 2004; Kitadai et al., 2006; Kodama et al., 2010; Sumida et al., 2011; Manzat Saplacan et al., 2017). It also complements the function of  $TGF\beta$ 

on both pancreatic (PSC) and hepatic (HSC) stellate cells to promote their proliferation and migration (Dong et al., 2004; Cadamuro et al., 2013).

Inflammation is a significant predisposition factor for the initiation and progression of gastrointestinal cancers. The abundance of inflammatory signals mediates reciprocal interactions between cancer cells, stroma and immune cells to accelerate the development of an inflammatory TME and the phenotypic switch of CAFs (Greten and Grivennikov, 2019). Recently, Biffi and Tuveson (2020) highlighted the importance of IL-1 signaling in shaping CAF functions in PDAC, by showing that tumor-derived IL-1 $\alpha$  antagonizes TGF $\beta$  signaling and stimulates the production of a cytokine cascade, including LIF, IL-6 and CXCL8 (Biffi et al., 2019). This acts in an autocrine manner to activate the JAK/STAT3 pathway in CAFs, resulting in a positive feedback loop that leads to high IL-1R1 expression and inflammatory CAF formation (Biffi et al., 2019). IL-1ß also drives tumor fibrosis and cancer cell proliferation, survival and chemoresistance in PDAC through the IRAK4-NFκB pathway (Zhang et al., 2018). The IL-1-NFκB axis plays also an important role in the activation or survival of HSCs, at least in liver fibrosis (Gieling et al., 2009; Pradere et al., 2013). Both IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  increase CAF motility in GC through the regulation of Rhomboid 5 homolog 2 (RHBDF2), which promotes TGFBR1 cleavage by ADAM17 (Ishimoto et al., 2017). In the intestine, they induce cytokine and prostaglandin production by intestinal mesenchymal cells, which promote inflammation and can support the establishment of a cancer stem cell niche (Li et al., 2012; Scarpa et al., 2015). Interestingly, IL-1 $\beta$  was recently shown to drive the activation of subsets of PDGFR $\alpha^+$  fibroblasts, contributing thus to EGF-dependent serrated polyp formation in the mouse cecum (He et al., 2019). In contrast, in vivo deletion of IL-1R1 in ColVI<sup>Cre+</sup> mesenchymal cells had no effect in either Apc-driven spontaneous or inflammation-induced intestinal carcinogenesis (Koliaraki et al., 2019). These studies highlight both the diverse and opposing roles of IL-1 agonists in cancer and their potential distinct functions in different fibroblast or CAF subpopulations (Voronov et al., 2013).

TNF and members of the IL-6 family are also important inflammatory inducers of fibroblast activation. TNF has been shown to act synergistically with IL-1a to promote proinflammatory gene expression in PSCs through NFkB activation (Biffi et al., 2019). Accordingly, in vivo inhibition of TNF was able to reduce desmoplasia in mice, which was associated with decreased PSC viability (Zhao et al., 2016). In addition, in vitro studies ascribe a pro-fibrogenic role for TNF on HSCs, as it promotes myofibroblast survival and activation through NFkB activation, while iRhom2-mediated inhibition of TNFR signaling protects against liver fibrosis (Tarrats et al., 2011; Pradere et al., 2013; Bonnardel et al., 2019; Sundaram et al., 2019). IL-6 and IL-11 were recently also shown to play a role in fibroblast activation in CRC through STAT3 activation and subsequent expansion of activated fibroblasts and the induction of a proangiogenic profile, which drove colorectal carcinogenesis in vivo (Heichler et al., 2019). Similarly, IL-6 was sufficient to induce the trans-differentiation of normal fibroblasts to CAFs



via STAT3 phosphorylation and downstream activation of a Twist1/CXCL12 axis (Lee et al., 2015).

Besides these major cytokine signals, other cytokines and chemokines, such as IL-33 and CXCL12 also contribute to fibroblast activation. In humans and mouse models of intestinal cancer, cancer cell-derived IL-33 activates fibroblasts and promotes the expression of ECM components and growth factors associated with intestinal tumor progression (Maywald et al., 2015). Accordingly, IL-33 drives hepatic fibrosis through activation of HSCs via MAPK signaling (Tan et al., 2018). CXCL12 can promote epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT), recruit BM-MSCs in gastric cancer and drive the expansion of  $\alpha$ SMA<sup>+</sup> myofibroblasts and Gremlin 1-expressing mesenchymal stem cells (Quante et al., 2011; Shibata et al., 2013). Other immune cell-derived inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-17, IL-22, IL-31, IL-4 and IL-13, have also been shown to

activate quiescent tissue-resident fibroblasts during inflammation or fibrosis, although their role in CAF reprogramming is not yet clear (Andoh et al., 2007; Tsuchida and Friedman, 2017).

Beyond cytokines and chemokines, innate immune signals have emerged as an additional stimulus for CAF reprogramming, linking further the inflammatory TME with fibroblast activation and cancer progression (Koliaraki et al., 2020). CAFs express innate immune receptors and respond to produce effector molecules that affect tumourigenesis in gastrointestinal tumors. This is mediated through downstream activation of MAPK and NFkB signaling pathways, which independently of the stimuli have been shown to play an important role in the synthetic reprogramming of CAFs in colorectal cancer (Koliaraki et al., 2012, 2015, 2019; Henriques et al., 2018). We recently showed that innate activation of intestinal mesenchymal cells through TLR4/MyD88 pathway in the  $Apc^{min/+}$  mouse model resulted in the production of pro-tumourigenic and immunomodulatory effector molecules, while it also resembled the gene expression profile of human CRC CAFs (Koliaraki et al., 2019). Similarly, TLR9 activation has been shown to lead to PSC reprogramming and the production of CCL11 to support PDAC tumor growth (Zambirinis et al., 2015).

The Hedgehog (Hh)/Smoothened (Smo) signaling pathway has also been shown to regulate CAF activation in gastrointestinal cancers, although it seems to exert opposite functions depending on the organ affected. Several studies have shown that genetic deletion or pharmacological inhibition of Hh signaling leads to depletion of the PDAC-associated stroma and enhanced drug delivery, xenograft growth inhibition, as well as reduction of HSC activation and concomitant liver fibrosis (Yauch et al., 2008; Olive et al., 2009; Michelotti et al., 2013; Swiderska-Syn et al., 2014). In contrast, Hh activity was found reduced in human CRC and stroma-specific Hh activation markedly decreased tumor load and progression in a mouse model of CRC partly via the modulation of BMP signaling (Gerling et al., 2016). Notably, clinical trials using Hh inhibitors in patients with CRC or PDAC have so far failed, indicating that stromal heterogeneity, compensatory mechanisms and therapy resistance could interfere with CAF reprogramming approaches in solid tumors (Berlin et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2014; Catenacci et al., 2015).

Besides driving CAF activation, other pathways have been shown to suppress or reverse it and could be promising candidates for therapeutic interventions. A prominent example is the vitamin D receptor (VDR), which acts as a modulator of CAF reprogramming in gastrointestinal cancers (Ferrer-Mayorga et al., 2017). Mechanistically, it has been shown to suppress PSC activation, resulting in stromal remodeling and increased intratumoral gemcitabine effects in PDAC, while interaction between VDR and p62/SQSTM1 suppressed HSC activation and liver cancer (Sherman et al., 2014; Duran et al., 2016). Another such example is the activation of p53 by Nutlin-3a, which can reprogram activated PSCs to quiescence (Saison-Ridinger et al., 2017).

Finally, beyond soluble mediators, the biophysical properties of the TME have been also implicated in CAF activation and the induction of a synthetic phenotype. Mechanical stress induces collagen overexpression and crosslinking, fiber rearrangement, ECM deposition and degradation by fibroblasts, which can thus mediate the remodeling of the ECM and increase matrix stiffness (Mohammadi and Sahai, 2018). Matrix stiffness and the resulting mechanical stress further activates fibroblasts in a continuous self-promoting loop resulting in cancer cell proliferation and migration. Several studies in gastrointestinal inflammation and cancer propose that these stimuli activate fibroblasts through FAK, MRTF-SRF, and YAP-TEAD signaling pathways, leading to increased aSMA expression and the regulation of cytoskeletal dynamics (Johnson et al., 2013, 2014; Foster et al., 2017). Many of these effects are also dependent on TGFB, Rho and ROCK signaling (Zhao et al., 2007; Johnson et al., 2014). Accordingly, HSCs sense mechanical stress through integrins, GPCRs and DDRs, activating Rho, YAP, PAK1, and JAK2/PI3K/AKT-MYOCD, respectively (Martin et al., 2016; Kang, 2020). Interestingly, another mechanosensor,

the G protein-coupled estrogen receptor (GPER) shows tumorrestricting capacity, as it acts through Rho/myosin axis and YAP deactivation to inhibit the ability of PSCs and HSCs to remodel the ECM (Cortes et al., 2019a,b).

#### **Epigenetic Reprogramming**

Epigenetic abnormalities, including changes in DNA methylation, abnormal patterns of histone modifications and post-transcriptional regulation through micro and long non-coding RNAs support genetic changes in cancer cells to drive tumor initiation and progression. Similar genetic mutations driving CAF differentiation are rare (Qiu et al., 2008; Bianchi-Frias et al., 2016). However, CAFs maintain their properties in vitro, indicating that they could also be epigenetically modified to a stably activated cell state (**Figure 1B**; Kalluri, 2016).

Both global and gene-specific changes in DNA methylation patterns have been detected in stromal cells and shown to affect tumor growth and progression. GC CAFs display global hypomethylation of DNA along with hypermethylation at a subset of genes, such as HOXB6 (Jiang et al., 2008). Global alterations in 5-methylcytosine and 5-hydroxylmethylcytosine play an important role in HSC activation and concomitant liver fibrosis (Page et al., 2016). PDAC CAF differentiation is accompanied by decreased cytosine methylation and increased hydroxymethylation in response to cancer cell-derived lactate and subsequent CAF metabolic alterations that drive activation of the demethylase TET (Bhagat et al., 2019). An example of gene-specific methylation change includes the cancer cellinduced methylation and concomitant downregulation of the SOCS1 gene in PDAC CAFs, which enhanced cancer cell growth through the STAT3/IGF1 axis (Xiao et al., 2016). Increased PGE2 production in response to H. pylori infection was shown to drive hypermethylation of miR-149, increased IL-6 secretion and CAF activation in GC (Li et al., 2015). Interestingly, CRC stromal cells showed hypermethylation of the SEPT9 gene, which was temporally subsequent to epithelial cells, suggesting that DNA methylation in CAFs could be attributed to field effects from cancer cells (Wu et al., 2007). These examples highlight the role of cancer cells in the epigenetic reprogramming of fibroblasts, although more research is necessary to define the molecular mechanisms involved in this process.

Evidence on the regulation of histone modifications in stromal cells and their role in fibroblast activation during carcinogenesis is still limited. Nevertheless, genome-wide H3K27me3 analyses of primary GC CAFs revealed loss of H3K27me3 in genes involved in the maintenance of the stem cell niche, including WNT5A, the inhibition of which was shown to suppress cancer cell growth and migration (Maeda et al., 2020). Similarly, the histone acetyltransferase P300 was shown to mediate stiffness-induced activation of HSCs by altering the acetylation status of H3K27Ac, at least on the CXCL12 gene promoter (Dou et al., 2018). Additional genome-wide screenings in combination with functional in vivo studies on gastrointestinal cancer are necessary to delineate the role of the "histone-code" on the activation of stromal cells.

Changes at the levels of multiple miRNAs have also been implicated in the reprogramming of fibroblasts in gastrointestinal

cancers. For example, activated PSCs differentially express 84 miRNAs (Masamune et al., 2014), while culture-induced HSC activation resulted in the deregulation of 259 miRNAs (Coll et al., 2015). Among deregulated mi-RNAs, miR-21 is of particular interest, as it is involved in the activation of fibroblasts in colorectal and pancreatic cancer, as well as oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma through mechanisms that include activation of the TGFB pathway and the promotion of the metabolic reprogramming of CAFs (Bullock et al., 2013; Li et al., 2013; Nouraee et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2018). These changes can be either the result of complex deregulated transcriptional and post-transcriptional networks in differentiating fibroblasts or the consequence of miRNA transfer from cancer cells mainly through exosomes. Concerning the latter, several studies have indeed confirmed this mechanism also for gastrointestinal cancers. For example, pancreatic cancer cells can reprogram normal fibroblasts to CAFs through secreted microvesicles containing miR-155, miR-1246, and miR-1290 (Pang et al., 2015; Masamune et al., 2018). In addition, metastatic hepatocellular carcinoma cells secrete exosomal miR-1247-3p that targets B4GALT3, which in turn activates  $\beta 1$  integrin-mediated NFkB signaling in fibroblasts (Fang et al., 2018). Finally, long noncoding RNAs have been described as regulators of stromal activation in HSCs (Zhou et al., 2016). These can act through a circuit comprising also miRNAs, such as GAS5 that restrains hepatic fibrosis by targeting miR-23a through the PTEN/PI3K/Akt signaling pathway (Dong et al., 2019) and HOTTIP which promotes the activation of HSCs via the downregulation of miR-148a (Li et al., 2018).

#### Metabolic Reprogramming

Alterations in cancer cell energetics are now considered a hallmark of cancer (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011; Faubert et al., 2020). The most prominent such change is a shift of glucose metabolism towards aerobic glycolysis versus mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS), a phenomenon that is known as the "Warburg effect". This allows cancer cells to take advantage of glycolytic intermediates and activate the biosynthesis of macromolecules and organelles that support rapid growth and proliferation (Vander Heiden et al., 2009; Faubert et al., 2020). Fibroblasts in the surrounding tumor microenvironment also exhibit a similarly altered metabolism towards aerobic glycolysis, which leads to the release of energyrich fuels, mainly lactate, but also pyruvate, glutamine and ketone bodies (Wu et al., 2017). These are transferred from CAFs to cancer cells through MCT4 and MCT1 transporters, respectively, where they are used to replenish the TCA cycle, to support OXPHOS and biosynthesis pathways maximizing proliferation and reducing cell death. This phenomenon is termed the "Reverse Warburg effect" (Wilde et al., 2017). In line with this, MCT1 and MCT4 levels were found upregulated in CRC and were associated with low survival in patients with CRC and gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GISTs) (Lehuede et al., 2016; Martins et al., 2016). Similarly, PDAC CAFs displayed diverse expression of the hypoxic marker carbonic anhydrase X and MCT4 and altered metabolic properties, which supported the invasiveness of cancer cells and were correlated with shorter patient survival (Knudsen et al., 2016).

Besides glucose metabolism, CAFs also display a lipid metabolic shift. For example, activated PSCs showed a remodeled and increased lipid secretome and produced lysophospatidylcholines, which support membrane lipid synthesis, while they were further converted to LPA via autotaxin enzymatic activity to facilitate tumor growth (Auciello et al., 2019). Similarly, CAFs in CRC accumulated fatty acids and phospholipids via an increase in fatty acid synthase (FASN), and were then transferred to cancer cells to induce their migration (Gong et al., 2020).

CAFs are also characterized by increased autophagy, which generates recycled nutrients from broken down organelles that in turn are used by cancer cells to cover their needs. For example, in PDAC, cancer cell-induced autophagy in CAFs leads to the secretion of non-essential amino acids, and specifically alanine, which in turn fuels the TCA cycle and lipid biosynthesis in the cancer cells (Sousa et al., 2016). In CRC, co-culture of fibroblasts and cancer cells resulted in an upregulation of oxidative stress-related enzymes and autophagy genes and the downregulation of CAV1 in fibroblasts that in turn promoted cancer cell proliferation (Zhou et al., 2017).

Mechanistically, CAF metabolic reprogramming and autophagy are induced mainly by reactive oxygen species (ROS) and hypoxia, which through downstream activation of HIF1 and NFkB promote the metabolism of glucose to lactate and glutamate and mediate the loss of caveolin-1 (CAV1) (Figure 1C) (Martinez-Outschoorn et al., 2010). Inflammatory mediators can also induce autophagy in fibroblasts through NFkB signaling, providing evidence for immune regulation of metabolic reprogramming, similarly to their synthetic activation (Martinez-Outschoorn et al., 2011). TGFB also mediates CAFs' metabolic reprogramming either through the downregulation of CAV1 or the upregulation of autophagy/mitophagy inducers. It acts by downregulating isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 (IDH1), leading thus to an increase of glutamine metabolism and  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate ( $\alpha$ -KG) concentration, which in turn suppresses CAV1 expression (Hou et al., 2017). CAV1 is a crucial regulator of CAFs' metabolic switch and its inhibition is sufficient to activate fibroblasts, impair mitochondrial function and induce a glycolytic switch in fibroblasts through the upregulation of glycolytic enzymes (Sotgia et al., 2012). Finally, the Hh pathway has been shown to play a significant role in the reprogramming of quiescent HSC to myofibroblasts during liver fibrosis, and potentially CAF differentiation, through the activation of aerobic glycolysis and lactate accumulation (Chen et al., 2012). Additionally, Hh signaling together with YAP were found to induce glutaminolysis, concomitant activation of HSC and fibrosis progression (Du et al., 2018).

## Reprogramming and Heterogeneity of CAFs

Differences in reported CAF functions, including tumorpromoting and restraining roles have long led to the hypothesis that distinct CAF subpopulations could exist within tumors (Kalluri, 2016; Gieniec et al., 2019; Biffi and Tuveson, 2020). Representative such examples include the tumor-promoting

effects of CAF depletion or suppression in PDAC mouse models (Rhim et al., 2014; Özdemir et al., 2014). However, low cell abundancy and lack of analytical techniques have until recently hindered the functional characterization of these potentially different subtypes. Advances in single-cell analysis technologies have increased our understanding of tumor heterogeneity, including that of the microenvironment and specifically CAFs. Concerning gastrointestinal cancers, a recent single-cell transcriptomic analysis of mouse and human PDAC identified three CAF subsets, namely inflammatory (iCAFs), myofibroblastic (myCAFs) and antigen-presenting CAFs (apCAFs) (Elyada et al., 2019). Mechanistic studies using organoids and mouse models showed that iCAFs express inflammatory markers and are located within the desmoplastic stroma, while myCAFs are aSMA positive and adjacent to tumor cells. Importantly, they are activated by different stimuli, IL-1 $\alpha$ and TGFB, respectively, the spatial distribution of which can regulate the swift from one CAF state to the other (Ohlund et al., 2017; Biffi et al., 2019). apCAFs express MHC class II and CD74 and can induce T-cell receptor (TCR) ligation in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in an antigen-dependent manner, while they can be also converted to myofibroblasts (Elyada et al., 2019). These studies offer compelling evidence to support the idea that CAF reprogramming depends on the availability of stimuli in the surrounding microenvironment and may thus define CAF phenotypic and functional heterogeneity, although the CAFs' diverse cellular sources could also contribute, as shown for other types of cancer (Raz et al., 2018).

Single-cell RNA transcriptomic analyses have also been performed for colorectal and head and neck cancer. These revealed the presence of normal fibroblasts along with two CAF subsets, a myofibroblastic  $\alpha$ SMA<sup>+</sup> and an ECM-expressing FAP<sup>+</sup> population, although further functional characterisation of these is still missing (Li et al., 2017; Puram et al., 2017). Nevertheless, these studies indicate common diversity and potentially similar subpopulations in gastrointestinal tumors.

## REFERENCES

- Andoh, A., Bamba, S., Brittan, M., Fujiyama, Y., and Wright, N. A. (2007). Role of intestinal subepithelial myofibroblasts in inflammation and regenerative response in the gut. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 114, 94–106. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera. 2006.12.004
- Auciello, F. R., Bulusu, V., Oon, C., Tait-Mulder, J., Berry, M., Bhattacharyya, S., et al. (2019). A stromal lysolipid-autotaxin signaling axis promotes pancreatic tumor progression. *Cancer Discov.* 9, 617–627. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.cd-18-1212
- Berlin, J., Bendell, J. C., Hart, L. L., Firdaus, I., Gore, I., Hermann, R. C., et al. (2013). A randomized phase II trial of vismodegib versus placebo with FOLFOX or FOLFIRI and bevacizumab in patients with previously untreated metastatic colorectal cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 19, 258–267. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-12-1800
- Bhagat, T. D., Von Ahrens, D., Dawlaty, M., Zou, Y., Baddour, J., Achreja, A., et al. (2019). Lactate-mediated epigenetic reprogramming regulates formation of human pancreatic cancer-associated fibroblasts. *eLife* 8:e50663. doi: 10.7554/ eLife.50663
- Bianchi-Frias, D., Basom, R., Delrow, J. J., Coleman, I. M., Dakhova, O., Qu, X., et al. (2016). Cells comprising the prostate cancer microenvironment lack

#### DISCUSSION

In this review, we have provided a concise overview of the molecular mechanisms underlying fibroblast reprogramming in gastrointestinal cancers. This is especially important as CAF phenotype reversal has been proposed as a potential therapeutic strategy in cancer (Valkenburg et al., 2018; Chen and Song, 2019). Both soluble factors and mechanical cues drive the reprogramming of fibroblasts through the activation of downstream signaling pathways in fibroblasts, indicating the impact of fibroblast localization in the growing tumor. Multiple inducers and mechanisms underlying the synthetic activation of CAFs have already been identified, but similar research on the epigenetic and metabolic reprogramming of CAFs is still limited. Additional mechanistic insights into these processes could help identify novel targets for therapeutic approaches, as well as diagnosis and patient stratification. Notably, new targets should be in the future assessed under the prism of the emerging concepts of CAF heterogeneity that is defined by potential different cell sources, location, and available stimuli.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

M-TM, NC, and MS wrote sections of the manuscript and prepared the figure. VK critically revised the manuscript. All authors read and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by a grant from the Hellenic Foundation for Research & Innovation (HFRI) to MS (Grant No: 1687) and a grant from the Stavros Niarchos Foundation to the BSRC "Alexander Fleming" as part of the Foundation's initiative to support the Greek research center ecosystem.

recurrent clonal somatic genomic aberrations. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 14, 374–384. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-15-0330

- Biffi, G., Oni, T. E., Spielman, B., Hao, Y., Elyada, E., Park, Y., et al. (2019). IL1-induced JAK/STAT signaling is antagonized by TGFβ to shape CAF heterogeneity in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Discov.* 9, 282–301. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-0710
- Biffi, G., and Tuveson, D. A. (2020). Diversity and biology of cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Physiol. Rev.* doi: 10.1152/physrev.00048.2019 [Epub ahead of print].
- Bonnardel, J., T'Jonck, W., Gaublomme, D., Browaeys, R., Scott, C. L., Martens, L., et al. (2019). Stellate cells, hepatocytes, and endothelial cells imprint the kupffer cell identity on monocytes colonizing the liver macrophage niche. *Immunity* 51, 638–654.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.08.017
- Bullock, M. D., Pickard, K. M., Nielsen, B. S., Sayan, A. E., Jenei, V., Mellone, M., et al. (2013). Pleiotropic actions of miR-21 highlight the critical role of deregulated stromal microRNAs during colorectal cancer progression. *Cell Death Dis.* 4:e684. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2013.213
- Cadamuro, M., Nardo, G., Indraccolo, S., Dall'olmo, L., Sambado, L., Moserle, L., et al. (2013). Platelet-derived growth factor-D and Rho GTPases regulate recruitment of cancer-associated fibroblasts in cholangiocarcinoma. *Hepatology* 58, 1042–1053. doi: 10.1002/hep.26384

- Calon, A., Espinet, E., Palomo-Ponce, S., Tauriello, D. V., Iglesias, M., Cespedes, M. V., et al. (2012). Dependency of colorectal cancer on a TGF-beta-driven program in stromal cells for metastasis initiation. *Cancer Cell* 22, 571–584. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2012.08.013
- Calon, A., Lonardo, E., Berenguer-Llergo, A., Espinet, E., Hernando-Momblona, X., Iglesias, M., et al. (2015). Stromal gene expression defines poor-prognosis subtypes in colorectal cancer. *Nat. Genet.* 47, 320–329. doi: 10.1038/ng.3225
- Catenacci, D. V., Junttila, M. R., Karrison, T., Bahary, N., Horiba, M. N., Nattam, S. R., et al. (2015). Randomized phase Ib/II study of Gemcitabine plus Placebo or Vismodegib, a Hedgehog pathway inhibitor, in patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. 33, 4284–4292. doi: 10.1200/jco.2015.62.8719
- Chen, S., Chen, X., Shan, T., Ma, J., Lin, W., Li, W., et al. (2018). MiR-21-mediated metabolic alteration of cancer-associated fibroblasts and its effect on pancreatic cancer cell behavior. *Int. J. Biol. Sci.* 14, 100–110. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.22555
- Chen, X., and Song, E. (2019). Turning foes to friends: targeting cancer-associated fibroblasts. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 18, 99–115. doi: 10.1038/s41573-018-0004-1
- Chen, Y., Choi, S. S., Michelotti, G. A., Chan, I. S., Swiderska-Syn, M., Karaca, G. F., et al. (2012). Hedgehog controls hepatic stellate cell fate by regulating metabolism. *Gastroenterology* 143, 1319–1329.e11. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012. 07.115
- Coll, M., El Taghdouini, A., Perea, L., Mannaerts, I., Vila-Casadesus, M., Blaya, D., et al. (2015). Integrative miRNA and gene expression profiling analysis of human quiescent hepatic stellate cells. *Sci. Rep.* 5:11549. doi: 10.1038/srep11549
- Cortes, E., Lachowski, D., Rice, A., Thorpe, S. D., Robinson, B., Yeldag, G., et al. (2019a). Tamoxifen mechanically deactivates hepatic stellate cells via the G protein-coupled estrogen receptor. *Oncogene* 38, 2910–2922. doi: 10.1038/ s41388-018-0631-3
- Cortes, E., Sarper, M., Robinson, B., Lachowski, D., Chronopoulos, A., Thorpe, S. D., et al. (2019b). GPER is a mechanoregulator of pancreatic stellate cells and the tumor microenvironment. *EMBO Rep.* 20:e46556. doi: 10.15252/embr. 201846556
- Dong, J., Grunstein, J., Tejada, M., Peale, F., Frantz, G., Liang, W. C., et al. (2004). VEGF-null cells require PDGFR alpha signaling-mediated stromal fibroblast recruitment for tumorigenesis. *EMBO J.* 23, 2800–2810. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj. 7600289
- Dong, Z., Li, S., Wang, X., Si, L., Ma, R., Bao, L., et al. (2019). lncRNA GAS5 restrains CCl4-induced hepatic fibrosis by targeting miR-23a through the PTEN/PI3K/Akt signaling pathway. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 316, G539–G550. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00249.2018
- Dou, C., Liu, Z., Tu, K., Zhang, H., Chen, C., Yaqoob, U., et al. (2018). P300 acetyltransferase mediates stiffness-induced activation of hepatic stellate cells into tumor-promoting myofibroblasts. *Gastroenterology* 154, 2209–2221.e14. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.02.015
- Du, K., Hyun, J., Premont, R. T., Choi, S. S., Michelotti, G. A., Swiderska-Syn, M., et al. (2018). Hedgehog-YAP signaling pathway regulates glutaminolysis to control activation of hepatic stellate cells. *Gastroenterology* 154, 1465–1479.e13. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.12.022
- Duran, A., Hernandez, E. D., Reina-Campos, M., Castilla, E. A., Subramaniam, S., Raghunandan, S., et al. (2016). p62/SQSTM1 by binding to Vitamin D receptor inhibits hepatic stellate cell activity, fibrosis, and liver cancer. *Cancer Cell* 30, 595–609. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.09.004
- Elyada, E., Bolisetty, M., Laise, P., Flynn, W. F., Courtois, E. T., Burkhart, R. A., et al. (2019). Cross-species single-cell analysis of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma reveals antigen-presenting cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Cancer Discov.* 9, 1102–1123. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-19-0094
- Fang, T., Lv, H., Lv, G., Li, T., Wang, C., Han, Q., et al. (2018). Tumor-derived exosomal miR-1247-3p induces cancer-associated fibroblast activation to foster lung metastasis of liver cancer. *Nat. Commun.* 9:191. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02583-0
- Faubert, B., Solmonson, A., and DeBerardinis, R. J. (2020). Metabolic reprogramming and cancer progression. *Science* 368:eaaw5473. doi: 10.1126/ science.aaw5473
- Ferrer-Mayorga, G., Gómez-López, G., Barbáchano, A., Fernández-Barral, A., Peña, C., Pisano, D. G., et al. (2017). Vitamin D receptor expression and associated gene signature in tumour stromal fibroblasts predict clinical outcome in colorectal cancer. *Gut* 66, 1449–1462. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-310977
- Foster, C. T., Gualdrini, F., and Treisman, R. (2017). Mutual dependence of the MRTF-SRF and YAP-TEAD pathways in cancer-associated fibroblasts is

indirect and mediated by cytoskeletal dynamics. *Genes Dev.* 31, 2361-2375. doi: 10.1101/gad.304501.117

- Gerling, M., Buller, N. V., Kirn, L. M., Joost, S., Frings, O., Englert, B., et al. (2016). Stromal Hedgehog signalling is downregulated in colon cancer and its restoration restrains tumour growth. *Nat. Commun.* 7:12321. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms12321
- Gieling, R. G., Wallace, K., and Han, Y. P. (2009). Interleukin-1 participates in the progression from liver injury to fibrosis. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 296, G1324–G1331. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.90564.2008
- Gieniec, K. A., Butler, L. M., Worthley, D. L., and Woods, S. L. (2019). Cancerassociated fibroblasts-heroes or villains? *Br. J. Cancer* 121, 293–302. doi: 10. 1038/s41416-019-0509-3
- Gong, J., Lin, Y., Zhang, H., Liu, C., Cheng, Z., Yang, X., et al. (2020). Reprogramming of lipid metabolism in cancer-associated fibroblasts potentiates migration of colorectal cancer cells. *Cell Death Dis.* 11:267. doi: 10.1038/s41419-020-2434-z
- Greten, F. R., and Grivennikov, S. I. (2019). Inflammation and cancer: triggers, mechanisms, and consequences. *Immunity* 51, 27–41. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni. 2019.06.025
- Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* 144, 646–674. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Hawinkels, L. J., Paauwe, M., Verspaget, H. W., Wiercinska, E., van der Zon, J. M., van der Ploeg, K., et al. (2014). Interaction with colon cancer cells hyperactivates TGF-beta signaling in cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Oncogene* 33, 97–107. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.536
- He, Z., Chen, L., Chen, G., Smaldini, P., Bongers, G., Catalan-Dibene, J., et al. (2019). Interleukin 1 beta and Matrix Metallopeptidase 3 contribute to development of EGFR-dependent serrated polyps in mouse cecum. *Gastroenterology* 157, 1572–1583.e8. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.08.025
- Heichler, C., Scheibe, K., Schmied, A., Geppert, C. I., Schmid, B., Wirtz, S., et al. (2019). STAT3 activation through IL-6/IL-11 in cancer-associated fibroblasts promotes colorectal tumour development and correlates with poor prognosis. *Gut* 69, 1269–1282. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-319200
- Henriques, A., Koliaraki, V., and Kollias, G. (2018). Mesenchymal MAPKAPK2/HSP27 drives intestinal carcinogenesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 115, E5546–E5555. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1805683115
- Hou, X., Zhang, J., Wang, Y., Xiong, W., and Mi, J. (2017). TGFBR-IDH1-Cav1 axis promotes TGF-beta signalling in cancer-associated fibroblast. *Oncotarget* 8, 83962–83974. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.20861
- Ishimoto, T., Miyake, K., Nandi, T., Yashiro, M., Onishi, N., Huang, K. K., et al. (2017). Activation of transforming growth factor Beta 1 signaling in gastric cancer-associated fibroblasts increases their motility, via expression of Rhomboid 5 Homolog 2, and ability to induce invasiveness of gastric cancer cells. *Gastroenterology* 153, 191–204.e16. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.03.046
- Jiang, L., Gonda, T. A., Gamble, M. V., Salas, M., Seshan, V., Tu, S., et al. (2008). Global hypomethylation of genomic DNA in cancer-associated myofibroblasts. *Cancer Res.* 68, 9900–9908. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-08-1319
- Johnson, L. A., Rodansky, E. S., Haak, A. J., Larsen, S. D., Neubig, R. R., and Higgins, P. D. (2014). Novel Rho/MRTF/SRF inhibitors block matrix-stiffness and TGF-beta-induced fibrogenesis in human colonic myofibroblasts. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 20, 154–165. doi: 10.1097/01.mib.0000437615.98881.31
- Johnson, L. A., Rodansky, E. S., Sauder, K. L., Horowitz, J. C., Mih, J. D., Tschumperlin, D. J., et al. (2013). Matrix stiffness corresponding to strictured bowel induces a fibrogenic response in human colonic fibroblasts. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 19, 891–903. doi: 10.1097/MIB.0b013e3182813297
- Kalluri, R. (2016). The biology and function of fibroblasts in cancer. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 16, 582–598. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2016.73
- Kang, N. (2020). Mechanotransduction in liver diseases. Semin. Liver Dis. 40, 84–90. doi: 10.1055/s-0039-3399502
- Kim, E. J., Sahai, V., Abel, E. V., Griffith, K. A., Greenson, J. K., Takebe, N., et al. (2014). Pilot clinical trial of hedgehog pathway inhibitor GDC-0449 (vismodegib) in combination with gemcitabine in patients with metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 20, 5937–5945. doi: 10.1158/ 1078-0432.ccr-14-1269
- Kitadai, Y., Sasaki, T., Kuwai, T., Nakamura, T., Bucana, C. D., and Fidler, I. J. (2006). Targeting the expression of platelet-derived growth factor receptor by reactive stroma inhibits growth and metastasis of human colon carcinoma. *Am. J. Pathol.* 169, 2054–2065. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2006.060653

- Knudsen, E. S., Balaji, U., Freinkman, E., McCue, P., and Witkiewicz, A. K. (2016). Unique metabolic features of pancreatic cancer stroma: relevance to the tumor compartment, prognosis, and invasive potential. *Oncotarget* 7, 78396–78411. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.11893
- Kobayashi, H., Enomoto, A., Woods, S. L., Burt, A. D., Takahashi, M., and Worthley, D. L. (2019). Cancer-associated fibroblasts in gastrointestinal cancer. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 16, 282–295. doi: 10.1038/s41575-019-0115-0
- Kodama, M., Kitadai, Y., Sumida, T., Ohnishi, M., Ohara, E., Tanaka, M., et al. (2010). Expression of platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)-B and PDGF-receptor  $\beta$  is associated with lymphatic metastasis in human gastric carcinoma. *Cancer Sci.* 101, 1984–1989. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2010.01639.x
- Koliaraki, V., Chalkidi, N., Henriques, A., Tzaferis, C., Polykratis, A., Waisman, A., et al. (2019). Innate sensing through mesenchymal TLR4/MyD88 signals promotes spontaneous intestinal tumorigenesis. *Cell Rep* 26, 536–545.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.12.072
- Koliaraki, V., Henriques, A., Prados, A., and Kollias, G. (2020). Unfolding innate mechanisms in the cancer microenvironment: the emerging role of the mesenchyme. J. Exp. Med. 217:e20190457. doi: 10.1084/jem.20190457
- Koliaraki, V., Pasparakis, M., and Kollias, G. (2015). IKKbeta in intestinal mesenchymal cells promotes initiation of colitis-associated cancer. J. Exp. Med. 212, 2235–2251. doi: 10.1084/jem.20150542
- Koliaraki, V., Roulis, M., and Kollias, G. (2012). Tpl2 regulates intestinal myofibroblast HGF release to suppress colitis-associated tumorigenesis. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 4231–4242. doi: 10.1172/JCI63917
- Lee, K. W., Yeo, S. Y., Sung, C. O., and Kim, S. H. (2015). Twist1 is a key regulator of cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Cancer Res.* 75, 73–85. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472. can-14-0350
- Lehuede, C., Dupuy, F., Rabinovitch, R., Jones, R. G., and Siegel, P. M. (2016). Metabolic plasticity as a determinant of tumor growth and metastasis. *Cancer Res.* 76, 5201–5208. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-16-0266
- Li, H., Courtois, E. T., Sengupta, D., Tan, Y., Chen, K. H., Goh, J. J. L., et al. (2017). Reference component analysis of single-cell transcriptomes elucidates cellular heterogeneity in human colorectal tumors. *Nat. Genet.* 49, 708–718. doi: 10.1038/ng.3818
- Li, H. J., Reinhardt, F., Herschman, H. R., and Weinberg, R. A. (2012). Cancerstimulated mesenchymal stem cells create a carcinoma stem cell niche via prostaglandin E2 signaling. *Cancer Discov.* 2, 840–855. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290. cd-12-0101
- Li, P., Shan, J. X., Chen, X. H., Zhang, D., Su, L. P., Huang, X. Y., et al. (2015). Epigenetic silencing of microRNA-149 in cancer-associated fibroblasts mediates prostaglandin E2/interleukin-6 signaling in the tumor microenvironment. *Cell Res.* 25, 588–603. doi: 10.1038/cr.2015.51
- Li, Q., Zhang, D., Wang, Y., Sun, P., Hou, X., Larner, J., et al. (2013). MiR-21/Smad 7 signaling determines TGF-beta1-induced CAF formation. *Sci. Rep.* 3:2038. doi: 10.1038/srep02038
- Li, Z., Wang, J., Zeng, Q., Hu, C., Zhang, J., Wang, H., et al. (2018). Long noncoding RNA HOTTIP promotes mouse hepatic stellate cell activation via downregulating miR-148a. *Cell Physiol. Biochem.* 51, 2814–2828. doi: 10.1159/ 000496012
- Maeda, M., Takeshima, H., Iida, N., Hattori, N., Yamashita, S., Moro, H., et al. (2020). Cancer cell niche factors secreted from cancer-associated fibroblast by loss of H3K27me3. *Gut* 69, 243–251. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2018-317645
- Manzat Saplacan, R. M., Balacescu, L., Gherman, C., Chira, R. I., Craiu, A., Mircea, P. A., et al. (2017). The role of PDGFs and PDGFRs in colorectal cancer. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2017:4708076. doi: 10.1155/2017/4708076
- Martin, K., Pritchett, J., Llewellyn, J., Mullan, A. F., Athwal, V. S., Dobie, R., et al. (2016). PAK proteins and YAP-1 signalling downstream of integrin beta-1 in myofibroblasts promote liver fibrosis. *Nat. Commun.* 7:12502. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms12502
- Martinez-Outschoorn, U. E., Trimmer, C., Lin, Z., Whitaker-Menezes, D., Chiavarina, B., Zhou, J., et al. (2010). Autophagy in cancer associated fibroblasts promotes tumor cell survival: role of hypoxia, HIF1 induction and NFkappaB activation in the tumor stromal microenvironment. *Cell Cycle* 9, 3515–3533. doi: 10.4161/cc.9.17.12928
- Martinez-Outschoorn, U. E., Whitaker-Menezes, D., Lin, Z., Flomenberg, N., Howell, A., Pestell, R. G., et al. (2011). Cytokine production and inflammation drive autophagy in the tumor microenvironment: role of stromal caveolin-1 as a key regulator. *Cell Cycle* 10, 1784–1793. doi: 10.4161/cc.10.11.15674

- Martins, S. F., Amorim, R., Viana-Pereira, M., Pinheiro, C., Costa, R. F., Silva, P., et al. (2016). Significance of glycolytic metabolism-related protein expression in colorectal cancer, lymph node and hepatic metastasis. *BMC Cancer* 16:535. doi: 10.1186/s12885-016-2566-9
- Masamune, A., Nakano, E., Hamada, S., Takikawa, T., Yoshida, N., and Shimosegawa, T. (2014). Alteration of the microRNA expression profile during the activation of pancreatic stellate cells. *Scand. J. Gastroenterol.* 49, 323–331. doi: 10.3109/00365521.2013.876447
- Masamune, A., Yoshida, N., Hamada, S., Takikawa, T., Nabeshima, T., and Shimosegawa, T. (2018). Exosomes derived from pancreatic cancer cells induce activation and profibrogenic activities in pancreatic stellate cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 495, 71–77. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.10.141
- Maywald, R. L., Doerner, S. K., Pastorelli, L., De Salvo, C., Benton, S. M., Dawson, E. P., et al. (2015). IL-33 activates tumor stroma to promote intestinal polyposis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 112, E2487–E2496. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1422445112
- Michelotti, G. A., Xie, G., Swiderska, M., Choi, S. S., Karaca, G., Kruger, L., et al. (2013). Smoothened is a master regulator of adult liver repair. J. Clin. Invest. 123, 2380–2394. doi: 10.1172/jci66904
- Mohammadi, H., and Sahai, E. (2018). Mechanisms and impact of altered tumour mechanics. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 20, 766–774. doi: 10.1038/s41556-018-0131-2
- Nouraee, N., Van Roosbroeck, K., Vasei, M., Semnani, S., Samaei, N. M., Naghshvar, F., et al. (2013). Expression, tissue distribution and function of miR-21 in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *PLoS One* 8:e73009. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0073009
- Ohlund, D., Handly-Santana, A., Biffi, G., Elyada, E., Almeida, A. S., Ponz-Sarvise, M., et al. (2017). Distinct populations of inflammatory fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in pancreatic cancer. J. Exp. Med. 214, 579–596. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20162024
- Olive, K. P., Jacobetz, M. A., Davidson, C. J., Gopinathan, A., McIntyre, D., Honess, D., et al. (2009). Inhibition of Hedgehog signaling enhances delivery of chemotherapy in a mouse model of pancreatic cancer. *Science* 324, 1457–1461. doi: 10.1126/science.1171362
- Ostman, A. (2004). PDGF receptors-mediators of autocrine tumor growth and regulators of tumor vasculature and stroma. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 15, 275–286. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2004.03.002
- Özdemir, B. C., Pentcheva-Hoang, T., Carstens, J. L., Zheng, X., Wu, C. C., Simpson, T. R., et al. (2014). Depletion of carcinoma-associated fibroblasts and fibrosis induces immunosuppression and accelerates pancreas cancer with reduced survival. *Cancer Cell* 25, 719–734. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2014.04.005
- Page, A., Paoli, P., Moran Salvador, E., White, S., French, J., and Mann, J. (2016). Hepatic stellate cell transdifferentiation involves genome-wide remodeling of the DNA methylation landscape. *J. Hepatol.* 64, 661–673. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep. 2015.11.024
- Pang, W., Su, J., Wang, Y., Feng, H., Dai, X., Yuan, Y., et al. (2015). Pancreatic cancer-secreted miR-155 implicates in the conversion from normal fibroblasts to cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Cancer Sci.* 106, 1362–1369. doi: 10.1111/cas. 12747
- Polyak, K., and Weinberg, R. A. (2009). Transitions between epithelial and mesenchymal states: acquisition of malignant and stem cell traits. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 9, 265–273. doi: 10.1038/nrc2620
- Pradere, J. P., Kluwe, J., De Minicis, S., Jiao, J. J., Gwak, G. Y., Dapito, D. H., et al. (2013). Hepatic macrophages but not dendritic cells contribute to liver fibrosis by promoting the survival of activated hepatic stellate cells in mice. *Hepatology* 58, 1461–1473. doi: 10.1002/hep.26429
- Puram, S. V., Tirosh, I., Parikh, A. S., Patel, A. P., Yizhak, K., Gillespie, S., et al. (2017). Single-cell transcriptomic analysis of primary and metastatic tumor ecosystems in head and neck cancer. *Cell* 171, 1611–1624.e24. doi: 10.1016/j. cell.2017.10.044
- Qiu, W., Hu, M., Sridhar, A., Opeskin, K., Fox, S., Shipitsin, M., et al. (2008). No evidence of clonal somatic genetic alterations in cancer-associated fibroblasts from human breast and ovarian carcinomas. *Nat. Genet.* 40, 650–655. doi: 10.1038/ng.117
- Quante, M., Tu, S. P., Tomita, H., Gonda, T., Wang, S. S., Takashi, S., et al. (2011). Bone marrow-derived myofibroblasts contribute to the mesenchymal stem cell niche and promote tumor growth. *Cancer Cell* 19, 257–272. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr. 2011.01.020
- Raz, Y., Cohen, N., Shani, O., Bell, R. E., Novitskiy, S. V., Abramovitz, L., et al. (2018). Bone marrow-derived fibroblasts are a functionally distinct stromal cell

population in breast cancer. J. Exp. Med. 215, 3075–3093. doi: 10.1084/jem. 20180818

- Rhim, A. D., Oberstein, P. E., Thomas, D. H., Mirek, E. T., Palermo, C. F., Sastra, S. A., et al. (2014). Stromal elements act to restrain, rather than support, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Cell* 25, 735–747. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr. 2014.04.021
- Sahai, E., Astsaturov, I., Cukierman, E., DeNardo, D. G., Egeblad, M., Evans, R. M., et al. (2020). A framework for advancing our understanding of cancerassociated fibroblasts. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 20, 174–186. doi: 10.1038/s41568-019-0238-1
- Saison-Ridinger, M., DelGiorno, K. E., Zhang, T., Kraus, A., French, R., Jaquish, D., et al. (2017). Reprogramming pancreatic stellate cells via p53 activation: a putative target for pancreatic cancer therapy. *PLoS One* 12:e0189051. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0189051
- Scarpa, M., Kessler, S., Sadler, T., West, G., Homer, C., McDonald, C., et al. (2015). The epithelial danger signal IL-1alpha is a potent activator of fibroblasts and reactivator of intestinal inflammation. *Am. J. Pathol.* 185, 1624–1637. doi: 10. 1016/j.ajpath.2015.02.018
- Sherman, M. H., Yu, R. T., Engle, D. D., Ding, N., Atkins, A. R., Tiriac, H., et al. (2014). Vitamin D receptor-mediated stromal reprogramming suppresses pancreatitis and enhances pancreatic cancer therapy. *Cell* 159, 80–93. doi: 10. 1016/j.cell.2014.08.007
- Shibata, W., Ariyama, H., Westphalen, C. B., Worthley, D. L., Muthupalani, S., Asfaha, S., et al. (2013). Stromal cell-derived factor-1 overexpression induces gastric dysplasia through expansion of stromal myofibroblasts and epithelial progenitors. *Gut* 62, 192–200. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301824
- Sotgia, F., Martinez-Outschoorn, U. E., Howell, A., Pestell, R. G., Pavlides, S., and Lisanti, M. P. (2012). Caveolin-1 and cancer metabolism in the tumor microenvironment: markers, models, and mechanisms. *Annu. Rev. Pathol.* 7, 423–467. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-011811-120856
- Sousa, C. M., Biancur, D. E., Wang, X., Halbrook, C. J., Sherman, M. H., Zhang, L., et al. (2016). Pancreatic stellate cells support tumour metabolism through autophagic alanine secretion. *Nature* 536, 479–483. doi: 10.1038/nature19084
- Sumida, T., Kitadai, Y., Shinagawa, K., Tanaka, M., Kodama, M., Ohnishi, M., et al. (2011). Anti-stromal therapy with imatinib inhibits growth and metastasis of gastric carcinoma in an orthotopic nude mouse model. *Int. J. Cancer* 128, 2050–2062. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25812
- Sundaram, B., Behnke, K., Belancic, A., Al-Salihi, M. A., Thabet, Y., Polz, R., et al. (2019). iRhom2 inhibits bile duct obstruction-induced liver fibrosis. *Sci. Signal.* 12:eaax1194. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aax1194
- Swiderska-Syn, M., Syn, W. K., Xie, G., Kruger, L., Machado, M. V., Karaca, G., et al. (2014). Myofibroblastic cells function as progenitors to regenerate murine livers after partial hepatectomy. *Gut* 63, 1333–1344. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2013-305962
- Tan, Z., Liu, Q., Jiang, R., Lv, L., Shoto, S. S., Maillet, I., et al. (2018). Interleukin-33 drives hepatic fibrosis through activation of hepatic stellate cells. *Cell. Mol. Immunol.* 15, 388–398. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2016.63
- Tang, L. Y., Heller, M., Meng, Z., Yu, L. R., Tang, Y., Zhou, M., et al. (2017). Transforming Growth Factor-beta (TGF-beta) directly activates the JAK1-STAT3 axis to induce hepatic fibrosis in coordination with the SMAD pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* 292, 4302–4312. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.773085
- Tarrats, N., Moles, A., Morales, A., Garcia-Ruiz, C., Fernandez-Checa, J. C., and Mari, M. (2011). Critical role of tumor necrosis factor receptor 1, but not 2, in hepatic stellate cell proliferation, extracellular matrix remodeling, and liver fibrogenesis. *Hepatology* 54, 319–327. doi: 10.1002/hep.24388
- Tauriello, D. V. F., Palomo-Ponce, S., Stork, D., Berenguer-Llergo, A., Badia-Ramentol, J., Iglesias, M., et al. (2018). TGF $\beta$  drives immune evasion in genetically reconstituted colon cancer metastasis. *Nature* 554, 538–543. doi: 10.1038/nature25492
- Tsuchida, T., and Friedman, S. L. (2017). Mechanisms of hepatic stellate cell activation. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 14, 397–411. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro. 2017.38

- Valkenburg, K. C., de Groot, A. E., and Pienta, K. J. (2018). Targeting the tumour stroma to improve cancer therapy. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 15, 366–381. doi: 10.1038/s41571-018-0007-1
- Vander Heiden, M. G., Cantley, L. C., and Thompson, C. B. (2009). Understanding the Warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. *Science* 324, 1029–1033. doi: 10.1126/science.1160809
- Voronov, E., Dotan, S., Krelin, Y., Song, X., Elkabets, M., Carmi, Y., et al. (2013). Unique versus redundant functions of IL-1alpha and IL-1beta in the tumor microenvironment. *Front. Immunol.* 4:177. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00177
- Wilde, L., Roche, M., Domingo-Vidal, M., Tanson, K., Philp, N., Curry, J., et al. (2017). Metabolic coupling and the Reverse Warburg Effect in cancer: implications for novel biomarker and anticancer agent development. *Semin. Oncol.* 44, 198–203. doi: 10.1053/j.seminoncol.2017.10.004
- Wu, D., Zhuo, L., and Wang, X. (2017). Metabolic reprogramming of carcinomaassociated fibroblasts and its impact on metabolic heterogeneity of tumors. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 64, 125–131. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2016.11.003
- Wu, Z., Yang, L., Cai, L., Zhang, M., Cheng, X., Yang, X., et al. (2007). Detection of epithelial to mesenchymal transition in airways of a bleomycin induced pulmonary fibrosis model derived from an alpha-smooth muscle actin-Cre transgenic mouse. *Respir. Res.* 8:1. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-8-1
- Xiao, Q., Zhou, D., Rucki, A. A., Williams, J., Zhou, J., Mo, G., et al. (2016). Cancer-associated fibroblasts in pancreatic cancer are reprogrammed by tumorinduced alterations in genomic DNA methylation. *Cancer Res.* 76, 5395–5404. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-15-3264
- Yauch, R. L., Gould, S. E., Scales, S. J., Tang, T., Tian, H., Ahn, C. P., et al. (2008). A paracrine requirement for hedgehog signalling in cancer. *Nature* 455, 406–410. doi: 10.1038/nature07275
- Zambirinis, C. P., Levie, E., Nguy, S., Avanzi, A., Barilla, R., Xu, Y., et al. (2015). TLR9 ligation in pancreatic stellate cells promotes tumorigenesis. *J. Exp. Med.* 212, 2077–2094. doi: 10.1084/jem.20142162
- Zhang, D., Li, L., Jiang, H., Li, Q., Wang-Gillam, A., Yu, J., et al. (2018). Tumor-stroma IL1beta-IRAK4 feedforward circuitry drives tumor fibrosis, chemoresistance, and poor prognosis in pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Res.* 78, 1700–1712. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-17-1366
- Zhao, X., Fan, W., Xu, Z., Chen, H., He, Y., Yang, G., et al. (2016). Inhibiting tumor necrosis factor-alpha diminishes desmoplasia and inflammation to overcome chemoresistance in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Oncotarget* 7, 81110– 81122. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.13212
- Zhao, X. H., Laschinger, C., Arora, P., Szaszi, K., Kapus, A., and McCulloch, C. A. (2007). Force activates smooth muscle alpha-actin promoter activity through the Rho signaling pathway. *J. Cell Sci.* 120(Pt 10), 1801–1809. doi: 10.1242/jcs. 001586
- Zhou, C., York, S. R., Chen, J. Y., Pondick, J. V., Motola, D. L., Chung, R. T., et al. (2016). Long noncoding RNAs expressed in human hepatic stellate cells form networks with extracellular matrix proteins. *Genome Med.* 8:31. doi: 10.1186/ s13073-016-0285-0
- Zhou, W., Xu, G., Wang, Y., Xu, Z., Liu, X., Xu, X., et al. (2017). Oxidative stress induced autophagy in cancer associated fibroblast enhances proliferation and metabolism of colorectal cancer cells. *Cell Cycle* 16, 73–81. doi: 10.1080/ 15384101.2016.1252882

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Melissari, Chalkidi, Sarris and Koliaraki. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




## Hepatic Stellate Cells and Hepatocarcinogenesis

Anna E. Barry<sup>1,2†</sup>, Rajkumar Baldeosingh<sup>1,2†</sup>, Ryan Lamm<sup>1</sup>, Keyur Patel<sup>1</sup>, Kai Zhang<sup>1,2</sup>, Dana A. Dominguez<sup>3</sup>, Kayla J. Kirton<sup>1</sup>, Ashesh P. Shah<sup>1</sup> and Hien Dang<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Surgery, Thomas Jefferson University, Philadelphia, PA, United States, <sup>2</sup> Sidney Kimmel Cancer Center, Philadelphia, PA, United States, <sup>3</sup> Department of General Surgery, UCSF East Bay, Oakland, CA, United States

Hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) are a significant component of the hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) tumor microenvironment (TME). Activated HSCs transform into myofibroblastlike cells to promote fibrosis in response to liver injury or chronic inflammation, leading to cirrhosis and HCC. The hepatic TME is comprised of cellular components, including activated HSCs, tumor-associated macrophages, endothelial cells, immune cells, and non-cellular components, such as growth factors, proteolytic enzymes and their inhibitors, and other extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins. Interactions between HCC cells and their microenvironment have become topics under active investigation. These interactions within the hepatic TME have the potential to drive carcinogenesis and create challenges in generating effective therapies. Current studies reveal potential mechanisms through which activated HSCs drive hepatocarcinogenesis utilizing matricellular proteins and paracrine crosstalk within the TME. Since activated HSCs are primary secretors of ECM proteins during liver injury and inflammation, they help promote fibrogenesis, infiltrate the HCC stroma, and contribute to HCC development. In this review, we examine several recent studies revealing the roles of HSCs and their clinical implications in the development of fibrosis and cirrhosis within the hepatic TME.

Keywords: hepatic stellate cells, hepatocytes, hepatocellular carcinoma, tumor microenvironment, inflammation, fibrosis

## INTRODUCTION

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is the sixth leading cause of cancer related deaths in western countries (Choo et al., 2016; Bray et al., 2018), accounting for up to 90% of all primary liver cancers (Lozano et al., 2012). Although the percentage of HCC cases is dramatically higher in eastern Asia and most African countries, HCC is on the rise in the United States (U.S.) (Rawla et al., 2018). This trend is primarily due to increases in the incidences of chronic hepatic inflammation including fatty liver disease (FLD) (Nordenstedt et al., 2010) and chronic hepatitis C (HCV) infection (Kanwal et al., 2011). Although the distribution of HCC etiology varies between geographic regions, the most common etiology worldwide is viral hepatitis. In developing areas, such as Sub-Saharan Africa and Eastern Asia, hepatitis B virus (HBV) passed through vertical transmission at birth is the most common etiology (El-Serag, 2012). In developed worlds such as North America, HCV infection acquired later in life is endemic (Armstrong et al., 2006; Barazani et al., 2007; Wasley et al., 2008). In addition to viral hepatitis and FLD, alcoholic cirrhosis is a major contributing etiology of HCC; all of which can induce fibrosis, cirrhosis, and ultimately lead to development of HCC. This pathway

OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Tomer Cooks, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Israel

#### Reviewed by:

Ana I. Robles, National Cancer Institute (NCI), United States Oleg N. Demidov, INSERM U1231 Lipides, Nutrition, Cancer (LNC), France

> \*Correspondence: Hien Dang Hien.Dang@jefferson.edu

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

> **Received:** 28 May 2020 **Accepted:** 13 July 2020 **Published:** 05 August 2020

#### Citation:

Barry AE, Baldeosingh R, Lamm R, Patel K, Zhang K, Dominguez DA, Kirton KJ, Shah AP and Dang H (2020) Hepatic Stellate Cells and Hepatocarcinogenesis. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 8:709. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.00709 to malignancy, driven largely through fibrosis, is supported by the fact that 90% of HCC patients have cirrhosis (Parkin et al., 2005; Ananthakrishnan et al., 2006).

One of the main components in the development of fibrosis, cirrhosis and HCC (Wynn, 2008; Sokolovic et al., 2010) are the liver-specific pericytes, known as hepatic stellate cells (HSCs), which are located in the perisinusoidal space of the liver (Tsuchida and Friedman, 2017). Under normal conditions, HSCs exist in a quiescent state containing abundant lipid droplets of vitamin A (Blaner et al., 2009), and are highly sensitive to extracellular signals from fibrotic stimuli (Yin et al., 2013) including hepatitis, inflammation, or tissue injury (Wynn, 2008). In the presence of liver injury, HSCs are activated, transitioning from a quiescent to a myofibroblast phenotype with proliferative, migratory and invasive capabilities (Coulouarn et al., 2012; Carloni et al., 2014; Novikova et al., 2017). The well-known sequence of HSC activation can be split into two pathways. The first includes 'initiation,' which describes changes in HSC gene expression and phenotype rendering them more sensitive to paracrine stimuli. The second pathway includes 'perpetuation,' which amplifies the HSC-initiated phenotype via enhanced proliferation and proinflammatory signaling (i.e., damaged associated molecular patterns, DAMPs), interleukins, complimentary and growth factors from nearby damaged hepatocytes, endothelial cells and immune cells, resulting in promotion of fibrogenesis (Friedman, 2000) (Figure 1). Extracellular matrix (ECM) molecules (ex, type I and III collagen) are secreted by activated HSCs and accumulate to form scar tissue in the space of Disse (Friedman, 2008a) (Figure 1). This scar tissue functions to protect the liver from further damage; however, sustained activation of HSCs leads to chronic fibrosis and cirrhosis (Lee and Friedman, 2011; Friedman et al., 2013).

Activated HSCs play an essential role in fibrosis and hepatocarcinogenesis (Tsuchida and Friedman, 2017). Mediators in the activation of HSCs and the hepatic tumor microenvironment (TME) consist of transforming growth factor beta (TGFB), platelet derived growth factor (PDGF), connective tissue growth factor (CCN2, previously CTGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), viral infection, focal adhesion kinase-matrix metalloproteinase 9 (FAK-MMP9) signaling, p53/21, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/protein kinase B (AKT) (PI3K/AKT), mitogen-activated protein kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinase (MAPK/ERK), and interleukin 6/signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (IL-6/STAT3) signaling pathways (Han et al., 2014; Fabregat et al., 2016; Makino et al., 2018). Furthermore, previous studies have shown HSC activation to be regulated by the tumor suppressor phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome 10 (PTEN) (Takashima et al., 2009; Bian et al., 2012). These characteristics of activated HSCs and the role of the TME lay the foundation for exploring the relationship between the hepatic TME, activated HSCs, and hepatocarcinogenesis. This review will focus on the mechanisms regulating HSC activation and how they contribute to fibrosis, cirrhosis and HCC development (Wright et al., 2014; Coll et al., 2015; Das et al., 2020) and promising clinical therapies associated with HSCs (Dong et al., 2018; Li et al., 2020).

### THE ROLE OF ACTIVATED HEPATIC STELLATE CELLS IN HEPATIC FIBROSIS, CIRRHOSIS, AND PROGRESSION TO HCC

Hepatic fibrosis is a major risk factor for HCC development. Furthermore, activation of HSCs is a driver of hepatic fibrosis, cirrhosis and HCC (Tsuchida and Friedman, 2017). Due to the lack of effective liver fibrosis treatments, there is a need to better understand the molecular pathways and mediators of HSC activation to develop advantageous, targeted therapies for liver disease. Hepatic fibrosis is a result of chronic inflammation (post liver injury) characterized by secretion of excess ECM components, resulting in a wound healing response that will produce a "scar" in the liver (Friedman, 2008b; Lee and Friedman, 2011). Chronic inflammation can be induced by HBV/HCV infection, alcohol abuse, FLD (including nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis) or other metabolic disorders of the normal liver (Higashi et al., 2017). During post chronic liver inflammation, HSC activation supports the development of fibrosis and later cirrhosis, characterized by liver function impairment, portal vein hypertension and jaundice (Gines et al., 1987; de Franchis, 2000; D'Amico et al., 2006). Therefore, preventing the activation and proliferation of HSCs in cases of hepatic fibrosis has the potential to delay progression to HCC.

# The Role of DNA Methylation in HSC Activation

Recently, studies have begun focusing on the epigenetic regulation of HSCs to uncover the complexity of HSC activation (Tsuchida and Friedman, 2017). The tumor suppressor gene PTEN is an important negative regulator of HSC activation, which is silenced through promoter hypermethylation in tumors (Cairns et al., 1997; Salvesen et al., 2001; Soria et al., 2002; Furuta et al., 2004; Roman-Gomez et al., 2004; Mirmohammadsadegh et al., 2006; Wiencke et al., 2007; Tao et al., 2011; van Eggermond et al., 2011; Bian et al., 2012). Furthermore, the inhibition of PTEN activity leads to a constitutive activation of HSCs, which can perpetuate hepatic fibrosis (Bian et al., 2012). In addition, activated HSCs have been shown to possess altered DNA methylation and hydroxymethylation marks. For example, Page et al. (2016) showed that activated HSCs lose their fibrogenic phenotype when DNA methyltransferase 3a (DNMT3a) is suppressed in a carbon tetra chloride (CCl<sub>4</sub>) rat model of liver fibrosis in vivo. The continued discovery of novel mediators of HSC activation, including epigenetic regulators, will help better understand the role of activated HSCs in hepatic fibrosis.

## Pro-fibrogenic Cytokines in HSC Activation During Hepatic Fibrosis

Transforming growth factor beta is one of the key fibrogenic cytokines that drive hepatic fibrosis and regulate HSC activation (Fabregat et al., 2016; Tsuchida and Friedman, 2017; Dewidar et al., 2019). The bona-fide TGFB signaling pathway requires latent TGFB to be cleaved and activated by thrombospondin



as Damaged Associated Molecular Patterns (DAMPs) and Complimentary factors (CFs), from nearby hepatocytes and sinusoidal endothelial cells. In response, HSCs become activated, adopting a myofibroblast phenotype and losing its lipid droplets containing Vitamin A. Activated HSCs induce growth factor receptor signaling (TGFB, PDGF) and recruit immune cells such as NK cells and tumor associated macrophages (TAMs) from the bloodstream which produce more inflammatory stimuli. These inflammatory signals stimulate HSCs to secrete excess ECM proteins (ex. Collagen fibers), creating a fibrotic environment.

1 (TSP1). Activated TGFB then binds to TGFB receptor 2 (TGFBR2), inducing phosphorylation of mothers against decapentaplegic homolog 2 and 3 (SMAD2, SMAD3) which translocate into the nucleus to regulate downstream gene expression of pro-fibrotic genes (Breitkopf et al., 2006;

Friedman, 2008a; Liu et al., 2013; Meng et al., 2016; Tsuchida and Friedman, 2017; Murphy-Ullrich and Suto, 2018). TGFB can also activate the MAPK p38, ERK, and c-jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) pathways to regulate HSC activation (Engel et al., 1999; Hanafusa et al., 1999). Central to liver injury and HSC activation is a pathological increase in expression and activation of TGFB in the ECM (Tsuchida and Friedman, 2017). During HSC activation, TGFB targets and binds to HSCs, inducing phosphorylation of SMAD3 to promote production of type I and II collagen (Breitkopf et al., 2006; Friedman, 2008a). Activated HSCs also promote increased production of TGFB1 and TSP1 further enhancing the profibrogenic activities of TGFB (Breitkopf et al., 2005). Moreover, attenuation of TSP1 activated TGFB can be achieved with a TSP1 antagonist peptide and has been shown to decrease liver fibrosis in a dimethyl-nitrosamine liver fibrosis model (Li et al., 2017; Murphy-Ullrich and Suto, 2018), demonstrating the importance of this relationship. Along with TGFB, the DNA demethylase tet methylcytosine dioxygenase 3 (TET3) is also upregulated in mouse and human fibrotic livers (Xu et al., 2020). Xu et al. (2020) established TGFB1 stimulation could increase TET3 levels along with increased profibrotic gene expression in LX-2 cells, a human HSC cell line. Furthermore, TET3 was shown to upregulate the TGFB pathway genes TSP1 and TGFBR2, suggesting a positive feedback loop between TET3 and TGFB1 to promote HSC activation and hepatic fibrosis (Xu et al., 2020). In addition to TGFB signaling influencing HSC activation, hepatocyte produced extracellular matrix protein 1 (ECM1) has been shown to suppress TGFB levels and prevent HSC activation in an in vivo ECM1 knockout mouse model (Fan et al., 2019). Although TGFB remains a strong mediator of HSC activation and fibrogenesis, additional profibrogenic cytokines contribute to this process as well.

Another essential cytokine involved in HSC activation is PDGF (Tsuchida and Friedman, 2017). PDGF levels are increased in human cirrhotic livers compared to normal, healthy livers (Pinzani et al., 1996; Ikura et al., 1997; Stock et al., 2007; Tsuchida and Friedman, 2017). Upon liver injury in both humans and rodents, PDGF receptor beta (PDGFRB) expression increases in HSCs to drive HSC activation, proliferation and migration (Wong et al., 1994; Borkham-Kamphorst et al., 2004). Pdgf-C, a member of Pdgf family, is highly expressed on membrane receptors of hepatocytes in a transgenic Pdgf-c mouse model that resulted in dynamic liver fibrosis (Wright et al., 2014), suggesting that HSC activation may include Pdgf-c signaling. Pdgf is further supported as an effective activator of HSCs through the fibrotic role of Agrin (Agrn), a secreted proteoglycan induced by Pdgfinduced HSC activation in HCC in Diethyl nitrosamine (DEN)induced HCC Sprague Dawley rat model (Lv et al., 2017). In this study the authors showed that Pdgf acts as an activator of the HSCs, which was inhibited by blocking the binding of Pdgf to its receptor. The authors also demonstrated that Agrin from activated HSC supernatant increased proliferation, metastasis, and invasion of SMMC-7721 (a human HCC cell line) and promoted epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) (Lv et al., 2017). Overall, this study supports the role of PDGF-induced HSC activation resulting in fibrosis and HCC.

The matricellular protein CCN2, known for mediating fibrosis in various organs including the liver (Hall-Glenn and Lyons, 2011; Jun and Lau, 2011; Kodama et al., 2011; Lipson et al., 2012), has also been shown to activate HSCs and promote tumor progression via HSC secretion of the IL-6 and STAT3 *in vitro* (Makino et al., 2018). A potential clinical player in the cellular crosstalk between HCSs and HCC cells is stromaderived fibroblast growth factor 9 (FGF9). Interestingly, a 2020 study conducted by Seitz et al. found that only activated HSCs expressed FGF9 compared to HCC cells. In HCC tissues, activated HSC overexpression of FGF9 reduced sensitivity to therapeutic agents and was associated with poor prognosis (Seitz et al., 2020), suggesting FGF9 as a potential therapeutic target and prognostic tool for HCC. Altogether, these findings support the notion of the growth factors PDGF-C and CCN2 as activators of HSCs and FGF9 as a potential clinical target for HCC.

#### Association of Resident Liver Lymphocytes With Activated HSCs During Hepatic Fibrosis and Cirrhosis

Pathogenesis of liver fibrosis also involves resident liver lymphocytes including Type I and Type II Natural Killer T (NKT), Natural Killer (NK) cells and innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) (Wang and Zhang, 2019). Specifically, the interaction between activated HSCs and these hepatic lymphocytes is important (Wang and Zhang, 2019). The innate role of NKT cells is to defend against pathogens by recruiting circulating lymphocytes (Racanelli and Rehermann, 2006). Once activated, NKT cells can induce HSC activation via production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and release osteopontin and Hedgehog (Hh) ligands (Syn et al., 2012; Wehr et al., 2013) to aid in fibrosis development (Wang and Yin, 2015; Bandyopadhyay et al., 2016). However, it has been established that NK cells, along with NKT cells, protect the liver by preventing infection, tumor formation (Racanelli and Rehermann, 2006) and fibrogenesis (Melhem et al., 2006; Radaeva et al., 2006) in liver fibrosis mouse models (Muhanna et al., 2011; Gur et al., 2012; Hou et al., 2012) and HCV patients in various clinical studies (Glassner et al., 2012; Gur et al., 2012; Kramer et al., 2012). Furthermore, NK cells have an anti-fibrotic effect on HSCs by inducing activated HSC apoptosis (Radaeva et al., 2006). However, this is a temporary effect, and could result in apoptosis- resistant activated HSCs (Radaeva et al., 2007). Additionally, type 3 innate lymphoid cells (ILC3s) function as pro-fibrotic effectors in the liver (Muhanna et al., 2007; Bjorklund et al., 2016). Through co-culturing experiments with LX-2 cells, ILC3s promoted fibrogenesis via Interleukin-17A (IL-17A) and Interleukin-22 (IL-22), resulting in IL-22 inhibition of interferon gamma (IFNG) to indirectly enhance fibrogenesis (Wang et al., 2018). These data suggest an important role for resident liver immune cells in liver fibrosis through interactions with activated HSCs (Schon and Weiskirchen, 2014). Furthermore, they suggest the involvement of the innate immune system in relation to HSC activation in fibrosis; thus, warranting further study of the roles of activated HSCs in enhancing and suppressing fibrosis.

Even though stimulation of innate immunity has been shown to have a pivotal role in anti-viral and anti-tumor defenses in addition to fibrosis suppression, the regulation of innate immunity during chronic liver injury still needs to be elucidated. In a CCl<sub>4</sub> mouse model, Infg induced NK cell activation was decreased in late liver fibrosis (advanced scarring) compared to early fibrosis (minimal scarring) (Jeong et al., 2011). The authors further demonstrated that the anti-fibrotic roles of NK cells are suppressed during advanced livery injury through increased expression of suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (Socs1) and Tgfb (Jeong et al., 2011). This study also showed *in vitro* evidence of early activated HSC (4 days co-culture of HSCs and liver NK cells) induced NK cell activation via natural killer group 2 member D (NKG2D), whereas this was abolished in intermediately activated HSCs (8 days co culture of HSCs and liver NK cells) due to increased levels of TGFB1 and downregulation of NKG2D (Jeong et al., 2011). These results establish that although NK cells interact with activated HSCs to mitigate liver fibrosis during chronic liver injury, this process can be suppressed through increased TGFB and SOCS1 produced by activated HSCs *in vitro*.

In a 2017 study, Shi et al. (2017) showed that in liver cirrhosis patients, activated HSCs interact with purified NK cells through HSC-derived TGFB regulation of emperipolesis (the presence of an intact cell within the cytoplasm of another cell). This process was mediated through TGFB and evidenced by significantly reduced NK cell emperipolesis when activated HSCs were treated with an anti-TGFB antibody. The NK cells inside activated HSCs were also apoptotic as observed through positive terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL) staining which indicates DNA fragmentation, a trait of cellular apoptosis (Kyrylkova et al., 2012). This suggests that activated HSCs reduce the anti-fibrotic roles of NK cells in vitro through activated HSC-derived TGFB and programmed death of NK cells to promote fibrosis (Shi et al., 2017). This study demonstrates that activated HSC-derived TGFB and NK cells work together to diminish NK cell anti-fibrotic capabilities and promote fibrosis in liver cirrhosis patients.

## Cellular Senescence of Activated HSCs During Hepatic Fibrosis

Senescence of activated HSCs has been shown to suppress liver fibrosis (Hoare et al., 2010; Jin et al., 2016; Nishizawa et al., 2016). In cancer, cellular senescence is a known tumor suppressive mechanism (Sager, 1991) activated by oncogenic stress (Campisi and d'Adda di Fagagna, 2007) and may also be essential for regulating liver fibrosis and cirrhosis (Tsuchida and Friedman, 2017). Cancer cell senescence is maintained by the tumor suppressor proteins p53/p21, p16<sup>Ink4a</sup> and retinoblastoma (Rb) (Campisi and d'Adda di Fagagna, 2007; Collado et al., 2007). Furthermore, transgenic  $p53^{-/-}$  mice, with p53 knocked out specifically in HSCs, that were treated with CCl<sub>4</sub> showed increased fibrosis compared to WT p53 mice. This phenotype indicates that activated HSCs have the ability to undergo senescence resulting in decreased liver fibrosis in vivo (Krizhanovsky et al., 2008). This study also revealed retained fibrotic lesions in  $p53^{-/-}$ ; Cdkn2a/Arf<sup>-/-</sup> mice 20 days post CCl<sub>4</sub> treatment, along with increased smooth muscle actin (Acta2), Tgfb, and Ki67 (marker of proliferative cells) expression. These findings suggest that activated HSCs during liver fibrosis can also evade cellular senescence to proliferate and secrete ECM components to begin developing the hepatic TME (Krizhanovsky et al., 2008).

HSC activation is one of the first responses to LSEC (liver sinusoidal endothelial cell) injury in the liver. LSECs serve as a

permeable barrier between hepatocytes and the bloodstream and are characterized by fenestrations and a disorganized basement membrane, making them one of the most permeable types of endothelial cells (DeLeve and Maretti-Mira, 2017; Poisson et al., 2017). This permeability allows for efficient transport of solutes and metabolites throughout the liver. In addition, LSECs are an active contributor to the production of excess ECM proteins during liver fibrosis (Natarajan et al., 2017). Recent data shows that removal of senescent LSECs promotes liver fibrosis (Grosse et al., 2020). Through genetic lineage tracing mouse models, Grosse, et al. demonstrated that the majority of senescent cells were vascular endothelial cells, mostly LSECs in liver sinusoids, in addition to macrophages and adipocytes to a reduced extent. The authors also showed that both continuous and acute elimination of senescent cells disrupted blood-tissue barriers resulting in liver and perivascular tissue fibrosis. Overall, this study establishes that senescent cells involved in preventing liver fibrosis are primarily LSECs, rather than hepatic stellate cells (Grosse et al., 2020). While senescent LSECs serve as a barrier against fibrosis, the activation, proliferation and transformation of HSCs caused by liver injury, in addition to their ability to evade senescence once activated, are important developmental processes that provide a suitable microenvironment required for fibrosis, cirrhosis and later HCC development (Lashen et al., 2020).

#### ACTIVATED HEPATIC STELLATE CELLS WITHIN THE HEPATIC TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT

The interplay between liver tumor cells and the hepatic TME is crucial to the initiation and progression of HCC (Hernandez-Gea et al., 2013; Zhou et al., 2019). The TME is defined as a peritumoral space (Alfarouk et al., 2011; Joyce and Fearon, 2015; Spill et al., 2016) contributing to the acquisition of various hallmark traits of cancer, including sustained proliferative signaling and activation of invasion, metastasis, and angiogenesis (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). Furthermore, the TME can be divided into two major components: (1) cellular and (2) non-cellular. Activated HSCs are a part of the cellular component and exhibit essential biological functions such as promotion of fibrogenesis and ECM remodeling to positively influence HCC tumorigenesis (Friedman, 2008a; Amann et al., 2009; Coulouarn and Clement, 2014).

In addition to HSCs, cellular components of the hepatic TME include stromal hepatocytes, immune cells such as myeloidderived suppressor cells (MDSCs) (Fu et al., 2007; Hoechst et al., 2008), tumor associated macrophages (TAMs) (Budhu and Wang, 2006; Budhu et al., 2006; Jeong et al., 2011), and cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs) (Yin et al., 2019). Non-cellular components include cytokines such as Interleukin-6 (IL-6) (Budhu and Wang, 2006; Budhu et al., 2011), growth factors such as VEGF (Coulouarn et al., 2012), TGFB (Thompson et al., 2015), PDGF (Tsuchida and Friedman, 2017), and CCN2 (Makino et al., 2018). Additional non-cellular components include matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), their inhibitors (Novikova et al., 2017) and proteoglycans (Theocharis et al., 2010) (**Table 1**). The following studies will cover the different roles activated HSCs play in HCC progression through their interaction with the other cellular and non-cellular components of the hepatic TME.

### Cellular Crosstalk Between Activated HSCs and Cellular Components of the Hepatic TME

The hepatic TME consists of various immune cells to create an immunosuppressed environment in order to maintain HCC tumor growth (Lu et al., 2019). Activated HSCs contribute to this immunosuppressed environment by secreting cytokines which induce MDSC expansion (Maher, 2001; Hui et al., 2004; Yu et al., 2004; Pan et al., 2008; Gabrilovich and Nagaraj, 2009; Hsieh et al., 2013). In an orthotopic liver tumor mouse model, activated HSCs significantly increased regulatory T cell (Treg) and MDSC expression to benefit HCC growth in the spleen, bone marrow, and tumor tissues (Zhao et al., 2014). Furthermore, activated HSCs secrete angiogenic growth factors to form new vasculature within the TME (Coulouarn et al., 2012; Heindryckx and Gerwins, 2015). These functions of activated HSCs create a link to the circulatory system for supplying nutrients to the tumor. Immune cells may also regulate activation of HSCs in vitro, demonstrated by Interleukin 20 (IL-20) activation of HSCs, resulting in upregulation of TGFB1 and type I collagen, and increased proliferation and migration of activated HSCs (Chiu et al., 2014). The same study further indicated that these fibrogenic phenotypes could be attenuated with an anti-IL-20 receptor (IL-20R1) monoclonal antibody, proposing IL-20 as a significant activator of HSCs and fibrogenesis. Taken together, activated HSCs may have an important role in promoting an immunosuppressed and angiogenic hepatic TME to support aggressive HCC cell growth.

#### Crosstalk Between Activated HSCs and Non-cellular Components of the Hepatic TME

In addition to interacting with other hepatic TME cellular components, HSCs also respond to the non-cellular components of the liver TME (Hall-Glenn and Lyons, 2011; Jun and Lau, 2011; Kodama et al., 2011; Lipson et al., 2012). An example of such is the response to CCN2 produced from hepatic tumor cells (Makino et al., 2018). Makino et al. (2018) demonstrated that elevated CCN2 expression positively correlated with activated HSCs, indicated by smooth muscle actin (ACTA2) expression, in both mouse and human liver tumors. Furthermore, the authors showed that anti-CCN2 reduced IL-6 production in LX-2 cells and inhibited STAT3 activation in HepG2 (human HCC cell line) cells (Makino et al., 2018). This study was the first to establish HCC-cell-derived CCN2 activates HSCs in the TME, thus, accelerating the progression of HCC through cytokine production. These results also support the need for further exploration of CCN2 and other ECM proteins involved in the activation of HSCs.

While HSCs respond to growth factors such as CCN2; once activated, HSCs can also modulate the ECM through secretion and upregulation of proteins such as MMPs (Lachowski et al., 2019), which are needed for HCC tumor migration (Scheau et al., 2019). Studies have shown MMP2 and MMP9 (the most commonly studied MMPs in HCC EMT) to be important for the invasive potential of HCC tumors through degradation and remodeling of collagen in the ECM (Wang et al., 2014; Sun et al., 2018). Moreover, signaling between FAK and MMP9 is considered to be one of the main pathways that promotes HCC cell invasion and metastasis (Chen et al., 2010; Jia et al., 2011). Thus, it is plausible to speculate whether this signaling pathway is promoted through HSC activation. This hypothesis was explored by Han et al. (2014), who investigated whether activated HSCs promote FAK-MMP9 signaling in vitro. First, elevated numbers activated HSCs were shown to associate with tumor invasion of the portal vein, advanced tumor node metastasis staging, and lesser tumor differentiation. Thereafter, the number of activated HSCs, quantified by cytoplasmic ACTA2 expression, were positively correlated with the expression levels of phosphorylated FAK (p-FAK) and MMP9 in HCC. Furthermore, the authors used a co-culture experiment to demonstrate the activation of FAK-MMP9 signaling in HCC cells in the presence of activated HSC conditioned medium and with co-culture of activated HSCs. Additionally, inhibition of FAK-MMP9 signaling via small interfering RNA (siRNA) for FAK (siFAK) abrogated the migratory and invasive effects of activated HSCs on HCC cells (Han et al., 2014). These data show that FAK-MMP9 signaling is promoted by activated HSCS and plays a role in modulating metastasis of HCC following activation of HSCs; thus, highlighting the crosstalk between tumor cells and activated HSCs in the hepatic TME.

## Micro-RNA Involvement in HSC Activation in the Hepatic TME

In addition to ECM components such as MMPs and growth factors, recent advances have emphasized the significant roles played by micro-RNAs (miRNAs) in the TME (Cheng et al., 2015). This is demonstrated through the ability of miRNAs in tumor cells to transform the microenvironment by sustaining cancer hallmark traits and non-cell-autonomous signaling pathways (Suzuki et al., 2015). miRNAs are small non-coding RNAs (20-25 nucleotides in length) that regulate gene expression by binding to target mRNA transcripts through a seed sequence at the 5' end of the miRNA (Bartel, 2004). In cancer cells, miRNAs are aberrantly expressed compared to normal cells, with expression patterns varying between different types of cancer cells (Karube et al., 2005; Lu et al., 2005; Merritt et al., 2008; Garzon et al., 2009). Additionally, activation and inactivation of HSCs can be controlled by profibrogenic and antifibrogenic miRNAs (Tsuchida and Friedman, 2017). Interestingly, miRNAs have been shown to possess dual roles as oncogenes and tumor suppressors in cancer cells (Zhang et al., 2007). The following studies investigate these dual roles in relation to the activation of HSCs in the hepatic TME.

#### TABLE 1 | Components of the hepatic TME.

Cellular	References	Non-cellular	References
Stromal hepatocytes: connective tissue cells that provide support to the epithelial cells of the liver	Tahmasebi Birgani and Carloni, 2017	ECM Proteins (Matrix metalloproteinases, collagens, proteoglycans, lamins): key players in the invasive potential of HCC tumors by modulating the ECM	Novikova et al., 2017
Hepatic stellate cells: mesenchymal cells found in the liver hat contribute to the hepatic TME by proliferating and promoting fibrosis when activated	Friedman, 2008a; Coulouarn and Clement, 2014	Growth factors (TGFB, PDGF, CCN2, VEGF, HGF): signaling proteins that stimulate the expression pathways of pro-fibrotic genes; stimulate HSC activation, proliferation and migration	Coulouarn et al., 2012; Thompson et al., 2015; Makino et al., 2018
mmune cells (Ex. Tumor Associated Macrophages and MDSCs): components of the hepatic TME that interact with activated HSCs by creating an immunosuppressed environment promoting HCC tumor growth and naintenance	Budhu and Wang, 2006; Budhu et al., 2006; Fu et al., 2007; Hoechst et al., 2008; Jeong et al., 2011	Cytokines (IL-6, IL-8, IL-22): small proteins involved in a range of cell signaling that help drive fibrosis, HSC activation, and contribute to angiogenesis	Chiu et al., 2014; Sevic et al., 2019
Cancer associated fibroblasts: type of cancer stromal cell critical to tumorigenesis regulation by possessing the ability o remodel the ECM and secrete proteins such as cytokines and VEGF	Yin et al., 2019		

Both cellular and non-cellular components cooperate in the hepatic TME to aid in hepatocarcinogenesis.

Oncogenic miRNAs (oncomiRs) derived from the extracellular vesicles (EV) of HCC cells mediate communication between HCC cells and activated HSCs (Daugaard et al., 2017). Interestingly, crosstalk between miRNAs and TME components is partly mediated by exosomes, a type of EV produced in the endosome of eukaryotic cells that can transfer DNA, RNA and proteins to other cells (Zhang et al., 2015; Kosaka, 2016). Results from Li J. et al. (2019) found that EVs released by HepG2 and Huh7 (human HCC cell line) cells contained elevated oncomiRs. As a result, activated HSCs released their own EVs which stimulated HCC invasion, epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) and activation of the AKT/ERK signaling pathway (Li J. et al., 2019). This suggests a positive feedback loop between exosomal oncomiRs of activated HSCs and HCC cells to promote hepatocarcinogenesis. Moreover, the authors observed upregulation of three specific oncomiRs: miR-21, miR-221, and miR-151. These results are further examples of the crosstalk between HCC cells and activated HSCs creating a pro-metastatic phenotype (Li J. et al., 2019).

Likewise, miR-1426 is an oncomiR shown to promote tumorigenesis, metastasis, and migration in multiple cancer types (Xu et al., 2019). Recently, a miRNA expression microarray study revealed a robust increase in miR-1246 in HCC cell lines when co-cultured with activated HSCs (Huang et al., 2020). These results reflect in vitro evidence that activated HSCs induce miR-1246 expression in HCC cell lines to promote metastasis. Moreover, miR-1246 and its target RAR related orphan receptor alpha (RORA), promoted EMT in vitro and in vivo in nude mice indicated by enhanced HCC cell migration, decreased *E*-cadherin, and increased vimentin protein expression. As a result of miR-1246 overexpression in PLC cells (human liver hepatoma cell line), the binding of RORA and beta-catenin (CTNNB1) in the cytoplasm was increased. This process was reversed with RORA knockdown, suggesting that the binding of RORA to beta-catenin prevents beta-catenin

nuclear translocation and activation of the Wnt/beta-catenin signaling pathway. Furthermore, both miR-1246 and RORA were effectively used as independent prognostic markers in HCC tissue (Huang et al., 2020). This data suggests that miR-1246:RORA is a key component in the tumorigenic influence of activated HSCs on HCC cells, and that targeting the miR-1246:RORA axis may slow HCC progression (Huang et al., 2020).

However, miRNAs can also function as tumor suppressors in cancer cells (Zhang et al., 2007). For example, miRNA-212-3p has been shown to suppress cancer cell growth in other forms of cancer such as renal cell carcinoma (Gu et al., 2017) nonsmall-cell lung cancer (Tang et al., 2017) and glioblastoma (Tang et al., 2017). However, the effects, if any, in HCC remained unclear. Thus, Chen et al. (2019) examined the relationship between miRNA-212-3p and CCN2 in the hepatic TME. The authors showed that microRNA-212-3p inhibited proliferation of HCC cell lines through suppression of CCN2. Additionally, miR-212-3p was downregulated in HCC cell lines and tissues, and negatively correlated with vascular invasion and the absence of a fibrous tumor capsule. This fibrous capsule is formed by host liver mesenchymal cells, instead of HCC cells, and prevents possible invasion of HCC to the host liver (Ishizaki et al., 2001). These findings demonstrate a tumor suppressor role of miRNA-212-3p through its interaction with CCN2, a significant ECM component of the hepatic TME. Moreover, results from this study raise the question of whether microRNA-212-3p also inhibits the CCN2 mediated cytokine production in activated HSCs, given that the experiments from this study were carried out in HCC cell lines and tissues only.

#### Activated HSC Regulation of Angiogenesis Within the Hepatic TME

The effects of activated HSCs on angiogenesis in HCC have also been investigated over the past decade. Angiogenesis within the TME is essential for tumor progression, metastasis and invasion (Mittal et al., 2014). Zhu et al. (2015) identified Interleukin-8 (IL-8) as a contributing factor to angiogenesis in HCC. Interestingly, IL-8 was highly expressed in HCC stroma and was mainly derived from activated HSCs rather than from HCC cells. Furthermore, an IL-8 neutralizing antibody was demonstrated to suppress tumor angiogenesis in Hep3B cells (a human HCC cell line) treated with conditioned media from activated HSCs. The authors also demonstrated similar results in vivo through a chick embryo chorioallantoic membrane (CAM) assay. Most recently, Lin et al. observed that activated HSCs are the primary source of secreted angiopoietin-1 (Ang-1) in human HCC cells in vitro. This not only describes the promotion of HCC angiogenesis through activated HSCs and Ang-1 expression, but also opens the potential of Ang-1 as an anti-angiogenic therapeutic target in HCC (Lin et al., 2020). These findings identify angiogenic factors produced by activated HSCs in the hepatic TME to promote hepatocarcinogenesis.

Intriguingly, a 2019 investigation found that activated HSCs induced angiogenesis in HCC via upregulation of glioma associated oncogene 1 (Gli-1), a member of the Hh signaling pathway (Yan et al., 2017). Furthermore, this study established that 3,5,4'-trihydroxy-trans-stilbene (trade name: Resveratrol), a polyphenol compound found in red-wine, grapes, berries and peanuts and believed to act as an antioxidant, also hindered HCC progression driven by HSCs through targeting Gli-1. Specifically, activated HSC induced angiogenesis in HCC via upregulation of Gli-1 expression, stimulated reactive oxygen species (ROS) production and increased HCC cell invasiveness. Resveratrol further abolished activated HSC-stimulated angiogenesis and suppressed ROS production and IL-6 and C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4) expression in HepG2 cells by downregulating Gli-1 expression (Yan et al., 2017). In a separate study, Han et al. (2019) also described Resveratrol to possess tumor-suppressive effects through tumor microenvironment modulation across several types of cancers including HCC. This suggests the possibility of Gli-1 as a potential target for angiogenesis prevention in HCC.

## QUIESCENT HEPATIC STELLATE CELLS

While activated HSCs play a major role in the formation of fibrosis and the hepatic TME, recent studies have also delved into the role of quiescent HSCs (qHSCs), as they are needed to maintain a healthy liver (Coll et al., 2015; Das et al., 2020). Uncovering the mechanisms preserving this phenotype could increase the scope of HSC targeted therapies.

Coll et al. (2015) conducted a study which examined these mechanisms and included a miRNA microarray analysis of isolated human qHSCs. The microarray revealed that HSCs express 259 miRNAs. In contrast, when HSCs were activated *in vitro*, 212 of these miRNAs were upregulated and the other 47 miRNAs were downregulated (Coll et al., 2015) suggesting a role for miRNAs in maintenance of qHSCs. Furthermore, the interactions between the miRNA target genes in qHSCs were also associated with HSC activation. Specifically, miRNA-192 was

chosen for further *in vivo* study due to having 28 target genes in qHSCs and demonstrating decreased expression in cirrhotic liver samples compared to healthy samples. To elucidate the role of miRNA-192 in qHSCs *in vivo*, HSCs were isolated from two liver fibrosis mouse models and showed decreased miRNA-192 expression compared to healthy mouse HSCs. Furthermore, miRNA-192 overexpression resulted in inhibited Tgfb1 signaling and Pdgf-induced HSC migration in primary mouse HSC cells. This data supports miRNA-192 as a regulator of qHSCs through suppressing target genes needed for HSC activation (Coll et al., 2015). Thus, these findings support additional study into the miRNA-192 targeted genes involved in HSC activation to increase the scope of HSC targeted therapies.

Further supporting the significance of qHSCs, Das et al. demonstrated *in vitro* qHSC induction of cancer cell apoptosis via a caspase-independent mechanism (Das et al., 2020). This mechanism was established in rat hepatoma cells treated with qHSC conditioned media. The study determined that qHSC induction of apoptosis required increased apoptosisinducing factor (AIF) expression, nuclear localization and DNA fragmentation, and resulted in eventual cell death (Das et al., 2020). This data illustrates the ability of qHSCs to increase toxicity and sensitivity to established chemotherapeutic agents, such as doxorubicin (Das et al., 2020), and could lead to augmentation of therapeutic strategies already in existence to increase their success.

# CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS AND RELEVANCE

Incidence of HCC in the U.S. has increased substantially in the past two decades (Singal et al., 2019; Das et al., 2020; Wu et al., 2020), and the American Cancer Society estimates 32,107 new cases of HCC will be diagnosed in 2020 along with 22,620 deaths (Society, 2020). Additionally, HCC incidence is three times higher in men than in women and the highest incidence is observed amongst patients greater than 70 years old with a steep mortality observed in patients ages 55-69 and older (Beal et al., 2017; Society, 2020). Unfortunately, over 80% of HCC patients present in advanced stages are not amenable to potentially curative surgical therapy, which combined with a paucity of effective systemic therapies, leads to a high morbidity and mortality rate (Zhou et al., 2018; Li D. et al., 2019). Ongoing investigation has focused on the process of tumor progression and potential therapeutic targets to create clinically relevant treatments for patients with HCC. Implicated in this research is the critical role of activated HSCs, from which 80-90% of HCC cells develop (Shiraha et al., 2020).

#### Metformin

As mentioned previously, TGFB and PDGF induce HSC activation to contribute to the cellular crosstalk between tumor and stromal cells (Zhang and Friedman, 2012; Tsuchida and Friedman, 2017). GDF15, a member of the TGFB superfamily, is a biomarker for stress responses as a result of cancer treatment damage such as hypoxia and chemotherapy



as liver damage, inflammation, PDGF and TGFB signaling, hepatitis and viral infection. Additionally, HSC activation can be epigenetically regulated by demethylation of the tumor suppressor PTEN and IL-20 activation of HSCs via upregulation of TGFB1. Activated HSCs go on to produce ECM proteins and alter the ECM accompanied by proteoglycans and VEGF. Cytokines such as IL-6 are released which promote HCC tumor cell proliferation. CCN2 produced from HCC cells can activate HSCs, in contrast, CCN2 is inhibited through the oncogenic miRNA (oncomir) miR-212-3p which decreases HCC cell invasion *in vitro*. Other oncomirs secreted by HCC extracellular vesicles can regulate signaling between HSCs and HCC cells. In addition, IL-8, MMP-9, and Ang-1 contribute to tumor-associated angiogenesis. These factors allow for HCC tumor proliferation, invasion, and metastasis.

(Kelly et al., 2009; Corre et al., 2013) and may be a clinically relevant target for HCC. Common liver cancer therapy utilizes transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) that involves chemotherapy embolization-induced hypoxia to damage HCC cells; however, this therapy also induces stress in the surrounding HCC tissue (Dong et al., 2018). As a result of the intense

cellular stress, GDF15 is secreted by the treatment-damaged HCC cells, and may have the ability to promote fibrosis through activated HSCs (Dong et al., 2018). To elucidate this process, Dong et al. (2018) demonstrated that HCC cells under "TACE-like" conditions showed increased levels of GDF15 via activation of the p38 MAPK, ERK1/2 and JNK pathways. Metformin, a common FDA approved drug, is known to target the JNK/p38MAPK pathway (Wu et al., 2011). Dong et al. (2018) further illustrated that in activated HSC cells, GDF15 promoted HSC proliferation and collagen production indicated by increased type I collagen protein levels cellular 5-Ethynyl-2'-deoxyuridine (Edu) incorporation, a thymidine analog which incorporates into the DNA of dividing cells (Salic and Mitchison, 2008). Conversely, Metformin was able to target the JNK pathway and suppress GDF15 expression resulting in decreased collagen synthesis and proliferation of activated HSCs in vitro and in vivo (Dong et al., 2018). These results suggest an opportunity to slow the progression of HCC by targeting activated HSCs with Metformin, a widely available drug.

#### Sorafenib

Another FDA approved drug, Sorafenib, is a multi-target antiangiogenic tyrosine kinase inhibitor (Hasskarl, 2014). Sorafenib was the first systemic therapy approved for treatment of HCC after it was shown to increase mean survival time by 2-3 months (Llovet et al., 2008; Cheng et al., 2009). A recently published study suggested that a novel system of biodegradable dendritic polymeric nanoparticles loaded with Sorafenib enhanced HCC therapy (Li et al., 2020). Through the MTT assay, this system induced higher cytotoxicity of HCC cells than a PEG-conjugated nanoparticle system containing Sorafenib and free-Sorafenib in vitro. In addition, tumor growth was significantly subdued in mice with HepG2 xenografts, with minimal side effects (Li et al., 2020). Moreover, a previous nanoparticle related study published in 2018 demonstrated that combined delivery of Sorafenib with a mitogen activated protein kinase (MEK) inhibitor using C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 4 (CXCR4)-targeted nanoparticles reduced hepatic fibrosis and prevented tumor development (Sung et al., 2018). This study further assessed the effects of Sorafenib on activated HSCs and established that combined delivery of Sorafenib and a MEK inhibitor through CXCR4targeted nanoparticles prevented ERK activation in activated HSCs and had anti-fibrotic effects in the CCl<sub>4</sub>-mouse model (Sung et al., 2018).

#### Bevacizumab

Continued interest in the critical role of activated HSCs in the regulation of angiogenesis will likely increase in light of recently released preliminary results of the IMbrave150 trial which challenges the longstanding paradigm of first line Sorafenib for advanced unresectable HCC. This study was a phase III randomized control trial of 336 patients who received either atezolizumab (PD-L1 inhibitor) plus Bevacizumab (VEGF-A inhibitor) or Sorafenib. Preliminary results from the trial demonstrated a significant overall survival benefit, with patients in the combination arm not reaching a median survival versus a median survival of 13.2 months with Sorafenib (p < 0.0001)

(Cheng et al., 2019). Bevacizumab has been shown *in vivo* to decrease expression of profibrogenic genes TGFB and ACTA2, as well as decreasing overall HSC activation, altogether attenuating hepatic fibrosis in a  $CCl_4$ -rat model (Huang et al., 2013). Although final results of the study have not yet been published, it is widely expected to be practice changing and highlights the importance of both the immune and angiogenic crosstalk in the hepatic TME and HCC progression.

## **Potential Alternative Therapies**

Finally, there is an interest in therapeutically targeting the cytokine-HSC interaction. An IL-8-neutralizing antibody (Zhu et al., 2015) and an anti-CCN2 neutralizing antibody which lead to reduced IL-6 production (Makino et al., 2018) have both shown therapeutic potential in suppressing tumor progression of HCC in vitro and in vivo with a xenograft murine model. These neutralizing antibodies, which both target interleukin cytokines, are potential clinical therapies focusing on the relationship between activated HSCs and TME. Additionally, a 2015 study established the angiogenin inhibitor neomycin as a potential HCC therapy. This study demonstrated that neomycin decreased HSC activation with conditioned media or recombinant angiogenin in vitro (Barcena et al., 2015). Furthermore, neomycin administration reduced tumor growth of HepG2-LX2 cells co-injected into mice, suggesting that angiogenin secretion by HCC cells favors tumor development via induction of HSC activation and ECM remodeling. These findings not only suggest that targeting angiogenin signaling may be of potential relevance in HCC management, but also establishes neomycin as a potential clinical treatment for HCC.

## DISCUSSION

Hepatic stellate cells activation is the central event of hepatic fibrosis and the development of cirrhosis and HCC. A fundamental gap in knowledge is the crosstalk between activated HSCs, the hepatic ECM and HCC tumor cells. Recent studies have focused on targeted molecular therapeutic strategies for liver fibrosis and cirrhosis (van der Heide et al., 2019). Thus, utilizing multiple biomarkers may lead to optimized early detection of HCC (Ismail and Pinzani, 2011; Tuohetahuntila et al., 2017). Data published in 2017 suggested a new therapeutic option to target and increase NK activity in patients with chronic hepatitis infection preceding hepatic fibrosis (Shi et al., 2017). Other recent studies discussing potential targeted therapies such as PDGF-C and TGFB are under exploration. Ultimately, elucidating the mechanistic links between activated HSCs through all stages of fibrosis and cirrhosis will lead to a better understanding of HCC tumorigenesis.

Due to the intricate relationship between the hepatic TME, tumor development and HCC progression, recent studies have begun focusing on the role of activated HSCs, one of the prominent factors involved in the hepatic TME. The hepatic TME provides a niche which includes both cellular components, such as HSCs and non-cellular components, being the ECM and ECM proteins. As activated HSCs become ECM producing cells during liver fibrosis, secreted chemokines, cytokines, and growth factors prime the overall TME for supporting HCC proliferation.

Owing to the complexity of the TME, it is difficult to therapeutically target one pathway as they all have functional redundancies; however, targeting a pivotal cellular component of the hepatic TME, such as activated HSCs, may be more feasible. Pertinent to this review, studies focusing on the role of activated HSCs in the TME could lead to activated HSC targeted therapies that may affect activated HSC related factors such as TGFB, PDGF, MMP-9, CCN2, and oncogenic miRNAs. Other targets that warrant further study and serve as promising areas for therapeutic exploration include IL-8, Ang-1, and Gli-1. A proposed schematic illustrating the relationship between activated HSCs in the hepatic TME and HCC is shown in **Figure 2**.

Collectively the literature covered in this review outline the significance of activated HSCs in the hepatic TME. In addition to cellular crosstalk within the TME, activated HSCs play a crucial role in HCC progression through the TME's non-cellular components. These recent studies provide examples of cytokines, growth factors, ECM components and microRNAs, which are all crucial non-cellular components of the hepatic TME involved in the relationship between activated HSCs and HCC development.

This review also concentrated on clinical implications that highlight potential therapies for HCC through targeting activated HSCs and their relationship with HCC cells. In addition to enhancing the efficacy of current therapeutic agents

## REFERENCES

- Alfarouk, K. O., Muddathir, A. K., and Shayoub, M. E. (2011). Tumor acidity as evolutionary spite. *Cancers* 3, 408–414. doi: 10.3390/cancers3010408
- Amann, T., Bataille, F., Spruss, T., Muhlbauer, M., Gabele, E., Scholmerich, J., et al. (2009). Activated hepatic stellate cells promote tumorigenicity of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer Sci.* 100, 646–653. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2009.01087.x
- Ananthakrishnan, A., Gogineni, V., and Saeian, K. (2006). Epidemiology of primary and secondary liver cancers. Semin. Intervent. Radiol. 23, 47–63. doi: 10.1055/s-2006-939841
- Armstrong, G. L., Wasley, A., Simard, E. P., McQuillan, G. M., Kuhnert, W. L., and Alter, M. J. (2006). The prevalence of hepatitis C virus infection in the United States, 1999 through 2002. Ann. Intern. Med. 144, 705–714. doi: 10.7326/ 0003-4819-144-10-200605160-00004
- Bandyopadhyay, K., Marrero, I., and Kumar, V. (2016). NKT cell subsets as key participants in liver physiology and pathology. *Cell. Mol. Immunol.* 13, 337–346. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2015.115
- Barazani, Y., Hiatt, J. R., Tong, M. J., and Busuttil, R. W. (2007). Chronic viral hepatitis and hepatocellular carcinoma. World J. Surg. 31, 1243–1248. doi: 10.1007/s00268-007-9041-3
- Barcena, C., Stefanovic, M., Tutusaus, A., Martinez-Nieto, G. A., Martinez, L., Garcia-Ruiz, C., et al. (2015). Angiogenin secretion from hepatoma cells activates hepatic stellate cells to amplify a self-sustained cycle promoting liver cancer. Sci. Rep. 5:7916. doi: 10.1038/srep07916
- Bartel, D. P. (2004). MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. *Cell* 116, 281–297. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(04)00045-5
- Beal, E. W., Tumin, D., Kabir, A., Moris, D., Zhang, X. F., Chakedis, J., et al. (2017). Trends in the mortality of hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States. *J. Gastrointest. Surg.* 21, 2033–2038. doi: 10.1007/s11605-017-3526-7
- Bian, E. B., Huang, C., Ma, T. T., Tao, H., Zhang, H., Cheng, C., et al. (2012). DNMT1-mediated PTEN hypermethylation confers hepatic stellate cell

such as Metformin, Sorafenib, and Atezolizumab/Bevacizumab, potential alternative therapies include neomycin and neutralizing antibodies against IL-22 and CCN2.

A deeper understanding of how the hepatic TME, most notably activated HSCs, interacts with the primary tumor and non-tumor cells will propel advances in effective diagnostic and prognostic tools. Ongoing investigations are imperative in order to develop more effective treatments for HCC and augment current therapies to increase their success.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AB and RB equally drafted the review, compiled the authors' contributions and references, wrote the manuscript, and produced the table and figures. RL, KP, KZ, DD, RB, AS, and KK contributed by writing and editing various sections within the manuscript. HD provided the overall support, intellectual input, critical evaluation, and all rounds of editing. All the authors read and approved the manuscript.

#### **FUNDING**

This work was supported by grants from the American Liver Foundation (A20-0085), American Gastroenterological Association (AGA2020-21-04), and the American Cancer Society (130042-IRG-16-244-10-IRG).

activation and liver fibrogenesis in rats. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 264, 13–22. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2012.06.022

- Bjorklund, A. K., Forkel, M., Picelli, S., Konya, V., Theorell, J., Friberg, D., et al. (2016). The heterogeneity of human CD127(+) innate lymphoid cells revealed by single-cell RNA sequencing. *Nat. Immunol.* 17, 451–460. doi: 10.1038/ni. 3368
- Blaner, W. S., O'Byrne, S. M., Wongsiriroj, N., Kluwe, J., D'Ambrosio, D. M., Jiang, H., et al. (2009). Hepatic stellate cell lipid droplets: a specialized lipid droplet for retinoid storage. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1791, 467–473. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip. 2008.11.001
- Borkham-Kamphorst, E., Herrmann, J., Stoll, D., Treptau, J., Gressner, A. M., and Weiskirchen, R. (2004). Dominant-negative soluble PDGF-beta receptor inhibits hepatic stellate cell activation and attenuates liver fibrosis. *Lab. Invest.* 84, 766–777. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.3700094
- Bray, F., Ferlay, J., Soerjomataram, I., Siegel, R. L., Torre, L. A., and Jemal, A. (2018). Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J. Clin.* 68, 394–424. doi: 10.3322/caac.21492
- Breitkopf, K., Godoy, P., Ciuclan, L., Singer, M. V., and Dooley, S. (2006). TGFbeta/Smad signaling in the injured liver. Z Gastroenterol. 44, 57–66. doi: 10. 1055/s-2005-858989
- Breitkopf, K., Sawitza, I., Westhoff, J. H., Wickert, L., Dooley, S., and Gressner, A. M. (2005). Thrombospondin 1 acts as a strong promoter of transforming growth factor beta effects via two distinct mechanisms in hepatic stellate cells. *Gut* 54, 673–681. doi: 10.1136/gut.2004.042911
- Budhu, A., Forgues, M., Ye, Q. H., Jia, H. L., He, P., Zanetti, K. A., et al. (2006). Prediction of venous metastases, recurrence, and prognosis in hepatocellular carcinoma based on a unique immune response signature of the liver microenvironment. *Cancer Cell* 10, 99–111. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2006.06.016
- Budhu, A., and Wang, X. W. (2006). The role of cytokines in hepatocellular carcinoma. J. Leukoc. Biol. 80, 1197–1213. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0506297

- Cairns, P., Okami, K., Halachmi, S., Halachmi, N., Esteller, M., Herman, J. G., et al. (1997). Frequent inactivation of PTEN/MMAC1 in primary prostate cancer. *Cancer Res.* 57, 4997–5000.
- Campisi, J., and d'Adda di Fagagna, F. (2007). Cellular senescence: when bad things happen to good cells. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 8, 729–740. doi: 10.1038/nrm2233
- Carloni, V., Luong, T. V., and Rombouts, K. (2014). Hepatic stellate cells and extracellular matrix in hepatocellular carcinoma: more complicated than ever. *Liver Int.* 34, 834–843. doi: 10.1111/liv.12465
- Chen, J. Q., Ou, Y. L., Huang, Z. P., Hong, Y. G., Tao, Y. P., Wang, Z. G., et al. (2019). MicroRNA-212-3p inhibits the Proliferation and Invasion of Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma cells by suppressing CCN2 expression. *Sci. Rep.* 9:9820. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-46088-w
- Chen, J. S., Huang, X. H., Wang, Q., Chen, X. L., Fu, X. H., Tan, H. X., et al. (2010). FAK is involved in invasion and metastasis of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Clin. Exp. Metastasis* 27, 71–82. doi: 10.1007/s10585-010-9306-3
- Cheng, A. L., Kang, Y. K., Chen, Z., Tsao, C. J., Qin, S., Kim, J. S., et al. (2009). Efficacy and safety of sorafenib in patients in the Asia-Pacific region with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma: a phase III randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 10, 25–34. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(08) 70285-7
- Cheng, A. L., Qin, S., Ikeda, M., Galle, P., Ducreux, M., Zhu, A., et al. (2019). IMbrave150: efficacy and safety results from a ph III study evaluating atezolizumab (atezo) + bevacizumab (bev) vs sorafenib (Sor) as first treatment (tx) for patients (pts) with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Ann. Oncol. 30, ix186-ix187. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdz446.002
- Cheng, C. J., Bahal, R., Babar, I. A., Pincus, Z., Barrera, F., Liu, C., et al. (2015). MicroRNA silencing for cancer therapy targeted to the tumour microenvironment. *Nature* 518, 107–110. doi: 10.1038/nature13905
- Chiu, Y. S., Wei, C. C., Lin, Y. J., Hsu, Y. H., and Chang, M. S. (2014). IL-20 and IL-20R1 antibodies protect against liver fibrosis. *Hepatology* 60, 1003–1014. doi: 10.1002/hep.27189
- Choo, S. P., Tan, W. L., Goh, B. K. P., Tai, W. M., and Zhu, A. X. (2016). Comparison of hepatocellular carcinoma in Eastern versus Western populations. *Cancer* 122, 3430–3446. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30237
- Coll, M., El Taghdouini, A., Perea, L., Mannaerts, I., Vila-Casadesus, M., Blaya, D., et al. (2015). Integrative miRNA and gene expression profiling analysis of human quiescent hepatic stellate cells. *Sci. Rep.* 5:11549. doi: 10.1038/srep11549
- Collado, M., Blasco, M. A., and Serrano, M. (2007). Cellular senescence in cancer and aging. Cell 130, 223–233. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.07.003
- Corre, J., Hebraud, B., and Bourin, P. (2013). Concise review: growth differentiation factor 15 in pathology: a clinical role? *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 2, 946–952. doi: 10.5966/sctm.2013-0055
- Coulouarn, C., and Clement, B. (2014). Stellate cells and the development of liver cancer: therapeutic potential of targeting the stroma. J. Hepatol. 60, 1306–1309. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2014.02.003
- Coulouarn, C., Corlu, A., Glaise, D., Guenon, I., Thorgeirsson, S. S., and Clement, B. (2012). Hepatocyte-stellate cell cross-talk in the liver engenders a permissive inflammatory microenvironment that drives progression in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* 72, 2533–2542. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3317
- D'Amico, G., Garcia-Tsao, G., and Pagliaro, L. (2006). Natural history and prognostic indicators of survival in cirrhosis: a systematic review of 118 studies. *J. Hepatol.* 44, 217–231. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2005.10.013
- Das, D., Fayazzadeh, E., Li, X., Koirala, N., Wadera, A., Lang, M., et al. (2020). Quiescent hepatic stellate cells induce toxicity and sensitivity to doxorubicin in cancer cells through a caspase-independent cell death pathway: central role of apoptosis-inducing factor. J. Cell Physiol. 235, 6167–6182. doi: 10.1002/jcp. 29545
- Daugaard, I., Sanders, K. J., Idica, A., Vittayarukskul, K., Hamdorf, M., Krog, J. D., et al. (2017). miR-151a induces partial EMT by regulating E-cadherin in NSCLC cells. *Oncogenesis* 6:e366. doi: 10.1038/oncsis.2017.66
- de Franchis, R. (2000). Updating consensus in portal hypertension: report of the Baveno III consensus workshop on definitions, methodology and therapeutic strategies in portal hypertension. *J. Hepatol.* 33, 846–852. doi: 10.1016/s0168-8278(00)80320-7
- DeLeve, L. D., and Maretti-Mira, A. C. (2017). Liver sinusoidal endothelial cell: an update. *Semin. Liver Dis.* 37, 377–387. doi: 10.1055/s-0037-1617455

- Dewidar, B., Meyer, C., Dooley, S., and Meindl-Beinker, A. N. (2019). TGF-beta in hepatic stellate cell activation and liver fibrogenesis-updated 2019. *Cells* 8:1419. doi: 10.3390/cells8111419
- Dong, G., Ma, M., Lin, X., Liu, H., Gao, D., Cui, J., et al. (2018). Treatment-damaged hepatocellular carcinoma promotes activities of hepatic stellate cells and fibrosis through GDF15. *Exp. Cell Res.* 370, 468–477. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2018.07.011
- El-Serag, H. B. (2012). Epidemiology of viral hepatitis and hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gastroenterology* 142, 1264–1273.e1. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011. 12.061
- Engel, M. E., McDonnell, M. A., Law, B. K., and Moses, H. L. (1999). Interdependent SMAD and JNK signaling in transforming growth factor-betamediated transcription. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 37413–37420. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274. 52.37413
- Fabregat, I., Moreno-Caceres, J., Sanchez, A., Dooley, S., Dewidar, B., Giannelli, G., et al. (2016). TGF-beta signalling and liver disease. *FEBS J.* 283, 2219–2232. doi: 10.1111/febs.13665
- Fan, W., Liu, T., Chen, W., Hammad, S., Longerich, T., Hausser, I., et al. (2019). ECM1 prevents activation of transforming growth factor beta, hepatic stellate cells, and fibrogenesis in mice. *Gastroenterology* 157, 1352–1367.e13. doi: 10. 1053/j.gastro.2019.07.036
- Friedman, S. L. (2000). Molecular regulation of hepatic fibrosis, an integrated cellular response to tissue injury. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 2247–2250. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.275.4.2247
- Friedman, S. L. (2008a). Hepatic stellate cells: protean, multifunctional, and enigmatic cells of the liver. *Physiol. Rev.* 88, 125–172. doi: 10.1152/physrev. 00013.2007
- Friedman, S. L. (2008b). Mechanisms of hepatic fibrogenesis. Gastroenterology 134, 1655–1669. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.03.003
- Friedman, S. L., Sheppard, D., Duffield, J. S., and Violette, S. (2013). Therapy for fibrotic diseases: nearing the starting line. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 5:167sr161. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3004700
- Fu, J., Xu, D., Liu, Z., Shi, M., Zhao, P., Fu, B., et al. (2007). Increased regulatory T cells correlate with CD8 T-cell impairment and poor survival in hepatocellular carcinoma patients. *Gastroenterology* 132, 2328–2339. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro. 2007.03.102
- Furuta, J., Umebayashi, Y., Miyamoto, K., Kikuchi, K., Otsuka, F., Sugimura, T., et al. (2004). Promoter methylation profiling of 30 genes in human malignant melanoma. *Cancer Sci.* 95, 962–968. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2004.tb0 3184.x
- Gabrilovich, D. I., and Nagaraj, S. (2009). Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 9, 162–174. doi: 10.1038/ nri2506
- Garzon, R., Calin, G. A., and Croce, C. M. (2009). MicroRNAs in cancer. *Annu. Rev. Med.* 60, 167–179. doi: 10.1146/annurev.med.59.053006.104707
- Gines, P., Quintero, E., Arroyo, V., Teres, J., Bruguera, M., Rimola, A., et al. (1987). Compensated cirrhosis: natural history and prognostic factors. *Hepatology* 7, 122–128. doi: 10.1002/hep.1840070124
- Glassner, A., Eisenhardt, M., Kramer, B., Korner, C., Coenen, M., Sauerbruch, T., et al. (2012). NK cells from HCV-infected patients effectively induce apoptosis of activated primary human hepatic stellate cells in a TRAIL-, FasL- and NKG2D-dependent manner. *Lab. Invest.* 92, 967–977. doi: 10.1038/labinvest. 2012.54
- Grosse, L., Wagner, N., Emelyanov, A., Molina, C., Lacas-Gervais, S., Wagner, K. D., et al. (2020). Defined p16<sup>High</sup> senescent cell types are indispensable for mouse healthspan. *Cell Metab.* 32, 87–99.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2020.05.002
- Gu, C., Wang, Z., Jin, Z., Li, G., Kou, Y., Jia, Z., et al. (2017). MicroRNA-212 inhibits the proliferation, migration and invasion of renal cell carcinoma by targeting X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein (XIAP). Oncotarget 8, 92119–92133. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.20786
- Gur, C., Doron, S., Kfir-Erenfeld, S., Horwitz, E., Abu-Tair, L., Safadi, R., et al. (2012). NKp46-mediated killing of human and mouse hepatic stellate cells attenuates liver fibrosis. *Gut* 61, 885–893. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-30 1400
- Hall-Glenn, F., and Lyons, K. M. (2011). Roles for CCN2 in normal physiological processes. Cell Mol. Life Sci. 68, 3209–3217. doi: 10.1007/s00018-011-0782-7
- Han, S., Han, L., Yao, Y., Sun, H., Zan, X., and Liu, Q. (2014). Activated hepatic stellate cells promote hepatocellular carcinoma cell migration and invasion via

the activation of FAK-MMP9 signaling. Oncol. Rep. 31, 641–648. doi: 10.3892/ or.2013.2872

- Han, Y., Jo, H., Cho, J. H., Dhanasekaran, D. N., and Song, Y. S. (2019). Resveratrol as a tumor-suppressive nutraceutical modulating tumor microenvironment and malignant behaviors of cancer. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 20:925. doi: 10.3390/ ijms20040925
- Hanafusa, H., Ninomiya-Tsuji, J., Masuyama, N., Nishita, M., Fujisawa, J., Shibuya, H., et al. (1999). Involvement of the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway in transforming growth factor-beta-induced gene expression. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 27161–27167. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.38.27161
- Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* 144, 646–674. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Hasskarl, J. (2014). Sorafenib: targeting multiple tyrosine kinases in cancer. Recent Results Cancer Res. 201, 145–164. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-54490-3\_8
- Heindryckx, F., and Gerwins, P. (2015). Targeting the tumor stroma in hepatocellular carcinoma. World J. Hepatol. 7, 165–176. doi: 10.4254/wjh.v7. i2.165
- Hernandez-Gea, V., Toffanin, S., Friedman, S. L., and Llovet, J. M. (2013). Role of the microenvironment in the pathogenesis and treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gastroenterology* 144, 512–527. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.01.002
- Higashi, T., Friedman, S. L., and Hoshida, Y. (2017). Hepatic stellate cells as key target in liver fibrosis. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 121, 27–42. doi: 10.1016/j.addr. 2017.05.007
- Hoare, M., Das, T., and Alexander, G. (2010). Ageing, telomeres, senescence, and liver injury. *J. Hepatol.* 53, 950–961. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2010.06.009
- Hoechst, B., Ormandy, L. A., Ballmaier, M., Lehner, F., Kruger, C., Manns, M. P., et al. (2008). A new population of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in hepatocellular carcinoma patients induces CD4(+)CD25(+)Foxp3(+) T cells. *Gastroenterology* 135, 234–243. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.03.020
- Hou, X., Yu, F., Man, S., Huang, D., Zhang, Y., Liu, M., et al. (2012). Negative regulation of *Schistosoma japonicum* egg-induced liver fibrosis by natural killer cells. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 6:e1456. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0001456
- Hsieh, C. C., Chou, H. S., Yang, H. R., Lin, F., Bhatt, S., Qin, J., et al. (2013). The role of complement component 3 (C3) in differentiation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Blood* 121, 1760–1768. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-06-440214
- Huang, J. L., Fu, Y. P., Gan, W., Liu, G., Zhou, P. Y., Zhou, C., et al. (2020). Hepatic stellate cells promote the progression of hepatocellular carcinoma through microRNA-1246-RORalpha-Wnt/beta-Catenin axis. *Cancer Lett.* 476, 140–151. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2020.02.012
- Huang, Y., Feng, H., Kan, T., Huang, B., Zhang, M., Li, Y., et al. (2013). Bevacizumab attenuates hepatic fibrosis in rats by inhibiting activation of hepatic stellate cells. *PLoS One* 8:e73492. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0073492
- Hui, A. Y., Dannenberg, A. J., Sung, J. J., Subbaramaiah, K., Du, B., Olinga, P., et al. (2004). Prostaglandin E2 inhibits transforming growth factor beta 1-mediated induction of collagen alpha 1(I) in hepatic stellate cells. *J. Hepatol.* 41, 251–258. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2004.04.033
- Ikura, Y., Morimoto, H., Ogami, M., Jomura, H., Ikeoka, N., and Sakurai, M. (1997). Expression of platelet-derived growth factor and its receptor in livers of patients with chronic liver disease. *J. Gastroenterol.* 32, 496–501. doi: 10.1007/ bf02934089
- Ishizaki, M., Ashida, K., Higashi, T., Nakatsukasa, H., Kaneyoshi, T., Fujiwara, K., et al. (2001). The formation of capsule and septum in human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Virchows Arch.* 438, 574–580. doi: 10.1007/s004280000391
- Ismail, M. H., and Pinzani, M. (2011). Reversal of hepatic fibrosis: pathophysiological basis of antifibrotic therapies. *Hepat. Med.* 3, 69–80. doi: 10.2147/HMER.S9051
- Jeong, W. I., Park, O., Suh, Y. G., Byun, J. S., Park, S. Y., Choi, E., et al. (2011). Suppression of innate immunity (natural killer cell/interferon-gamma) in the advanced stages of liver fibrosis in mice. *Hepatology* 53, 1342–1351. doi: 10. 1002/hep.24190
- Jia, Y. L., Shi, L., Zhou, J. N., Fu, C. J., Chen, L., Yuan, H. F., et al. (2011). Epimorphin promotes human hepatocellular carcinoma invasion and metastasis through activation of focal adhesion kinase/extracellular signalregulated kinase/matrix metalloproteinase-9 axis. *Hepatology* 54, 1808–1818. doi: 10.1002/hep.24562
- Jiang, R., Tan, Z., Deng, L., Chen, Y., Xia, Y., Gao, Y., et al. (2011). Interleukin-22 promotes human hepatocellular carcinoma by activation of STAT3. *Hepatology* 54, 900–909. doi: 10.1002/hep.24486

- Jin, H., Lian, N., Zhang, F., Chen, L., Chen, Q., Lu, C., et al. (2016). Activation of PPARgamma/P53 signaling is required for curcumin to induce hepatic stellate cell senescence. *Cell Death Dis.* 7:e2189. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2016.92
- Joyce, J. A., and Fearon, D. T. (2015). T cell exclusion, immune privilege, and the tumor microenvironment. *Science* 348, 74–80. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa6204
- Jun, J. I., and Lau, L. F. (2011). Taking aim at the extracellular matrix: CCN proteins as emerging therapeutic targets. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 10, 945–963. doi: 10.1038/nrd3599
- Kanwal, F., Hoang, T., Kramer, J. R., Asch, S. M., Goetz, M. B., Zeringue, A., et al. (2011). Increasing prevalence of HCC and cirrhosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Gastroenterology* 140, 1182–1188.e1. doi: 10.1053/j. gastro.2010.12.032
- Karube, Y., Tanaka, H., Osada, H., Tomida, S., Tatematsu, Y., Yanagisawa, K., et al. (2005). Reduced expression of Dicer associated with poor prognosis in lung cancer patients. *Cancer Sci.* 96, 111–115. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2005.00015.x
- Kelly, J. A., Lucia, M. S., and Lambert, J. R. (2009). p53 controls prostate-derived factor/macrophage inhibitory cytokine/NSAID-activated gene expression in response to cell density, DNA damage and hypoxia through diverse mechanisms. *Cancer Lett.* 277, 38–47. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2008.11.013
- Kodama, T., Takehara, T., Hikita, H., Shimizu, S., Shigekawa, M., Tsunematsu, H., et al. (2011). Increases in p53 expression induce CCN2 synthesis by mouse and human hepatocytes and result in liver fibrosis in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* 121, 3343–3356. doi: 10.1172/JCI44957
- Kosaka, N. (2016). Decoding the secret of cancer by means of extracellular vesicles. *J. Clin. Med.* 5:22. doi: 10.3390/jcm5020022
- Kramer, B., Korner, C., Kebschull, M., Glassner, A., Eisenhardt, M., Nischalke, H. D., et al. (2012). Natural killer p46High expression defines a natural killer cell subset that is potentially involved in control of hepatitis C virus replication and modulation of liver fibrosis. *Hepatology* 56, 1201–1213. doi: 10.1002/hep. 25804
- Krizhanovsky, V., Yon, M., Dickins, R. A., Hearn, S., Simon, J., Miething, C., et al. (2008). Senescence of activated stellate cells limits liver fibrosis. *Cell* 134, 657–667. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.06.049
- Kyrylkova, K., Kyryachenko, S., Leid, M., and Kioussi, C. (2012). Detection of apoptosis by TUNEL assay. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 887, 41–47. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-860-3\_5
- Lachowski, D., Cortes, E., Rice, A., Pinato, D., Rombouts, K., and Del Rio Hernandez, A. (2019). Matrix stiffness modulates the activity of MMP-9 and TIMP-1 in hepatic stellate cells to perpetuate fibrosis. *Sci. Rep.* 9:7299. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-43759-6
- Lashen, S. A., Elshafei, M. M., Hablass, F. H., Alsayed, E. A., and Hassan, A. A. (2020). Liver stiffness as a predictor of hepatocellular carcinoma behavior in patients with hepatitis C related liver cirrhosis. *Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis. Int.* 19, 22–28. doi: 10.1016/j.hbpd.2019.11.004
- Lee, U. E., and Friedman, S. L. (2011). Mechanisms of hepatic fibrogenesis. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Gastroenterol. 25, 195–206. doi: 10.1016/j.bpg.2011. 02.005
- Li, D., Sedano, S., Allen, R., Gong, J., Cho, M., and Sharma, S. (2019). Current treatment landscape for advanced hepatocellular carcinoma: patient outcomes and the impact on quality of life. *Cancers* 11:841. doi: 10.3390/cancers11060841
- Li, J., Yan, Y., Ang, L., Li, X., Liu, C., Sun, B., et al. (2019). Extracellular vesiclesderived OncomiRs mediate communication between cancer cells and cancerassociated hepatic stellate cells in hepatocellular carcinoma microenvironment. *Carcinogenesis* 41, 223–234. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgz096
- Li, Y., Turpin, C. P., and Wang, S. (2017). Role of thrombospondin 1 in liver diseases. *Hepatol. Res.* 47, 186–193. doi: 10.1111/hepr.12787
- Li, Z., Ye, L., Liu, J., Lian, D., and Li, X. (2020). Sorafenib-loaded nanoparticles based on biodegradable dendritic polymers for enhanced therapy of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Int. J. Nanomed.* 15, 1469–1480. doi: 10.2147/IJN. S237335
- Lin, N., Meng, L., Lin, J., Chen, S., Zhang, P., Chen, Q., et al. (2020). Activated hepatic stellate cells promote angiogenesis in hepatocellular carcinoma by secreting angiopoietin-1. *J. Cell Biochem.* 121, 1441–1451. doi: 10.1002/jcb. 29380
- Lipson, K. E., Wong, C., Teng, Y., and Spong, S. (2012). CCN2 is a central mediator of tissue remodeling and fibrosis and its inhibition can reverse the process of fibrosis. *Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair* 5(Suppl. 1):S24. doi: 10.1186/1755-1536-5-S1-S24

- Liu, Y., Liu, H., Meyer, C., Li, J., Nadalin, S., Konigsrainer, A., et al. (2013). Transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-beta)-mediated connective tissue growth factor (CCN2) expression in hepatic stellate cells requires Stat3 signaling activation. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 30708–30719. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.478685
- Llovet, J. M., Ricci, S., Mazzaferro, V., Hilgard, P., Gane, E., Blanc, J. F., et al. (2008). Sorafenib in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 359, 378–390. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0708857
- Lozano, R., Naghavi, M., Foreman, K., Lim, S., Shibuya, K., Aboyans, V., et al. (2012). Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2010. Lancet 380, 2095–2128. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61728-0
- Lu, C., Rong, D., Zhang, B., Zheng, W., Wang, X., Chen, Z., et al. (2019). Current perspectives on the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment in hepatocellular carcinoma: challenges and opportunities. *Mol. Cancer* 18:130. doi: 10.1186/s12943-019-1047-6
- Lu, J., Getz, G., Miska, E. A., Alvarez-Saavedra, E., Lamb, J., Peck, D., et al. (2005). MicroRNA expression profiles classify human cancers. *Nature* 435, 834–838. doi: 10.1038/nature03702
- Lv, X., Fang, C., Yin, R., Qiao, B., Shang, R., Wang, J., et al. (2017). Agrin para-secreted by PDGF-activated human hepatic stellate cells promotes hepatocarcinogenesis in vitro and in vivo. *Oncotarget* 8, 105340–105355. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.22186
- Maher, J. J. (2001). Interactions between hepatic stellate cells and the immune system. *Semin. Liver Dis.* 21, 417–426. doi: 10.1055/s-2001-17555
- Makino, Y., Hikita, H., Kodama, T., Shigekawa, M., Yamada, R., Sakamori, R., et al. (2018). CCN2 Mediates tumor-stroma interactions between hepatoma cells and hepatic stellate cells to accelerate HCC progression. *Cancer Res.* 78, 4902–4914. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-3844
- Melhem, A., Muhanna, N., Bishara, A., Alvarez, C. E., Ilan, Y., Bishara, T., et al. (2006). Anti-fibrotic activity of NK cells in experimental liver injury through killing of activated HSC. J. Hepatol. 45, 60–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2005.12.025
- Meng, X. M., Nikolic-Paterson, D. J., and Lan, H. Y. (2016). TGF-beta: the master regulator of fibrosis. Nat. Rev. Nephrol. 12, 325–338. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2 016.48
- Merritt, W. M., Lin, Y. G., Han, L. Y., Kamat, A. A., Spannuth, W. A., Schmandt, R., et al. (2008). Dicer, Drosha, and outcomes in patients with ovarian cancer. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 359, 2641–2650. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0803785
- Mirmohammadsadegh, A., Marini, A., Nambiar, S., Hassan, M., Tannapfel, A., Ruzicka, T., et al. (2006). Epigenetic silencing of the PTEN gene in melanoma. *Cancer Res.* 66, 6546–6552. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-0384
- Mittal, K., Ebos, J., and Rini, B. (2014). Angiogenesis and the tumor microenvironment: vascular endothelial growth factor and beyond. Semin. Oncol. 41, 235–251. doi: 10.1053/j.seminoncol.2014.02.007
- Muhanna, N., Abu Tair, L., Doron, S., Amer, J., Azzeh, M., Mahamid, M., et al. (2011). Amelioration of hepatic fibrosis by NK cell activation. *Gut* 60, 90–98. doi: 10.1136/gut.2010.211136
- Muhanna, N., Horani, A., Doron, S., and Safadi, R. (2007). Lymphocyte-hepatic stellate cell proximity suggests a direct interaction. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 148, 338–347. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2007.03353.x
- Murphy-Ullrich, J. E., and Suto, M. J. (2018). Thrombospondin-1 regulation of latent TGF-beta activation: a therapeutic target for fibrotic disease. *Matrix Biol.* 6, 28–43. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2017.12.009
- Natarajan, V., Harris, E. N., and Kidambi, S. (2017). SECs (Sinusoidal Endothelial Cells), liver microenvironment, and fibrosis. *BioMed. Res. Int.* 2017:4097205. doi: 10.1155/2017/4097205
- Nishizawa, H., Iguchi, G., Fukuoka, H., Takahashi, M., Suda, K., Bando, H., et al. (2016). IGF-I induces senescence of hepatic stellate cells and limits fibrosis in a p53-dependent manner. *Sci. Rep.* 6:34605. doi: 10.1038/srep3 4605
- Nordenstedt, H., White, D. L., and El-Serag, H. B. (2010). The changing pattern of epidemiology in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Dig. Liver Dis.* 42(Suppl. 3), S206–S214. doi: 10.1016/S1590-8658(10)60507-5
- Novikova, M. V., Khromova, N. V., and Kopnin, P. B. (2017). Components of the hepatocellular carcinoma microenvironment and their role in tumor progression. *Biochemistry (Mosc)* 82, 861–873. doi: 10.1134/ S0006297917080016
- Page, A., Paoli, P., Moran Salvador, E., White, S., French, J., and Mann, J. (2016). Hepatic stellate cell transdifferentiation involves genome-wide remodeling of

the DNA methylation landscape. J. Hepatol. 64, 661–673. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep. 2015.11.024

- Pan, P. Y., Wang, G. X., Yin, B., Ozao, J., Ku, T., Divino, C. M., et al. (2008). Reversion of immune tolerance in advanced malignancy: modulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cell development by blockade of stem-cell factor function. *Blood* 111, 219–228. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-04-086835
- Parkin, D. M., Bray, F., Ferlay, J., and Pisani, P. (2005). Global cancer statistics, 2002. CA Cancer J. Clin. 55, 74–108. doi: 10.3322/canjclin.55.2.74
- Pinzani, M., Milani, S., Herbst, H., DeFranco, R., Grappone, C., Gentilini, A., et al. (1996). Expression of platelet-derived growth factor and its receptors in normal human liver and during active hepatic fibrogenesis. Am. J. Pathol. 148, 785–800.
- Poisson, J., Lemoinne, S., Boulanger, C., Durand, F., Moreau, R., Valla, D., et al. (2017). Liver sinusoidal endothelial cells: physiology and role in liver diseases. *J. Hepatol.* 66, 212–227. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2016.07.009
- Racanelli, V., and Rehermann, B. (2006). The liver as an immunological organ. *Hepatology* 43(2 Suppl. 1), S54–S62. doi: 10.1002/hep.21060
- Radaeva, S., Sun, R., Jaruga, B., Nguyen, V. T., Tian, Z., and Gao, B. (2006). Natural killer cells ameliorate liver fibrosis by killing activated stellate cells in NKG2D-dependent and tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand-dependent manners. *Gastroenterology* 130, 435–452. doi: 10.1053/j. gastro.2005.10.055
- Radaeva, S., Wang, L., Radaev, S., Jeong, W. I., Park, O., and Gao, B. (2007). Retinoic acid signaling sensitizes hepatic stellate cells to NK cell killing via upregulation of NK cell activating ligand RAE1. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 293, G809–G816. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00212.2007
- Rawla, P., Sunkara, T., Muralidharan, P., and Raj, J. P. (2018). Update in global trends and aetiology of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Contemp. Oncol. (Pozn)* 22, 141–150. doi: 10.5114/wo.2018.78941
- Roman-Gomez, J., Jimenez-Velasco, A., Castillejo, J. A., Agirre, X., Barrios, M., Navarro, G., et al. (2004). Promoter hypermethylation of cancer-related genes: a strong independent prognostic factor in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood* 104, 2492–2498. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-03-0954
- Sager, R. (1991). Senescence as a mode of tumor suppression. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 93, 59–62. doi: 10.1289/ehp.919359
- Salic, A., and Mitchison, T. J. (2008). A chemical method for fast and sensitive detection of DNA synthesis in vivo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 2415–2420. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0712168105
- Salvesen, H. B., MacDonald, N., Ryan, A., Jacobs, I. J., Lynch, E. D., Akslen, L. A., et al. (2001). PTEN methylation is associated with advanced stage and microsatellite instability in endometrial carcinoma. *Int. J. Cancer* 91, 22–26. doi: 10.1002/1097-0215(2001010)91:1<22::aid-ijc1002<3.0.co;2-s</p>
- Scheau, C., Badarau, I. A., Costache, R., Caruntu, C., Mihai, G. L., Didilescu, A. C., et al. (2019). The Role of matrix metalloproteinases in the epithelialmesenchymal transition of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Anal. Cell Pathol. (Amst)* 2019:9423907. doi: 10.1155/2019/9423907
- Schon, H. T., and Weiskirchen, R. (2014). Immunomodulatory effects of transforming growth factor-beta in the liver. *Hepatobiliary Surg. Nutr.* 3, 386–406. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2304-3881.2014.11.06
- Seitz, T., Freese, K., Dietrich, P., Thasler, W. E., Bosserhoff, A., and Hellerbrand, C. (2020). Fibroblast Growth Factor 9 is expressed by activated hepatic stellate cells and promotes progression of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Sci. Rep.* 10:4546. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-61510-4
- Sevic, I., Spinelli, F. M., Cantero, M. J., Reszegi, A., Kovalszky, I., Garcia, M. G., et al. (2019). "The role of the tumor microenvironment in the development and progression of hepatocellular carcinoma," in *Hepatocellular Carcinoma*, ed. J. E. E. Tirnitz-Parker (Brisbane: Codon Publications).
- Shi, J., Zhao, J., Zhang, X., Cheng, Y., Hu, J., Li, Y., et al. (2017). Activated hepatic stellate cells impair NK cell anti-fibrosis capacity through a TGF-betadependent emperipolesis in HBV cirrhotic patients. *Sci. Rep.* 7:44544. doi: 10. 1038/srep44544
- Shiraha, H., Iwamuro, M., and Okada, H. (2020). Hepatic stellate cells in liver tumor. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 1234, 43–56. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-37184-5\_4
- Singal, A. G., Parikh, N. D., Rich, N. E., John, B. V., and Pillai, A. (2019). "Hepatocellular carcinoma surveillance and staging," in *Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Translational Precision Medicine Approaches*, ed. Y. Hoshida (Cham: Humana Press), 27–51. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-21540-8\_2
- Society, A. C. (2020). Cancer Facts & Figures 2020. Atlanta: American Cancer Society.

- Sokolovic, A., Sokolovic, M., Boers, W., Elferink, R. P., and Bosma, P. J. (2010). Insulin-like growth factor binding protein 5 enhances survival of LX2 human hepatic stellate cells. *Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair* 3:3. doi: 10.1186/1755-1536-3-3
- Soria, J. C., Lee, H. Y., Lee, J. I., Wang, L., Issa, J. P., Kemp, B. L., et al. (2002). Lack of PTEN expression in non-small cell lung cancer could be related to promoter methylation. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 8, 1178–1184.
- Spill, F., Reynolds, D. S., Kamm, R. D., and Zaman, M. H. (2016). Impact of the physical microenvironment on tumor progression and metastasis. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 40, 41–48. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2016.02.007
- Stock, P., Monga, D., Tan, X., Micsenyi, A., Loizos, N., and Monga, S. P. (2007). Platelet-derived growth factor receptor-alpha: a novel therapeutic target in human hepatocellular cancer. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 6, 1932–1941. doi: 10.1158/ 1535-7163.MCT-06-0720
- Sun, S. J., Wang, N., Sun, Z. W., Chen, J., and Cui, H. W. (2018). MiR-5692a promotes the invasion and metastasis of hepatocellular carcinoma via MMP9. *Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci.* 22, 4869–4878. doi: 10.26355/eurrev\_201808\_ 15623
- Sung, Y. C., Liu, Y. C., Chao, P. H., Chang, C. C., Jin, P. R., Lin, T. T., et al. (2018). Combined delivery of sorafenib and a MEK inhibitor using CXCR4-targeted nanoparticles reduces hepatic fibrosis and prevents tumor development. *Theranostics* 8, 894–905. doi: 10.7150/thno.21168
- Suzuki, H. I., Katsura, A., Matsuyama, H., and Miyazono, K. (2015). MicroRNA regulons in tumor microenvironment. Oncogene 34, 3085–3094. doi: 10.1038/ onc.2014.254
- Syn, W. K., Agboola, K. M., Swiderska, M., Michelotti, G. A., Liaskou, E., Pang, H., et al. (2012). NKT-associated hedgehog and osteopontin drive fibrogenesis in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gut* 61, 1323–1329. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301857
- Tahmasebi Birgani, M., and Carloni, V. (2017). Tumor microenvironment, a paradigm in hepatocellular carcinoma progression and therapy. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18:405. doi: 10.3390/ijms18020405
- Takashima, M., Parsons, C. J., Ikejima, K., Watanabe, S., White, E. S., and Rippe, R. A. (2009). The tumor suppressor protein PTEN inhibits rat hepatic stellate cell activation. *J. Gastroenterol.* 44, 847–855. doi: 10.1007/s00535-009-0073-3
- Tang, T., Huan, L., Zhang, S., Zhou, H., Gu, L., Chen, X., et al. (2017). MicroRNA-212 functions as a tumor-suppressor in human non-small cell lung cancer by targeting SOX4. Oncol. Rep. 38, 2243–2250. doi: 10.3892/or.2017.5885
- Tao, H., Huang, C., Yang, J. J., Ma, T. T., Bian, E. B., Zhang, L., et al. (2011). MeCP2 controls the expression of RASAL1 in the hepatic fibrosis in rats. *Toxicology* 290, 327–333. doi: 10.1016/j.tox.2011.10.011
- Theocharis, A. D., Skandalis, S. S., Tzanakakis, G. N., and Karamanos, N. K. (2010). Proteoglycans in health and disease: novel roles for proteoglycans in malignancy and their pharmacological targeting. *FEBS J.* 277, 3904–3923. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2010.07800.x
- Thompson, A. I., Conroy, K. P., and Henderson, N. C. (2015). Hepatic stellate cells: central modulators of hepatic carcinogenesis. *BMC Gastroenterol.* 15:63. doi: 10.1186/s12876-015-0291-5
- Tsuchida, T., and Friedman, S. L. (2017). Mechanisms of hepatic stellate cell activation. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 14, 397–411. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro. 2017.38
- Tuohetahuntila, M., Molenaar, M. R., Spee, B., Brouwers, J. F., Wubbolts, R., Houweling, M., et al. (2017). Lysosome-mediated degradation of a distinct pool of lipid droplets during hepatic stellate cell activation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 292, 12436–12448. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M117.778472
- van der Heide, D., Weiskirchen, R., and Bansal, R. (2019). Therapeutic targeting of hepatic macrophages for the treatment of liver diseases. *Front. Immunol.* 10:2852. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02852
- van Eggermond, M. C., Boom, D. R., Klous, P., Schooten, E., Marquez, V. E., Wierda, R. J., et al. (2011). Epigenetic regulation of CIITA expression in human T-cells. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 82, 1430–1437. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2011.05.026
- Wang, B., Ding, Y. M., Fan, P., Wang, B., Xu, J. H., and Wang, W. X. (2014). Expression and significance of MMP2 and HIF-1alpha in hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncol. Lett. 8, 539–546. doi: 10.3892/ol.2014.2189
- Wang, H., and Yin, S. (2015). Natural killer T cells in liver injury, inflammation and cancer. Expert Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 9, 1077–1085. doi: 10.1586/ 17474124.2015.1056738

- Wang, S., Li, J., Wu, S., Cheng, L., Shen, Y., Ma, W., et al. (2018). Type 3 innate lymphoid cell: a new player in liver fibrosis progression. *Clin. Sci. (Lond.)* 132, 2565–2582. doi: 10.1042/CS20180482
- Wang, Y., and Zhang, C. (2019). The roles of liver-resident lymphocytes in liver diseases. Front. Immunol. 10:1582. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01582
- Wasley, A., Grytdal, S., Gallagher, K., and Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2008). Surveillance for acute viral hepatitis–United States, 2006. *MMWR Surveill. Summ.* 57, 1–24.
- Wehr, A., Baeck, C., Heymann, F., Niemietz, P. M., Hammerich, L., Martin, C., et al. (2013). Chemokine receptor CXCR6-dependent hepatic NK T Cell accumulation promotes inflammation and liver fibrosis. *J. Immunol.* 190, 5226– 5236. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1202909
- Wiencke, J. K., Zheng, S., Jelluma, N., Tihan, T., Vandenberg, S., Tamguney, T., et al. (2007). Methylation of the PTEN promoter defines low-grade gliomas and secondary glioblastoma. *Neuro Oncol.* 9, 271–279. doi: 10.1215/15228517-2007-003
- Wong, L., Yamasaki, G., Johnson, R. J., and Friedman, S. L. (1994). Induction of beta-platelet-derived growth factor receptor in rat hepatic lipocytes during cellular activation in vivo and in culture. J. Clin. Invest. 94, 1563–1569. doi: 10.1172/JCI117497
- Wright, J. H., Johnson, M. M., Shimizu-Albergine, M., Bauer, R. L., Hayes, B. J., Surapisitchat, J., et al. (2014). Paracrine activation of hepatic stellate cells in platelet-derived growth factor C transgenic mice: evidence for stromal induction of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Int. J. Cancer* 134, 778–788. doi: 10. 1002/ijc.28421
- Wu, M., Miao, H., Fu, R., Zhang, J., and Zheng, W. (2020). Hepatic stellate cell: a potential target for hepatocellular carcinoma. *Curr. Mol. Pharmacol.* doi: 10.2174/1874467213666200224102820 [Epub ahead of print].
- Wu, N., Gu, C., Gu, H., Hu, H., Han, Y., and Li, Q. (2011). Metformin induces apoptosis of lung cancer cells through activating JNK/p38 MAPK pathway and GADD153. *Neoplasma* 58, 482–490. doi: 10.4149/neo\_2011\_06\_482
- Wynn, T. A. (2008). Cellular and molecular mechanisms of fibrosis. J. Pathol. 214, 199-210. doi: 10.1002/path.2277
- Xu, Y., Sun, X., Zhang, R., Cao, T., Cai, S. Y., Boyer, J. L., et al. (2020). A positive feedback loop of TET3 and TGF-beta1 promotes liver fibrosis. *Cell Rep.* 30, 1310–1318.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.12.092
- Xu, Y. F., Hannafon, B. N., Khatri, U., Gin, A., and Ding, W. Q. (2019). The origin of exosomal miR-1246 in human cancer cells. *RNA Biol.* 16, 770–784. doi: 10.1080/15476286.2019.1585738
- Yan, Y., Zhou, C., Li, J., Chen, K., Wang, G., Wei, G., et al. (2017). Resveratrol inhibits hepatocellular carcinoma progression driven by hepatic stellate cells by targeting Gli-1. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 434, 17–24. doi: 10.1007/s11010-017-3031-z
- Yin, C., Evason, K. J., Asahina, K., and Stainier, D. Y. (2013). Hepatic stellate cells in liver development, regeneration, and cancer. J. Clin. Invest. 123, 1902–1910. doi: 10.1172/JCI66369
- Yin, Z., Dong, C., Jiang, K., Xu, Z., Li, R., Guo, K., et al. (2019). Heterogeneity of cancer-associated fibroblasts and roles in the progression, prognosis, and therapy of hepatocellular carcinoma. *J. Hematol. Oncol.* 12:101. doi: 10.1186/ s13045-019-0782-x
- Yu, M. C., Chen, C. H., Liang, X., Wang, L., Gandhi, C. R., Fung, J. J., et al. (2004). Inhibition of T-cell responses by hepatic stellate cells via B7-H1-mediated T-cell apoptosis in mice. *Hepatology* 40, 1312–1321. doi: 10.1002/hep.20488
- Zhang, B., Pan, X., Cobb, G. P., and Anderson, T. A. (2007). microRNAs as oncogenes and tumor suppressors. *Dev. Biol.* 302, 1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio. 2006.08.028
- Zhang, D. Y., and Friedman, S. L. (2012). Fibrosis-dependent mechanisms of hepatocarcinogenesis. *Hepatology* 56, 769–775. doi: 10.1002/hep.25670
- Zhang, L., Valencia, C. A., Dong, B., Chen, M., Guan, P. J., and Pan, L. (2015). Transfer of microRNAs by extracellular membrane microvesicles: a nascent crosstalk model in tumor pathogenesis, especially tumor cellmicroenvironment interactions. J. Hematol. Oncol. 8:14. doi: 10.1186/s13045-015-0111-y
- Zhao, W., Zhang, L., Xu, Y., Zhang, Z., Ren, G., Tang, K., et al. (2014). Hepatic stellate cells promote tumor progression by enhancement of immunosuppressive cells in an orthotopic liver tumor mouse model. *Lab. Invest.* 94, 182–191. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2013.139

- Zhou, B. Y., Gong, J. H., Cai, X. Y., Wang, J. X., Luo, F., Jiang, N., et al. (2019). An imbalance between stellate cells and gammadeltaT cells contributes to hepatocellular carcinoma aggressiveness and recurrence. *Hepatol. Int.* 13, 631–640. doi: 10.1007/s12072-019-09969-w
- Zhou, Y., Ren, H., Dai, B., Li, J., Shang, L., Huang, J., et al. (2018). Hepatocellular carcinoma-derived exosomal miRNA-21 contributes to tumor progression by converting hepatocyte stellate cells to cancer-associated fibroblasts. J. Exp. Clin. Cancer Res. 37:324. doi: 10.1186/s13046-018-0965-2
- Zhu, B., Lin, N., Zhang, M., Zhu, Y., Cheng, H., Chen, S., et al. (2015). Activated hepatic stellate cells promote angiogenesis via interleukin-8 in hepatocellular carcinoma. J. Transl. Med. 13:365. doi: 10.1186/s12967-015-0730-7

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Barry, Baldeosingh, Lamm, Patel, Zhang, Dominguez, Kirton, Shah and Dang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Tumor-Educated Neutrophils Activate Mesenchymal Stem Cells to Promote Gastric Cancer Growth and Metastasis

Jiahui Zhang<sup>1†</sup>, Cheng Ji<sup>1†</sup>, Wei Li<sup>2†</sup>, Zheying Mao<sup>1</sup>, Yinghong Shi<sup>1</sup>, Hui Shi<sup>1</sup>, Runbi Ji<sup>1,3</sup>, Hui Qian<sup>1</sup>, Wenrong Xu<sup>1</sup> and Xu Zhang<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Jiangsu Key Laboratory of Medical Science and Laboratory Medicine, School of Medicine, Jiangsu University, Zhenjiang, China, <sup>2</sup> Center of Research Laboratory, The First People's Hospital of Lianyungang, Lianyungang, China, <sup>3</sup> Department of Clinical Laboratory Medicine, The Affiliated People's Hospital of Jiangsu University, Zhenjiang, China

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Ioannis S. Pateras, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece

#### Reviewed by:

Anna Laurenzana, University of Florence, Italy Panayotis Verginis, Biomedical Research Foundation of the Academy of Athens (BRFAA), Greece

#### \*Correspondence:

Xu Zhang xuzhang@ujs.edu.cn <sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

> Received: 16 February 2020 Accepted: 27 July 2020 Published: 13 August 2020

#### Citation:

Zhang J, Ji C, Li W, Mao Z, Shi Y, Shi H, Ji R, Qian H, Xu W and Zhang X (2020) Tumor-Educated Neutrophils Activate Mesenchymal Stem Cells to Promote Gastric Cancer Growth and Metastasis. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 8:788. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.00788 In response to tumor signals, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are recruited to tumor sites and activated to promote tumor progression. Emerging evidences suggest that in addition to tumor cells, non-tumor cells in tumor microenvironment could also interact with MSCs to regulate their phenotype and function. However, the mechanism for MSCs regulation in gastric cancer has not been fully understood. In this study, we reported that tumor-educated neutrophils (TENs) induced the transformation of MSCs into cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) which in turn remarkably facilitated gastric cancer growth and metastasis. Mechanistic study showed that TENs exerted their effects by secreting inflammatory factors including IL-17, IL-23 and TNF- $\alpha$ , which triggered the activation of AKT and p38 pathways in MSCs. Pre-treatment with neutralizing antibodies to these inflammatory factors or pathway inhibitors reversed TENs-induced transformation of MSCs to CAFs. Taken together, these data suggest that TENs promote gastric cancer progression through the regulation of MSCs/CAFs transformation.

Keywords: neutrophils, mesenchymal stem cells, cancer-associated fibroblasts, gastric cancer, progression

## INTRODUCTION

Gastric cancer (GC) is one of the most common malignant tumors worldwide. Although the recent advances in curative resection and targeted therapy, the overall survival rate of patients with GC is still poor with a 5-year survival rate of 20–40% (Bray et al., 2018). The mechanisms for the pathogenesis of GC have not been fully understood. Intriguingly, recent studies demonstrate that the interactions between GC cells, immune cells, and stromal cells orchestrate a unique microenvironment that promotes tumor growth, metastasis, therapy resistance, and recurrence (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011; Quail and Joyce, 2013).

Neutrophils are the first defense against infection and tissue damage. The studies over the past decade have revealed an important role of neutrophils in the pathogenesis of many cancers (Swierczak et al., 2015; Liang and Ferrara, 2016; Powell and Huttenlocher, 2016). Neutrophils infiltrating within tumor stroma were educated by signals from tumors to promote tumor growth and metastasis, enhance angiogenesis, and mediate immunosuppression through multiple mechanisms (Houghton et al., 2010; Antonio et al., 2015; Coffelt et al., 2015; Wculek and Malanchi, 2015; Szczerba et al., 2019; Wisdom et al., 2019). Moreover, elevated neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio (NLR) in cancer patients has been linked to poor prognosis (Shen et al., 2014). Targeting neutrophils to inhibit their pro-tumor function has shown promising therapeutic effects in animal models (Nywening et al., 2018). Therefore, better understanding of the roles of neutrophils in cancer will help develop new strategies for cancer therapy.

Non-tumor cells within tumor microenvironment (TME) interact with each other and form an intricate network that is involved in tumor development and progression. The previous studies have shown that cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) facilitate cancer growth and metastasis in various cancers including GC (Chen and Song, 2019; Kobayashi et al., 2019). Further studies suggest that mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are one of the major sources of CAFs (Timaner et al., 2020). MSCs are stem cells with self-renewal and multi-differentiation abilities and they have shown tumor tropism to participate in the formation of tumor stroma (Quante et al., 2011). MSCs-like cells have been isolated from tumor tissues of GC patients and these cells display CAFs phenotypes with strong pro-tumor activities (Cao et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2014). MSCs can be activated by various tumor signals to present CAFs phenotype and function (Ridge et al., 2017). However, the mechanisms for MSCs transformation to CAFs in GC still have not been well characterized.

In this study, we reported that tumor-educated neutrophils (TENs) could mediate the transformation of MSCs to CAFs by secreting inflammatory factors. MSCs activated by TENs promoted the proliferation, migration and invasion of GC cells *in vitro* and accelerated GC growth and metastasis *in vivo*. The induction of MSCs/CAFs transformation represents a new mechanism for the pro-tumor roles of neutrophils in cancer.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Cell Culture**

Mesenchymal stem cells were isolated from human umbilical cord and characterized as previously described (Cao et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2014). Cells at passage 3–5 were used for studies. The experimental protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of Jiangsu University (2014280). Human GC cell lines SGC-7901 and BGC-823 were purchased from the Institute of Biochemistry and Cell Biology at the Chinese Academy of Sciences (Shanghai, China). Cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM, Gibco; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States) with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, United States).

#### **Isolation of Human Neutrophils**

Peripheral blood samples were collected from healthy volunteers and the study was approved by the ethics committee of Jiangsu University (2014280). Neutrophils were isolated by using Polymorphprep (Axis-Shield Po CAS, Norway) as previously described (Zhu et al., 2014). RBCs were lysed using hypotonic lysing procedure. The purity of neutrophils was 98% after this procedure. Neutrophils (1  $\times$  10<sup>6</sup>) were seeded in RPMI 1640 medium (Invitrogen, United States) containing 10% (v/v) FBS and 1% penicillin/streptomycin.

### **Collection of Conditioned Medium (Cm)**

Firstly, GC cells were cultured in DMEM with 10% FBS. When reached 80%, cells were changed to new serum-free medium. After 48 h of incubation, the conditioned medium of gastric cancer cells (GC-CM) was collected and centrifuged to remove cell debris. The CM was stored in -80°C refrigerator until use. Secondly, neutrophils were treated with GC-CM (1:1 ratio) for 24 h. Then, neutrophils were collected, washed with PBS (to remove factors present in GC-CM), and re-seeded in new serum-free medium for 48 h. The CM of tumor-educated neutrophils (TEN-CM) was collected, centrifuged to remove cell debris and stored in  $-80^{\circ}$ C refrigerator until use. Finally, MSCs were co-cultured with TEN-CM (1:1 ratio) for 24 h. Then, MSCs were collected, washed with PBS (to remove factors present in TEN-CM), and re-seeded in new serum-free medium for 48 h. The CM of TEN-CM-primed MSCs was collected, centrifuged to remove cell debris and stored in -80°C refrigerator until use.

#### **Cell Colony Formation Assay**

Human GC cells were plated in 6-well plates at 800 cells per well and allowed to attach overnight. The cells were then treated with CM from TENs-activated MSCs for 24 h. Then, the CM was changed and added new culture medium for the next 7 days. Finally, the cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde, stained with crystal violet, and photographed under a microscope. The experiments were performed in triplicate for each group.

#### **Cell Proliferation Assay**

The proliferative abilities of GC cells and MSCs were determined by CCK8 (Vazyme, Nanjing, China) assay according to the manufacture's instruction. Cells were seeded in 96-well plates at 3,000 cells per well and allowed to attach overnight at  $37^{\circ}$ C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Then, different CMs were added into the culture plate and cells were treated for different times. The culture medium was discarded and CCK8 was added into each well for the last 4 h. The absorbances of each well were read at 450 nm using an enzymelinked immunosorbent plate assay reader (FLX800; BioTek Instruments, Winooski, VT, United States). The experiments were performed in triplicate for each group.

## **Cell Migration and Invasion Assays**

Cell migration and invasion assays were tested in transwell chemotaxis chambers (Corning, Union City, CA, United States). Briefly, an appropriate 50 microliters of Matrigel (1:4 dilution, BD Biosciences) was added into the upper chamber of the transwell plates for the invasion assay, while the plates without Matrigel in the upper chamber were used for the migration assay. Cells  $(3-5 \times 10^4)$  treated with different CMs for 24 h were seeded in the upper chamber in serum-free medium. Then, 600 µL of complete medium was added to the lower chamber and the cells were incubated for 24–48 h at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Cells which remained on the top side of the membrane were wiped off with

cotton swabs. The migrated or invaded cells on the bottom side of the membrane were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and stained with crystal violet. The number of migrated or invaded cells was counted under a microscope. At least six fields from each group were selected.

#### **Real-Time Quantitative PCR**

Total RNA was extracted from cells using Trizol reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific, United States) according to the manufacturer's instructions. RNA (1  $\mu$ g) was reverse transcribed into cDNA by Reverse Transcription System (Vazyme, Nanjing, China). To quantify the mRNA levels of inflammatory factors, real-time PCR was performed using SYBRGreen Kit (Cwbio, Beijing, China) on a Bio-Rad CFX96 Detection System. The relative gene expression was normalized to  $\beta$ -actin. Data were analyzed by using the comparative Ct method. The primers of target genes used in this study were listed in **Supplementary Table 1**.

#### Western Blot

The total protein from GC cells and MSCs were obtained with RIPA lysis buffer containing protease inhibitor cocktail (Invitrogen, United States). Proteins from each group were separated by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and then transferred onto polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes. After blocking with 5% non-fat milk for 1 h, the membranes were incubated with primary antibodies at 4°C overnight. Primary antibodies including FAP (SAB, United States), α-SMA (BioWorld, United States), β-actin (SAB, United States), AKT/p-AKT (CST, United States), p38/p-p38 (CST, United States), STAT3/p-STAT3 (CST, United States), p65/p-p65 (CST, United States), ERK/p-ERK (CST, United States), N-cadherin (BioWorld, United States), E-cadherin (BioWorld, United States), Cyclin D1 (Abcam, United States), and PCNA (BioWorld, United States). The membranes were washed with TBST and incubated with secondary antibodies. The secondary antibodies were HRP-conjugated goat anti-rabbit and goat antimouse antibodies (SAB, United States). The bands were visualized by ECL reagent and the  $\beta$ -actin was served as the loading control.

## **Animal Studies**

All animal studies were performed by using 4–6 week female BALB/c nude mice (Model Animal Center of Nanjing University, Nanjing, China). GC cells (SGC-7901,  $5 \times 10^6$  cells in 100 µL PBS per mouse) pre-treated with different CMs for 24 h were subcutaneously injected into the flank of mice (n = 5/group). The volume (V) and weight of tumor were assessed every 5 days, and tumor volumes were calculated using the formula:  $V = 0.5 \times a \times b^2$ , where V represents volume, a represents longitudinal diameter and b represents latitudinal diameter. To examine the metastatic ability of GC cells *in vivo*, the same number of GC cells was injected intraperitoneally into mice. All mice were killed at 4 weeks after injection, the metastases of tumor to different organs were observed and the number of

visible metastatic nodules was recorded. The protocol was approved by the Animal Use and Care Committee of Jiangsu University (2014280).

#### Immunohistochemistry

Tumor tissues were fixed with formaldehyde, embedded in paraffin and then cut into 5  $\mu$ m sections. Briefly, the slides were dewaxed in xylene and rehydrated in graded ethanol solutions. Then, the sections were soaked in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> to block endogenous peroxidase activity and autoclaved in a citrate buffer of pH6.0. The sections were incubated with primary monoclonal antibody against Ki-67 (CST, United States) followed by incubation with the secondary antibody for 30 min at room temperature and stained with H&E, respectively. The histological changes of tumor tissue were examined under an optical microscope (DP73; Olympus, Tokyo, Japan).

#### Immunofluorescence

Immunofluorescence was performed to determine the expression of proteins related to CAFs markers. Cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 10 min, permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100 for 10 min, then blocked with 5% bovine serum albumin, and incubated with goat anti-rabbit FAP (1:100, SAB, United States) and goat anti-mouse  $\alpha$ -SMA antibody (1:150, BioWorld, United States) at 4°C overnight. The MSCs were then washed and incubated with Alexa Fluor 555 conjugated donkey anti-rabbit IgG or FITC conjugated goat anti-Rabbit IgG (Invitrogen, United States) for 1 h. The nuclei were stained with DAPI (1:200, Sigma-Aldrich) and images were acquired using a fluorescent microscope (Nikon, Japan). The experiments were repeated in triplicate for each group.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analyses were carried out by GraphPad Prism Software (version 4). All values were presented as mean values  $\pm$  SD. Twoway ANOVA for multiple groups and unpaired Student's *t* test for two groups were applied for statistical analysis. *P* < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

## RESULTS

#### Neutrophils Treated With the Supernatant of Gastric Cancer Cells Stimulate the Transformation of MSCs to CAFs

We first wanted to know whether TENs could activate MSCs. Human peripheral blood derived neutrophils were treated with the supernatant from GC cells and the CM of primed neutrophils was collected. After then, MSCs isolated from human umbilical cord were treated with TEN-CM for 24 h and the alterations in their phenotype and function were examined. The results of western blot showed that treatment with CM from TENs induced the expression of CAFs markers, including fibroblast



activating protein (FAP) and  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ -SMA), in MSCs (Figure 1A). Quantitative analysis of western blot also revealed an increase in FAP and α-SMA expression, in TEN-CM-treated MSCs (Figure 1A). Immunofluorescent staining and the statistical analysis of immunofluorescence intensity further demonstrated that TEN-CM stimulated the transformation of MSCs to CAFs (Figures 1B,C). Moreover, the migration and invasion capacities of MSCs were remarkably enhanced after incubation with TEN-CM (Figure 1D). We then performed CCK8 assay to determine the effect of TEN-CM on MSCs growth. As shown in Figure 1E, TEN-CM significantly promoted the proliferation of MSCs at 48 and 72 h after incubation. In addition, TEN-CM-treated MSCs showed increased expression of FAP, α-SMA, MMP9, IL-6, TGF-β, and VEGF genes (Figure 1F). Taken together, these results indicate that TEN-CM could induce MSCs to

differentiate into CAFs and promote its proliferation and migration *in vitro*.

#### Tumor-Educated Neutrophils Induce MSCs/CAFs Transformation Through AKT and p38 Signaling Pathways

To clarify the mechanism for MSCs activation by TENs, we treated MSCs with different TEN-CMs for 24 h and measured the responses of cell signaling pathway. TEN-CM treatment increased the expression of phosphorylated AKT (p-AKT) and p38 (p-p38) in MSCs and the statistical analysis of western blot (**Figures 2A,B**), indicating activation of AKT/p38 pathways. Moreover, pre-treatment with LY294002 and SB203580 restricted the increases in the proliferation abilities of MSCs after TEN-CM treatment (**Figure 2C**). In consistent with these observations,



**FIGURE 2** Tumor-educated neutrophils induce MSCs/CAFs transformation through AKT and p38 signaling pathways. (**A**,**B**) The expression of cell signaling pathway in MSCs treated with supernatant from neutrophils was determined by western blot (**A**) and the quantification of protein expression level (**B**). (**C**) CCK8 assay to assess the proliferation of MSCs treated with supernatant from TENs in the presence or absence of AKT and p38 pathway inhibitors. (**D**) qRT-PCR analyses of the expression of FAP,  $\alpha$ -SMA, MMP9, IL-6, TGF- $\beta$ , and VEGF genes in MSCs treated with supernatant from TENs in the presence or absence of AKT and p38 pathway inhibitors. (**D**) qRT-PCR analyses of the expression of FAP,  $\alpha$ -SMA, MMP9, IL-6, TGF- $\beta$ , and VEGF genes in MSCs treated with supernatant from TENs in the presence or absence of AKT and p38 pathway inhibitors. (**E**) MSCs were pre-treated with AKT and p38 pathway inhibitors followed by incubation with supernatant from TENs. The expression of FAP and  $\alpha$ -SMA in MSCs was detected by western blot. (**F**) MSCs were pre-treated with AKT and p38 pathway inhibitors followed by incubation with supernatant from TENs. The expression of p-AKT and p-p38 in MSCs was detected by western blot. (**G**) MSCs were incubated with supernatant from TENs in the presence or absence of AKT and p38 pathway inhibitors and then used for cell migration/invasion assays. Ctrl, MSCs; NEU, MSCs treated with CM of neutrophils; SGC/BGC-NEU, MSCs treated with CM from TENs in the presence of AKT and p38 pathway inhibitor (LY294002); SB, MSCs treated with supernatant from TENs in the presence of p38 pathway inhibitors followed by incubation: 40 ×. (*n* = 3; \**P* < 0.05, \*\**P* < 0.001, and \*\**P* < 0.001 compared to control group; ##*P* < 0.01 and #*P* < 0.05 compared to SGC-NEU group).

LY294002 and SB203580 almost completely blocked TEN-CMinduced expression of FAP,  $\alpha$ -SMA, MMP9, IL-6, TGF- $\beta$ , and VEGF genes in MSCs (**Figure 2D**). The induced expression of CAFs markers (FAP and  $\alpha$ -SMA) in MSCs by TEN-CM was also reversed by specific inhibitors of AKT and p38 pathways (**Figure 2E**). Notably, pre-treatment with inhibitors of AKT (LY294002) and p38 (SB203580) pathways blocked the activation of AKT and p38 (**Figure 2F**) by TEN-CM. In addition, we also detected the effects of AKT (LY294002) and p38 (SB203580) pathway inhibitors on MSCs (control cells) alone. The pre-treatment with LY294002 and SB203580 shown no remarkable difference on the proliferation and the expression of inflammatory factor in MSCs (**Supplementary Figures S1A,B**). Consistent with that observation, LY294002 and SB203580 have no obvious impact on the expression of CAFs markers (FAP and  $\alpha$ -SMA) and the activation of AKT and p38 in MSCs (**Supplementary Figures S1C,D**). Besides, the migration abilities of MSCs were inhibited after pretreated with LY294002 and SB203580 (**Figure 2G**). Taken together, these results indicate that TENs induce MSCs transformation to CAFs via activating AKT/p38 pathways.

### MSCs/CAFs Transformation Induced by Tumor-Educated Neutrophils Promotes the Proliferation, Migration, and Invasion of Gastric Cancer Cells *in vitro*

We then wanted to know the functional roles of MSCs/CAFs transformation induced by TENs. MSCs were treated with TEN-CM and the culture supernatant from MSCs was collected



neutrophils-primed MSCs; SGC/BGC-NEU-MSC, Gastric cancer cells pre-treated with the CM of MSCs activated by TENs. Magnification:  $40 \times .$  (n = 3; \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, and \*\*\*P < 0.001 compared to control group).

to act on GC cells for 24 h. We first tested the expression of proliferation and migration related proteins and genes in GC cells. We found that the expression of N-cadherin, Cyclin D1 and PCNA was increased, and the expression of E-cadherin was decreased in GC cells after treatment (**Figures 3A,B**). Then, the proliferation of GC cells was detected by CCK8 assay and cell colony formation assay. The proliferation abilities of GC cells treated with culture supernatant from TEN-CM-primed MSCs for 24 h were obviously higher than that of control cells (**Figures 3C,D**). The results of cell migration/invasion assays showed that the culture supernatant from TEN-CM-primed MSCs significantly increased the migration and invasion abilities of GC cells (**Figure 3E**). Collectively, these data indicate that TENs-induced MSCs/CAFs transformation promotes the proliferation, migration, and invasion of GC cells.

#### Tumor-Educated Neutrophils Induce MSCs/CAFs Transformation Through the Release of Inflammatory Factors

To explore which molecules released by TENs induce MSCs/CAFs transformation, we measured the expression of inflammatory factors in neutrophils after treatment with the



the presence of neutralizing antibodies. (E) CCK8 assay for the proliferation of gastric cancer cells treated with supernatant from TEN-CM-primed MSCs in the presence or absence of neutralizing antibodies. (F) Transwell migration and matrigel invasion assays for gastric cancer cells treated with supernatant from TEN-CM-primed MSCs in the presence or absence of neutralizing antibodies. Ctrl, SGC-7901 cells; MSC, SGC-7901 cells treated with CM of MSCs; NEU-MSC, SGC-7901 cells treated with CM from neutrophils-primed MSCs; SGC-NEU-MSC, SGC-7901 cells treated with CM of MSCs activated by TENs; Anti-IL17/23/TNF $\alpha$ , SGC-7901 cells treated with supernatant from TEN-CM-primed MSCs in the presence of neutralizing antibodies. Magnification: 40×. (*n* = 3; \**P* < 0.05, \*\**P* < 0.01, and \*\*\**P* < 0.001 compared to control group; ##*P* < 0.01 and #*P* < 0.05 compared to SGC/BGC-NEU group).

supernatant from GC cells. Several genes of interest such as IL-17, IL-23, and TNF- $\alpha$  were identified to be highly expressed in the treated neutrophils (Figure 4A). We chose these three factors for the following studies due to their known relationships with pro-tumor roles of neutrophils and MSCs activation. Then, MSCs were treated with TEN-CM in the presence or absence of neutralizing antibodies against IL-17 (0.1 µg/mL), IL-23 (0.7 µg/mL) and TNF-a (0.05 µg/mL). Compared to SGC/BGC-NEU group, the expression of FAP and  $\alpha$ -SMA proteins in neutralizing antibody group were significantly reduced (Figure 4B). The activation of AKT and p38 signaling pathway in MSCs by different TEN-CMs was significantly inhibited when neutralizing antibodies were added and the statistical analysis of western blot showed the same conclusion (**Figure 4C**). In addition, the expression of FAP, α-SMA, MMP9, IL-6, TGF-β, and VEGF genes in MSCs in neutralizing antibody group was also lower than that in SGC/BGC-NEU group (Figure 4D). Then, we detected the effects of anti-IL17, anti-IL23 and anti-TNFa on MSCs in control group. We found that there was almost no significant difference in the expression of FAP,

 $\alpha$ -SMA, MMP9, IL-6, TGF- $\beta$ , and VEGF genes in MSCs between the groups (**Supplementary Figure S2A**). Compared to MSC group, the expression of CAFs markers and the activation of AKT and p38 signaling pathway in neutralizing antibody group had no remarkable difference (**Supplementary Figures S2B,C**). Moreover, the promotion of GC cell proliferation, migration and invasion abilities by culture supernatant from TEN-CM-primed MSCs was inhibited by the addition of neutralizing antibodies (**Figures 4E,F**). In summary, these data suggest that TENs induce MSCs/CAFs transformation through the release of IL-17/IL-23/TNF- $\alpha$ .

#### Tumor-Educated Neutrophils Induce MSCs/CAFs Transformation to Promote Gastric Cancer Growth and Metastasis *in vivo*

To further confirm the significance of MSCs/CAFs transformation induced by TENs in tumor progression, we treated GC cells for 24 h with culture supernatant from MSCs



that had been primed with or without TEN-CM in the presence or absence of neutralizing antibodies. Then, GC cells were subcutaneously injected into BALB/c nude mice to establish xenograft tumor models. As shown in Figure 5A, significantly larger tumors were formed in mice injected with GC cells that had been treated with culture supernatant from TEN-CM-activated MSCs. However, the volume and weight of tumors formed by GC cells in neutralizing antibody group were remarkably smaller than that in TEN-CM-primed MSCs group (Figure 5D). Furthermore, the results of immunohistochemical analyses showed that tumor cells in TEN-CM-primed MSCs group had stronger Ki-67 staining than those in control group (Figure 5E). On the contrary, the positivity and intensity of Ki-67 staining in tumors was decreased in neutralizing antibodies group compared to TEN-CM-primed MSCs group (Figure 5E). To further investigate the metastatic potential of GC cells in vivo, we established mouse peritoneal metastasis model. We found that treatment with culture supernatant from TEN-CM-primed MSCs promoted the colonization of GC cells in the intestines (Figure 5B) and enhanced the capacity of GC cells to metastasize to the livers (Figure 5C). The number of visible metastatic nodules was recorded and analyzed statistically. Consistent with

that observation, the number of tumor nodules in the intestines and livers of mice in TEN-CM-primed MSCs group were more than that in control and unprimed MSCs groups (**Figure 5F**). However, the number of tumor nodules in the intestines and livers of mice in neutralizing antibody group was less than that in TEN-CM-primed MSCs group (**Figure 5F**). In conclusion, these findings suggest that TENs induce MSCs/CAFs transformation to promote GC growth and metastasis *in vivo*.

## DISCUSSION

In this study, we reported that TENs induced MSCs/CAFs transformation to promote GC progression. TENs derived factors trigged the differentiation of MSCs to CAFs by activating AKT/p38 pathways. In turn, TENs-activated MSCs accelerated GC growth and metastasis both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. When the neutralizing antibodies of IL-17, IL-23, and TNF- $\alpha$  were added before priming, the transformation of MSCs to CAFs by TENs was blocked. Then, the promoting roles of MSCs in tumor growth and metastasis were also greatly reduced (**Figure 6**). The findings of our study provide new evidence for the pro-tumor roles of



**FIGURE 6** [A proposed model for the regulation of MSCs/CAFs transformation by tumor-educated neutrophils in gastric cancer progression. Neutrophils are educated by gastric cancer cells in tumor microenvironment to acquire a pro-tumor phenotype and function. Tumor-educated neutrophils induce the transformation of MSCs to CAFs through the production of inflammatory factors (i.e., IL-17, IL-23, and TNF- $\alpha$ ) and the activation of AKT and p38 pathways, which in turn promotes the proliferation, migration, and invasion of gastric cancer cells, finally accelerating gastric cancer growth and metastasis.

neutrophils in cancer and reveal a novel mechanism for MSCs regulation in GC.

Cancer-associated fibroblasts are one of the key components of TME and are critically involved in tumor progression (Chen and Song, 2019; Kobayashi et al., 2019). Accumulating studies indicate that cancer development depends not only on malignant cancer cells, but also on stromal activation (Quante et al., 2011). The interplay between CAFs and cancer cells is critical for cancer cell proliferation, invasion, metastasis, and other malignant biological behaviors. We have previously shown that neutrophils educated by GC cells displayed pro-tumor phenotype and function (Zhang et al., 2018). TENs could promote the migration and invasion of GC cells through direct induction of EMT (Zhang et al., 2017). However, whether TENs could regulate CAFs are not clear. In this study, we aimed to investigate whether TENs could induce MSCs activation to CAFs. The roles of CAFs and TENs in cancer have been firmly established (Coffelt et al., 2016; Chen and Song, 2019). In this study we reported that TENs could induce the transformation of MSCs into CAFs, while activated MSCs in turn promote the proliferation, migration and invasion of GC cells. These data suggest that there may be a positive feedback loop among cancer cells, neutrophils, and MSCs that synergistically drives GC progression, which provides new evidence for the important role of inflammation in cancer.

Neutrophils have been reported to recruit regulatory T cells and macrophages to promote the progression of hepatocellular carcinoma and resistance to sorafenib (Zhou et al., 2016). Wang et al. (2017) suggest that neutrophils could inhibit T cell function through PD-L1/PD-1 interaction to promote GC growth, suggesting that neutrophils can regulate other nontumor cells in TME to promote tumor progression. In the current study, we showed that TENs could induce the MSCs/CAFs switch, which further enhanced the malignant behaviors of GC cells, suggesting that TENs could reprogram MSCs to create a favorable microenvironment for tumor progression.

In human cancers, neutrophils exert tumor-promoting functions by producing a variety of factors, including HGF, CCL17, BMP2, among others (Coffelt et al., 2016; Shaul and Fridlender, 2019; Zhou et al., 2019). Our data showed that TENs induced MSCs/CAFs transformation by producing IL-17, IL-23, and TNF-α. Li et al. (2017) demonstrate that IL-17 is primarily expressed by neutrophils in GC tissues. They also found that neutrophils were enriched predominantly in the invasive margin, and neutrophil levels were a powerful predictor of poor survival in patients with GC (Li et al., 2017). Clinical studies have suggested that elevated numbers of IL-17-producing cells infiltrating in tumors are an independent marker of adverse prognosis in patients with cancer (Chung et al., 2013). IL-17 stimulates GC cells to express CXC chemokines, which recruits neutrophils into GC tissue to promote angiogenesis. Another study suggests that neutrophils derived IL-17 induce EMT in GC cells to promote their migration and invasion (Li et al., 2019). In addition, neutrophils infiltrated in the colon tissues of patients with IBD have been reported to be the main source of IL-23 and increased IL-23 expression is associated with the pathogenesis of IBD (Kvedaraite et al., 2016). Intriguingly, IL-23, when combined with IL-6, could induce IL-17 expression in neutrophils in GC (Li et al., 2017). Increased TNF- $\alpha$  expression in neutrophils has also been reported in late-stage tumor mouse model and neutrophils induce apoptosis of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells through TNF-a (Mishalian et al., 2013; Michaeli et al., 2017). We found that when IL-17/IL-23/TNF-α were neutralized, TENs failed to induce MSCs/CAFs transformation and the effects of TENs-activated MSCs on promoting GC growth and metastasis were significantly attenuated, indicating that these factors are important for TENsinduced MSCs/CAFs transformation. The secreted factors that lead to tumor cells activation of the neutrophils have been widely reported, including CXCL5, HGF, OSM, HA, among others (Zhou et al., 2016, 2019; Liang et al., 2018). Recently, we reported that GC cells derived exosomal HMGB1 could activate neutrophils (Zhang et al., 2018). We have previously shown that MSCs resident in GC tissues could induce pro-tumor activation of neutrophils via IL-6 (Zhu et al., 2014). Yu et al. (2017) have shown that  $TNF\alpha$ -activated mesenchymal stromal cells promote breast cancer metastasis by recruiting CXCR2<sup>+</sup> neutrophils. These findings, when combined together, suggest that a bidirectional crosstalk may exist between neutrophils and MSCs in TME and that neutrophils cooperate with MSCs to promote cancer progression.

Recent studies demonstrate that inflammatory factors play an active role in tumor growth and progression (Viola et al., 2012). Tumor-infiltrating neutrophils in melanoma are associated with poor outcome (Jensen et al., 2012). In addition, high densities of neutrophils in tumor are identified as an independent risk factor for poor prognosis (Shen et al., 2014). Several inflammatory factors have been previously shown to be involved in AKT/p38

signaling pathway activation and MSCs/CAFs transformation (Ridge et al., 2017; Timaner et al., 2020). Our observations showed that TENs induced MSCs/CAFs transformation by activating AKT/p38 pathways. When the activation of AKT/p38 pathways was inhibited by specific inhibitors, TENs-induced CAFs transformation and pro-tumor functions in MSCs were reversed, suggesting a key role of these pathways in MSCs/CAFs transformation in this setting. CAFs can secrete a variety of factors, including TGF-B, MMPs and interleukins, to promote EMT of cancer cells and stimulate the invasive and metastatic potential of cancer cells (Chen and Song, 2019; Kobayashi et al., 2019). Herein, we found that TENs-activated MSCs expressed higher levels of IL-6, MMP9, TGF-β, and VEGF, which have been previously shown to be associated with the pro-tumor functions of MSCs (McAndrews et al., 2015; Scherzad et al., 2015; Ridge et al., 2017; Timaner et al., 2020). Shrestha et al. (2016) demonstrate that neutrophils activate MSCs in an ERKdependent manner and neutrophils-activated MSCs enhance the growth of germinal center B-cell lymphoma cells more efficiently. In this study, we measured the expression of cell signaling pathway in MSCs treated with supernatant from neutrophils. We found that TENs induce MSCs transformation to CAFs via activating AKT/p38 pathways. These findings suggest that neutrophils may regulate MSCs activation and function through distinct mechanisms in different cancers.

#### CONCLUSION

In summary, our study suggests that TENs are able to induce MSCs transition to CAFs via increased expression of inflammatory factors IL-17/IL-23/TNF- $\alpha$  and the subsequent activation of AKT and p38 signaling pathways, which finally leads to enhanced GC growth and metastasis. These findings provide mechanistic insights into the regulation of MSCs by neutrophils in GC as well as offer novel strategies for the design of new therapeutic strategies.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

#### REFERENCES

- Antonio, N., Bonnelykke-Behrndtz, M. L., Ward, L. C., Collin, J., Christensen, I. J., Steiniche, T., et al. (2015). The wound inflammatory response exacerbates growth of pre-neoplastic cells and progression to cancer. *EMBO J.* 34, 2219– 2236. doi: 10.15252/embj.201490147
- Bray, F., Ferlay, J., Soerjomataram, I., Siegel, R. L., Torre, L. A., and Jemal, A. (2018). Global cancer statistics, 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cance J. Clin.* 68, 394–424. doi: 10.3322/caac.21492
- Cao, H., Xu, W., Qian, H., Zhu, W., Yan, Y., Zhou, H., et al. (2009). Mesenchymal stem cell-like cells derived from human gastric cancer tissues. *Cancer Lett.* 274, 61–71. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2008.08.036

#### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The animal study was reviewed and approved by University Committee on Use and Care of Animals of Jiangsu University (2012258).

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JZ, CJ, and HS completed all the experiments and wrote the manuscript. WX, HQ, and XZ designed the outline of the experiments. WL, ZM, YS, and RJ reviewed and corrected the draft. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81972310, 81672416, and 81572075), the Natural Science Foundation of Jiangsu Province (BK20141303), Major Natural Science Research Project for Universities in Jiangsu Province (18KJA320001), and Priority Academic Program Development of Jiangsu Higher Education Institutions.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcell.2020.00788/ full#supplementary-material

**FIGURE S1** | Effects of AKT and p38 pathway inhibitors on MSCs. **(A)** CCK8 assay for the proliferation of MSCs treated with LY294002 and SB203580. **(B)** qRT-PCR analyses of the expression of FAP,  $\alpha$ -SMA, MMP9, IL-6, TGF- $\beta$ , and VEGF genes in MSCs treated with LY294002 and SB203580. **(C)** The expression of FAP and  $\alpha$ -SMA in MSCs treated with LY294002 and SB203580 was detected by western blot. **(D)** Western blot assay for the expression of p-AKT and p-p38 in MSCs pre-treated with LY294002 and SB203580.

**FIGURE S2** | Detecting the effects of anti-IL17, anti-IL23 and anti-TNF $\alpha$  on MSCs. (A) The expression of FAP,  $\alpha$ -SMA, MMP9, IL-6, TGF- $\beta$ , and VEGF genes in MSCs treated with neutralizing antibodies was detected by qRT-PCR. (B) Western blot assays for the expression of FAP and  $\alpha$ -SMA in MSCs treated with neutralizing antibodies. (C) The expression of p-AKT and p-p38 in MSCs treated with neutralizing antibodies was detected by western blot.

- Chen, X., and Song, E. (2019). Turning foes to friends: targeting cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 18, 99–115. doi: 10.1038/s41573-018-0004-1
- Chung, A. S., Wu, X., Zhuang, G., Ngu, H., Kasman, I., Zhang, J., et al. (2013). An interleukin-17-mediated paracrine network promotes tumor resistance to anti-angiogenic therapy. *Nat. Med.* 19, 1114–1123. doi: 10.1038/nm.3291
- Coffelt, S. B., Kersten, K., Doornebal, C. W., Weiden, J., Vrijland, K., Hau, C. S., et al. (2015). IL-17-producing gammadelta T cells and neutrophils conspire to promote breast cancer metastasis. *Nature* 522, 345–348. doi: 10.1038/ nature14282
- Coffelt, S. B., Wellenstein, M. D., and de Visser, K. E. (2016). Neutrophils in cancer: neutral no more. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 16, 431–446. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2016.52
- Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* 144, 646–674. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013

- Houghton, A. M., Rzymkiewicz, D. M., Ji, H., Gregory, A. D., Egea, E. E., Metz, H. E., et al. (2010). Neutrophil elastase-mediated degradation of IRS-1 accelerates lung tumor growth. *Nat. Med.* 16, 219–223. doi: 10.1038/nm. 2084
- Jensen, T. O., Schmidt, H., Møller, H. J., Donskov, F., høyer, M., Sjoegren, P., et al. (2012). Intratumoral neutrophils and plasmacytoid dendritic cells indicate poor prognosis and are associated with pSTAT3 expression in AJCC stage I/II melanoma. *Cancer* 118, 2476–2485. doi: 10.1002/cncr.26511
- Kobayashi, H., Enomoto, A., Woods, S. L., Burt, A. D., Takahashi, M., and Worthley, D. L. (2019). Cancer-associated fibroblasts in gastrointestinal cancer. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 16, 282–295. doi: 10.1038/s41575-019-0115-0
- Kvedaraite, E., Lourda, M., Ideström, M., Chen, P., Olsson-Åkefeldt, S., Forkel, M., et al. (2016). Tissue-infiltrating neutrophils represent the main source of IL-23 in the colon of patients with IBD. *Gut* 65, 1632–1641. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-309014
- Li, S., Cong, X., Gao, H., Lan, X., Li, Z., Wang, W., et al. (2019). Tumor-associated neutrophils induce EMT by IL-17a to promote migration and invasion in gastric cancer cells. J. Exp. Clin. Cancer Res. 38:6. doi: 10.1186/s13046-018-1003-0
- Li, T., Jiang, Y., Hu, Y., Huang, L., Yu, J., Zhao, L. Y., et al. (2017). Interleukin-17-producing neutrophils link inflammatory stimuli to disease progression by promoting angiogenesis in gastric Cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 23, 1575–1585. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0617
- Liang, W., and Ferrara, N. (2016). The Complex Role of Neutrophils in Tumor Angiogenesis and Metastasis. *Cancer Immunol Res.* 4, 83–91. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0313
- Liang, W., Li, Q., and Ferrara, N. (2018). Metastatic growth instructed by neutrophil-derived transferrin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 115, 11060–11065. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1811717115
- McAndrews, K. M., McGrail, D. J., Ravikumar, N., and Dawson, M. R. (2015). Mesenchymal stem cells induce directional migration of invasive breast cancer cells through TGF-β. *Sci. Rep.* 5:16941. doi: 10.1038/srep16941
- Michaeli, J., Shaul, M. E., Mishalian, I., Hovav, A. H., Levy, L., Zolotriov, L., et al. (2017). Tumor-associated neutrophils induce apoptosis of non-activated CD8T-cells in a TNF $\alpha$  and NO-dependent mechanism, promoting a tumor-supportive environment. *Oncoimmunology* 6:e1356965. doi: 10.1080/2162402X. 2017.1356965
- Mishalian, I., Bayuh, R., Levy, L., Zolotarov, L., Michaeli, J., and Fridlender, Z. G. (2013). Tumor-associated neutrophils (TAN) develop pro-tumorigenic properties during tumor progression. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother* 62, 1745– 1756. doi: 10.1007/s00262-013-1476-9
- Nywening, T. M., Belt, B. A., Cullinan, D. R., Panni, R. Z., Han, B. J., Sanford, D. E., et al. (2018). Targeting both tumour-associated CXCR2+ neutrophils and CCR2+ macrophages disrupts myeloid recruitment and improves chemotherapeutic responses in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Gut* 67, 1112–1123. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-313738
- Powell, D. R., and Huttenlocher, A. (2016). Neutrophils in the Tumor Microenvironment. *Trends Immunol.* 37, 41–52. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2015.11.008
- Quail, D. F., and Joyce, J. A. (2013). Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis. *Nat. Med.* 19, 1423–1437. doi: 10.1038/nm.3394
- Quante, M., Tu, S. P., Tomita, H., Gonda, T., Wang, S. S., Takashi, S., et al. (2011). Bone marrow-derived myofibroblasts contribute to the mesenchymal stem cell niche and promote tumor growth. *Cancer Cell* 19, 257–272. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr. 2011.01.020
- Ridge, S. M., Sullivan, F. J., and Glynn, S. A. (2017). Mesenchymal stem cells: key players in cancer progression. *Mol Cancer* 16:31. doi: 10.1186/s12943-017-0597-8
- Scherzad, A., Steber, M., Gehrke, T., Rak, K., Froelich, K., Schendzielorz, P., et al. (2015). Human mesenchymal stem cells enhance cancer cell proliferation via IL-6 secretion and activation of ERK1/2. *Int. J. Oncol.* 47, 391–397. doi: 10.3892/ ijo.2015.3009
- Shaul, M. E., and Fridlender, Z. G. (2019). Tumor-associated neutrophils in patients with cancer. Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol. 16, 601–620. doi: 10.1038/s41571-019-0222-4
- Shen, M., Hu, P., Donskov, F., Wang, G., Liu, Q., and Du, J. (2014). Tumorassociated neutrophils as a new prognostic factor in cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One* 9:e98259. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0098259

- Shrestha, S., Noh, J. M., Kim, S. Y., Ham, H. Y., Kim, Y. J., Yun, Y. J., et al. (2016). Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin II receptor antagonist attenuate tumor growth via polarization of neutrophils toward an antitumor phenotype. *Oncoimmunology* 5:e1067744. doi: 10.1080/2162402X. 2015.1067744
- Swierczak, A., Mouchemore, K. A., Hamilton, J. A., and Anderson, R. L. (2015). Neutrophils: important contributors to tumor progression and metastasis. *Cancer Metastasis. Rev.* 34, 735–751. doi: 10.1007/s10555-015-9594-9
- Szczerba, B. M., Castro-Giner, F., Vetter, M., Krol, I., Gkountela, S., Landin, J., et al. (2019). Neutrophils escort circulating tumour cells to enable cell cycle progression. *Nature* 566, 553–557. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-0915-y
- Timaner, M., Tsai, K. K., and Shaked, Y. (2020). The multifaceted role of mesenchymal stem cells in cancer. Semin. Cancer Biol. 60, 225–237. doi: 10. 1016/j.semcancer.2019.06.003
- Viola, A., Sarukhan, A., Bronte, V., and Molon, B. (2012). The pros and cons of chemokines in tumor immunology. *Trends Immunol.* 33, 496–504. doi: 10.1016/ j.it.2012.05.007
- Wang, M., Zhao, C., Shi, H., Zhang, B., Zhang, L., Zhang, X., et al. (2014). Deregulated microRNAs in gastric cancer tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells: novel biomarkers and a mechanism for gastric cancer. *Br. J. Cancer* 110, 1199–1210. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2014.14
- Wang, T. T., Zhao, Y. L., Peng, L. S., Chen, N., Chen, W., Lv, Y. P., et al. (2017). Tumour-activated neutrophils in gastric cancer foster immune suppression and disease progression through GM-CSF-PD-L1 pathway. *Gut* 66, 1900–1911. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2016-313075
- Wculek, S. K., and Malanchi, I. (2015). Neutrophils support lung colonization of metastasis-initiating breast cancer cells. *Nature* 528, 413–417. doi: 10.1038/ nature16140
- Wisdom, A. J., Hong, C. S., Lin, A. J., Xiang, Y., Cooper, D. E., Zhang, J., et al. (2019). Neutrophils promote tumor resistance to radiation therapy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 116, 18584–18589. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1901562116
- Yu, P. F., Huang, Y., Han, Y. Y., Lin, L. Y., Sun, W. H., Rabson, A. B., et al. (2017). TNFα-activated mesenchymal stromal cells promote breast cancer metastasis by recruiting CXCR2+ neutrophils. *Oncogene* 36, 482–490. doi: 10.1038/onc. 2016.217
- Zhang, W., Gu, J., Chen, J., Zhang, P., Ji, R., Qian, H., et al. (2017). Interaction with neutrophils promotes gastric cancer cell migration and invasion by inducing epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Oncol. Rep.* 38, 2959–2966. doi: 10.3892/or. 2017.5942
- Zhang, X., Shi, H., Yuan, X., Jiang, P., Qian, H., and Xu, W. (2018). Tumor-derived exosomes induce N2 polarization of neutrophils to promote gastric cancer cell migration. *Mol. Cancer* 17:146. doi: 10.1186/s12943-018-0898-6
- Zhou, S. L., Yin, D., Hu, Z. Q., Luo, C. B., Zhou, Z. J., Xin, H. Y., et al. (2019). A positive feedback loop between cancer stem-Like cells and tumor-associated neutrophils controls hepatocellular carcinoma progression. *Hepatology* 70, 1214–1230. doi: 10.1002/hep.30630
- Zhou, S. L., Zhou, Z. J., Hu, Z. Q., Huang, X. W., Wang, Z., Chen, E. B., et al. (2016). Tumor-associated neutrophils recruit macrophages and t-regulatory cells to promote progression of hepatocellular carcinoma and resistance to sorafenib. *Gastroenterology* 150, 1646.e17–1658.e17. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2016.02.040
- Zhu, Q., Zhang, X., Zhang, L., Li, W., Wu, H., Yuan, X., et al. (2014). The IL-6-STAT3 axis mediates a reciprocal crosstalk between cancer-derived mesenchymal stem cells and neutrophils to synergistically prompt gastric cancer progression. *Cell Death Dis.* 5:e1295. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2014.263

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Zhang, Ji, Li, Mao, Shi, Shi, Ji, Qian, Xu and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Cellular Interactions and Inflammation in the Pathogenesis of Cutaneous T-Cell Lymphoma

Veronica Stolearenco, Martin R. J. Namini, Siri S. Hasselager, Maria Gluud, Terkild B. Buus, Andreas Willerslev-Olsen, Niels Ødum and Thorbjørn Krejsgaard\*

LEO Foundation Skin Immunology Research Center, Department of Immunology and Microbiology, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

Cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (CTCL) comprises a group of lymphoproliferative diseases characterized by the accumulation of malignant T cells in chronically inflamed skin lesions. In early stages, the disease presents as skin patches or plaques covering a limited area of the skin and normally follows an indolent course. However, in a subset of patients the cutaneous lesions develop into tumors and the malignant T cells may spread to the lymphatic system, blood and internal organs with fatal consequences. Despite intensive research, the mechanisms driving disease progression remain incompletely understood. While most studies have focused on cancer cell-intrinsic oncogenesis, such as genetic and epigenetic events driving malignant transformation and disease progression, an increasing body of evidence shows that the interplay between malignant T cells and non-malignant cells plays a crucial role. Here, we outline some of the emerging mechanisms by which tumor, stromal and epidermal interactions may contribute to the progression of CTCL with particular emphasis on the crosstalk between fibroblasts, keratinocytes and malignant T cells.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Ana Igea, University of Vigo, Spain

#### Reviewed by: Tomomitsu Miyagaki,

St. Marianna University School of Medicine, Japan Hideki Fujita, Nihon University, Japan

#### \*Correspondence:

Thorbjørn Krejsgaard thorkr@sund.ku.dk

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

Received: 03 July 2020 Accepted: 10 August 2020 Published: 04 September 2020

#### Citation:

Stolearenco V, Namini MRJ, Hasselager SS, Gluud M, Buus TB, Willerslev-Olsen A, Ødum N and Krejsgaard T (2020) Cellular Interactions and Inflammation in the Pathogenesis of Cutaneous T-Cell Lymphoma. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 8:851. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.00851 Keywords: cutaneous T-cell lymphoma, malignant T cells, fibroblasts, keratinocytes, tumor microenvironment

## INTRODUCTION

Cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (CTCL) represents a heterogeneous group of extranodal non-Hodgkin's lymphomas that are characterized by the accumulation of malignant T cells in chronically inflamed skin lesions. The classical clinical variants of CTCL are mycosis fungoides (MF) and Sézary syndrome (SS). Early stages of MF present as erythematous skin patches or plaques covering a limited area of the skin and closely resemble benign inflammatory skin conditions such as psoriasis and chronic eczema (Kim et al., 2005; Willemze et al., 2019). The majority of patients diagnosed with early MF experience an indolent disease course with a favorable prognosis. However, about a third of the patients progress to advanced stages which can result in a fatal outcome (Scarisbrick et al., 2014; Hristov et al., 2019). As the disease progresses, the malignant T cells accumulate, the skin lesions expand and distinctive fungus-like tumors may develop. Eventually, the malignant T cells can spread to the blood, lymph nodes, bone marrow and internal organs. With advancing clinical stages, the disease becomes increasingly aggressive, the prognosis worsens and the median life expectancy of patients with late stage CTCL drops to less than 5 years (Kim et al., 2005; Scarisbrick et al., 2014; Hristov et al., 2019; Willemze et al., 2019). SS is a leukemic form of CTCL involving generalized erythroderma, lymphadenopathy and the presence of atypical T cells with cerebriform nuclei (Sézary cells) in the peripheral blood (Kim et al., 2005; Willemze et al., 2019). It may develop *de novo* or occasionally in patients with long-term chronic MF, and is considered a late stage of CTCL due to its high aggressiveness and poor prognosis (Kim et al., 2005; Scarisbrick et al., 2014; Hristov et al., 2019; Willemze et al., 2019).

The malignant T cells in MF and SS typically exhibit the phenotype of skin-homing CD4 T cells expressing receptors such as cutaneous lymphocyte antigen (CLA) and CC chemokine receptor 4 (CCR4) (Ferenczi et al., 2002; Campbell et al., 2010; Sugaya et al., 2015). Yet, as highlighted by recent singlecell RNA sequencing studies the malignant T cells display substantial inter- and intra-patient phenotypic heterogeneity (Buus et al., 2018; Gaydosik et al., 2019). Extensive interpatient heterogeneity is also observed at the genetic level and based on current data the disease is generally not caused by a few specific recurrent genetic aberrations (Choi et al., 2015; da Silva Almeida et al., 2015; Kiel et al., 2015; McGirt et al., 2015; Ungewickell et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2015; Woollard et al., 2016; Iyer et al., 2020; Phyo et al., 2020). Moreover, a nationwide study of Danish twins did not detect any familial aggregation of CTCL, arguing against heredity as a dominant etiologic factor (Odum et al., 2017). Somatic genetic alterations are, however, frequently observed in genes involved in certain cellular processes and signaling pathways. In particular, genes involved in epigenetic regulation, DNA damage response, cell cycle control and programmed cell death as well as in the T cell receptor (TCR), nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-κB) and Janus kinase (JAK)/signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) signaling pathways (Choi et al., 2015; da Silva Almeida et al., 2015; Kiel et al., 2015; McGirt et al., 2015; Ungewickell et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2015; Woollard et al., 2016; Iyer et al., 2020; Phyo et al., 2020). Importantly, extensive experimental data from cell lines, primary cells and clinical samples corroborate that dysregulation of these cellular processes and signaling pathways plays a central functional role in the pathogenesis of CTCL.

For long, it has been the general view that CTCL is a monoclonal disease with MF originating from skin-resident memory T cells and SS from mature central memory T cells (Kim et al., 2005; Campbell et al., 2010). Challenging this view, Iver et al. (2019) recently reported the existence of multiple malignant T cell clones in both the skin and blood of MF patients with substantial variation in the clonotypes between patients and different lesions within the same patient. They further found evidence of extensive genetic intratumoral heterogeneity showing a branched phylogenetic relationship pattern (Iyer et al., 2020). Stage progression was associated with increased intratumoral heterogeneity and divergent subclonal evolution (Iyer et al., 2020). The authors proposed that MF skin lesions are formed by seeding of circulating malignant T cell clones which expand and undergo additional mutational evolution in the skin leading to the appearance of new genetically different subclones, some of which may reenter the circulation and seed other skin lesions (Iyer et al., 2020). If correct, this theory could bear significant implications for the understanding of the disease and the development of new therapeutic strategies.

The only known treatment with the potential to cure CTCL is allogenic bone marrow transplantation which is only suitable for a fraction of patients with advanced disease (Hosing et al., 2015; Johnson et al., 2019; Novelli et al., 2019). Therefore, the current therapeutic aim is primarily to control the disease, reduce symptoms and improve cosmetics while minimizing toxic effects. Early disease stages are often treated with skin-directed therapies such as topical corticosteroids and UV light therapy, whereas advanced disease usually is treated with systemic therapies (Belloni et al., 2012; Trautinger et al., 2017; Hristov et al., 2019; Trager and Geskin, 2019). However, even with proper treatment a considerable subset of CTCL patients develop or suffer from progressive disease (Belloni et al., 2012; Scarisbrick et al., 2014; Hristov et al., 2019). In view of the increased aggressiveness and poor survival rate in advanced clinical stages, it is critical to gain a better understanding of the mechanisms that drive the transition from early indolent to progressive and advanced disease.

Despite the heterogeneous nature of CTCL, consistent changes are typically observed in the lesional skin when comparing early and advanced stages. These changes appear to be facilitated by complex cellular interactions between the malignant T cells and their microenvironment and to play a central role in the progression of the disease (Miyagaki and Sugaya, 2014; Gonzalez et al., 2016; Krejsgaard et al., 2017). While most reviews have focused on the malignant T cells and their interactions with benign immune cells, we here outline some of the mechanisms by which malignant, stromal and epidermal interactions may contribute to the progression of CTCL with particular focus on emerging data highlighting the significance of the crosstalk between the malignant T cells, fibroblasts and keratinocytes.

## TH2-BIAS DURING DISEASE PROGRESSION

In early stages of MF, the majority of immune cells in the lesional skin are benign and the malignant T cells only constitute a minor fraction. A substantial proportion of the benign immune cells are reactive T helper 1 (Th1) cells and cytotoxic CD8 T cells expressing interferon gamma (IFN $\gamma$ ) and cytotoxic molecules (Wood et al., 1994; Asadullah et al., 1997; Bagot et al., 1998; Echchakir et al., 2000; Vermeer et al., 2001; Kim et al., 2005; Hsi et al., 2015). These cells have the capacity to kill autologous malignant T cells ex vivo and high numbers of lesional CD8 T cells are associated with a favorable prognosis, indicating that the cellular immune reaction in early disease represents an anti-tumor response that keeps the malignant population in check (Hoppe et al., 1995; Berger et al., 1996; Bagot et al., 1998; Vermeer et al., 2001; Abeni et al., 2005). However, with advancing clinical stages there is a decline in Th1-associated markers as well as in the numbers of activated Th1 and CD8 T cells, whereas the levels of Th2-associated markers including GATA-3, IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 increase (Vowels et al., 1994; Hoppe et al., 1995; Vermeer et al., 2001; Papadavid et al., 2003; Hahtola et al., 2006; Johnson et al., 2014; Litvinov et al., 2014; Geskin et al., 2015; Hsi et al., 2015). The shift from a Th1- to a Th2-biased tumor microenvironment (Figure 1) is



**FIGURE 1** Schematic illustration portraying the shift in the nature of the inflammatory milieu during the progression of CTCL. In early disease stages, CTCL skin lesions typically contain few malignant T cells within a dense infiltrate of benign immune cells. A substantial proportion of the benign immune cells are reactive T helper 1 (Th1) cells and cytotoxic CD8 T cells and accordingly Th1-associated markers are highly expressed. However, during disease progression there is a decline in the expression of Th1-associated markers along with the numbers of infiltrating Th1 and CD8 T cells. In contrast, the malignant T cells accumulate and the levels of Th2-associated markers increase, eventually leading to a Th2-dominated inflammatory milieu in advanced disease stages.

thought to play a critical role in the transition from indolent to progressive disease by impairing cellular anti-tumor responses whilst fostering the proliferation of malignant T cells. Indeed, administration of Toll-like receptor (TLR) agonists boosting cellular immunity has shown clinical efficacy, and treatment with IL-12 and IFNy can induce regression of CTCL lesions which is associated with increased numbers of CD8 T cells in the resolving skin (Rook et al., 1999, 2001, 2015; Suchin et al., 2002; Dummer et al., 2004; Duvic et al., 2006; Wysocka et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2010; Accart et al., 2013). Of notice, recent case reports have surprisingly described that long-term treatment with dupilumab, a neutralizing antibody targeting IL-4 receptor alpha, may exacerbate CTCL and possibly even trigger the disease in certain patients with severe atopic dermatitis (AD) (Chiba et al., 2019; Espinosa et al., 2020; Miyashiro et al., 2020; Tran et al., 2020; Umemoto et al., 2020). While substantial data currently support that the transition from a Th1- to a Th2-biased tumor microenvironment contributes to the progression of CTCL, these new findings suggest that the role of the cytokine milieu might be more complex than appreciated thus far. Further studies are, however, required to gain a better understanding of the clinical and biological effects of dupilumab in patients with CTCL.

#### CELLULAR INTERACTIONS ENHANCE MALIGNANT STAT ACTIVATION, PROLIFERATION AND TH2 CYTOKINE EXPRESSION

The progression of CTCL is associated with a gradual dysregulation of the JAK/STAT pathway, and evidence pinpoints this dysregulation as a driving force in mediating the shift toward a Th2-biased tumor microenvironment. Normally, STAT3, STAT5 and STAT6 become persistently activated in the malignant T cells which have been shown to fuel their expression of Th2 cytokines (Zhang et al., 1996, 2000;

Nielsen et al., 2002; Sommer et al., 2004; Krejsgaard et al., 2006; Choi et al., 2015; Geskin et al., 2015; Kiel et al., 2015; Woollard et al., 2016; Gaydosik et al., 2020). Furthermore, activation of STAT6 upregulates the malignant expression of the Th2-associated transcription factor GATA-3 (Gaydosik et al., 2020). Whereas the expression of GATA-3 increases during disease progression, STAT4, which promotes Th1 differentiation and IFN $\gamma$  expression, is often lost (Nebozhyn et al., 2006; Johnson et al., 2014; Litvinov et al., 2014; Hsi et al., 2015). Accordingly, malignant T cells isolated from patients with advanced leukemic disease typically express Th2 cytokines such as IL-4 and IL-13 but are negative for IFN $\gamma$ (Guenova et al., 2013).

While it remains unclear what initially triggers an increase in the lesional levels of Th2 cytokines, evidence suggests that this may ignite a positive feedback loop between the malignant, stromal and epidermal cells that further enhances the malignant activation of STAT proteins and expression of Th2 cytokines. For example, it has been shown that IL-4 and IL-13 stimulate dermal fibroblasts from CTCL patients to secrete increased levels of the extracellular matrix protein periostin (Takahashi et al., 2016). Periostin is known to induce expression of thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) from keratinocytes and both periostin and TSLP are elevated in CTCL skin lesions and serum when compared with skin and serum from healthy control subjects (Miyagaki et al., 2009; Tuzova et al., 2015; Takahashi et al., 2016). The lesional levels of IL-4, periostin and TSLP correlate, indicating a scenario where Th2 cytokines stimulate dermal fibroblasts to secrete periostin which induces expression of TSLP from the epidermal keratinocytes. Completing the circle, TSLP has in turn been shown to activate STAT5 in malignant CTCL cells thereby promoting both their proliferation and production of IL-4 and IL-13 (Takahashi et al., 2016). Notably, STAT5 can also downregulate the malignant expression of STAT4 and the chromatin organizer and transcription factor SATB1 through induction of microRNA-155 (miR-155) (Litvinov et al., 2014; Fredholm et al., 2018; Herrera et al., 2020). As SATB1 represses the expression of IL-5 and IL-9 in the malignant T cells, activation of STAT5 may in this manner indirectly promote the expression of these cytokines while concurrently suppressing IFN $\gamma$  (Fredholm et al., 2018; Herrera et al., 2020).

Periostin, IL-4 and IL-13 have in addition been reported to stimulate primary human keratinocytes to express increased levels of the cytokine IL-25, which promotes Th2 immunity and cytokine production (Xu and Dong, 2017; Nakajima et al., 2018). Accordingly, the expression of IL-25 is increased in the epidermal keratinocytes in advanced CTCL skin lesions and enhances the expression of IL-13 in IL-25 receptor-positive malignant T cells via activation of STAT6 (Nakajima et al., 2018). Extending these data, Geskin et al. (2015) demonstrated that malignant T cells in the skin and blood of CTCL patients express receptors for IL-13. The authors further provided evidence that IL-13 promotes the proliferation of malignant T cells isolated from the blood of leukemic CTCL patients, suggesting that IL-25, TSLP and the general skewing toward a Th2-polarized inflammatory environment may fuel the malignant expansion indirectly by augmenting the levels of IL-13 (Geskin et al., 2015). Taken together, these findings illustrate how an initial increase in Th2 cytokines may elicit a complex loop of continuous signaling between fibroblasts, keratinocytes and malignant T cells that sustains and enhances the activation of STAT proteins, the proliferation and the Th2 cytokine expression of the malignant T cells (Figure 2).

#### CHANGES IN THE MALIGNANT CYTOKINE EXPRESSION FOSTER A TH2-BIASED INFLAMMATORY ENVIRONMENT

Accumulating evidence indicates that the skewing of the malignant cytokine expression toward a Th2 profile fosters the development of a Th2-biased inflammatory environment - both via direct effects on the benign immune cells and indirectly by modulating the chemokine expression pattern in the tumor microenvironment (Miyagaki and Sugaya, 2014; Gonzalez et al., 2016; Krejsgaard et al., 2017). The capacity of the malignant T cells to directly modulate the inflammatory response of benign immune cells was elegantly demonstrated by Guenova et al. (2013). The authors found that malignant and benign T cells from leukemic CTCL patients expressed lower levels of IFNy and higher levels of IL-4 and IL-13 than T cells from healthy controls. However, when the benign and malignant T cells were cultured separately, the benign T cells expressed enhanced levels of IFNy and lower levels of IL-4, whereas the expression of these cytokines remained constant in the malignant T cells (Guenova et al., 2013). Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from leukemic CTCL patients were further shown to suppress the expression of IFNy from healthy donor PBMCs. The suppressive effect was completely abrogated by neutralizing antibodies against IL-4 and IL-13, suggesting that the malignant T cells directly repress benign Th1 responses via their expression of Th2 cytokines (Guenova et al., 2013). Supporting that the

malignant T cells play a key role in suppressing Th1 responses in CTCL patients, different treatment modalities which reduced the numbers of malignant T cells through distinct mechanisms of action were invariably associated with enhanced Th1 and reduced Th2 responses (Guenova et al., 2013). Of notice, the malignant T cells may also inhibit anti-tumor immunity by inducing apoptosis in the benign T cells. It was, for example, recently reported that the malignant T cells secrete galectin-9 and that increased expression of galectin-9 in CTCL skin lesions is associated with a reduced infiltration of CD8 T cells while high serum levels are correlated with disease severity markers (Nakajima et al., 2019). Likewise, the malignant T cells frequently express Fas ligand (FasL) and have been shown to trigger FasLdependent T cell apoptosis in vitro (Ni et al., 2001, 2005). CD8 T cells were reported to be inversely distributed with FasLexpressing malignant T cells in CTCL skin lesions, implying that the malignant T cells might use FasL to eliminate tumor-reactive CD8 T cells (Ni et al., 2001).

The malignant T cells may not only foster a Th2-dominated tumor microenvironment through direct effects on the benign immune cells but also indirectly by modulating the chemokine expression pattern of fibroblasts, macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs) and keratinocytes. In early disease the keratinocytes and dermal fibroblasts express high levels of chemokines such as CXCL9 and CXCL10 which preferentially attract CD8 T cells and Th1 cells. The expression of these Th1-associated chemokines is, however, strongly reduced in advanced disease stages, whereas the expression of chemokines such as CCL17, CCL18, CCL22 and CCL26 that preferentially attract Th2 cells is increased (Sarris et al., 1995; Tensen et al., 1998; Kakinuma et al., 2003; Bromley et al., 2008; Miyagaki et al., 2010, 2012b, 2013; Tuzova et al., 2015). Providing a putative explanation for the decreased expression of CXCL9 and CXCL10 in advanced disease, Miyagaki et al. (2012b) demonstrated that IFNy induces secretion of these chemokines from dermal fibroblasts. IFNy-induced synthesis of CXCL9 and CXCL10 was strongly potentiated by the TNF superfamily member LIGHT. Although LIGHT was expressed both in early and advanced disease stages, the expression of its receptor, HVEM, was decreased on fibroblasts in advanced disease, potentially contributing to their reduced expression of CXCL9 and CXCL10. In contrast to IFNy, IL-4 has been shown to stimulate dermal fibroblasts from CTCL patients to express high levels of the Th2-recruiting chemokine CCL26 in vitro and, accordingly, the expression levels of IL-4 and CCL26 were found to correlate in the lesional skin (Miyagaki et al., 2010). IL-4 and IL-13 are correspondingly potent inducers of CCL26 expression in human keratinocytes, whereas IFNy stimulates keratinocytes to secrete CXCL9 and CXCL10 (Giustizieri et al., 2001; Ohta et al., 2008; Gaspar et al., 2013). The increased expression of Th2 cytokines combined with the decreased secretion of IFNy and HVEM may therefore, at least partially, explain the observed changes in the expression pattern of CXCL9, CXCL10 and CCL26 during disease progression. In addition, Th2 cytokines are known to stimulate the secretion of CCL18 and CCL22 from antigen-presenting cells (Vulcano et al., 2001; van Lieshout et al., 2006; Tsicopoulos et al., 2013; Furudate et al., 2016). These chemokines are indeed expressed by macrophages and



**FIGURE 2** | Schematic illustration of cellular interactions that may fuel the malignant STAT activity, proliferation and Th2 cytokine expression. Increased expression of IL-4 and IL-13 from malignant T cells and/or benign Th2 cells stimulates dermal fibroblasts to produce higher levels of periostin which subsequently promotes the secretion of TSLP from the epidermal keratinocytes. In parallel, IL-4, IL-13 and periostin cooperatively stimulate the keratinocytes to express IL-25. The elevated levels of TSLP and IL-25 boost the activity of STAT5 and STAT6 in the malignant T cells which fuel their proliferation (prolif.) and production of Th2 cytokines such as IL-4 and IL-13. In turn, IL-13 further augments the malignant proliferation in an autocrine and paracrine manner. Moreover, the increased expression of Th2 cytokines leads to enhanced secretion of periostin, TSLP and IL-25 thus giving rise to a positive feedback loop nurturing the malignant T cells.

DCs in CTCL skin lesions and the levels of CCL18 correlate with those of IL-4 (Gunther et al., 2011; Miyagaki et al., 2013; Tanita et al., 2019; Vieyra-Garcia et al., 2019). A recent study provided evidence suggesting that lesional c-Kit<sup>+</sup> DCs recruit benign Th2 cells via secretion of CCL18 which leads to formation of an inflammatory synapse between the DCs, benign Th2 cells and the malignant T cells (Vieyra-Garcia et al., 2019). In this synapse, the benign Th2 cells are activated by OX40/OX40L cell interactions with the DCs and by CD40/CD40L interactions with both DCs and malignant T cells resulting in increased skin inflammation (Vieyra-Garcia et al., 2019). Collectively, these data illustrate how changes in the malignant expression of Th1 and Th2 cytokines may modulate the chemokine expression of benign immune cells, fibroblasts and keratinocytes to favor skin trafficking and activation of Th2 cells (**Figure 3**). By adding to the increasing levels of Th2 cytokines, this fuels a vicious cycle that



reinforces the development of a Th2-biased inflammatory tumor microenvironment (**Figure 3**).

#### THE MALIGNANT T CELLS INDUCE ANGIOGENESIS AND LYMPHANGIOGENSIS

Angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis are critical processes in tumor growth and metastasis (Stacker et al., 2014; De Palma et al., 2017). Accordingly, biopsies from the lesional skin of CTCL patients exhibit a stage-dependent increase in microvessel density and the lymphatic marker podoplanin (Vacca et al., 1997; Mazur et al., 2004; Kawaguchi et al., 2014; Jankowska-Konsur et al., 2016, 2017). High expression of podoplanin is associated with shorter overall survival in CTCL patients, and the expression levels of vascular and proliferative markers correlate *in situ* (Jankowska-Konsur et al., 2016, 2017). Moreover, high expression of endothelial and lymphatic markers is associated with nodal involvement, altogether indicating that angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis may contribute to the expansion and dissemination of the malignant T cells (Jankowska-Konsur et al., 2016, 2017).

The increase in podoplanin-positive lymphatic vessels during the clinical progression of CTCL strongly correlates with the expression levels of vascular endothelial growth factor C (VEGF-C) which is a key stimulator of lymphangiogenesis (Stacker et al., 2014; Jankowska-Konsur et al., 2017). While neoplastic T cells stain positive for VEGF-C in CTCL skin lesions, malignant CTCL cells were reported not to produce VEGF-C in vitro (Pedersen et al., 2013). However, when the malignant T cells were inoculated into the skin of immunodeficient mice a proportion of them displayed clear expression of VEGF-C during tumor formation in vivo but this expression was not retained ex vivo (Pedersen et al., 2013). VEGF-C-positive malignant T cells were predominantly observed in close proximity to stromal cells within the tumor microenvironment. Interestingly, in vitro co-culture of malignant CTCL cell lines with skin fibroblasts enhanced the secretion of VEGF-C by the latter, jointly suggesting that the tumor and stromal cells may engage in a cross-talk that promotes synthesis of VEGF-C which, in turn, stimulates lymphangiogenesis (Pedersen et al., 2013).

In line with the growing microvessel density, a variety of angiogenic factors are increased in the lesional skin of CTCL patients when compared with normal skin or skin from patients with benign inflammatory skin conditions (Krejsgaard et al., 2006; Miyagaki et al., 2012a, 2017; Kawaguchi et al., 2014; Lauenborg et al., 2015; Sakamoto et al., 2018; Suzuki et al., 2020). Although some of these are expressed by stromal cells, the majority mainly appear to be produced by the malignant T cells. For instance, atypical T cells in CTCL lesions stain positive for the highly angiogenic protein VEGF-A, and malignant CTCL cell lines produce VEGF-A via a JAK- and c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK)-dependent mechanism in vitro (Krejsgaard et al., 2006; Miyagaki et al., 2017; Sakamoto et al., 2018). Besides being a potent stimulator of angiogenesis, VEGF-A also has the capacity to enhance the expression of TSLP in keratinocytes and, accordingly, the serum concentrations of VEGF-A correlate with the lesional expression of TSLP in erythrodermic CTCL patients (Sakamoto et al., 2018). VEGF-A may thus both contribute to the pathogenesis of CTCL by promoting angiogenesis, and by stimulating TSLP production by epidermal keratinocytes. Alongside VEGF-A, the malignant T cells also express lymphotoxin  $\alpha$  (LT $\alpha$ ) and its cognate receptor, tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR)2 (Lauenborg et al., 2015). It was demonstrated that LTa can function in an autocrine manner to induce malignant secretion of IL-6 which together with LTa and VEGF-A stimulate endothelial sprouting and tube formation (Lauenborg et al., 2015). The malignant T cells have additionally been reported to express a number of other pro-angiogenic factors such as IL-17F, angiopoietin-2 (Ang-2), placental growth factor (PlGF) and YKL-40 (Krejsgaard et al., 2013; Kawaguchi et al., 2014; Lauenborg et al., 2017; Miyagaki et al., 2017; Suzuki et al., 2020). The secretion of IL-17F by malignant T cells has been shown to stimulate angiogenesis in vitro, and the numbers of Ang-2-positive cells correlate with the numbers of blood vessels in erythrodermic CTCL lesions (Kawaguchi et al., 2014; Lauenborg et al., 2017). Furthermore, PIGF and YKL-40 were demonstrated to promote blood vessel formation and lymphoma growth in murine xenograft models (Miyagaki et al., 2017; Suzuki et al., 2020). In conjunction with angiogenic factors, the malignant T cells express matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) such as MMP2 and MMP9 which may facilitate the angiogenic process and spread of the malignant T cells (Vacca et al., 1997; Rasheed et al., 2010). MMPs were also found to be strongly expressed by stromal cells in the vicinity of the malignant T cells, suggesting that malignant T cells secrete factors that stimulate the expression of MMPs by the surrounding stroma (Vacca et al., 1997; Rasheed et al., 2010). Collectively, these data highlight how the malignant T cells may facilitate their own growth and dissemination through the production of factors that directly or indirectly stimulate blood and lymph vessel formation in the tumor stroma.

### THE MALIGNANT T CELLS MAY INDUCE CHANGES IN THE EPIDERMAL ARCHITECTURE

In addition to the increased microvessel density, the lesional skin of CTCL patients often exhibits changes in the epidermal architecture and an impaired barrier function (Suga et al., 2014; Fatima et al., 2020). Accordingly, Suga et al. (2014) found that keratinocytes in CTCL skin lesions express lower levels of skin barrier proteins than keratinocytes in healthy skin. This was more prominent in advanced disease and the levels of skin barrier proteins correlated inversely with the expression of IL-4, CCL17 and CCL18. Using an organotypic skin model of CTCL, Thode et al. (2015) provided evidence that the malignant T cells secrete factors which affect the behavior of keratinocytes leading to increased proliferation, disorganized stratification and decreased resistance to mechanical stress. The malignant T cells have also been shown to produce IL-31, which together with IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13, is believed to stimulate the sensation of pruritus in CTCL patients (Ohmatsu et al., 2012; Singer et al., 2013; Cedeno-Laurent et al., 2015; Nattkemper et al., 2016; Lewis et al., 2018). At such, the malignant T cells may facilitate mechanical disruption of the skin integrity indirectly by producing factors that elicit scratching. Yet, as many of the cutaneous features of CTCL resemble those of chronic inflammatory skin diseases it is likely that interactions between the benign immune cells and keratinocytes also contribute significantly to the changes in the epidermal architecture (Ralfkiaer et al., 2011; Willemze et al., 2019). Indeed, Miyagaki et al. (2011) reported that benign T cells in CTCL produce IL-22 which may promote STAT3 activation, CCL20 expression and epidermal hyperplasia. In general, this area of investigation remains poorly explored and further studies are needed to gain a better understanding of how the interplay between malignant T cells, benign immune cells and keratinocytes affects the epidermis.

# INTERACTIONS BETWEEN BACTERIAL TOXINS AND MALIGNANT T CELLS

Considering the compromised cellular immunity and weakened skin barrier, it is not surprising that CTCL patients exhibit increased susceptibility to cutaneous bacterial infections. The lesional skin is, in particular, frequently colonized by enterotoxinproducing Staphylococcus aureus (S. aureus) which constitutes a major cause of morbidity and mortality (Axelrod et al., 1992; Tokura et al., 1995; Jackow et al., 1997; Nguyen et al., 2008; Talpur et al., 2008; Mirvish et al., 2011; Willerslev-Olsen et al., 2013; Lebas et al., 2017; Blaizot et al., 2018; Scarisbrick, 2018). A series of in vitro studies have uncovered that staphylococcal enterotoxins can trigger a complex crosstalk between the malignant and non-malignant T cells. This crosstalk leads to increased proliferation, cytokine production, IL-2 receptor alpha chain (IL2Ra) expression and STAT3 activation in the malignant T cells, suggesting that staphylococcal enterotoxins may modulate the inflammatory environment and fuel disease progression (Woetmann et al., 2007; Krejsgaard et al., 2014; Willerslev-Olsen et al., 2016, 2020; Lindahl et al., 2019). S. aureus also produces other factors that may play a pathogenic role in CTCL. It was for example shown that S. aureus isolates from CTCL skin lesions express the pore forming toxin, alphatoxin, and that the malignant T cells in many patients are considerably more resistant to alpha-toxin-induced cell death than non-malignant CD4 and CD8 T cells (Blümel et al., 2019, 2020; Lindahl et al., 2019). It is thus possible that alpha-toxin

impedes CD8 T cell-mediated anti-tumor responses and tilts the balance between the malignant and non-malignant CD4 T cells. Supporting that toxinogenic S. aureus infections exacerbate the disease activity, antibiotic treatment leading to successful eradication of S. aureus is associated with significant clinical improvement in most patients with advanced CTCL (Tokura et al., 1995; Jackow et al., 1997; Talpur et al., 2008; Willerslev-Olsen et al., 2013; Lindahl et al., 2019). A recent study further demonstrated that patients exhibiting clinical improvement after transient antibiotic therapy, display diminished STAT3 signaling, IL-2Ra expression and cell proliferation in the lesional skin (Lindahl et al., 2019). Antibiotic treatment not only reduced the disease activity at the clinical and histological level but also resulted in a significant decrease in the fraction of malignant T cells in the lesional skin in the majority of patients (Lindahl et al., 2019). These findings indicate that there may be a mutual sustenance between the malignant T cells and toxin-producing S. aureus where the former compromise the local immunity and the bacteria, in turn, mitigate anti-tumor responses while concurrently fueling the expansion of malignant T cells.

#### CONCLUSION

Accumulating evidence suggests that malignant, stromal and epidermal interactions play a central role in the pathogenesis of CTCL. In this review, we have outlined some of the emerging mechanisms by which these interactions may contribute to the progression of the disease. As highlighted, complex signaling networks between fibroblasts, keratinocytes and the tumor cells may fuel diverse pathological processes including the

#### REFERENCES

- Abeni, D., Frontani, M., Sampogna, F., Sera, F., Bolli, S., Corona, R., et al. (2005). Circulating CD8+ lymphocytes, white blood cells, and survival in patients with mycosis fungoides. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 153, 324–330. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133. 2005.06755.x
- Accart, N., Urosevic-Maiwald, M., Dummer, R., Bataille, V., Kehrer, N., Niculescu, C., et al. (2013). Lymphocytic infiltration in the cutaneous lymphoma microenvironment after injection of TG1042. J. Transl. Med. 11:226. doi: 10. 1186/1479-5876-11-226
- Asadullah, K., Friedrich, M., Docke, W. D., Jahn, S., Volk, H. D., and Sterry, W. (1997). Enhanced expression of T-cell activation and natural killer cell antigens indicates systemic anti-tumor response in early primary cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 108, 743–747. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747. ep12292129
- Axelrod, P. I., Lorber, B., and Vonderheid, E. C. (1992). Infections complicating mycosis fungoides and Sezary syndrome. JAMA 267, 1354–1358. doi: 10.1001/ jama.267.10.1354
- Bagot, M., Echchakir, H., Mami-Chouaib, F., Delfau-Larue, M. H., Charue, D., Bernheim, A., et al. (1998). Isolation of tumor-specific cytotoxic CD4+ and CD4+CD8dim+ T-cell clones infiltrating a cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Blood* 91, 4331–4341. doi: 10.1182/blood.v91.11.4331.411k12\_4331\_4341
- Belloni, B., Johansen, N., Glass, L. F., and Dummer, R. (2012). Recent advances in the management of cutaneous lymphomas. *Semin. Oncol.* 39, 150–162. doi: 10.1053/j.seminoncol.2012.01.010
- Berger, C. L., Wang, N., Christensen, I., Longley, J., Heald, P., and Edelson, R. L. (1996). The immune response to class I-associated tumor-specific cutaneous T-cell lymphoma antigens. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 107, 392–397. doi: 10.1111/ 1523-1747.ep12363378

malignant activation of STAT proteins, the development of a Th2 dominated inflammatory microenvironment, neovascularization of the tumor tissue and changes in the skin architecture. These processes can through different pathways facilitate the malignant proliferation and dissemination while impeding anti-tumor responses. Despite recent progress, the interactions between tumor, stromal and epidermal cells in CTCL remain poorly characterized and additional studies are warranted to substantiate and further illuminate their role in the pathogenesis of the disease. We believe that research into this field of investigation may pave the way for novel therapeutic strategies that can be of clinical benefit for patients with progressive or advanced CTCL.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

VS, MN, SH, MG, TB, AW-O, NØ, and TK wrote the manuscript. VS and TK made the figures. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### **FUNDING**

This work was supported by funding from the LEO Foundation, the Danish Cancer Society (Kraeftens Bekaempelse), the Fight Cancer Program (Knaek Cancer), the Novo Nordisk Foundation Tandem Program (NNF14OC0012345), the Novo Nordisk Research Foundation, the Lundbeck Foundation and the Danish Council for Independent Research (Danmarks Frie Forskningsfond).

- Blaizot, R., Ouattara, E., Fauconneau, A., Beylot-Barry, M., and Pham-Ledard, A. (2018). Infectious events and associated risk factors in mycosis fungoides/Sézary syndrome: a retrospective cohort study. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 179, 1322–1328. doi: 10.1111/bjd.17073
- Blümel, E., Munir Ahmad, S., Nastasi, C., Willerslev-Olsen, A., Gluud, M., Fredholm, S., et al. (2020). *Staphylococcus aureus* alpha-toxin inhibits CD8+ T cell-mediated killing of cancer cells in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Oncoimmunology* 9, 4–11.
- Blümel, E., Willerslev-Olsen, A., Gluud, M., Lindahl, L. M., Fredholm, S., Nastasi, C., et al. (2019). Staphylococcal alpha-toxin tilts the balance between malignant and non-malignant CD4+ T cells in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Oncoimmunology* 8:e1641387. doi: 10.1080/2162402x.2019.1641387
- Bromley, S. K., Mempel, T. R., and Luster, A. D. (2008). Orchestrating the orchestrators: chemokines in control of T cell traffic. *Nat. Immunol.* 9, 970–980. doi: 10.1038/ni.f.213
- Buus, T. B., Willerslev-Olsen, A., Fredholm, S., Blümel, E., Nastasi, C., Gluud, M., et al. (2018). Single-cell heterogeneity in Sézary syndrome. *Blood Adv.* 2, 2115–2126.
- Campbell, J. J., Clark, R. A., Watanabe, R., and Kupper, T. S. (2010). Sézary syndrome and mycosis fungoides arise from distinct T-cell subsets: a biologic rationale for their distinct clinical behaviors. *Blood* 116, 767–771. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2009-11-251926
- Cedeno-Laurent, F., Singer, E. M., Wysocka, M., Benoit, B. M., Vittorio, C. C., Kim, E. J., et al. (2015). Improved pruritus correlates with lower levels of IL-31 in CTCL patients under different therapeutic modalities. *Clin. Immunol.* 158, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2015.02.014
- Chiba, T., Nagai, T., Osada, S. I., and Manabe, M. (2019). Diagnosis of mycosis fungoides following administration of dupilumab for misdiagnosed atopic dermatitis. *Acta Derm. Venereol.* 99, 818–819. doi: 10.2340/00015555-3208

- Choi, J., Goh, G., Walradt, T., Hong, B. S., Bunick, C. G., Chen, K., et al. (2015). Genomic landscape of cutaneous T cell lymphoma. *Nat. Genet.* 47, 1011–1019.
- da Silva Almeida, A. C., Abate, F., Khiabanian, H., Martinez-Escala, E., Guitart, J., Tensen, C. P., et al. (2015). The mutational landscape of cutaneous T cell lymphoma and Sézary syndrome. *Nat. Genet.* 47, 1465–1470. doi: 10.1038/ng. 3442
- De Palma, M., Biziato, D., and Petrova, T. V. (2017). Microenvironmental regulation of tumour angiogenesis. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 17, 457–474. doi: 10.1038/ nrc.2017.51
- Dummer, R., Hassel, J. C., Fellenberg, F., Eichmüller, S., Maier, T., Slos, P., et al. (2004). Adenovirus-mediated intralesional interferon-γ gene transfer induces tumor regressions in cutaneous lymphomas. *Blood* 104, 1631–1638. doi: 10. 1182/blood-2004-01-0360
- Duvic, M., Sherman, M. L., Wood, G. S., Kuzel, T. M., Olsen, E., Foss, F., et al. (2006). A phase II open-label study of recombinant human interleukin-12 in patients with stage IA, IB, or IIA mycosis fungoides. J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. 55, 807–813. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2006.06.038
- Echchakir, H., Bagot, M., Dorothée, G., Martinvalet, D., Le Gouvello, S., Boumsell, L., et al. (2000). Cutaneous T cell lymphoma reactive CD4+ cytotoxic T lymphocyte clones display a Th1 cytokine profile and use a Fas-independent pathway for specific tumor cell lysis. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 115, 74–80. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1747.2000.00995.x
- Espinosa, M. L., Nguyen, M. T., Aguirre, A. S., Martinez-Escala, M. E., Kim, J., Walker, C. J., et al. (2020). Dupilumab is associated with disease worsening or unmasking of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Northwest Med.* 83, 197–199.
- Fatima, S., Siddiqui, S., Tariq, M., Ishtiaque, H., Idrees, R., Ahmed, Z., et al. (2020). Mycosis fungoides: a clinicopathological study of 60 cases from a tertiary care center. *Indian J. Dermatol.* 65, 123–129.
- Ferenczi, K., Fuhlbrigge, R. C., Pinkus, J. L., Pinkus, G. S., and Kupper, T. S. (2002). Increased CCR4 expression in cutaneous T cell lymphoma. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 119, 1405–1410. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1747.2002.19610.x
- Fredholm, S., Willerslev-Olsen, A., Met, Ö., Kubat, L., Gluud, M., Mathiasen, S. L., et al. (2018). SATB1 in malignant T cells. J. Invest. Dermatol. 138, 1805–1815.
- Furudate, S., Fujimura, T., Kakizaki, A., Kambayashi, Y., Asano, M., Watabe, A., et al. (2016). The possible interaction between periostin expressed by cancer stroma and tumor-associated macrophages in developing mycosis fungoides. *Exp. Dermatol.* 25, 107–112. doi: 10.1111/exd.12873
- Gaspar, K., Kukova, G., Bunemann, E., Buhren, B. A., Sonkoly, E., Szollosi, A. G., et al. (2013). The chemokine receptor CCR3 participates in tissue remodeling during atopic skin inflammation. *J. Dermatol. Sci.* 71, 12–21. doi: 10.1016/j. jdermsci.2013.04.011
- Gaydosik, A. M., Queen, D. S., Trager, M. H., Akilov, O. E., Geskin, L., and Fuschiotti, P. (2020). Genome-wide transcriptome analysis of the STAT6regulated genes in advanced-stage cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Blood* doi: 10. 1182/blood.2019004725 [Epub ahead of print].
- Gaydosik, A. M., Tabib, T., Geskin, L. J., Bayan, C. A., Conway, J. F., Lafyatis, R., et al. (2019). Single-cell lymphocyte heterogeneity in advanced cutaneous T-cell lymphoma skin tumors. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 25, 4443–4454. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-19-0148
- Geskin, L. J., Viragova, S., Stolz, D. B., and Fuschiotti, P. (2015). Interleukin-13 is overexpressed in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma cells and regulates their proliferation. *Blood* 125, 2798–2805. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-07-590398
- Giustizieri, M. L., Mascia, F., Frezzolini, A., De Pità, O., Chinni, L. M., Giannetti, A., et al. (2001). Keratinocytes from patients with atopic dermatitis and psoriasis show a distinct chemokine production profile in response to T cell-derived cytokines. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 107(Suppl. 5), 871–877. doi: 10.1067/mai. 2001.114707
- Gonzalez, B. R., Zain, J., Rosen, S. T., and Querfeld, C. (2016). Tumor microenvironment in mycosis fungoides and Sézary syndrome. *Curr. Opin. Oncol.* 28, 88–96. doi: 10.1097/cco.00000000000243
- Guenova, E., Watanabe, R., Teague, J. E., Desimone, J. A., Jiang, Y., Dowlatshahi, M., et al. (2013). TH2 cytokines from malignant cells suppress TH1 responses and enforce a global TH2 bias in leukemic cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 19, 3755–3763. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-12-3488
- Gunther, C., Zimmermann, N., Berndt, N., Großer, M., Stein, A., Koch, A., et al. (2011). Up-regulation of the chemokine CCL18 by macrophages is a potential immunomodulatory pathway in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Am. J. Pathol.* 179, 1434–1442. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.05.040

- Hahtola, S., Tuomela, S., Elo, L., Häkkinen, T., Karenko, L., Nedoszytko, B., et al. (2006). Th1 response and cytotoxicity genes are down-regulated in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 12, 4812–4821. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-06-0532
- Herrera, A., Fredholm, S., Cheng, A., Mimitou, E. P., Seffens, A., Bar-Natan, M., et al. (2020). Low SATB1 expression promotes IL-5 and IL-9 expression in Sézary syndrome. J. Invest. Dermatol. 140, 713–716. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2019. 07.714
- Hoppe, R. T., Medeiros, L. J., Warnke, R. A., and Wood, G. S. (1995). CD8positive tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes influence the long-term survival of patients with mycosis fungoides. J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. 32, 448–453. doi: 10.1016/0190-9622(95)90067-5
- Hosing, C., Bassett, R., Dabaja, B., Talpur, R., Ciurea, S., and Popat, U. (2015). Allogeneic stem-cell transplantation in patients with cutaneous lymphoma: updated results from a single institution. *Ann. Oncol.* 26, 2490–2495. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdv473
- Hristov, A. C., Tejasvi, T., and Wilcox, R. A. (2019). Mycosis fungoides and Sézary syndrome: 2019 update on diagnosis, risk-stratification, and management. *Am. J. Hematol.* 94, 1027–1041. doi: 10.1002/ajh.25577
- Hsi, A. C., Lee, S. J., Rosman, I. S., Carson, K. R., Kelley, A., Viele, V., et al. (2015). Expression of helper T cell master regulators in inflammatory dermatoses and primary cutaneous T-cell lymphomas: diagnostic implications. J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. 72, 159–167. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2014.09.022
- Iyer, A., Hennessey, D., O'Keefe, S., Patterson, J., Wang, W., Wong, G. K. S., et al. (2019). Skin colonization by circulating neoplastic clones in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Blood* 134, 1517–1527. doi: 10.1182/blood.2019002516
- Iyer, A., Hennessey, D., O'Keefe, S., Patterson, J., Wang, W., Wong, G. K.-S., et al. (2020). Branched evolution and genomic intratumor heterogeneity in the pathogenesis of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Blood Adv.* 4, 2489–2500. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2020001441
- Jackow, C. M., Cather, J. C., Hearne, V., Asano, A. T., and MJand, D. M. (1997). Association of erythrodermic cutaneous T-cell lymphoma, superantigenpositive *Staphylococcus aureus*, and oligoclonal T-cell receptor V beta gene expansion. *Blood* 89, 32–40. doi: 10.1182/blood.v89.1.32.32\_32\_40
- Jankowska-Konsur, A., Kobierzycki, C., Grzegrzolka, J., Piotrowska, A., Gomulkiewicz, A., Glatzel-Plucinska, N., et al. (2016). Expression of CD31 in mycosis fungoides. *Anticancer Res.* 36, 4575–4582. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.11006
- Jankowska-Konsur, A., Kobierzycki, C., Grzegrzółka, J., Piotrowska, A., Gomulkiewicz, A., Glatzel-Plucinska, N., et al. (2017). Podoplanin expression correlates with disease progression in mycosis fungoides. *Acta Derm. Venereol.* 97, 235–241. doi: 10.2340/00015555-2517
- Johnson, V. E., Vonderheid, E. C., Hess, A. D., Eischen, C. M., and McGirt, L. Y. (2014). Genetic markers associated with progression in early mycosis fungoides. *J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol.* 28, 1431–1435. doi: 10.1111/jdv.12299
- Johnson, W. T., Mukherji, R., Kartan, S., Nikbakht, N., Porcu, P., and Alpdogan, O. (2019). Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in advanced stage mycosis fungoides and Sézary syndrome: a concise review. *Chin. Clin. Oncol.* 8:12. doi: 10.21037/cco.2018.10.03
- Kakinuma, T., Sugaya, M., Nakamura, K., Kaneko, F., Wakugawa, M., Matsushima, K., et al. (2003). Thymus and activation-regulated chemokine (TARC/CCL17) in mycosis fungoides: serum TARC levels reflect the disease activity of mycosis fungoides. J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. 48, 23–30. doi: 10.1067/mjd.2003.132
- Kawaguchi, M., Sugaya, M., Suga, H., Miyagaki, T., Ohmatsu, H., Fujita, H., et al. (2014). Serum levels of angiopoietin-2, but not angiopoietin-1, are elevated in patients with erythrodermic cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Acta Derm. Venereol.* 94, 9–13. doi: 10.2340/00015555-1633
- Kiel, M. J., Sahasrabuddhe, A. A., Rolland, D. C. M., Velusamy, T., Chung, F., Schaller, M., et al. (2015). Genomic analyses reveal recurrent mutations in epigenetic modifiers and the JAK-STAT pathway in Sézary syndrome. *Nat. Commun.* 6:8470.
- Kim, E. J., Hess, S., Richardson, S. K., Newton, S., Showe, L. C., Benoit, B. M., et al. (2005). Immunopathogenesis and therapy of cutaneous T cell lymphoma. *J. Clin. Invest.* 115, 798–812. doi: 10.1172/jci200524826
- Kim, Y. H., Girardi, M., Duvic, M., Kuzel, T., Link, B. K., Pinter-Brown, L., et al. (2010). Phase I trial of a toll-like receptor 9 agonist, PF-3512676 (CPG 7909), in patients with treatment-refractory, cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *J. Am. Acad. Dermatol.* 63, 975–983. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2009.12.052
- Krejsgaard, T., Lindahl, L. M., Mongan, N. P., Wasik, M. A., Litvinov, I. V., Iversen, L., et al. (2017). Malignant inflammation in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma—a hostile takeover. *Semin. Immunopathol.* 39, 269–282. doi: 10.1007/s00281-016-0594-9
- Krejsgaard, T., Litvinov, I. V., Wang, Y., Xia, L., Willerslev-Olsen, A., Koralov, S. B., et al. (2013). Elucidating the role of interleukin-17F in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Blood* 122, 943–950. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-01-480889
- Krejsgaard, T., Vetter-Kauczok, C. S., Woetmann, A., Lovato, P., Labuda, T., Eriksen, K. W., et al. (2006). Jak3- and JNK-dependent vascular endothelial growth factor expression in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Leukemia* 20, 1759– 1766. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2404350
- Krejsgaard, T., Willerslev-Olsen, A., Lindahl, L. M., Bonefeld, C. M., Koralov, S. B., Geisler, C., et al. (2014). Staphylococcal enterotoxins stimulate lymphomaassociated immune dysregulation. *Blood* 124, 761–770. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-01-551184
- Lauenborg, B., Christensen, L., Ralfkiaer, U., Kopp, K. L., Jønson, L., Dabelsteen, S., et al. (2015). Malignant T cells express lymphotoxin a and drive endothelial activation in cutaneous T cell lymphoma. *Oncotarget* 6, 15235–15249. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3837
- Lauenborg, B., Litvinov, I. V., Zhou, Y., Willerslev-Olsen, A., Bonefeld, C. M., Nastasi, C., et al. (2017). Malignant T cells activate endothelial cells via IL-17 F. Blood Cancer J. 7:e586. doi: 10.1038/bcj.2017.64
- Lebas, E., Arrese, J. E., and Nikkels, A. F. (2017). Risk factors for skin infections in mycosis fungoides. *Dermatology* 232, 731–737. doi: 10.1159/000455944
- Lewis, D. J., Huang, S., and Duvic, M. (2018). Inflammatory cytokines and peripheral mediators in the pathophysiology of pruritus in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol. 32, 1652–1656. doi: 10.1111/jdv. 15075
- Lindahl, L. M., Willerslev-Olsen, A., Gjerdrum, L. M. R., Nielsen, P. R., Blümel, E., Rittig, A. H., et al. (2019). Antibiotics inhibit tumor and disease activity in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Blood* 134, 1072–1083.
- Litvinov, I. V., Cordeiro, B., Fredholm, S., Ødum, N., Zargham, H., Huang, Y., et al. (2014). Analysis of STAT4 expression in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (CTCL) patients and patient-derived cell lines. *Cell Cycle* 13, 2975–2982. doi: 10.4161/15384101.2014.947759
- Mazur, G., Woźniak, Z., Wróbel, T., Maj, J., and Kuliczkowski, K. (2004). Increased angiogenesis in cutaneous T-cell lymphomas. *Pathol. Oncol. Res.* 10, 34–36. doi: 10.1007/bf02893406
- McGirt, L. Y., Jia, P., Baerenwald, D. A., Duszynski, R. J., Dahlman, K. B., Zic, J. A., et al. (2015). Whole-genome sequencing reveals oncogenic mutations in mycosis fungoides. *Blood* 126, 508–519. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-11-611194
- Mirvish, E. D., Pomerantz, R. G., and Geskin, L. J. (2011). Infectious agents in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. 64, 423–431. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaad.2009.11.692
- Miyagaki, T., and Sugaya, M. (2014). Immunological milieu in mycosis fungoides and Sézary syndrome. J. Dermatol. 41, 11–18. doi: 10.1111/1346-8138.12305
- Miyagaki, T., Sugaya, M., Fujita, H., Ohmatsu, H., Kakinuma, T., Kadono, T., et al. (2010). Eotaxins and CCR3 interaction regulates the Th2 environment of cutaneous T-Cell lymphoma. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 130, 2304–2311. doi: 10.1038/ jid.2010.128
- Miyagaki, T., Sugaya, M., Fujita, H., Saeki, H., and Tamaki, K. (2009). Increased serum thymic stromal lymphopoietin levels in patients with cutaneous T cell lymphoma. *Clin. Exp. Dermatol.* 34, 539–540. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2230.2008. 02990.x
- Miyagaki, T., Sugaya, M., Oka, T., Takahashi, N., Kawaguchi, M., Suga, H., et al. (2017). Placental growth factor and vascular endothelial growth factor together regulate tumour progression via increased vasculature in cutaneous t-cell lymphoma. Acta Derm. Venereol. 97, 586–592. doi: 10.2340/00015555-2623
- Miyagaki, T., Sugaya, M., Suga, H., Akamata, K., Ohmatsu, H., Fujita, H., et al. (2012a). Angiogenin levels are increased in lesional skin and sera in patients with erythrodermic cutaneous T cell lymphoma. *Arch. Dermatol. Res.* 304, 401–406. doi: 10.1007/s00403-012-1238-0
- Miyagaki, T., Sugaya, M., Suga, H., Morimura, S., Ohmatsu, H., Fujita, H., et al. (2012b). Low herpesvirus entry mediator (HVEM) expression on dermal fibroblasts contributes to a Th2-dominant microenvironment in advanced cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 132, 1280–1289. doi: 10.1038/ jid.2011.470

- Miyagaki, T., Sugaya, M., Suga, H., Kamata, M., Ohmatsu, H., Fujita, H., et al. (2011). IL-22, but not IL-17, Dominant environment in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 17, 7529–7538. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-11-1192
- Miyagaki, T., Sugaya, M., Suga, H., Ohmatsu, H., Fujita, H., Asano, Y., et al. (2013). Increased CCL18 expression in patients with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma: association with disease severity and prognosis. J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol. 27, e60–e67. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-3083.2012.04495.x
- Miyashiro, D., Vivarelli, A. G., Gonçalves, F., Cury-Martins, J., and Sanches, J. A. (2020). Progression of mycosis fungoides after treatment with dupilumab: a case report. *Dermatol. Ther.* doi: 10.1111/dth.13880 [Epub ahead of print].
- Nakajima, R., Miyagaki, T., Hirakawa, M., Oka, T., Takahashi, N., Suga, H., et al. (2018). Interleukin-25 is involved in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma progression by establishing a T helper 2-dominant microenvironment. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 178, 1373–1382. doi: 10.1111/bjd.16237
- Nakajima, R., Miyagaki, T., Kamijo, H., Oka, T., Shishido-Takahashi, N., Suga, H., et al. (2019). Possible therapeutic applicability of galectin-9 in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. J. Dermatol. Sci. 96, 134–142. doi: 10.1016/j.jdermsci.2019.09.004
- Nattkemper, L. A., Martinez-Escala, M. E., Gelman, A. B., Singer, E. M., Rook, A. H., Guitart, J., et al. (2016). Cutaneous T-cell lymphoma and pruritus: the expression of IL-31 and its receptors in the skin. *Acta Derm. Venereol.* 96, 894–898. doi: 10.2340/00015555-2417
- Nebozhyn, M., Loboda, A., Kari, L., Rook, A. H., Vonderheid, E. C., Lessin, S., et al. (2006). Quantitative PCR on 5 genes reliably identifies CTCL patients with 5% to 99% circulating tumor cells with 90% accuracy. *Blood* 107, 3189–3196. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-07-2813
- Nguyen, V., Huggins, R. H., Lertsburapa, T., Bauer, K., Rademaker, A., Gerami, P., et al. (2008). Cutaneous T-cell lymphoma and *Staphylococcus aureus* colonization. *J. Am. Acad. Dermatol.* 59, 949–952. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2008. 08.030
- Ni, X., Hazarika, P., Zhang, C., Talpur, R., and Duvic, M. (2001). Fas ligand expression by neoplastic T lymphocytes mediates elimination of CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes in mycosis fungoides: a potential mechanism of tumor immune escape? *Clin. Cancer Res.* 7, 2682–2692.
- Ni, X., Zhang, C., Talpur, R., and Duvic, M. (2005). Resistance to activationinduced cell death and bystander cytotoxicity via the Fas/Fas ligand pathway are implicated in the pathogenesis of cutaneous T cell lymphomas. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 124, 741–750. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-202x.2005.23657.x
- Nielsen, M., Nissen, M. H., Gerwien, J., Zocca, M. B., Rasmussen, H. M., Nakajima, K., et al. (2002). Spontaneous interleukin-5 production in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma lines is mediated by constitutively activated Stat3. *Blood* 99, 973– 977. doi: 10.1182/blood.v99.3.973
- Novelli, S., Monter, A., Pilar García-Muret, M., Martino, R., Briones, J., and Sierra, J. (2019). Discussion on the indication of allogeneic stem cell transplantation for advanced cutaneous T cell lymphomas. *Int. J. Hematol.* 110, 406–410. doi: 10.1007/s12185-019-02707-w
- Odum, N., Lindahl, L. M., Wod, M., Krejsgaard, T., Skytthe, A., Woetmann, A., et al. (2017). Investigating heredity in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma in a unique cohort of Danish twins. *Blood Cancer J*. 7:e517. doi: 10.1038/bcj.2016.128
- Ohmatsu, H., Sugaya, M., Suga, H., Morimura, S., Miyagaki, T., Kai, H., et al. (2012). Serum IL-31 levels are increased in patients with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Acta Derm. Venereol.* 92, 282–283. doi: 10.2340/00015555-1345
- Ohta, K., Shigeishi, H., Taki, M., Nishi, H., Higashikawa, K., Takechi, M., et al. (2008). Regulation of CXCL9/11 in oral keratinocytes and fibroblasts. *J. Dent. Res.* 87, 1160–1165. doi: 10.1177/154405910808701211
- Papadavid, E., Economidou, J., Psarra, A., Kapsimali, V., Mantzana, V., Antoniou, C., et al. (2003). The relevance of peripheral blood T-helper 1 and 2 cytokine pattern in the evaluation of patients with mycosis fungoides and Sézary syndrome. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 148, 709–718. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2133.2003. 05224.x
- Pedersen, I. H., Willerslev-Olsen, A., Vetter-Kauczok, C., Krejsgaard, T., Lauenborg, B., Kopp, K. L., et al. (2013). Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 expression in mycosis fungoides. *Leuk. Lymphoma* 54, 819–826. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2012.726720
- Phyo, Z. H., Shanbhag, S., and Rozati, S. (2020). Update on biology of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Front. Oncol.* 10:765. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00765

- Ralfkiaer, U., Hagedorn, P. H., Bangsgaard, N., Løvendorf, M. B., Ahler, C. B., Svensson, L., et al. (2011). Diagnostic microRNA profiling in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (CTCL). *Blood* 118, 5891–5900.
- Rasheed, H., Tolba Fawzi, M. M., Abdel-Halim, M. R. E., Eissa, A. M., Mohammed Salem, N., and Mahfouz, S. (2010). Immunohistochemical study of the expression of matrix metalloproteinase-9 in skin lesions of mycosis fungoides. *Am. J. Dermatopathol.* 32, 162–169. doi: 10.1097/dad.0b013e3181b72678
- Rook, A. H., Gelfand, J. C., Wysocka, M., Troxel, A. B., Benoit, B., Surber, C., et al. (2015). Topical resiquimod can induce disease regression and enhance T-cell effector functions in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Blood* 126, 1452–1461. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-02-630335
- Rook, A. H., Wood, G. S., Yoo, E. K., Elenitsas, R., Kao, D. M. F., Sherman, M. L., et al. (1999). Interleukin-12 therapy of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma induces lesion regression and cytotoxic T-cell responses. *Blood* 94, 902–908. doi: 10.1182/blood.v94.3.902.415k23\_902\_908
- Rook, A. H., Zaki, M. H., Wysocka, M., Wood, G. S., Duvic, M., Showe, L. C., et al. (2001). The role for interleukin-12 therapy of cutaneous T cell lymphoma. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 941, 177–184.
- Sakamoto, M., Miyagaki, T., Kamijo, H., Oka, T., Takahashi, N., Suga, H., et al. (2018). Serum vascular endothelial growth factor A levels reflect itch severity in mycosis fungoides and Sézary syndrome. *J. Dermatol.* 45, 95–99. doi: 10.1111/ 1346-8138.14033
- Sarris, A. H., Esgleyes-Ribot, T., Crow, M., Broxmeyer, H. E., Karasavvas, N., Pugh, W., et al. (1995). Cytokine loops involving interferon-gamma and IP-10, a cytokine chemotactic for CD4+ lymphocytes: an explanation for the epidermotropism of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma? *Blood* 86, 651–658. doi: 10.1182/blood.v86.2.651.bloodjournal862651
- Scarisbrick, J. J. (2018). Infections in mycosis fungoides and Sezary syndrome are a frequent cause of morbidity and contribute to mortality. What can be done? *Br. J. Dermatol.* 179, 1243–1244. doi: 10.1111/bjd.17194
- Scarisbrick, J. J., Kim, Y. H., Whittaker, S. J., Wood, G. S., Vermeer, M. H., Prince, H. M., et al. (2014). Prognostic factors, prognostic indices and staging in mycosis fungoides and Sézary syndrome: where are we now? *Br. J. Dermatol.* 170, 1226–1236. doi: 10.1111/bjd.12909
- Singer, E. M., Shin, D. B., Nattkemper, L. A., Benoit, B. M., Klein, R. S., Didigu, C. A., et al. (2013). IL-31 is produced by the malignant T-cell population in cutaneous T-Cell lymphoma and correlates with CTCL pruritus. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 133, 2783–2785. doi: 10.1038/jid.2013.227
- Sommer, V. H., Clemmensen, O. J., Nielsen, O., Wasik, M., Lovato, P., Brender, C., et al. (2004). In vivo activation of STAT3 in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. Evidence for an antiapoptotic function of STAT3. *Leukemia* 18, 1288–1295. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2403385
- Stacker, S. A., Williams, S. P., Karnezis, T., Shayan, R., Fox, S. B., and Achen, M. G. (2014). Lymphangiogenesis and lymphatic vessel remodelling in cancer. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 14, 159–172. doi: 10.1038/nrc3677
- Suchin, K. R., Junkins-Hopkins, J. M., and Rook, A. H. (2002). Treatment of stage IA cutaneous T-cell lymphoma with topical application of the immune response modifier imiquimod. *Arch. Dermatol.* 138, 1137–1139.
- Suga, H., Sugaya, M., Miyagaki, T., Ohmatsu, H., Kawaguchi, M., Takahashi, N., et al. (2014). Skin barrier dysfunction and low antimicrobial peptide expression in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 20, 4339–4348. doi: 10.1158/ 1078-0432.ccr-14-0077
- Sugaya, M., Morimura, S., Suga, H., Kawaguchi, M., Miyagaki, T., Ohmatsu, H., et al. (2015). CCR4 is expressed on infiltrating cells in lesional skin of early mycosis fungoides and atopic dermatitis. *J. Dermatol.* 42, 613–615. doi: 10. 1111/1346-8138.12852
- Suzuki, H., Boki, H., Kamijo, H., Nakajima, R., Oka, T., Shishido-Takahashi, N., et al. (2020). YKL-40 promotes proliferation of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma tumor cells through extracellular signal–regulated kinase pathways. J. Invest. Dermatol. 140, 860–868.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2019.09.007
- Takahashi, N., Sugaya, M., Suga, H., Oka, T., Kawaguchi, M., Miyagaki, T., et al. (2016). Thymic stromal chemokine TSLP acts through Th2 cytokine production to induce cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Cancer Res.* 76, 6241–6252. doi: 10.1158/ 0008-5472.can-16-0992
- Talpur, R., Bassett, R., and Duvic, M. (2008). Prevalence and treatment of *Staphylococcus aureus* colonization in patients with mycosis fungoides and Sezary syndrome. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 159, 105–112. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2008. 08612.x

- Tanita, K., Fujimura, T., Sato, Y., Lyu, C., Kambayashi, Y., Ogata, D., et al. (2019). Bexarotene reduces production of CCL22 from tumor-associated macrophages in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Front. Oncol.* 9:907. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019. 00907
- Tensen, C. P., Vermeer, M. H., Van Der Stoop, P. M., Van Beek, P., Scheper, R. J., Boorsma, D. M., et al. (1998). Epidermal interferon-γ inducible protein-10 (IP-10) and monokine induced by γ-interferon (Mig) but not IL-8 mRNA expression is associated with epidermotropism in cutaneous T cell lymphomas. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 111, 222–226. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1747.1998.00263.x
- Thode, C., Woetmann, A., Wandall, H. H., Carlsson, M. C., Qvortrup, K., Kauczok, C. S., et al. (2015). Malignant T cells secrete galectins and induce epidermal hyperproliferation and disorganized stratification in a skin model of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. J. Invest. Dermatol. 135, 238–246. doi: 10.1038/jid.2014.284
- Tokura, Y., Yagi, H., Ohshima, A., Kurokawa, S., Wakita, H., Yokote, R., et al. (1995). Cutaneous colonization with staphylococci influences the disease activity of Sézary syndrome: a potential role for bacterial superantigens. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 133, 6–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.1995.tb02485.x
- Trager, M. H., and Geskin, L. J. (2019). Current status of histone deacetylase inhibitors in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. G. Ital. Dermatol. Venereol. 154, 681–695.
- Tran, J., Morris, L., Vu, A., and Duvic, M. (2020). Development of Sézary syndrome following the administration of dupilumab. *Dermatol. Online J.* 26:17.
- Trautinger, F., Eder, J., Assaf, C., Bagot, M., Cozzio, A., Dummer, R., et al. (2017). European organisation for research and treatment of cancer consensus recommendations for the treatment of mycosis fungoides/Sézary syndrome – Update 2017. Eur. J. Cancer 77, 57–74. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2017.02.027
- Tsicopoulos, A., Chang, Y., Ait Yahia, S., De Nadai, P., and Chenivesse, C. (2013). Role of CCL18 in asthma and lung immunity. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 43, 716–722. doi: 10.1111/cea.12065
- Tuzova, M., Richmond, J., Wolpowitz, D., Curiel-Lewandrowski, C., Chaney, K., Kupper, T., et al. (2015). CCR4 + T cell recruitment to the skin in mycosis fungoides: potential contributions by thymic stromal lymphopoietin and interleukin-16. *Leuk. Lymphoma* 56, 440–449. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2014. 919634
- Umemoto, N., Demitsu, T., Otaki, K., Matsumoto, T., Takazawa, M., Yamada, A., et al. (2020). Dupilumab therapy in Sézary syndrome misdiagnosed as atopic dermatitis: a case report. *J. Dermatol.* doi: 10.1111/1346-8138.15501 [Epub ahead of print].
- Ungewickell, A., Bhaduri, A., Rios, E., Reuter, J., Lee, C. S., Mah, A., et al. (2015). Genomic analysis of mycosis fungoides and Sézary syndrome identifies recurrent alterations in TNFR2. *Nat. Genet.* 47, 1056–1060. doi: 10.1038/ng. 3370
- Vacca, A., Moretti, S., Ribatti, D., Pellegrino, A., Pimpinelli, N., Bianchi, B., et al. (1997). Progression of mycosis fungoides is associated with changes in angiogenesis and expression of the matrix metalloproteinases 2 and 9. *Eur. J. Cancer* 33, 1685–1692. doi: 10.1016/s0959-8049(97)00186-x
- van Lieshout, A. W. T., van der Voort, R., le Blanc, L. M. P., Roelofs, M. F., Schreurs, B. W., van Riel, P. L. C. M., et al. (2006). Novel insights in the regulation of CCL18 secretion by monocytes and dendritic cells via cytokines, Toll-like receptors and rheumatoid synovial fluid. *BMC Immunol.* 7:23. doi: 10.1186/1471-2172-7-23
- Vermeer, M. H., Doorn, R. V., Dukers, D., Bekkenk, M. W., Meijer, C. J. L. M., and Willemze, R. (2001). CD8+ T cells in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma: expression of cytotoxic proteins, Fas ligand, and killing inhibitory receptors and their relationship with clinical behavior. J. Clin. Oncol. 19, 4322–4329. doi: 10.1200/ jco.2001.19.23.4322
- Vieyra-Garcia, P., Crouch, J. D., O'Malley, J. T., Seger, E. W., Yang, C. H., Teague, J. E., et al. (2019). Benign T cells drive clinical skin inflammation in cutaneous T cell lymphoma. *JCI Insight* 4:e124233.
- Vowels, B. R., Lessin, S. R., Cassin, M., Jaworsky, C., Benoit, B., Wolfe, J. T., et al. (1994). Th2 cytokine mRNA expression in skin in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 103, 669–673. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12398454
- Vulcano, M., Albanesi, C., Stoppacciaro, A., Bagnati, R., D'Amico, G., Struyf, S., et al. (2001). Dendritic cells as a major source of macrophage-derived chemokine/CCL22 in vitro and in vivo. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 31, 812–822. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200103)31:3<812::aid-immu812>3.0.co;2-1
- Wang, L., Ni, X., Covington, K. R., Yang, B. Y., Shiu, J., Zhang, X., et al. (2015). Genomic profiling of Sézary syndrome identifies alterations of key T cell

signaling and differentiation genes. Nat. Genet. 47, 1426–1434. doi: 10.1038/ ng.3444

- Willemze, R., Cerroni, L., Kempf, W., Berti, E., Facchetti, F., Swerdlow, S. H., et al. (2019). The 2018 update of the WHO-EORTC classification for primary cutaneous lymphomas. *Blood* 133, 1703–1714. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-11-881268
- Willerslev-Olsen, A., Buus, T. B., Nastasi, C., Blumel, E., Gluud, M., Bonefeld, C. M., et al. (2020). *Staphylococcus aureus* enterotoxins induce FOXP3 in neoplastic T cells in Sezary syndrome. *Blood Cancer J.* 10:57.
- Willerslev-Olsen, A., Krejsgaard, T., Lindahl, L. M., Bonefeld, C. M., Wasik, M. A., Koralov, S. B., et al. (2013). Bacterial toxins fuel disease progression in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Toxins* 5, 1402–1421. doi: 10.3390/toxins5081402
- Willerslev-Olsen, A., Krejsgaard, T., Lindahl, L. M., Litvinov, I. V., Fredholm, S., Petersen, D. L., et al. (2016). Staphylococcal enterotoxin A (SEA) stimulates STAT3 activation and IL-17 expression in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Blood* 127, 1287–1296. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-08-662353
- Woetmann, A., Lovato, P., Eriksen, K. W., Krejsgaard, T., Labuda, T., Zhang, Q., et al. (2007). Nonmalignant T cells stimulate growth of T-cell lymphoma cells in the presence of bacterial toxins. *Blood* 109, 3325–3332. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-04-017863
- Wood, G. S., Edinger, A., Hoppe, R. T., and Warnke, R. A. (1994). Mycosis fungoides skin lesions contain CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes expressing an activated, MHC-restricted cytotoxic T-lymphocyte phenotype. *J. Cutan. Pathol.* 21, 151–156. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0560.1994.tb00250.x
- Woollard, W. J., Pullabhatla, V., Lorenc, A., Patel, V. M., Butler, R. M., Bayega, A., et al. (2016). Candidate driver genes involved in genome maintenance and DNA repair in Sezary syndrome. *Blood* 127, 3387–3397. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-02-699843

- Wysocka, M., Newton, S., Benoit, B. M., Introcaso, C., Hancock, A. S., Chehimi, J., et al. (2007). Synthetic imidazoquinolines potently and broadly activate the cellular immune response of patients with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma: synergy with interferon-γ enhances production of interleukin-12. *Clin. Lymphoma Myeloma* 7, 524–534. doi: 10.3816/clm.2007.n.037
- Xu, M., and Dong, C. (2017). IL-25 in allergic inflammation. *Immunol. Rev.* 278, 185–191. doi: 10.1111/imr.12558
- Zhang, Q., Nowak, I., Vonderheid, E. C., Rook, A. H., Kadin, M. E., Nowell, P. C., et al. (1996). Activation of Jak/STAT proteins involved in signal transduction pathway mediated by receptor for interleukin 2 in malignant T lymphocytes derived from cutaneous anaplastic large T-cell lymphoma and Sezary syndrome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 93, 9148–9153. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.17.9148
- Zhang, Q., Raghunath, P. N., Vonderheid, E., Ødum, N., and Wasik, M. A. (2000). Lack of phosphotyrosine phosphatase SHP-1 expression in malignant T-cell lymphoma cells results from methylation of the SHP-1 promoter. *Am. J. Pathol.* 157, 1137–1146. doi: 10.1016/s0002-9440(10)64629-9

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Stolearenco, Namini, Hasselager, Gluud, Buus, Willerslev-Olsen, Ødum and Krejsgaard. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Stromal Expression of the Core Clock Gene *Period 2* Is Essential for Tumor Initiation and Metastatic Colonization

Lee Shaashua<sup>†</sup>, Shimrit Mayer<sup>†</sup>, Chen Lior<sup>†</sup>, Hagar Lavon, Alexander Novoselsky and Ruth Scherz-Shouval<sup>\*</sup>

Department of Biomolecular Sciences, Weizmann Institute of Science, Rehovot, Israel

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Tomer Cooks, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Israel

#### Reviewed by:

Edyta Reszka, Nofer Institute of Occupational Medicine, Poland Moshe Elkabets, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Israel

#### \*Correspondence:

Ruth Scherz-Shouval ruth.shouval@weizmann.ac.il <sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed

equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

Received: 27 July 2020 Accepted: 03 September 2020 Published: 02 October 2020

#### Citation:

Shaashua L, Mayer S, Lior C, Lavon H, Novoselsky A and Scherz-Shouval R (2020) Stromal Expression of the Core Clock Gene Period 2 Is Essential for Tumor Initiation and Metastatic Colonization. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 8:587697. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.587697 The circadian clock regulates diverse physiological processes by maintaining a 24-h gene expression pattern. Genetic and environmental cues that disrupt normal clock rhythms can lead to cancer, yet the extent to which this effect is controlled by the cancer cells versus non-malignant cells in the tumor microenvironment (TME) is not clear. Here we set out to address this question, by selective manipulation of circadian clock genes in the TME. In two different mouse models of cancer we find that expression of the core clock gene *Per2* in the TME is crucial for tumor initiation and metastatic colonization, whereas another core gene, *Per1*, is dispensable. We further show that loss of *Per2* in the TME leads to significant transcriptional changes in response to cancer cell introduction. These changes may contribute to a tumor-suppressive microenvironment. Thus, our work unravels an unexpected protumorigenic role for the core clock gene *Per2* in the TME, with potential implications for therapeutic dosing strategies and treatment regimens.

Keywords: circadian clock, *Per2*, tumor microenvironment, colon cancer, chronobiology, metastasis, liver, MC38 colon cancer cells

## INTRODUCTION

The circadian clock is an endogenous, evolutionally conserved and ubiquitously expressed pacemaker, consisting of cell autonomous clocks and a central pacemaker located in the hypothalamus suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN). Together these clocks synchronize numerous biological processes between the organism and its environment. Amongst these processes are DNA damage repair, metabolism, and cell cycle (Blakeman et al., 2016). The circadian clocks act as oscillators to drive 24-h rhythms in gene expression and protein function, and these rhythms help the organism maintain a homeostatic relationship with the environment (Padmanabhan and Billaud, 2017). Disruption of circadian rhythms has been associated with various forms of cancer in humans, and it has been shown that a disordered circadian clock, whether genetically or due to environmental signals (e.g., changes of dark/light exposure) accelerates tumor progression (Savvidis and Koutsilieris, 2012; Hadadi et al., 2019). Additionally, epidemiological studies show that women who work in irregular shift work may be at higher risk of developing breast cancer (Schernhammer et al., 2003; Hansen and Stevens, 2012; Blakeman et al., 2016). Moreover, the toxicity and efficacy of various cancer therapies is dictated by time-of-day (Kobayashi et al., 2002;

Lauriola et al., 2014; Borniger et al., 2017). Cancer cells with a disrupted clock show increased growth in culture, and mice with a disrupted clock tend to develop more radiation-induced tumors than wild type (WT) mice (Shostak, 2017). Mutations in genes that regulate the molecular clock have been found in human cancer samples, indicating a gene-specific causal relation between the circadian clock and cancer (Kettner et al., 2014). At the cellular level, most cancer cell-lines show loss of rhythmicity, specifically of genes that are related to proliferation and apoptosis, thus enabling their uncontrolled proliferation (Relógio et al., 2014).

The currently held molecular model for circadian rhythmicity is based on a transcription-translation feedback loop. This mechanism includes the transcription factors BMAL1 and CLOCK that drive transcription of the Period (Per) and Cryptochrome (Cry) genes. Then, PER and CRY proteins dimerize, translocate to the nucleus and repress Clock-Bmal1 transcription. This orchestrated machinery results in periodic expression of approximately half of the mammalian genes (Zhang et al., 2014). Previous studies found that Per1 and Per2 are essential for the proper function of the circadian clock, while the contribution of Per3 is not as important (Bae et al., 2001). Per2 was shown to be essential for proper function of the circadian clock under conditions of constant dark or light, as mice lacking Per2 exhibit a faulty clock that is reflected by a shorter period and rhythmic instability (Zheng et al., 1999; Tamiya et al., 2016). In vitro, loss of Per1 or Per2 was suggested to have a much milder effect on cell rhythmicity (Ramanathan et al., 2014), compared to the effect observed in vivo.

It is well established that the non-malignant components of the tumor, also termed the tumor microenvironment (TME) are an integral and essential part of the tumor. The TME is composed of many cell types, including immune cells, cancer associated fibroblasts (CAF), endothelial cells, and extracellular matrix (ECM). The TME is essential for tumor formation, homeostasis, and progression (Quail and Joyce, 2013; Yuan et al., 2016; Jin et al., 2017). It is dynamically reshaped, thus certain cell populations in the TME can be detrimental for early stages of tumor initiation, while protumorigenic in later stages of tumor progression (Lu et al., 2012; Bercovici et al., 2019; Lin et al., 2019; Wei et al., 2020). Previous studies have shown that cancer cells within a tumor lose their rhythmicity, yet there is sparse data about rhythmicity of the TME. This is partially due to the fact that the vast majority of published studies on cancer and circadian clocks used mouse models in which both the TME and the cancer cells are affected by a disrupted clock, either by genetic mutations or by environmental cues. Recently it was shown that mice with environmentally disrupted clocks had a more protumorigenic immune microenvironment in breast cancer (Hadadi et al., 2019) and thoracic cancer (Yang et al., 2019). Pan-cancer analysis supported these findings, and suggested that circadian genes are involved in the regulation of cancer immunity (Zhou et al., 2020). Not only the immune microenvironment, but also CAFs were proposed to play a role in clock regulation in cancer, when shown that co-culturing colon cancer cells with CAFs improved the rhythmicity of cancer cells (Fuhr

et al., 2019). Gaining a better understanding of how circadian clocks in the TME affect the development and progression of the tumor could lead to novel therapeutic advances and approaches. It is possible that synchronization, or lack of synchronization, between the TME and the cancer cells, plays a role in cancer progression. For example, tumors may rely on the TME maintaining intact circadian rhythms to compensate for imbalances resulting from loss of rhythmicity in the cancer cells. Alternatively, loss of rhythmicity may be essential for cells of the TME to shift from antitumorigenic to protumorigenic. In this study we set out to explore the role of the circadian clock in the TME. Using orthotopic injection of cancer cells into clock-deficient mice, we find that stromal Per2, but not Per1, is required for tumor growth and metastatic colonization. Loss of Per2 in the TME leads to transcriptional rewiring at early stages of metastases formation, and suppresses subsequent metastatic tumor progression, highlighting Per2 as an unexpected protumorigenic mediator in the TME.

## RESULTS

## The Circadian Rhythm in Cancer Cells Is Disrupted, While Normal Fibroblasts Maintain a Robust Rhythm, *in vitro*

A disrupted circadian clock is associated with tumorigenesis, and cancer cells are thought to express a less robust clock compared to non-malignant cells (Welsh et al., 2004; Kiessling et al., 2017). To test this, we set out to evaluate the rhythmicity of NIH3T3, a nonmalignant immortalized fibroblast cell line, and of three cancer cell lines - MC38 (colon), LLC (lung), and E0771 (breast) using continuous bioluminescence monitoring of cells. Cells were transduced with a Per2 promotor-driven luciferase reporter (Yoo et al., 2004; Liu et al., 2008), synchronized by the synthetic glucocorticoid Dexamethasone, and longitudinally assessed using a LumiCycle luminometer (Yamazaki and Takahashi, 2005). To better understand the rhythmic behavior of cells, we developed a regression model that calculates the period length  $(\pi)$  of the curve (see "Materials and Methods"). The coefficient of determination  $R^2$  can be used as a readout for how closely our empiric data follows a sinusoidal pattern. As evident by the period and the coefficient of determination, NIH3T3 fibroblasts exhibited robust rhythmicity (Figure 1A), while all three cancer cell lines were less rhythmic than NIH3T3 (Figures 1B-D). E0771 cells exhibited the highest coefficient of determination of all three cancer cell lines, indicating that their rhythmicity is the most intact, while still less robust than that of non-malignant cells. The period length of all three cancer cell lines was longer than that of the fibroblasts, with LLC having the longest period (28.3 h), followed by E0771 (27.2 h), and MC38 (26.3 h). Next, we asked whether the rhythmicity of the NIH3T3 fibroblasts could be disrupted by loss of Per1/Per2. We knocked down Per1 and Per2 using siRNA and assessed their rhythmicity using bioluminescence. Indeed, we found that deletion of *Per1* and *Per2* impairs cell rhythmicity (Figures 1E,F). These results suggest that the rhythmicity of cancer cells is disrupted, in vitro, while normal cells maintain



non-linear regression model coefficient of determination are presented (see "Materials and Methods"). The curves are an average of 3 technical repeats, and are representative of at least two independent experiments. (**E**,**F**) *Per1* and *Per2* were knocked down in Per2::luc-expressing NIH3T3 cells using siRNA. The cells were synchronized by dexamethasone and their luminescence was measured continuously (every 12 min) in a LumiCycle luminometer. (**E**) Period and the non-linear regression model coefficient of determination are presented. The curves are an average of 3 technical repeats, and are representative of two experiments. (**F**) Validation of *Per* gene knockedown efficiency at two time points by RT-PCR is presented as mean ± SEM.

a functional clock, the activity of which is dependent on the expression of the core clock genes *Per1* and *Per2*.

## Loss of *Per1* and *Per2* Inhibits Metastatic Colonization

Several reports have shown that depletion of the Per family genes enhances cancer cell growth and tumor progression (Fu et al., 2002; Gery et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2009; Papagiannakopoulos et al., 2016). To understand how loss of rhythmicity in the TME affects tumor growth, we used a mouse model of liver metastasis, employing a syngeneic colorectal cancer cell line (MC38) in C57Bl/6 mice. Since the liver functions in a circadian manner (Reinke and Asher, 2016, 2019), and is affected directly by the feeding patterns of the organism, it serves as a good model to investigate the circadian clock in vivo (Tahara and Shibata, 2016). In our model, 20,000 cancer cells were injected to the hepatic portal vein of mice, producing liver metastases 21 days post injection. We applied this model to WT and  $Per1^{-/-}Per2^{-/-}$  mice to assess the effect of a clock-impaired TME on metastatic colonization. Surprisingly, Per1<sup>-/-</sup>Per2<sup>-/-</sup> mice had a lower metastatic burden than WT mice, as measured by the reduced number of metastases and lower liver/body weight ratio (Figures 2A-C and Supplementary Figure 1A). WT mice developed dozens of liver metastases, which exhibited substantial ECM rearrangements, as evident by Sirius red staining for collagen, and were heavily infiltrated by α-SMA-positive CAFs (Figure 2D). In stark contrast, the livers of  $Per1^{-/-}Per2^{-/-}$  mice had significantly fewer metastases, and stained mostly negative for  $\alpha$ -SMA and Sirius Red (Figure 2D). These results suggest that loss of Per genes in the stroma inhibits metastatic colonization and ECM-remodeling of the metastatic niche.

T-cells are a major component of the TME, and have a key role in the cytotoxic activity against cancer cells. To assess whether T cells mediate the tumor growth inhibition observed in Per1-/-Per2-/- mice, as well as to exclude the possibility that Per1<sup>-/-</sup>Per2<sup>-/-</sup> mice reject the MC38 cancer cells due to their expression of Per1 and Per2 genes, we injected cancer cells into WT or  $Per1^{-/-}Per2^{-/-}$  mice in which T cells were depleted by CD4 and CD8 antibodies (Supplementary Figure 1B). CD4 and CD8 antibodies were injected 2 days prior to the injection of cancer cells, and every 5 days until the endpoint, and the efficiency of depletion was verified by FACS analysis (**Supplementary Figure 1B**).  $Per1^{-/-}Per2^{-/-}$  mice were significantly more resistant to metastatic colonization than WT mice, even upon T cell depletion (Figures 2E-G). The effect of  $Per1^{-/-}Per2^{-/-}$  loss in the TME was similar in the presence and absence of T cells (Figure 2H). Together, these results suggest that T cells do not mediate stromal Per1<sup>-/-</sup>Per2<sup>-/-</sup>-associated tumor inhibition.

## Stromal *Per*2 Regulates Tumor Progression

It is well established that both *Per1* and *Per2* are essential for maintaining proper circadian clock activity (Bae et al., 2001). To test whether both genes are also essential for the stromal regulation of tumor progression, we injected MC38 cancer cells to the portal vein of mice in which each of the *Per* genes (*Per1, Per2*) was knocked-out separately, and assessed metastatic colonization. WT mice were used as control.  $Per2^{-/-}$  mice exhibited significantly lower metastatic burden than WT mice (**Figures 3A-C**). Loss of *Per1*, on the other hand, did not affect metastasis, and  $Per1^{-/-}$  mice exhibited significantly content of the strong of



**FIGURE 2** Clock deficient mice exhibit lower metastatic burden. (**A–D**) WT and  $Per1^{-/-}Per2^{-/-}$  mice were injected with MC38 cancer cells into the hepatic portal vein. At 21 days post injection macrometastases were quantified by visual inspection (**A**) and the ratio of liver weight to body weight was calculated (**B**). n = 13-16 mice per genotype combined from three independent experiments. *P*-value was calculated using unpaired Student's *t*-test with Welch's correction. Error bars represent SEM. (**C**) Representative images of livers from WT and  $Per1^{-/-}Per2^{-/-}$  mice. (**D**) Representative Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E), Sirius red (SR), and  $\alpha$ -SMA staining of livers from WT and  $Per1^{-/-}Per2^{-/-}$  mice. Scale bar  $-200 \,\mu$ m; inset  $-67 \,\mu$ m; T-tumor, N-normal tissue. (**E–H**) WT and  $Per1^{-/-}Per2^{-/-}$  mice were unified by visual inspection (**E**) and the ratio of liver weight to body weight was calculated (**F**). n = 7-8 per genotype combined from two independent experiments. *P*-value was calculated using unpaired Student's *t*-test. (**G**) Representative images of livers from WT and  $Per1^{-/-}Per2^{-/-}$  mice were injected with antibodies of CD4+ and CD8+ 2 days prior to MC38 injection and every 5 days until the end point. At 21 days post injection macrometastases were quantified by visual inspection (**E**) and the ratio of liver weight to body weight was calculated (**F**). n = 7-8 per genotype combined from two independent experiments. *P*-value was calculated using unpaired Student's *t*-test. (**G**) Representative images of livers from WT and  $Per1^{-/-}Per2^{-/-}$  mice with T cell depletion are shown. (**H**) The number of metastases in normal and T cell depleted  $Per1^{-/-}Per2^{-/-}$  mice was normalized to the average number of metastases in WT mice. *P*-value was calculated using unpaired Student's *t*-test. In all figures error bars represent SEM, \*p < 0.005, \*\*p < 0.005, \*\*p < 0.0005.

burden to that of WT (**Figures 3D-F**).  $Per2^{-/-}$  livers also showed less collagen deposition and CAF infiltration than WT (**Figure 3G**), while the amount and the structure of collagen and infiltrating CAFs was similar between  $Per1^{-/-}$  and WT livers (**Figure 3H**). These results suggest that stromal *Per2* is essential for metastatic colonization, while *Per1* is dispensable, thus implying that the effect of stromal *Per2* knock-out on metastatic colonization may be clock-independent.

## Transcriptional Analysis of WT and *Per2<sup>-/-</sup>* Livers Suggests a Role for *Per2* in Eliciting a Pre-metastatic Niche

We hypothesized that stromal Per2 plays a role in preparing the hepatic niche for the initiation of metastasis. To test this hypothesis, we injected MC38 cancer cells (or PBS, as control) to the portal vein of  $Per2^{-/-}$  and WT mice, harvested the livers 1 week following injection, and performed RNA-sequencing on total liver extracts (Supplementary Table 1). At this early stage only micrometastases ( $\sim 0.0005 \text{ mm}^3$ ), and not macrometastases ( $\sim$ 5 mm<sup>3</sup> at 3 weeks) were visible in WT livers (Figure 4A). The average area covered by metastases in the liver was 0.7% in WT mice and 0.05% in  $Per2^{-/-}$  mice at this early time point (compared to 34.3% in WT mice and 8.7% in  $Per2^{-/-}$  mice at 3 weeks post injection; Figure 4B). Therefore, we assume that the sequencing data represents mostly the normal liver and the pre-metastatic niche, and not cancer cells. Principal component analysis (PCA) showed that the basal transcriptional landscape of WT and  $Per2^{-/-}$  livers is different, and further changes following injection of cancer cells (Supplementary Figure 2B). Hierarchical clustering highlighted 1222 differentially expressed genes between WT and Per2<sup>-/-</sup> livers injected with PBS or with MC38 cancer cells (Figure 4C and Supplementary Table 1). In the control mice (PBS), loss of  $Per2^{-/-}$  led to upregulation of the response to interferon-beta (Ifit1, Stat1, Tgtp1, Eif2ak2), catabolism (Adam9, Pik3c2a, Tnfaip3, Rock1), wound healing (Cd36, Cldn1, Pdpn, Pdgfra, Pten), recycling of bile acids and salts (Slc10a2, Abcb11, Slc01b2), and neutrophil degranulation (Adam10, Ctsc, Degs1; Figure 4C and cluster 4 and Supplementary Table 2). Apoptosis (Akt1, Bad, Bcl2l1, Bnip3), carboxylic acid biosynthesis (Aldoa, Apoa1, Apoa4, Ccnd3), and the cellular response to reactive oxygen species (Sod3, Pdk2, *Park7*, *Ccs*) were downregulated in the  $Per2^{-/-}$  livers (Figure 4C) and cluster 3 and Supplementary Table 2). The same genes and pathways were also downregulated (though to a lesser extent) following injection of MC38 cells to either WT or Per2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, suggesting that these are genes involved in normal liver functions that fail to function properly upon loss of  $Per2^{-/-}$  or in early cancer stages (Figure 4C, cluster 3). We could not identify pathways upregulated in WT livers 1 week after cancer cell injection. In  $Per2^{-/-}$  livers, however, we observed upregulation of genes involved in autophagy (Ulk1, Plk3, Sesn2), circadian regulation (Ngfr, Klf10, Atf5), and inhibition of cell proliferation (Ngfr, Hes1, Tob1) following cancer cell injection (Figure 4C and cluster 1 and Supplementary Table 2). This analysis suggests that in early stages of metastases formation, house-keeping genes are downregulated in WT livers, while only minor transcriptional

upregulation is observed. Loss of *Per2*, however, rearranges the premetastatic liver niche, in a manner that activates tumor suppressing pathways in response to the presence of cancer cells, resulting in attenuated metastatic spread.

We further interrogated our RNA-sequencing data using CIBERSORT. This tool provides an estimation of the abundance of various cell types in a mixed cell population, based on expression of cell-type specific hallmark genes (Newman et al., 2019). We compiled several published single-cell datasets to create a reference dataset with which we examined the composition of our samples [Supplementary Table 3 and references (Heng and Painter, 2008; Dobie et al., 2019; Xiong et al., 2019)]. We found that the cellular composition is similar across samples (Supplementary Table 4), with one exception: cholangiocytes were significantly elevated in Per2<sup>-/-</sup> livers compared to WT livers (Supplementary Figure 2C and Supplementary Table 4). While this analysis did not highlight changes in cholangiocyte numbers between MC38 treated and non-treated livers, these findings suggest that Per2 plays a role in cholangiocyte homeostasis. These findings are in line with previous reports showing that deletion of Per2 exacerbates cholestatic liver injury and fibrosis (Chen et al., 2013). The majority of cells detected in all of our samples were hepatocytes (>95%, Supplementary Table 4), suggesting that transcriptional rewiring of these cells, rather than changes in cell composition, leads to the observed changes in gene expression.

## Loss of *Per2* in the Stroma Impairs Primary Tumor Growth

Next, we asked whether stromal Per2 is essential not only for metastatic colonization, but also for primary tumor formation. We used two orthotropic models: The E0771 triple negative breast cancer cell line injected to the mammary fat pad, and the MC38 colon cancer cell line (used for the liver metastasis model) injected into the colon submucosa by an endoscopyguided procedure [as described in Zigmond et al. (2011)]. In both models, cancer cells were injected to  $Per2^{-/-}$  and WT mice, and tumor volume was assessed at the end point.  $Per2^{-/-}$ mice exhibited significantly smaller E0771 tumors compared to WT mice (Figure 5A), and a similar trend was seen for the MC38 colon model (Figure 5B). Taken together with our results from the liver metastasis model, these results suggest that stromal Per2 is required for tumor formation both in the primary site as well as in the metastatic site. These findings also imply that PER2 is required throughout the course of tumor progression and metastasis.

## DISCUSSION

Disrupted circadian rhythms are generally thought to contribute to tumorigenesis and poor prognosis (Savvidis and Koutsilieris, 2012; Hadadi et al., 2019). However, much of the work performed on cancer and rhythmicity, to date, was done in a context in which both cancer cells and their microenvironment have disrupted clocks. Here we found that expression of the core clock gene *Per2* in the TME supports different stages of cancer



**FIGURE 3** [Stromal *Per2*, and not *Per1* promotes metastatic colonization. (**A**–**C**) WT and  $Per2^{-/-}$  mice were injected with MC38 cancer cells into the hepatic portal vein. At 21 days post injection (**A**) macrometastases were quantified by visual inspection and (**B**) the ratio of liver weight to body weight was calculated. n = 9-10 mice per genotype combined from three independent experiments. (**C**) Representative images of livers from WT and  $Per2^{-/-}$  mice are shown. (**D**–**F**) WT and  $Per1^{-/-}$  mice were injected with MC38 cancer cells into the hepatic portal vein. At 21 days post injection macrometastases were quantified by visual inspection (**D**) and the ratio of liver weight to body weight was calculated (**E**). n = 11 mice per genotype combined from three independent experiments. (**F**) Representative images of livers from WT and  $Per1^{-/-}$  mice are shown. (**G**,**H**) Representative H&E, Sirius red (SR), and  $\alpha$ -SMA staining of livers from WT,  $Per2^{-/-}$  and  $Per1^{-/-}$  mice harvested at day 21 post injection. Scale bar – 200  $\mu$ m, inset – 67  $\mu$ m; T-tumor N-normal tissue. *P*-value was calculated using unpaired Student's *t*-test. Error bars represent SEM, \* $\rho < 0.05$ .



portal vein and sacrificed 1 or 3 weeks post injection, as indicated. PBS was injected to control mice which were sacrificed 1 week post injection. n = 4-5 mice per genotype. (A) Representative H&E staining of livers from WT and  $Per2^{-/-}$  mice post injection of PBS or MC38 cancer cells. Scale bar – 200 µm, inset – 67 µm; T-tumor, N-normal tissue. (B) The area covered by metastases in MC38-injected livers was calculated by QuPath based on H&E images. *P*-value was calculated using two way ANOVA. Error bars represent SEM, \*\*\*p < 0.0005. (C) RNA-sequencing was performed on livers of WT and  $Per2^{-/-}$  mice injected with MC38 (n = 4 per genotype) and PBS (n = 2 per genotype). Heatmap showing hierarchical clustering of 1222 differentially expressed genes between all four conditions. Pathway analysis was performed using Metascape. Significant pathways are shown; p < 0.05, FDR < 0.05 (for details see **Supplementary Table 2**).



were sacrificed at day 32, and tumor volume was calculated. n = 11-13 per genotype, combined from two independent experiments. (B) WT and  $Per2^{-/-}$  mice were injected with MC38 cancer cells into the colon wall. Mice were sacrificed at day 14 and tumor volume was calculated. n = 10-14 per genotype combined from two independent experiments. *P*-value was calculated using unpaired student's *t*-test with Welch's correction. Error bars represent SEM, \*\*p < 0.005.

progression. Employing different orthotopic tumor models, we showed that loss of stromal *Per2*, but not *Per1*, inhibits tumorigenesis and metastasis.

The circadian clock is a major regulator of metabolism and cell cycle and its disruption is well known to promote cancer. In cancer cells, both PER1 and PER2 were shown to act as tumor suppressors (Fu et al., 2002, 2016; Yang et al., 2009; Su et al., 2017; Zhu et al., 2019; Hou et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2020) and mutations in these genes were associated with human cancer (Chen et al., 2005; Kettner et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2019). However, whether these effects are clock-dependent is not clear. Moreover, despite the expansive knowledge of Per1 and Per2 roles in cancer cells, their roles in the TME were largely overlooked. Here we show that selective loss of the core clock genes Per1 and Per2 in the TME not only does not promote cancer but actually inhibits tumor growth and metastatic colonization. These findings suggest that the tumor-suppressive effects of PER1 and PER2 are most likely restricted to the cancer cells themselves, whereas in the TME PER1 and PER2 play different roles, that may be clockindependent.

The TME is comprised of different cell types. Which of these cell types contributes to the observed inhibitory effect of Per2 loss on tumor growth and metastasis? Recent studies suggested an immune-regulatory role for Per genes in the TME, as mice with disrupted clocks have more protumorigenic immune microenvironments. Yet we find that T cell depletion does not compensate for the Per1-/-Per2-/--driven inhibition of tumor growth, nor do we detect immune cell transcriptional signatures in early stages of metastases formation, suggesting that the adaptive immune microenvironment does not mediate this effect. Various other cell types play protumorigenic roles in the TME. We observed increased numbers of cholangiocytes in  $Per2^{-/-}$  mice, which may contribute to the anti-tumorigenic TME. Additionally, we detect massive transcriptional changes in hepatocytes of the pre-metastatic niche. Indeed, hepatocytes were recently reported to drive the formation of a pro-metastatic niche in the liver (Lee et al., 2019). CAFs were also proposed

to play a role in clock regulation of cancer (Fuhr et al., 2019), and are generally known to have key roles in cancer progression. We observed massive infiltration of  $\alpha$ -SMA-positive CAFs and collagen secretion in WT tumors which were not seen in  $Per2^{-/-}$ or  $Per1^{-/-}Per2^{-/-}$  mice. Whether this CAF infiltration is driven by *Per2* in fibroblasts, or perhaps by *Per2* in other cells of the TME, remains to be determined in future studies.

The liver is a circadian organ, which allows for the circadian regulation of different metabolic functions, such as the synthesis and metabolism of glucose, lipid, cholesterol, and bile acid (Bass and Takahashi, 2010; Ferrell and Chiang, 2015). These pathways are massively deregulated in  $Per2^{-/-}$  mice. Injection of cancer cells leads to further deregulation of these pathways, and induces other pathways (autophagy and inhibition of proliferation) which may contribute to the tumor-suppressive environment that prevents subsequent metastatic tumor growth. These processes may explain why, while PER2 serves as a tumor suppressor in cancer cells, it serves as a protumorigenic factor in the TME. In circadian biology, PER1, and PER2 function together to regulate clock functions. Our results show that Per2, but not *Per1*, plays an important role in the stromal regulation of tumor progression. These findings may imply a non-circadian role for Per2, differentiating it from Per1, and offering a new attractive therapeutic target in the TME.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Ethics Statement**

All animal studies were conducted in accordance with the regulations formulated by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC; protocols #02100220-2 and #02550418-3).

#### Mice

 $Per1^{-/-}Per2^{-/-}$  (Zheng et al., 2001) were back crossed to C57BL/6 (Adamovich et al., 2019) and single  $Per1^{-/-}$ ,  $Per2^{-/-}$ , were generated (kindly provided by Gad Asher, WIS). These

mice and WT C57Bl/6 controls (ENVIGO RMS, Israel) were maintained under specific-pathogen-free conditions at the Weizmann Institute's animal facility.

## **Cell Culture**

MC38 mouse colon cancer cells (kindly provided by Lea Eisenbach, WIS), LLC mouse lung carcinoma cells (kindly provided by Zvika Granot, HUJI), E0771 mouse breast cancer cells (kindly provided by Ronen Alon, WIS), and NIH3T3 mouse fibroblasts cell line (ECACC, #93061524) were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) (Biological Industries, 01-052-1A) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Invitrogen), 1% pen-strep and 1% L-glutamine (Biological Industries). All cell lines were maintained at 37°C in 5% CO2 and regularly tested for mycoplasma by PCR assay (Biological Industries). For orthotropic and portal vein injections, the cells were suspended at 80–90% confluence by treatment with 0.25% trypsin, 0.02% EDTA and washed with 1x phosphate buffered saline (PBS).

# Generation of Per2::Luc Cells by Lentiviral Infection

pLenti6-B4B2 construct expressing *Per2-dLuc* (Liu et al., 2008) (kindly provided by Gad Asher, WIS) was inserted into MC38, LLC, NIH-3T3, and E0771 cells using lentiviral infection. After infection, the cells were selected by blasticidin-containing complete DMEM for 10 days.

### **Real-Time Luminescence Monitoring**

Cells were seeded into black, clear bottom 24-well plates (Provair) and synchronized with 100 nM Dexamethasone treatment for 20 min. Bioluminescence was measured by a LumiCycle luminometer (Actimetrics) every 12 min for at least 3 days in the presence of luciferin (Promega) in the cell culture medium. For siRNA experiments, 24 h after seeding, NIH3T3 Per2::luc cells were transfected with siRNA for the specified genes (SMART Pool siRNA, Dharmacon). After 24 h cells were synchronized by Dexamethasone and bioluminescence was measured as described above.

# Mathematical Analysis of Bioluminescence Data

To evaluate the rhythmicity of Per2::luc cells we created a CircadLib package for the MATLAB R2017b environment using a non-linear regression model. The model includes a constant level and one sinusoid to estimate the curve parameters – amplitude, phase and period. To remove effects of cell proliferation and signal decline the algorithm uses a de-trending function. To remove technical noise, the moving average method was used. This analysis yields two parameters:  $R^2$  – indicating how similar the curve is to a sinusoid, and  $\pi$  – indicating the period length.

## **Quantitative RT-PCR Analysis**

Total RNA was extracted from cells using Bio-Tri reagent (Bio-Lab). mRNA was reverse-transcribed using the High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems).

TABLE 1 | Primers used in this study.

	Forward	Reverse
HPRT	CATAACCTGGTTCATCATCGC	TCCTCCTCAGACCGCTTTT
TBP	CCCTATCACTCCTGCCACACCAGC	GTGCAATGGTCTTTAGGTCA
		AGTTTACAGCC
b2m	ACCGGCCTGTATGCTATCCAGAAA	GGTGAATTCAGTGTGA
		GCCAGGAT
Per1	ACCAGCCATTCCGCCTAAC	CGGGGAGCTTCATAACCAGA
Per2	GAAAGCTGTCACCACCATAGAA	AACTCGCACTTCCTTTTCAGG

Quantitative RT-PCR analysis was performed using Fast SYBR Green Master mix (Applied Biosystems) with the primers listed in **Table 1**.

# Liver Metastatic Colonization via Portal Vein Injection

Sixteen weeks old WT C57Bl/6,  $Per1^{-/-}$ ,  $Per2^{-/-}$ , and  $Per1^{-/-}Per2^{-/-}$  mice, n = 9-16 per genotype, were injected with an analgesic agent (Buprenorphine, 0.1 mg/kg SC), and anesthetized using isoflurane 2.5%. To form liver experimental metastases, 20,000 MC38 cells were injected into the hepatic portal vein. To prevent bleeding, light pressure was applied to the injection site with a cotton applicator for 4 min. Then, the muscle and skin were sutured using 6/0 polypropylene monofilament sutures. At day 21 post-injection, mice were sacrificed, and body weights were measured. Livers were harvested and weighed, and macrometastases were quantified by visual inspection. To normalize liver weights, liver/body weight ratios were calculated. Then, livers were formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded for histological analysis.

## Quantification of Liver Metastasis Analysis

Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) slides of liver tissues were scanned by a Pannoramic SCAN II scanner,  $20 \times /0.8$  objective (3DHISTECH, Budapest, Hungary). Quantification of liver metastases area was done by QuPath (version 0.2.0-m8) (Bankhead et al., 2017) with pixel classification using the simple threshold method, with prefilter Gaussian, smoothing sigma 4 and a threshold of 180.

# Total RNA Isolation From Livers of WT and $Per2^{-/-}$ Mice

 $Per2^{-/-}$  or WT C57Bl/6 male mice were injected at the age of 16 weeks, under anesthesia, with 20,000 MC38 cells (n = 4 mice per genotype) and PBS (n = 2 control mice per genotype) into the hepatic portal vein as described above. At day 7 post-injection, mice were sacrificed, and body weights were measured. Livers were weighed and dissociated by Bead Ruptor Elite (OMNI International) with metal beads in Microtube (Sarstedt #72.694.006). RNA isolation was performed by RNeasy Fibrous Tissue Mini Kit (Qiagen #74704) according to manufacturer's instructions.

## Library Preparation and RNA-Sequencing Analysis

Libraries were prepared using the SENSE mRNA-Seq Library Prep Kit V2 (Lexogen United States) according to the instructions of the manufacturer. Libraries were sequenced on an Illumina NovaSeq 6000 machine, at 10 M reads per liver sample, to provide sufficient reads to pass quality control (quality of reads and mapping quality percentage). Read counts were normalized and tested for differences using DEseq2 (Love et al., 2014). RNA sequencing results are detailed in Supplementary Table 1. Hierarchical clustering was performed using Euclidian distance on differentially expressed genes which were filtered with the following parameters: baseMean > 5, padj < 0.05, and  $|\log \text{ fold change}| > 1$ . Analysis was performed by Partek Genomics Suite software. Pathway analysis was performed using Metascape (Zhou et al., 2019). Significant pathways were determined if p < 0.05 (for details see **Supplementary Table 2**). Liver populations analysis was performed using CIBERSORT (Newman et al., 2015) based on published single-cell RNAsequencing data (Heng and Painter, 2008; Dobie et al., 2019; Xiong et al., 2019). The gene signatures of liver subpopulations used for this analysis and the results table are detailed in Supplementary Tables 3, 4, respectively. The RNA-seq data that support the findings of this study have been deposited in the Gene Expression Omnibus under accession number GSE156450.

## **CD8+ CD4+ Depletion**

WT C57Bl/6 and  $Per1^{-/-}Per2^{-/-}$  mice, n = 7-8 per genotype, were injected intraperitoneally with anti-mouse antibodies for CD8 (Clone 53–6.7) and CD4 (Clone GK1.5) or IgG2a control (Clone 2A3; 300 µg per injection per mouse for all antibodies; Bio X Cell), 2 days prior to the injection of MC38 cells to the portal vein as described above, and every 5 days to maintain full depletion until the endpoint. 50 µl blood were drawn to validate depletion of CD8+ and CD4+ cells by flow cytometry. At day 21, mice were sacrificed, body weights were measured, livers were fixed with 4% PFA, and macrometastases were quantified by visual inspection.

### Orthotropic Injection to the Colon

 $Per2^{-/-}$  or WT C57Bl/6 male mice, n = 10-14 per genotype, were injected at the age of 16 weeks, under anesthesia, with 200,000 MC38 cells suspended in 20 µl PBS into the colon wall (submucosal). The injection was performed under endoscopic guidance. Body weights were measured using an analytical balance, the appearance of tumors was monitored by colonoscopy at days 10 and 14. At day 14, mice were sacrificed, colons were harvested, and tumor volumes were measured using a digital caliper and calculated using the formula:  $V = (W^2 \times L)/2$ .

## Orthotropic Injection to the Mammary Fat Pad

 $Per2^{-/-}$  or WT C57Bl/6 female mice, n = 11-13 per genotype, were injected at the age of 8–11 weeks, under anesthesia, with 200,000 E0771 cells into the upper left mammary fat pad. Body weights were measured, and tumor volumes were measured using

a digital caliper and calculated using the formula:  $V = (W^2 \times L)/2$ . Mice were sacrificed at day 32.

### Immunohistochemistry of Mouse Tissues

Livers were fixed in 4% Paraformaldehyde (PFA), processed and embedded in paraffin blocks, cut into 4–5  $\mu$ m sections and immunostained as follows: Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded (FFPE) sections were deparaffinized, treated with 0.3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and antigen retrieval was performed by microwave with citrate acid buffer (pH 6.0). Slides were blocked with 10% normal horse serum, and anti-SMA antibodies were used (Sigma #F3777). Visualization was achieved with 3, 30-diaminobenzidine (DAB) as a chromogen (#SK4100, Vector Labs Kit, CA, United States) / M.O.M Kit (Vector Labs). Counterstaining was performed with Mayer's Hematoxylin (MHS-16, Sigma-Aldrich, Rehovot, Israel). Images were taken with a Nikon Eclipse Ci microscope.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis and visualization were performed using R (Version 3.6.0, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) and Prism 8.2.0. (GraphPad, United States). Statistical tests were performed as described in each Figure Legend.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are publicly available. This data can be found here: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/geo/query/acc.cgi?acc=GSE156450.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by the Weizmann Institute of Science Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LS, SM, and CL designed and performed the experiments and analyses and wrote the manuscript. HL performed the experiments. AN wrote code for mathematical analysis of bioluminescence data and assisted with writing the manuscript. RS-S designed and supervised the study and wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This study was supported by a research grant from the Estate of Aliza Yemini. RS-S was supported by the Israel Science Foundation (Grants Nos. 401/17 and 1384/1), the European Research Council (ERC Grant Agreement 754320), the Israel Cancer Research Fund, the Laura Gurwin Flug Family Fund, the

Peter and Patricia Gruber Awards, the Comisaroff Family Trust, the Estate of Annice Anzelewitz, and the Estate of Mordecai M. Roshwal. RS-S is the incumbent of the Ernst and Kaethe Ascher Career Development Chair in Life Sciences.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank G. Asher for fruitful discussions, *Per* constructs, and *Per* KO mice, M. Golik for the generation of the  $Per1^{-/-}$  and  $Per2^{-/-}$  mice, and S. Ben-Moshe (Itzkovitz Lab, WIS)

## REFERENCES

- Adamovich, Y., Ladeuix, B., Sobel, J., Manella, G., Neufeld-Cohen, A., Assadi, M. H., et al. (2019). Oxygen and carbon dioxide rhythms are circadian clock controlled and differentially directed by behavioral signals. *Cell Metab.* 29, 1092.e3–1103.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2019.01.007
- Bae, K., Jin, X., Maywood, E. S., Hastings, M. H., Reppert, S. M., and Weaver, D. R. (2001). Differential functions of mPer1, mPer2, and mPer3 in the SCN circadian clock. *Neuron* 30, 525–536. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(01)00302-6
- Bankhead, P., Loughrey, M. B., Fernández, J. A., Dombrowski, Y., McArt, D. G., Dunne, P. D., et al. (2017). QuPath: open source software for digital pathology image analysis. *Sci. Rep.* 7:16878. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-17204-5
- Bass, J., and Takahashi, J. S. (2010). Circadian integration of metabolism and energetics. *Science* 330, 1349–1354. doi: 10.1126/science.1195027
- Bercovici, N., Guérin, M. V., Trautmann, A., and Donnadieu, E. (2019). The remarkable plasticity of macrophages: a chance to fight cancer. *Front. Immunol.* 10:1563. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01563
- Blakeman, V., Williams, J. L., Meng, Q.-J., and Streuli, C. H. (2016). Circadian clocks and breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res.* 18:89. doi: 10.1186/s13058-016-0743-z
- Borniger, J. C., Walker, W. H. II, Gaudier-Diaz, M. M., Stegman, C. J., Zhang, N., Hollyfield, J. L., et al. (2017). Time-of-day dictates transcriptional inflammatory responses to cytotoxic chemotherapy. *Sci. Rep.* 7:41220. doi: 10.1038/srep41220
- Chen, P., Kakan, X., Wang, S., Dong, W., Jia, A., Cai, C., et al. (2013). Deletion of clock gene Per2 exacerbates cholestatic liver injury and fibrosis in mice. *Exp. Toxicol. Pathol.* 65, 427–432. doi: 10.1016/j.etp.2011.12.007
- Chen, S.-T., Choo, K.-B., Hou, M.-F., Yeh, K.-T., Kuo, S.-J., and Chang, J.-G. (2005). Deregulated expression of the PER1, PER2 and PER3 genes in breast cancers. *Carcinogenesis* 26, 1241–1246. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgi075
- Dobie, R., Wilson-Kanamori, J. R., Henderson, B. E. P., Smith, J. R., Matchett, K. P., Portman, J. R., et al. (2019). Single-cell transcriptomics uncovers zonation of function in the mesenchyme during liver fibrosis. *Cell Rep.* 29, 1832.e8–1847.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.10.024
- Ferrell, J. M., and Chiang, J. Y. L. (2015). Circadian rhythms in liver metabolism and disease. Acta Pharm. Sin. B 5, 113–122. doi: 10.1016/j.apsb.2015.01.003
- Fu, L., Pelicano, H., Liu, J., Huang, P., and Lee, C. C. (2002). The circadian gene period2 plays an important role in tumor suppression and DNA damage response in vivo. *Cell* 111, 41–50. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00961-3
- Fu, X.-J., Li, H.-X., Yang, K., Chen, D., and Tang, H. (2016). The important tumor suppressor role of PER1 in regulating the cyclin-CDK-CKI network in SCC15 human oral squamous cell carcinoma cells. Onco. Targets Ther. 9, 2237–2245. doi: 10.2147/OTT.S100952
- Fuhr, L., Abreu, M., Carbone, A., El-Athman, R., Bianchi, F., Laukkanen, M. O., et al. (2019). The interplay between colon cancer cells and tumour-associated stromal cells impacts the biological clock and enhances malignant phenotypes. *Cancers* 11:988. doi: 10.3390/cancers11070988
- Gery, S., Komatsu, N., Baldjyan, L., Yu, A., Koo, D., and Koeffler, H. P. (2006). The circadian gene per1 plays an important role in cell growth and DNA damage control in human cancer cells. *Mol. Cell* 22, 375–382. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel. 2006.03.038
- Hadadi, E., Taylor, W., Li, X., Aslan, Y., Villote, M., Rivière, J., et al. (2019). Chronic circadian disruption modulates breast cancer cell stemness and their immune microenvironment to drive metastasis in mice. *bioRxiv* doi: 10.1101/777433

for her assistance with CIBERSORT analysis of the single cell data. We also thank members of the RS-S Lab and R. Aviram and G. Manella from the Asher Lab for valuable input on the manuscript.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcell.2020. 587697/full#supplementary-material

- Hansen, J., and Stevens, R. G. (2012). Case-control study of shift-work and breast cancer risk in Danish nurses: impact of shift systems. *Eur. J. Cancer* 48, 1722–1729. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2011.07.005
- Heng, T. S. P., and Painter, M. W. (2008). The immunological genome project: networks of gene expression in immune cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 9, 1091–1094. doi: 10.1038/ni1008-1091
- Hou, L., Li, H., Wang, H., Ma, D., Liu, J., Ma, L., et al. (2020). The circadian clock gene PER2 enhances chemotherapeutic efficacy in nasopharyngeal carcinoma when combined with a targeted nanosystem. *J. Mater. Chem. B* 8, 5336–5350. doi: 10.1039/D0TB00595A
- Jin, K., Pandey, N. B., and Popel, A. S. (2017). Crosstalk between stromal components and tumor cells of TNBC via secreted factors enhances tumor growth and metastasis. *Oncotarget* 8, 60210–60222.
- Kettner, N. M., Katchy, C. A., and Fu, L. (2014). Circadian gene variants in cancer. Ann. Med. 46, 208–220. doi: 10.3109/07853890.2014.914808
- Kiessling, S., Beaulieu-Laroche, L., Blum, I. D., Landgraf, D., Welsh, D. K., Storch, K.-F., et al. (2017). Enhancing circadian clock function in cancer cells inhibits tumor growth. *BMC Biol.* 15:13. doi: 10.1186/s12915-017-0349-7
- Kobayashi, M., Wood, P. A., and Hrushesky, W. J. M. (2002). Circadian chemotherapy for gynecological and genitourinary cancers. *Chronobiol. Int.* 19, 237–251. doi: 10.1081/CBI-120002600
- Lauriola, M., Enuka, Y., Zeisel, A., D'Uva, G., Roth, L., Sharon-Sevilla, M., et al. (2014). Diurnal suppression of EGFR signalling by glucocorticoids and implications for tumour progression and treatment. *Nat. Commun.* 5:5073. doi: 10.1038/ncomms6073
- Lee, J. W., Stone, M. L., Porrett, P. M., Thomas, S. K., Komar, C. A., Li, J. H., et al. (2019). Hepatocytes direct the formation of a pro-metastatic niche in the liver. *Nature* 567, 249–252. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1004-y
- Lin, A., Wei, T., Meng, H., Luo, P., and Zhang, J. (2019). Role of the dynamic tumor microenvironment in controversies regarding immune checkpoint inhibitors for the treatment of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) with EGFR mutations. *Mol. Cancer* 18:139. doi: 10.1186/s12943-019-1062-7
- Liu, A. C., Tran, H. G., Zhang, E. E., Priest, A. A., Welsh, D. K., and Kay, S. A. (2008). Redundant function of REV-ERBalpha and beta and non-essential role for Bmall cycling in transcriptional regulation of intracellular circadian rhythms. *PLoS Genet.* 4:e1000023. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1000023
- Liu, H., Gong, X., and Yang, K. (2020). Overexpression of the clock gene Per2 suppresses oral squamous cell carcinoma progression by activating autophagy via the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway. J. Cancer 11, 3655–3666. doi: 10.7150/jca. 42771
- Love, M. I., Huber, W., and Anders, S. (2014). Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome Biol.* 15:550. doi: 10.1186/s13059-014-0550-8
- Lu, P., Weaver, V. M., and Werb, Z. (2012). The extracellular matrix: a dynamic niche in cancer progression. J. Cell Biol. 196, 395–406. doi: 10.1083/jcb. 201102147
- Newman, A. M., Liu, C. L., Green, M. R., Gentles, A. J., Feng, W., Xu, Y., et al. (2015). Robust enumeration of cell subsets from tissue expression profiles. *Nat. Methods* 12, 453–457. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3337
- Newman, A. M., Steen, C. B., Liu, C. L., Gentles, A. J., Chaudhuri, A. A., Scherer, F., et al. (2019). Determining cell type abundance and expression from bulk tissues with digital cytometry. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 37, 773–782. doi: 10.1038/s41587-019-0114-2

- Padmanabhan, K., and Billaud, M. (2017). Desynchronization of circadian clocks in cancer: a metabolic and epigenetic connection. *Front. Endocrinol.* 8:136. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00136
- Papagiannakopoulos, T., Bauer, M. R., Davidson, S. M., Heimann, M., Subbaraj, L., Bhutkar, A., et al. (2016). Circadian rhythm disruption promotes lung tumorigenesis. *Cell Metab.* 24, 324–331. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016. 07.001
- Quail, D. F., and Joyce, J. A. (2013). Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis. *Nat. Med.* 19, 1423–1437. doi: 10.1038/nm.3394
- Ramanathan, C., Xu, H., Khan, S. K., Shen, Y., Gitis, P. J., Welsh, D. K., et al. (2014). Cell type-specific functions of period genes revealed by novel adipocyte and hepatocyte circadian clock models. *PLoS Genet*. 10:e1004244. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pgen.1004244
- Reinke, H., and Asher, G. (2016). Circadian clock control of liver metabolic functions. *Gastroenterology* 150, 574–580. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.11.043
- Reinke, H., and Asher, G. (2019). Crosstalk between metabolism and circadian clocks. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 20, 227–241. doi: 10.1038/s41580-018-0096-9
- Relógio, A., Thomas, P., Medina-Pérez, P., Reischl, S., Bervoets, S., Gloc, E., et al. (2014). Ras-mediated deregulation of the circadian clock in cancer. *PLoS Genet*. 10:e1004338. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1004338
- Savvidis, C., and Koutsilieris, M. (2012). Circadian rhythm disruption in cancer biology. *Mol. Med.* 18, 1249–1260. doi: 10.2119/molmed.2012.00077
- Schernhammer, E. S., Laden, F., Speizer, F. E., Willett, W. C., Hunter, D. J., Kawachi, I., et al. (2003). Night-shift work and risk of colorectal cancer in the nurses' health study. JNCI J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 95, 825–828. doi: 10.1093/jnci/95.11.825
- Shostak, A. (2017). Circadian clock, cell division, and cancer: from molecules to organism. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18:873. doi: 10.3390/ijms18040873
- Su, X., Chen, D., Yang, K., Zhao, Q., Zhao, D., Lv, X., et al. (2017). The circadian clock gene PER2 plays an important role in tumor suppression through regulating tumor-associated genes in human oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncol. Rep.* 38, 472–480. doi: 10.3892/or.2017.5653
- Tahara, Y., and Shibata, S. (2016). Circadian rhythms of liver physiology and disease: experimental and clinical evidence. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 13, 217–226. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2016.8
- Tamiya, H., Ogawa, S., Ouchi, Y., and Akishita, M. (2016). Rigid cooperation of Per1 and Per2 proteins. Sci. Rep. 6:32769. doi: 10.1038/srep32769
- Wei, R., Liu, S., Zhang, S., Min, L., and Zhu, S. (2020). Cellular and extracellular components in tumor microenvironment and their application in early diagnosis of cancers. *Anal. Cell. Pathol.* 2020:6283796. doi: 10.1155/2020/ 6283796
- Welsh, D. K., Yoo, S.-H., Liu, A. C., Takahashi, J. S., and Kay, S. A. (2004). Bioluminescence imaging of individual fibroblasts reveals persistent, independently phased circadian rhythms of clock gene expression. *Curr. Biol.* 14, 2289–2295. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2004.11.057
- Wu, Y., Tao, B., Zhang, T., Fan, Y., and Mao, R. (2019). Pan-cancer analysis reveals disrupted circadian clock associates with T Cell exhaustion. *Front. Immunol.* 10:2451. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02451
- Xiong, X., Kuang, H., Ansari, S., Liu, T., Gong, J., Wang, S., et al. (2019). Landscape of intercellular crosstalk in healthy and NASH liver revealed by single-cell secretome gene analysis. *Mol. Cell* 75, 644.e5–660.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel. 2019.07.028

- Yamazaki, S., and Takahashi, J. S. (2005). Real-time luminescence reporting of circadian gene expression in mammals. *Methods Enzymol.* 393, 288–301. doi: 10.1016/S0076-6879(05)93012-7
- Yang, X., Wood, P. A., Ansell, C., and Hrushesky, W. J. M. (2009). Circadian timedependent tumor suppressor function of period genes. *Integr. Cancer Ther.* 8, 309–316. doi: 10.1177/1534735409352083
- Yang, Y., Yuan, G., Xie, H., Wei, T., Zhu, D., Cui, J., et al. (2019). Circadian clock associates with tumor microenvironment in thoracic cancers. *Aging* 11, 11814–11828. doi: 10.18632/aging.102450
- Yoo, S.-H., Yamazaki, S., Lowrey, P. L., Shimomura, K., Ko, C. H., Buhr, E. D., et al. (2004). PERIOD2::LUCIFERASE real-time reporting of circadian dynamics reveals persistent circadian oscillations in mouse peripheral tissues. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 5339–5346. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0308709101
- Yuan, Y., Jiang, Y.-C., Sun, C.-K., and Chen, Q.-M. (2016). Role of the tumor microenvironment in tumor progression and the clinical applications (Review). *Oncol. Rep.* 35, 2499–2515. doi: 10.3892/or.2016.4660
- Zhang, R., Lahens, N. F., Ballance, H. I., Hughes, M. E., and Hogenesch, J. B. (2014). A circadian gene expression atlas in mammals: implications for biology and medicine. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 16219–16224. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1408886111
- Zheng, B., Albrecht, U., Kaasik, K., Sage, M., Lu, W., Vaishnav, S., et al. (2001). Nonredundant roles of the mPer1 and mPer2 genes in the mammalian circadian clock. *Cell* 105, 683–694. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00380-4
- Zheng, B., Larkin, D. W., Albrecht, U., Sun, Z. S., Sage, M., Eichele, G., et al. (1999). The mPer2 gene encodes a functional component of the mammalian circadian clock. *Nature* 400, 169–173. doi: 10.1038/22118
- Zhou, J., Li, X., Zhang, M., Gong, J., Li, Q., Shan, B., et al. (2020). The aberrant expression of rhythm genes affects the genome instability and regulates the cancer immunity in pan-cancer. *Cancer Med.* 9, 1818–1829. doi: 10.1002/cam4. 2834
- Zhou, Y., Zhou, B., Pache, L., Chang, M., Khodabakhshi, A. H., Tanaseichuk, O., et al. (2019). Metascape provides a biologist-oriented resource for the analysis of systems-level datasets. *Nat. Commun.* 10:1523. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09234-6
- Zhu, L., Wang, Q., Hu, Y., and Wang, F. (2019). The circadian gene Perl plays an important role in radiation-induced apoptosis and DNA damage in glioma. *Asian Pac. J. Cancer Prev.* 20, 2195–2201. doi: 10.31557/apjcp.2019.20.7.2195
- Zigmond, E., Halpern, Z., Elinav, E., Brazowski, E., Jung, S., and Varol, C. (2011). Utilization of murine colonoscopy for orthotopic implantation of colorectal cancer. *PLoS One* 6:e28858. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0028858

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Shaashua, Mayer, Lior, Lavon, Novoselsky and Scherz-Shouval. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## **Organotypic Modeling of the Tumor** Landscape

#### Maria M. Haykal<sup>1</sup>, Clara Nahmias<sup>1</sup>, Christine Varon<sup>2</sup> and Océane C. B. Martin<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Université Paris-Saclay, Institut Gustave Roussy, Inserm U981, Biomarqueurs Prédictifs et Nouvelles Stratégies Thérapeutiques en Oncologie, Villejuif, France, <sup>2</sup> Univ. Bordeaux, INSERM, BaRITOn, U1053, Bordeaux, France

Cancer is a complex disease and it is now clear that not only epithelial tumor cells play a role in carcinogenesis. The tumor microenvironment is composed of nonstromal cells, including endothelial cells, adipocytes, immune and nerve cells, and a stromal compartment composed of extracellular matrix, cancer-associated fibroblasts and mesenchymal cells. Tumorigenesis is a dynamic process with constant interactions occurring between the tumor cells and their surroundings. Even though all connections have not yet been discovered, it is now known that crosstalk between actors of the microenvironment drives cancer progression. Taking into account this complexity, it is important to develop relevant models to study carcinogenesis. Conventional 2D culture models fail to represent the entire tumor microenvironment properly and the use of animal models should be decreased with respect to the 3Rs rule. To this aim, in vitro organotypic models have been significantly developed these past few years. These models have different levels of complexity and allow the study of tumor cells alone or in interaction with the microenvironment actors during the multiple stages of carcinogenesis. This review depicts recent insights into organotypic modeling of the tumor and its microenvironment all throughout cancer progression. It offers an overview of the crosstalk between epithelial cancer cells and their microenvironment during the different phases of carcinogenesis, from the early cell autonomous events to the late metastatic stages. The advantages of 3D over classical 2D or in vivo models are presented as well as the most promising organotypic models. A particular focus is made on organotypic models used for studying cancer progression, from the less complex spheroids to the more sophisticated body-on-a-chip. Last but not least, we address the potential benefits of these models in personalized medicine which is undoubtedly a domain paving the path to new hopes in terms of cancer care and cure.

Keywords: tumor microenvironment, cancer, 3D model, therapies, metastasis, tumor dissemination

## INTRODUCTION

Carcinogenesis is a complex multistep process, often described as somatic evolution. Typically, cancer progression involves the accumulation of genetic and/or epigenetic somatic modifications and exposition to environmental factors. Indeed, the development of many tumors is tightly linked with genotoxicity, chronic infections, dietary habits, or autoimmunity; which are all

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Hasan Korkaya, Augusta University, United States

#### Reviewed by:

David Barbie, Dana–Farber Cancer Institute, United States Jianyu Rao, University of California, Los Angeles, United States

> \***Correspondence:** Océane C. B. Martin

oceane.martin@u-bordeaux.fr

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

Received: 14 September 2020 Accepted: 03 November 2020 Published: 24 November 2020

#### Citation:

Haykal MM, Nahmias C, Varon C and Martin OCB (2020) Organotypic Modeling of the Tumor Landscape. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 8:606039. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.606039 underlined by inflammation. Early on, Fearon and Vogelstein (1990) described a sequence of defined genetic events driving the formation of colorectal cancers. Afterward, the seminal works of Hanahan and Weinberg (2000, 2011) contributed to shift cancer research from a reductionist point of view with a sole focus on the cancer cell itself to a more comprehensive view involving cues from the neighboring niche. Therefore, carcinogenesis is the fruit of the interplay between multiple cell autonomous and nonautonomous processes, defined as "Hallmarks of cancer," that include genomic instability, proliferative abnormality, stromal reprogramming, angiogenesis, immune suppression and tumor sustaining inflammation. In the following sections, we first define the tumor microenvironment (TME) and briefly depict its different components. We also summarize the recently described interactions between the TME actors and the tumor cells in the cancer progression cascade. In depth understanding of such interactions renders necessary the study of tumor cells within their microenvironment, as this is crucial for cancer progression. In this line of thought, we describe the most promising organotypic models used for modeling cancer progression stages from the initial tumor and its microenvironment to dissemination and metastasis.

## PART I-ROLE OF THE MICROENVIRONMENT IN TUMORAL PROGRESSION

The importance of the tumor microenvironment is embodied in the concept that cancer cells do not cause the disease alone, but rather corrupt recruited and neighboring normal cell types to serve as accessories to the crime (Hanahan and Coussens, 2012). In particular, interactions between cancer cells and their microenvironment represent a powerful relationship that influences disease initiation and progression and patient prognosis. For decades, the focus of cancer research has been almost exclusively on epithelial tumor cells. However, in the past few years, there has been a major shift toward the study of the TME, elucidating that tumor progression is dependent on an intricate network of interactions among cancer cells and their surroundings (McAllister and Weinberg, 2014; Taniguchi and Karin, 2018; Hinshaw and Shevde, 2019).

Tumors are unquestionably heterogenous entities, composed of phenotypically distinct cellular populations with different functions. This is illustrated by the clonal evolution theory (Nowell, 1976), TME heterogeneity (Junttila and de Sauvage, 2013) and hierarchal organization of cancer cell subpopulations that includes cancer stem cells (CSCs) and their progenies. Some studies have shown that CSCs are the driving force of tumor formation as they exhibit self-renewal and tumor—initiating capacities and phenotypic plasticity. Plasticity offers cancer cells the ability to switch from a differentiated state to an undifferentiated CSC-like state, responsible for long term tumor growth and drug resistance. Recently, observations of anatomically distinct niches of CSCs within tumors have emerged (reviewed in Plaks et al., 2015; Batlle and Clevers, 2017). These niches could have a role in preserving the plastic phenotype of CSCs and their protection from the immune system. Nonetheless, the heterogeneous tumor is a part of a larger society comprising many other actors that define the tumor microenvironment.

## **Defining the Tumor Microenvironment**

The tumor microenvironment, a diversified compartment of differentiated and progenitor cells, comprises all the non-malignant host cellular and non-cellular components of the tumor niche including, but not restricted to, endothelial cells, adipocytes, cells of the immune and nervous systems, and the stroma.

### Non-stromal Components

#### Endothelial Cells

The most well-known extrinsic modulator of cancer cell growth is neovascularization (Folkman, 1985). Early studies using mouse models show that the angiogenic switch increases the proliferation rate of cancer cells (Folkman et al., 1989). Angiogenesis is crucial to the ability of tumors to thrive and the vascular endothelium is an active participant in the formation of a growth-permissive tumor microenvironment. Vascularization is driven by the hypoxic center of the tumor where hyperproliferation results in increased oxygen demand. Consequently, low oxygen induces the expression of angiogenic proteins like vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) (Papetti and Herman, 2002) that activate endothelial cells and attract them toward the tumor to form new vessels, allowing the delivery of nutrients and oxygen. Without angiogenesis, tumors are condemned to quiescence and cell death. Tumor vascularization requires the cooperation of different TME cells, mainly vascular endothelial cells that provide structural integrity to the newly formed vessels and pericytes that ensure their coverage and maturity (Weis and Cheresh, 2011). Endothelial cells also constitute routes to metastatic dissemination via angiogenesis and contribute to resistance to chemotherapies through an overexpression of drug efflux pumps thereby decreasing the tumor's access to the drug (Hida et al., 2013).

#### Adipocytes

Cancer-associated adipocytes (CAAs) support cancer growth mainly through secretion of adipokines like adipsin (Goto et al., 2019), chemerin (Lu et al., 2019) as well as proinflammatory cytokines (Dirat et al., 2011) and growth factors. CAAs also supply lipids for cancer cell membranes and organelles, induce metabolic reprogramming in cancer cells and provide proteases for cancer cell invasion (reviewed in Deng et al., 2016). Moreover, through the production of tumor-promoting cytokines and factors, they have been shown to confer resistance to hormone therapies, chemotherapies, radiotherapies and targeted therapies in breast cancer (Choi et al., 2018), and to contribute to tumor progression across a variety of obesity-associated cancers (Park et al., 2014) such as esophagus, gastric, liver, kidney, colorectal, pancreatic, breast, ovarian, prostate, and thyroid cancers. Adipocytes from white adipose tissue are recruited to tumors, can differentiate into pericytes and incorporate into vessel walls contributing to angiogenesis and to tumor proliferation (Zhang et al., 2012).

#### Infiltrating Immune Cells

Variations in immune profiles are linked to prognosis and therapeutic responses (Gentles et al., 2015). All adult solid tumors contain infiltrates of diverse immune cell subsets that influence pro-tumorigenic and antitumor phenotypes. Of all infiltrating myeloid immune subsets, tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) best represent this paradigm. TAMs are abundant in all stages of tumor progression and can be polarized into inflammatory M1 or immuno-suppressive M2 macrophages, depending on microenvironment stimuli (Ruffell and Coussens Lisa, 2015). While a subset of TAMs has antitumoral effects, others stimulate cancer cell proliferation by secreting growth factors, produce proteolytic enzymes that digest the ECM to facilitate tumor cell dissemination, and provide a supportive niche for metastatic tumor cells (Mantovani and Allavena, 2015). Eosinophils, primitive actors of innate immunity, have been shown to infiltrate tumors and influence tumor progression. Activated eosinophils secrete IL-10 and IL-12, to inhibit cancer cells growth, or can mediate cell death by direct cytotoxicity (Gatault et al., 2015; Lucarini et al., 2017). However, they can also promote tumor growth by secreting growth factors such as epidermal growth factor (EGF) and transforming growth factor-\u03b31 (TGF-\u03b31) (Grisaru-Tal et al., 2020). As tumors grow, myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) (Kumar et al., 2016), immunosuppressive precursors of macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs), promote tumor vascularization and disrupt major mechanisms of immunosurveillance, including tumoral antigen presentation, T cell activation and cytotoxicity (Lindau et al., 2013).

The other major subset of tumor infiltrating immune cells is of lymphoid origin and includes T lymphocytes and natural killer (NK) cells. T lymphocytes can be grouped into 3 major subtypes: (i) T<sub>H</sub> lymphocytes divided mainly in two lineages: pro-inflammatory T<sub>H1</sub> and anti-inflammatory T<sub>H2</sub>; (ii) Regulatory T cells (T<sub>reg</sub>), primarily pro-tumorigenic *via* their immunosuppressive activity; and (iii) cytotoxic T cells (T<sub>C</sub>) that destroy tumor cells through granzyme and perforin mediated apoptosis (Fridman et al., 2012; Lindau et al., 2013). A third lineage of effector T<sub>H</sub> cells, characterized by IL-17 secretion, called T<sub>H17</sub> cells, acts as double-edged sword in anti-tumor immunity and tumorigenesis (Alizadeh et al., 2013).

#### Nerve Cells

Peripheral nerves are a common feature of the TME and emerging regulators of cancer progression. Innervated tumors are aggressive, have high proliferative indices and an increased risk of recurrence and metastasis (Magnon et al., 2015). Cancer cells can grow around nerves and invade them in a process called perineural invasion, which represents yet another route for dissemination (reviewed in Jobling et al., 2015). Recently, Zahalka et al. (2017) have shown that adrenergic nerves promote angiogenesis by activating the angiogenic switch in endothelial cells. Moreover, many studies described the formation of new nerve endings within tumors, showing that they stimulate their own innervation, a process termed axonogenesis, by expressing neurotrophic factors (Wang et al., 2014; Huang et al., 2015) or releasing exosomes containing axonal guidance molecules (Madeo et al., 2018). In return, nerves provide the tumor with neurotransmitters that enhance cancer cell growth.

#### Stromal Components

In healthy tissues, the stroma constitutes the main barrier against tumorigenesis. However, transformed cancer cells can direct stromal reprogramming to support tumor growth and progression.

The stroma is composed of the extracellular matrix (ECM) and specialized connective tissue cells, including fibroblasts, and mesenchymal stem cells.

#### The Extracellular Matrix

The ECM constitutes the scaffold of tissues and organs, providing the essential signals to maintain tissue architecture and to regulate cell growth and apoptosis. It is a complex network of glycoproteins, proteoglycans, glycosaminoglycans and other macromolecules. About 300 different proteins have been classified as ECM proteins, in what is called the matrisome (Hynes and Naba, 2012). The ECM undergoes constant remodeling by different actors, mainly enzymes such as collagenases and matrix metalloproteases (MMPs) and by fibroblasts. ECM stiffening, induced by increased collagen deposition and crosslinking, disrupts tissue morphogenesis contributing to malignant progression, but also facilitates metastasis and infiltration of immune cells in tumor sites (Bonnans et al., 2014).

#### **Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts**

Fibroblasts are widely distributed in all tissues. They constitute a multifunctional cell type residing in the ECM, shaping it by secreting collagens and fibrous macromolecules but also degrading it by releasing proteolytic enzymes, like MMPs.

Fibroblasts are known to modulate immune response by recruiting leucocyte infiltration and regulating inflammation via the secretion of growth factors, cytokines and chemokines and to play an important role in maintaining tissue homeostasis (Buckley et al., 2001). During wound healing or fibrosis, another type of specialized fibroblasts called myofibroblasts is present in the tissue (Tomasek et al., 2002). Tumors, for long considered as wounds that do not heal, are associated with a stroma similar to that observed in wound healing called the activated stroma, where fibroblasts resemble myofibroblasts and are called cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs). The activated stroma supports cancer progression (Hanahan and Coussens, 2012). Importantly, as for cancer cells, it has been described that CAF population is highly heterogeneous with tumor-promoting or tumor-suppressing CAFs and personalized anticancer therapies targeting CAFs could be of great interest (reviewed in Liu et al., 2019; Mhaidly and Mechta-Grigoriou, 2020).

#### Mesenchymal Stem Cells

The definition and characteristics of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have been a matter of debate for a long time, and their characterization is an active field of research (Nombela-Arrieta et al., 2011). It is now established that MSCs are multipotent progenitor cells originating from the bone marrow that can migrate systemically through blood vessels and differentiate into osteoblasts, chondrocytes, or adipocytes. To date, the primary functions of MSCs within the TME are to regulate the immune response by the release of immunomodulatory cytokines and to promote tissue regeneration. Owing to their multipotent and cell fusion properties, they can also be at the origin of vascular cells, contributing to angiogenesis, of myofibroblasts and more rarely of cancer cells themselves.

## Crosstalk Between Tumor Cells and Components of the TME in Cancer Progression

The tumor microenvironment plays a critical role in determining tumor fate, and stromal reprogramming has been recognized to be critical for carcinogenesis (Mantovani et al., 2008).

Rudolf Virchow first proposed the possibility of a link between chronic inflammation and tumorigenesis in the nineteenth century after the observation of infiltrating leukocytes within tumors. This is now considered a hallmark of cancer. Cancer progression is associated with an ever-evolving tissue interface of direct epithelial-stromal interactions that regulate cancer cell metastasis and disease progression. This section describes the complex crosstalk between the actors of the TME and the cancer cells that take place during the different stages of cancer progression from the early cell autonomous events to the late metastatic stages (**Figure 1**).

#### **Primary Tumor Progression**

Cancer cells reprogram the tumor-infiltrating stromal and immune cells, which facilitates primary tumor growth and progression. Therefore, it is important to decipher the reciprocal crosstalk between cancer cells and their heterotypic microenvironment.



Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology | www.frontiersin.org

Epithelial cancer progression is influenced by the cells' contact with immune cells and a carcinogen-exposed stroma (Barcellos-Hoff and Ravani, 2000), by an overexpression of metalloproteases (Fukuda et al., 2011) which create a suitable environment for invasion, or by the stimulation with altered stromal cells like CAFs. In the skin, epigenetic modifications of fibroblasts are induced by ultraviolet exposure, leading to the production of inflammatory cytokines and matrix-remodeling enzymes that together influence the formation of epithelial tumors (Hu et al., 2012). CAFs accumulate in the TME along with tumor growth (Kalluri, 2016) and are activated by cytokines and growth factors of the TME, such as TGF-B (Taniguchi et al., 2020) and Fibroblast Growth Factor (FGF). In their turn, CAFs provide growth factors like VEGF to enhance angiogenesis and vascular permeability (Fukumura et al., 1998). Furthermore, TAMs can support many aspects of tumoral progression. They can secrete mediators that enhance tumor cell survival and proliferation such as growth factors and cytokines [epidermal growth factor (EGF), interleukin 6 (IL-6), and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) (Noy and Pollard Jeffrey, 2014)].

Another crucial step for cancer progression is immune evasion. This is supported mainly by the action of MDSCs. These cells infiltrate the developing tumors and inhibit the mechanisms of immune editing of cytotoxic immune cells, all the while promoting tumor vascularization (Talmadge and Gabrilovich, 2013). TAMs can also promote cancer immune escape by displaying immunosuppressive functions (Noy and Pollard Jeffrey, 2014). Other myeloid cells including neutrophils, monocytes, and eosinophils infiltrate the tumor and promote tumor growth by inhibiting antitumor immunity. Neutrophils can even induce genotoxic damages (Wilson et al., 2015) or recruit tumor-promoting  $T_{\rm H17}$  lymphocytes (Ortiz et al., 2015). Additionally, invasion of the basement membrane underlying the epithelium by the tumor cells is a basic step for the upcoming dissemination. For this, CAFs have a physical impact on tumors that results in increased ECM stiffness around tumor cells and consequent mechanical stress. TAMs are also capable of driving invasive phenotypes (Condeelis and Pollard, 2006). In breast cancer, they facilitate invasion of tumor cells by sustaining a signaling paracrine loop involving CSF-1 and EGF (Goswami et al., 2005), and by the secretion of proteases (Gocheva et al., 2010). Thus, once the tumor cells evade the host immune system and gain the ability to invade the surrounding tissue, metastatic dissemination of cancer cells can take place.

#### Metastatic Dissemination

Metastasis is the leading cause of mortality among cancer patients (Mehlen and Puisieux, 2006). In epithelial tumors, metastasis begins with the cellular invasion of the basement membrane and the subsequent migration of cancer cells into the blood stream. One of the initial steps for primary tumor invasion is epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT). Under the influence of various signals, mainly TGF- $\beta$ , cells gradually lose their epithelial traits while gaining mesenchymal ones that confer migratory capacities (Mani et al., 2008). CAFs participate in a TGF- $\beta$  and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) signaling crosstalk with tumor cells to support EMT and the acquisition of an

invasive phenotype (van Zijl et al., 2009). EMT can also enable the acquisition of CSC traits (Mani et al., 2008), suggesting that not only it causes cancer cells to disseminate from the primary tumor but also can provide these cells with the selfrenewal properties needed for their subsequent implantation at secondary sites. Although CSCs are not be the only cells responsible for metastasis, the CSC-generated hierarchy of stemlike and differentiated tumor cells is able to initiate metastatic growth (Merlos-Suárez et al., 2011). However, EMT is not the only mechanism used by epithelial cells for migration. Epithelial cancer cells can migrate as single cells, as loosely attached cords or as highly organized collective entities (reviewed in Friedl et al., 2012). During early stages of cancer migration, CAFs increase the production of collagen in the underlying stroma and the fibers become aligned, giving rise to a stiffer ECM hence allowing the migration of cancer cells away from the primary tumor (Conklin et al., 2011). This is largely mediated by CAFs secreted factors that stiffen the ECM, namely enzymes of the Lysyl Oxidase (LOX) family (Kalluri and Zeisberg, 2006).

During metastasis, cancer cells cross the endothelial barrier during a step called intravasation to enter the blood stream, and by extravasation to exit from circulation into distant tissues, processes that involve different receptors, a plethora of signaling pathways, and interactions with the actors of the surrounding microenvironment (Reymond et al., 2013). Intravasation seems to require the cooperative work of a triad consisting of macrophages that localize to blood vessels where they help tumor cells intravasate into the blood stream (Harney et al., 2015). However, despite the help of macrophages, only 0.01% of cells that intravasate form detectable metastases (Chambers et al., 2002). Cancer cells in the blood stream can be shielded by platelets from NK-mediated cytotoxicity (Palumbo et al., 2005), and platelet binding enhances cancer cell adhesion to vessel wall and subsequent extravasation (Zhang et al., 2011; Schumacher et al., 2013). Inflammation also modulates endothelial crossings through TNF-induced vascular permeabilization, cyclooxygenase 2 (COX2)-dependent prostaglandin production and MMPmediated tissue remodeling.

#### Secondary Organ Colonization

Docking of cells in organs to form secondary tumors is not a random process. Organ tropism has been first described by Stephen Paget in 1886 as the "seed-and-soil" theory, in which he suggests that metastasis is not the fruit of hazard but tumors have clear organ preferences for secondary colonization. Paget's theory gave the basis for the description of the premetastatic niche: the primary tumor executes preparative events, preceding detectable metastasis, that render the secondary milieu less hostile for colonization by cancer cells. Studies of the premetastatic niche are still in their infancy but some traits and events are now clearer. Settlement of tumor cells at distant sites is dependent on tumorsecreted cytokines and extracellular vesicles, like exosomes, that enable the premetastatic microenvironment to support their colonization (Liu and Cao, 2016). These tumor-secreted factors communicate to both hematopoietic and mesenchymal stem cell compartments. It has been shown that bone marrowderived VEGFR1+ cells are already present in premetastatic sites before tumor cell arrival, suggesting the communication between primary and secondary sites (Kaplan et al., 2005). Seeding is also facilitated by the LOX-mediated fibronectin upregulation in resident fibroblasts and recruitment of myeloid cells (Erler et al., 2009). Neutrophils may also be involved in the priming of metastatic sites. Neutrophils accumulate in premetastatic livers of mice bearing colorectal tumors (Wang et al., 2017) and their accumulation has been shown to be required for pancreatic cancer metastasis (Steele et al., 2016). Recently, it was also shown that omentum resident macrophages are required for ovarian cancer metastasis (Etzerodt et al., 2020). Neutrophils also serve as an energy source to fuel metastatic tumor cells. In a breast cancer model, infiltrating neutrophils are induced to store lipids upon interaction with resident mesenchymal cells in the lung so that when disseminated tumor cells (DTCs) arrive, neutrophils transfer their stored lipids to DTCs for their survival and proliferation (Li et al., 2020).

Colonization of secondary tissues requires the same elements as growth of the primary tumor namely, sufficient nutrients and oxygenation. One important step for metastatic tumor cell survival is the reversal to an epithelial phenotype *via* mesenchymal–epithelial transition (MET) to regain the ability of proliferation and differentiation. Once tumor cells colonize the secondary site, genetic instability inherent in neoplastic cells continues to operate at each cell division, and these cells continue the remodeling of the site, just as described above.

Accordingly, the crosstalk between cancer cells and their microenvironment provides valuable insights into cancer formation, progression and spread. Hence, it is necessary to study cancer as a whole process by modeling the interactions between tumor cells and their microenvironment to improve development of new therapies against cancer progression and metastasis.

## PART II-ORGANOTYPIC IN VITRO MODELS

## Advantages of 3D Models Over 2D Models and Animal Experiments

Cancer research has long been based on two-dimensional (2D) cell culture, mainly in order to earn the right of passage to in vivo experiments. Conventional 2D cell cultures allowed the study of many mechanisms that drive tumor growth and the evaluation of optimal drug doses and toxicities. However, currently available cell lines fail to represent the genetic background across the range of human cancers (Huang A. et al., 2020) and may adapt to growth in culture, rather than mimic the behavior of the tumor in a complex microenvironment. Because they also lack all elements of the tumor stroma and surrounding tissue, they fail to mimic the complexity of the tumor microenvironment (Gillet et al., 2011). Owing to this, a large gap exists between the knowledge obtained in these models compared to in vivo cancer models because results of 2D experiments rarely predict therapeutic response in animals. This can be explained by the fact that cells cultured in 2D do not have the same architecture as cells in vivo that are arranged in three-dimensional (3D) structures

unattached to planar surfaces. Furthermore, cultured monolayers lack the capacity to mimic *in vivo* tumoral hypoxia and exhibit a very different metabolism. Consequently, cells in monolayer cultures proliferate at unnaturally rapid rates (Langhans, 2018), differ in gene/protein expression compared to *in vivo* models, and alter their dynamic processes such as cell division and migration (Duval et al., 2017).

Even though *in vivo* experiments have the advantage of being physiologically relevant in contrast to cells cultured out of their bodily context, they have many flaws (Day et al., 2015). Aside from being long, expensive and ethically questionable, the use of human cancer cells in mouse models mostly requires the use of immunocompromised mice that lack, to varying extents, the immune components, thus limiting the advantages of these approaches in modeling tumoral progression and response to drugs. Indeed, the inflammatory immune cell component is lacking in immunocompromised mice. Although the engrafted tumors may exhibit a stromal response with the growth of endothelial cells and fibroblasts, these stromal cells originate from mice and therefore the implication of human TME could not be extrapolated. Moreover, it has recently been shown that patient-derived xenografts (PDXs) present genomic instability with continuously changing copy number alterations landscapes, and so their passaging causes a drift from the original tumor (Ben-David et al., 2017). As such, mouse co-clinical trials using PDXs have shown very little progress beyond proof of concept due to logistical issues (Clohessy and Pandolfi, 2015).

Even with strong supporting preclinical evidence, many targeted therapies produce modest clinical results, a fact now highlighted by the tremendous National Lung Matrix Trial that assessed personalized medicine in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) (Middleton et al., 2020). The results have been fairly disappointing with a response rate of only 10% with some abandons due to lack of treatment efficacy. Genetically engineered mouse models of NSCLC, used for preclinical studies, have mutational burdens more than 100-fold lower than that of human disease (McFadden et al., 2016) arguing for the use of more appropriate preclinical models that integrate the immune and stromal landscapes beyond the genetic aberrations.

Another issue resides in the ability to translate results of immunotherapy from bench to clinic because of the high failure rate observed in human clinical trials after promising results obtained in mouse models. Even the durable clinical benefits observed with immune checkpoint blockers (ICBs) in some tumor types have been seen in a minority of patients (Cardin et al., 2014; Herbst et al., 2014; Hammel et al., 2016). Given the complexity of the tumor microenvironment, it is imperative to create models that include different immune cell types the administered compound may interact with.

Efforts have been made these last few years to "humanize" the mouse's immune system by grafting human hematopoietic stem cells in mice or by transgenic expression of Human Leucocyte Antigen (HLA) (reviewed in Shultz et al., 2012; De La Rochere et al., 2018). However, the high cost of recipient mice, scarcity of human bone marrow acquisitions, engraftment variability, and laborious technical demands represent high inconveniences in a preclinical setting. Hence, optimal mouse studies are very cumbersome for simultaneous evaluation of numerous drugs and may be inefficient due to the different metabolic processing of drugs between humans and mice. Thus, high-throughput *in vitro* screening systems are essential precursors to *in vivo* evaluations. Developing 3D organotypic models that recapitulate physiological functions would allow further replacement and reduction of animal models as recommended by the 3Rs rule<sup>1</sup>.

In vitro 3D cultures recapitulate much better the architecture of tissues and capture the complexity of solid tumors than 2D counterparts, all the while allowing the modeling of different stages of the carcinogenic process (Yamada and Cukierman, 2007; Tanner and Gottesman, 2015). The concentric arrangement of cells in 3D cultures resembles initial avascular stages of solid tumors in vivo and non-vascularized micro-metastatic foci. More sophisticated 3D cultures also include different elements of the TME; allowing their use to study cellular interactions within tumors and to model stages of cancer progression. Additionally, genome-wide screens performed on 3D cultures showed improved detection of cancer genes and pathways compared with those performed in 2D (Han et al., 2020). Thus, increased biologically relevant behavior and characteristics could be acquired from genetic editing in organoids, cocultures, and 3D growth models. Moreover, the coalition between biologists, bioengineers and physicians inspired many strategies to reproduce ex vivo the complexity of biological systems. These approaches mimic organ topography, mechanical forces of tumor cells, matrix stiffness, functionality, and complexity much better than 2D or even 3D culture systems (van Duinen et al., 2015).

In the following section, we will describe the existing *in vitro* organotypic models for cell culture (**Figure 2**).

## Overview of *in vitro* Organotypic Cellular Models

#### **Multicellular Spheroids**

Multicellular spheroids (MCSs) or 3D cellular aggregates represent the bridge that fills the gap between 2D cultures and more elaborate 3D techniques. They are fairly representative of the *in vivo* situations because of their heterogeneity as they are composed of proliferating, non-proliferating, well-oxygenated, hypoxic and necrotic cells. Other features of MCSs like cellcell signaling and interactions, the presence of different cellular layers, the genetic expression profiles, and drug resistance patterns are similar to characteristics of the natural cellular conditions. Currently, there exists many techniques for MCS production such as the forced floating methods in non-adherent plates, hanging drop method, the use of scaffolds and matrices, or even more sophisticated methods using microfluidic systems (reviewed in Ferreira et al., 2018).

MCS can be used for tumoral modeling by either forming homogenous cultures using solely cancer cells, or by more sophisticated cultures using cancer cells with components of the TME like fibroblasts, endothelial cells (Andrique et al., 2019) or immune cells, hence forming heterotypic spheroids. Encapsulating MCS in biomimetic hydrogel scaffolds offers biophysical and biochemical cues that simulate the behavior of

<sup>1</sup>https://www.nc3rs.org.uk/the-3rs

extracellular matrix, essential for regulating cancer cell behavior (Li and Kumacheva, 2018).

#### Organoids

The term organoid, meaning resembling an organ, was first used in 1946 by Smith and Cochrane to describe a case of cystic teratoma. Ever since, it has been inaccurately used to describe some cell structures and aggregates, but the actual definition is now clearer: an organoid is a collection of organ-specific cell types that develops from stem cells, that possesses a minima of specific organ functions, and self-organizes to mimic the architecture of the organ itself (reviewed in Lancaster and Knoblich, 2014). Early pioneering works of Mina Bissell showed that primary epithelial cells derived from mouse mammary glands could self-organize into glandular structures and secrete milk proteins (Lee et al., 1984). These advances were followed by the works of Clevers' lab, that described the generation of intestinal crypt organoids from Lgr5+ stem cells (Sato et al., 2009).

Now, it is recognized that organoids can be generated using two types of stem cells: pluripotent stem cells (PSCs) which can be embryonic or induced pluripotent stem cells or adult stem cells (ASCs) that reside in adult tissues and are tissue-specific, cultured under specific growth factor cocktails that allow their long-term expansion by mimicking the organ stem cell niche. To date, organoids have been developed for many organs including intestine (Spence et al., 2011), kidney (Takasato et al., 2015), brain (Lancaster et al., 2017), liver (Camp et al., 2017), stomach (McCracken et al., 2014), pancreas (Hohwieler et al., 2017), ovary (Kessler et al., 2015), and lung (Dye et al., 2015) among others. These organoids have been used for multiple approaches such as high-throughput drug screening efficacy and toxicity, hostmicrobe interactions and infectious diseases (Bartfeld et al., 2015; Leslie et al., 2015; Garcez et al., 2016), and disease modeling (reviewed in Dutta et al., 2017) in particular tumor development, which will be later discussed in detail.

Epithelial organoids recapitulate many aspects of organ development and disease and represent many opportunities for cancer modeling and anticancer drug testing. However, it is important to note the existence of some drawbacks and limitations. Organoids lack the native organ microenvironment: the stromal compartment, immune cells and vascularization, and they are mostly cultured in poorly defined animal matrices. Although, novel synthetic analogous ECM may constitute a better alternative as they are controllable and permit fine tuning of matrix constituents (Gjorevski et al., 2016).

#### **3D-Tissues**

The recreation of simple tissues has been described in a cell sheet engineering method using cells grown to confluence on culture dishes grafted with a temperature-responsive polymer, poly-(N-isopropylacrylamide). This technique allows cell growth at 37°C and cell harvest at room temperature as intact cell sheets and subsequently the stacking of different sheets to generate heterotypic thin 3D tissue analogs. Using this technique vascularized tissues (Asakawa et al., 2010) and liver tissue-like structures (Kim et al., 2012) were obtained.



Organotypic epithelial raft cultures, originally developed to study keratinocytes (Fuchs, 1990), represent an interesting approach to study epithelial cancer cell behavior, notably cancer cell invasion. These cultures are mechanically supported by semipermeable inserts and are either submerged in medium or maintained at an air–liquid interface. Epithelial tissues can be constructed in stages by first embedding stromal cells, mainly fibroblasts, for several days followed by seeding of epithelial cells on top (Kalabis et al., 2012), or also embed immune cells within the layers to obtain an integral tissue (Huang et al., 2017). These cultures generate a stratified tissue resembling the epithelium seen *in vivo* with a proliferating basal layer and differentiating supra-basal layers. The use of 3D-tissue revealed some advantages compared to organoids when the access to the epithelial cells' apical surfaces is needed, for example to study host-pathogen interactions. To illustrate this using a colonic 3D-tissue, Martin and colleagues have shown that infection with genotoxin-producing *Salmonella* enterica synergises with the

loss of APC to promote genomic instability and carcinogenesis (Martin et al., 2019). Although it should be noted that an elegant recent study has described the possibility to revert organoid polarity allowing access to the apical surfaces of the cells (Co et al., 2019). Miniaturized 3D tissues can be used to facilitate high-throughput drug screening (Dutta et al., 2017).

#### **Microfluidic Approaches**

The static nature of nutrients and metabolites in 3D cultures isn't representative of the physiological conditions due to the lack of fluid shear stress and hydrostatic pressure that can greatly influence cell behavior (Polacheck et al., 2011). Microfluidic systems, based on the progress in synthetic biology, have enabled the development of in vitro assays that facilitate the study of cellular behavior under a spatiotemporally controlled microenvironment in which molecular, biophysical and cellular components can be tuned according to physiologically relevant parameters. These microfluidic cell culture systems, known under the term organ-on-a-chip, are usually made of continuously perfused hollow microchannels populated by living cells (reviewed in Bhatia and Ingber, 2014). To date, many organs have been successfully modeled in microfluidic devices. One of the first models was lung alveoli that responded to bacterial infection and inflammation (Huh et al., 2010), but also that reflected drug toxicity (Huh et al., 2012). Many studies followed that assessed nephrotoxicity in human kidney tubules-on-a-chip (Jang et al., 2013), liver function (Beckwitt et al., 2018), and more recently, a simulation of a body-on-a-chip multi-organ system (McAleer et al., 2019) to assess drug efficiency and toxicity.

## PART III—ORGANOTYPIC MODELS OF CANCER PROGRESSION AND DRUG RESPONSE

Understanding the key aspects of tumoral progression is of utmost importance for the development of novel successful anticancer strategies. Organotypic modeling of these aspects alongside the interactions between the different actors of the TME would allow a better comprehension of the mechanisms that mediate tumoral progression and a first solid step toward preclinical drug screening in physiologically relevant situations. In this section, we describe how the previously mentioned organotypic models have been applied to study the different steps of tumor growth and metastasis (**Table 1**).

# Cancer Modeling Using Organotypic Models

## Tumor Growth *in situ*—Interactions of Cancer Cells With the TME Elements

Many *in vitro* organotypic models have been used to study tumor initiation and growth and to identify how parenchymal cells (endothelial, epithelial, immune, nerve and stromal cells) and components (ECM, secreted factors) of the TME influence the growth *in situ* of different cancer types.

Modeling cancer initiation using organoid is highly attractive owing to the relative ease of genetic manipulation of cells. Using

CRISPR-Cas9 genome editing, tumor suppressors have been identified (Michels et al., 2020), as well as the consequences of mutations in the DNA repair deficiency genes (Drost et al., 2017) or mutations that drive cancer progression (Fumagalli et al., 2017) have been elucidated. Such approaches allow the introduction of defined mutations to transform normal organoids and induce tumor growth, upon xenotransplantation. Matano and colleagues model human colon adenocarcinoma by introducing canonical colorectal cancer (CRC) driver mutations into primary human colon organoid cultures (Matano et al., 2015), revealing that mutations in APC, SMAD4, TP53, and KRAS simultaneously are sufficient to model colonic adenomas but not tumorigenesis, perhaps due to the lack of TME components within the organoids. Similarly engineered CRC organoids with APC and KRAS mutations formed dysplasia and could invade submucosa (Takeda et al., 2019), and transformed mammary organoids formed tumors upon xenotransplantation (Dekkers et al., 2020). Thus, deconstructing carcinogenesis into single genetic elements by engineering cancer genes in untransformed human organoids is a powerful tool for investigating how individual genetic aberrations contribute to the acquisition of cancer phenotypes.

Nevertheless, the genetic alterations driving cancer initiation are supplemented by the interactions of cancer cells with their microenvironment to ensure successful cancer progression. A refined cancer 3D-tissue model using cancer-associated genetic modifications and a stromal department showed the neoplastic transformation of normal epithelia which became invasive (Ridky et al., 2010). Indeed, many tumors are characterized by a prominent stromal compartment that modulates tissue architecture, due to extensive ECM remodeling mainly mediated by CAFs. Adding stromal fibroblasts to prostate organoids facilitated their branching (Richards et al., 2019), while the addition of CAFs to lung squamous carcinoma spheroids recapitulated the pathological changes of tumorigenesis, from invasion and hyperplasia to dysplasia (Chen et al., 2018). Additionally, CAFs were shown to enhance invasion and migration of breast cancer cells in a 3D microfluidic device (Nguyen et al., 2018; Truong et al., 2019).

Furthermore, the coculture of pancreatic stellate cells, a resident mesenchymal cell population that differentiates into CAFs, with pancreatic cancer patient-derived organoids (PDOs) (Öhlund et al., 2017) or with spheroids (Ware et al., 2016) produced a highly desmoplastic stroma, typical of pancreatic carcinomas. Equally investigating the role of the TME in CRC initiation using organoids, Roulis and colleagues performed single-cell RNA sequencing of the murine intestinal mesenchymal niche and found a population of fibroblasts in intestinal crypts that orchestrate intestinal tumorigenesis by exerting paracrine control over tumor initiating stem cells (Roulis et al., 2020).

Other key elements of the TME which significantly affect cancer cell behavior are immune cells. Tumor-immune system interactions have been widely studied by culturing immune cells recovered from patients together with established cancer cell lines in conventional monolayer cultures. However, these approaches fail to account for critical aspects of the TME. Indeed,

TABLE 1 Ord	ganotypic models used	d to study cancer proc	ression stages and d	rua response.

	Primary tumor growth	TME-tumor cells interactions	Invasion and migration	Angiogenesis and intravasation	Extravasation and secondary organ colonization	Drug response
Multicellular spheroids	Tumor growth Ovarian cancer (Yin et al., 2016) Bladder cancer (Namekawa et al., 2020)	CAF-mediated interactions Lung cancer (Chen et al., 2018) Pancreatic cancer (Ware et al., 2016)	Invasion Breast cancer (Avgustinova et al., 2016) Colon cancer (Nam et al., 2018) Colorectal cancer (Libanje et al., 2019)	Vessel sprouting and intravasation Colon cancer (Ehsan et al., 2014)	Niche activation and colonization Breast cancer (del Pozo Martin et al., 2015)	High-throughput toxicology assay Breast cancer (Lee et al., 2008)
Organoids	Introduction of carcinogenesis driver mutations Colorectal cancer (Matano et al., 2015; Takeda et al., 2019) Breast cancer (Dekkers et al., 2020)	Stromal interactions Pancreatic cancer (Öhlund et al., 2017) Intestinal cancer (Roulis et al., 2020) Immune cells-mediated interactions Colorectal cancer (Dijkstra et al., 2018) Different tumor types and stages (Neal et al., 2018)	EMT Breast cancer (Jung et al., 2019) Invasion and migration Breast cancer (Zhang et al., 2019; Georgess et al., 2020)	Angiogenesis Breast cancer (Wörsdörfer et al., 2019)	Extravasation Breast cancer (Fernández-Periáñez et al., 2013) B Cell Lymphoma (Jia et al., 2020)	Tumor genetic profiling and response to chemotherapy Rectal cancer (Ganesh et al., 2019) Pancreatic cancer (Tiriac et al., 2018) Colorectal cancer (van de Wetering et al., 2015; Fujii et al., 2016; Ooft et al., 2019) Gastrointestinal cancers (Vlachogiannis et al., 2018) Renal cancer (Calandrini et al., 2020)
3D-tissues	Neoplastic transformation Multiple epithelia (Ridky et al., 2010) Colon cancer (Chen H. J. et al., 2016)	ECM influence Glioblastoma (Sood et al., 2019)	Invasion Multiple epithelia (Ridky et al., 2010) Glioblastoma (Koh et al., 2018)	Angiogenic response Breast cancer (Mazio et al., 2018)	Colonization Breast cancer (Xiong et al., 2015)	High-throughput drug screening Hepatocarcinoma (Chen et al., 2010) Breast cancer (Brancato et al., 2018)
Microfluidic approaches	Tumor growth Breast cancer (Nashimoto et al., 2020)	CAF-mediated interactions Breast cancer (Pelon et al., 2020; Truong et al., 2019) Melanoma (Jenkins et al., 2018)	Invasion and migration Breast cancer (Chen et al., 2018; Truong et al., 2019) Migration Lung cancer (Hsu et al., 2011) Breast cancer (Li et al., 2017)	Angiogenesis Microvessels formation and endothelial functions (Zheng et al., 2012) Angiogenic growth and intravasation Breast cancer (Zervantonakis et al., 2012; Tang et al., 2017; Sano et al., 2018; Shirure et al., 2018)	Extravasation Breast cancer (Jeon et al., 2015; Chen M. B. et al., 2016, 2017) Metastasis Breast cancer (Bersini et al., 2014)	Response to chemotherapy Lung cancer (Hassell et al., 2017) Breast cancer (Choi et al., 2015)

microfluidic devices customized with human tumor spheroids containing immune cells recapitulate some features of response or resistance to immune checkpoint blockade in melanoma (Jenkins et al., 2018), but without features of the stromal compartment. The recent promise of therapies manipulating tumor-infiltrating immune cells created a particular exigency for human cancer models that recapitulate this TME diversity. In an effort to integrate an immune competent microenvironment to organoid cultures, a platform to induce and analyze tumorspecific T-cell responses to epithelial cancers was established (Dijkstra et al., 2018). Enrichment of functional tumorreactive T lymphocytes from CRC or non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients was successfully established by cocultures of peripheral blood lymphocytes with autologous tumor organoids. These tumor-reactive T cells efficiently recognize and kill autologous tumor organoids, while leaving healthy organoids unharmed. Moreover, a recent study presents

organoid modeling that preserves primary tumor epithelium with its endogenous immune and non-immune stromal elements (Neal et al., 2018).

## Cancer Progression: EMT, Cancer Cell Migration and Invasion

The metastatic cascade initiates with invasion and migration of tumor cells away from the primary tumor. Invasion through the basement membrane is considered a differentiating step between neoplasia and malignant tumors. Because cancer cell contractility and matrix stiffness are critical parameters for invasion, accurate invasion models should include tunable matrix parameters (Wisdom et al., 2018). This is possible using organotypic 3D tissues, where virtually any component can be readily modulated. The stromal compartment can be enriched not only with fibroblasts but with myofibroblasts, endothelial cells or inflammatory cells (reviewed in Coleman, 2014).

To study the basis of cancer invasion, significant efforts have been made to recapitulate tumor-stroma interactions. Multicellular spheroids combined with ECM containing fibroblasts showed enhanced invasion (Avgustinova et al., 2016). However, the tumor and its environment being highly dynamic, microfluidic approaches are more fitted to study tumor cell migration. Indeed, the use of such approaches unveiled the contributions of different cell types to tumor cell migration and invasiveness. A 3D microfluidic coculture system containing side-by-side tumor and stroma regions showed that CAFs enhanced the migration and invasiveness of cancer cells (Truong et al., 2019; Pelon et al., 2020). TGFβ secreted by cancer cells was shown to stimulate fibroblasts to transform into myofibroblasts, which then produced soluble factors that fed back to increase the migration speed of the cancer cells (Hsu et al., 2011). Likewise, the cytokines secreted by macrophages cocultured with cancer cells in a microfluidic device, increased cancer cell migration speed and persistence in a MMP-dependent fashion (Li et al., 2017).

#### Angiogenesis and Cancer Cell Intravasation

Over the last decade, biomimetic 3D vascular models have been developed, contributing to the understanding of angiogenic processes. Rings of tissue from human umbilical arteries embedded into a 3D matrix were able to sprout in response to tumor-derived proangiogenic factors (Seano et al., 2013). However, vascular organotypic models should not be static as shear forces and blood flow are important for the vascularization process. So, microfluidic approaches have been developed in which endothelial cells are seeded into a channel within ECM to form a primitive vasculature that can be stimulated by angiogenic factors (Zheng et al., 2012; Nguyen et al., 2018), or with an incorporated layer of human bone marrow stromal cells around the channels to recapitulate perivascular barrier function (Alimperti et al., 2017). These microfluidic chips can also be used to trigger vasculogenesis; in that case, instead of seeding endothelial cells beside the matrix, endothelial cells, fibroblasts (Jeon et al., 2014) and tumor cells (Chen M. B. et al., 2017) are loaded within the matrix. Moreover, the ability of organoid-on-a-chip to mimic perfusable blood vessels may address an important issue of organoid use: the lack of nutrient supply. To surmount this, a tumoroid-on-a-chip was developed. It was created in a microfluidic device consisting of three interconnected chambers that enable the self-assembly of endothelial cells into a 3D network of blood vessels and their angiogenic growth toward the organoid-like structures from breast cancer patients (Shirure et al., 2018). However, in such approaches, endothelial cells may not always be free to interact with tumor cells because of the artificial membranes used in the organ-on-a-chip devices. To address this issue, endothelial cells were modified to produce 'reset' vascular endothelial cells (R-VECs) that grew into 3D branching vessels capable of transporting human blood in microfluidic chambers and when transplanted into mice (Palikuqi et al., 2020). These R-VECs adapted their growth upon their coculture with either normal colon organoids or patient-derived colorectal organoids. They arborized normal colon organoids and helped sustain

their proliferation while they erratically infiltrated tumor-derived organoids, thus providing a novel physiological platform to study vasculogenesis and angiogenesis.

Entry of tumor cells into the blood stream is a critical step in cancer metastasis. Using microfluidic devices, interactions between invasive cancer cells and endothelial cells have been studied. It was shown that treatment of the endothelium with TNF or coculture with macrophages resulted in rapid and increased numbers of tumor cell-endothelial cell attachment events (Zervantonakis et al., 2012). The secretion of cytokines and chemokines by cancer cells increases the permeability of the endothelial barrier, allowing tumor cells to intravasate and extravasate (Reymond et al., 2013). This feature was modeled using a perfused microfluidic platform containing a vascular compartment with breast cancer cells and their associated endothelial cells separated via a micropillar array interface that allows direct communication of tumor and endothelial cells. The permeability of the vessels was greatly increased in response to the presence of tumor cells or tumor cell-conditioned medium (Tang et al., 2017). Moreover, a tissue-engineered model containing a realistic microvessel in coculture with mammary tumor organoids allowed real-time monitoring of tumor cellvessel interactions. Using this model, it was shown that tumor cells can reshape, destroy, or intravasate into blood vessels (Silvestri et al., 2020).

#### Extravasation and Secondary Site Colonization

Cancer cells within vessels must extravasate to colonize new sites. This process is different from intravasation, because the vasculature to be breached is healthier and cancer cells experience fluid shear stresses due to blood flow. After extravasation, cancer cells have one final task to complete: colonization of secondary sites. Extravasation of tumor cells has been shown to occur via endothelial apoptosis in vitro (Heyder et al., 2002) but via necroptosis in vivo (Strilic et al., 2016). Thus, accurate modeling of the extravasation and colonization steps requires tissue-specific cell types, microenvironmental cues, and vascularization. Breast cancer cells extravasated through a vascular network into a bone-mimicking microenvironment generated by culturing osteo-differentiated MSCs within a hydrogel, or within a microfluidic device (Jeon et al., 2015; Sano et al., 2018). It was shown that extravasation rates were much higher to the bone microenvironment than to stromal matrices alone. Another similar model showed that  $\beta$ 1 integrin expression is required for cancer cells to be able to invade through the endothelial basement membrane (Chen M. B. et al., 2016). Increased complexity and clinical relevance can be incorporated into organ-on-a-chip models, as devices have been developed to mimic interactions between circulating tumor cells (CTCs), endothelium and bone microenvironments as a model of metastasis to bone (Bersini et al., 2014).

## Therapeutic Applications of Organotypic Models

Although the demand for anticancer drugs is constantly increasing, their development is slow and fastidious. Monolayer cultured cells are the most widely used *in vitro* models

despite their inability to accurately reflect drug's metabolism and pharmacokinetics in the human body. For years, cellbased drug discovery was based on monolayer cultures of authenticated cell lines (Smith et al., 2010; Barretina et al., 2012), but in this blooming era of precision medicine (Prasad et al., 2016), organotypic models represent great promise for anticancer drug discovery.

In line with this, using an organ-on-a-chip approach, a human lung cancer chip has been developed to study tumor growth patterns and drug response (Hassell et al., 2017). When lung cancer cells were cultured within a physiological-like microenvironment composed of lung endothelial cells, normal lung alveolar epithelium and ECM, they presented rampant growth and resistance to tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI) similar to NSCLC patient's response, while they failed to do so in static conventional culture. Likewise, McAleer and colleagues designed a modulable five-chamber multi-organ system to monitor drug effects and simultaneously examine anticancer drug efficacy and off-target toxicity (McAleer et al., 2019). In two models incorporating an array of cancer and healthy human cell types, the system provided insight into the efficacy and toxicity of diclofenac, imatinib, and tamoxifen.

Beyond engineered organoids, organoids derived from patient biopsies or resected tumors, called patient-derived organoids (PDOs) have been successfully cultured with a high success rate and indefinite expansion. These contain tumor cells and stromal cells, thus providing a more realistic microenvironment and they seem to retain the tissue identity of the patient (Tiriac et al., 2018; Ganesh et al., 2019), indicating their great potential for personalized medicine approaches. Recent studies suggest that PDOs mirror clinical responses of individual patients to therapy within a clinically meaningful timeframe and even predict patient response to chemotherapy (Ooft et al., 2019; Pasch et al., 2019). Indeed, PDOs derived from glioblastoma samples were used to test responses to standard of care therapy as well as targeted treatments, like chimeric antigen receptor T (CAR-T) cell immunotherapy in a clinically relevant timescale (Jacob et al., 2020). These PDO properties laid the foundation of what is now known as organoid biobanks (van de Wetering et al., 2015; Calandrini et al., 2020) used for applications such as drug testing, cytological analyses, and xenografting.

With the significant need for biomarker identification of drug response, PDOs could also be considered as a tool for biomarker discovery by analyzing secreted factors such as extracellular vesicles (Huang L. et al., 2020) in contrast with PDX models, due to the presence of contaminating host factors. Although molecular diagnostic testing is now routinely used to determine the choice of targeted therapies for the treatment of cancer patients, patients in advanced stages who have exhausted standard clinical care approaches lack personalized therapeutics and will endure the arduous regimen of chemotherapy and see little or no benefit. Even if the use of functional testing in guiding personalized medicine in still in its infancy, the use of metastatic cancer site derived PDOs to evaluate drug response has proven its efficacy by recapitulating patient response (Weeber et al., 2015; Fujii et al., 2016; Pauli et al., 2017; Vlachogiannis et al., 2018).

These evaluation platforms could be of great interest in orienting the treatment of advanced cancer patients.

## Shortcomings and Future Directives of Organotypic Models in Translational and Preclinical Settings

The use of organotypic models for cancer modeling is a blooming area of research, however, there are still limitations to their use (Puca et al., 2018; Fujii and Sato, 2020). As an example, studying angiogenesis is rudimentary when it comes to organotypic models. Indeed, the use of vasculature is very basic and organotypic models with other surrounding tissue types are necessary to model more physiological situations. It would be of great interest to model angiogenesis and neovascularization within a transformed organoid. Additionally, complexifying organotypic models by engineering organoids surrounded by muscle, an immune system, and containing a neuronal network along with functional vasculature is something to look forward to in the near future.

When it comes to preclinical studies, organotypic models face many caveats. Spheroid-based 3D models must be used with caution when it comes to clinical relevance. Because they are generated from non-primary tumor cell lines (Friedrich et al., 2009), their use should be restricted to signaling pathways, mechanistic studies and first-line HTS drug screens. More sophisticated models like organoids could be used to validate drug candidates. Stem cell-derived organoids are important for modeling epithelial tumors. However, the lack of standardization and quality control of stem cell culture are an obstacle for their use in clinical studies. The use of pluripotent stem cells for organoid generation can be hampered by the presence of contaminating progenitors that can yield undesired cell types and a small population of undifferentiated PSCs can give rise to tumors that outcompete organ reconstitution in vivo (Fowler et al., 2020). Furthermore, due to different culture methods, organoids may present undesired phenotypic variabilities. Interestingly, the recent development of microwell arrays in a matrixfree solid manner allowed the high-throughput assessment of homogenous organoids in 3D culture (Brandenberg et al., 2020). The most exciting aspect for organoid use in clinics is the implementation of PDOs for personalized medicine but this requires that pure PDO cultures can be established, which is not always the case. For example, prostate cancer organoids can only be generated from metastases because normal prostate epithelial cells overgrow cancer cells (Gao et al., 2014). Additionally, the majority of organoids derived from intrapulmonary tumors were overgrown by normal airway organoids (Dijkstra et al., 2020), hampering their use for preclinical studies. Nonetheless, evidence of divergence from primary tumors emerged over time with a decreased abundance of populations from the TME coupled with lower expression of immune-related genes in PDOs (Jacob et al., 2020). Future studies are needed to improve this issue and to maintain the immune compartment, notably for relevant testing of immunotherapies in PDO biobanks.

Microfluidics require refined technical innovations to enable scaling up for HTS. Integration of organotypic models, spheroids, organoids or PDOs, with simulated physiology in microfluidic platforms could represent one of the most relevant in vitro models. Two very exciting studies recently reported a near complete body-on-a-chip system. One described an eight organ-chip model linked via vascular endothelial-lined compartments: gut, liver, heart, kidney, lung, heart, brain, blood-brain barrier, and skin (Novak et al., 2020). Using the same approach, intravenously administered cisplatin via an arteriovenous reservoir, provided clinically relevant results when compared to in vivo behavior (Herland et al., 2020). In this regard, the microfluidic field is still maturing, with a need for regulatory guidelines among the scientific community, specifically for the validation of organ-on-a-chip technology for pharmacological drug testing.

### **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

Understanding tumors, now considered as heterogenous abnormal organs, is insufficient if the tumor cells are studied individually. Methods that are more inclusive are needed that integrate the cellular, genomic, microenvironmental and spatial features of cancers to be able to understand and overcome their numerous resistance mechanisms. Increasing the complexity of the used models lead to the development of many organotypic cancer models that are physiologically relevant and allow indepth understanding of the interactions that take place within a tumor. Moreover, future studies are needed to standardize organoid culture methods across the scientific community, as this is very heterogenous at the moment. It is also needed to enhance

## REFERENCES

- Alimperti, S., Mirabella, T., Bajaj, V., Polacheck, W., Pirone, D. M., Duffield, J., et al. (2017). Three-dimensional biomimetic vascular model reveals a RhoA, Rac1, and N-cadherin balance in mural cell–endothelial cell-regulated barrier function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, 8758–8763. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1618333114
- Alizadeh, D., Katsanis, E., and Larmonier, N. (2013). The Multifaceted Role of Th17 lymphocytes and their associated cytokines in cancer. *Clin. Dev. Immunol.* 2013, 1–11. doi: 10.1155/2013/957878
- Andrique, L., Recher, G., Alessandri, K., Pujol, N., Feyeux, M., Bon, P., et al. (2019). A model of guided cell self-organization for rapid and spontaneous formation of functional vessels. *Sci. Adv.* 5:eaau6562. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aau6562
- Asakawa, N., Shimizu, T., Tsuda, Y., Sekiya, S., Sasagawa, T., Yamato, M., et al. (2010). Pre-vascularization of in vitro three-dimensional tissues created by cell sheet engineering. *Biomaterials* 31, 3903–3909. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials. 2010.01.105
- Avgustinova, A., Iravani, M., Robertson, D., Fearns, A., Gao, Q., Klingbeil, P., et al. (2016). Tumour cell-derived Wnt7a recruits and activates fibroblasts to promote tumour aggressiveness. *Nat. Commun.* 7:10305.
- Barcellos-Hoff, M. H., and Ravani, S. A. (2000). Irradiated mammary gland stroma promotes the expression of tumorigenic potential by unirradiated epithelial cells. *Cancer Res.* 60, 1254–1260.
- Barretina, J., Caponigro, G., Stransky, N., Venkatesan, K., Margolin, A. A., Kim, S., et al. (2012). The Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia enables predictive modelling of anticancer drug sensitivity. *Nature* 483, 603–607.
- Bartfeld, S., Bayram, T., van de Wetering, M., Huch, M., Begthel, H., Kujala, P., et al. (2015). In vitro expansion of human gastric epithelial stem cells and their responses to bacterial infection. *Gastroenterology* 148:126-36.e6.

such cultures by adding stromal and immune compartments to organoid culture to better mimic the tumor microenvironment. This is important because patient-derived organoids represent a very promising approach for personalized medicine, as they retain patient and tumor identity and mirror drug response, thus allowing the use of tailored medicine and avoiding the use of unnecessary treatments. Such organoids, cryo-preserved and collected to form biobanks, should they be available to the scientific community, may replace conventional drug screening assays because they fit the requirements of automated highthroughput screenings. More sophisticated organotypic models, fruits of the collaboration between biologists and engineers, could represent the future of cancer research. Multi-organoid systems also referred to as "body-on-a-chip" will enable the development of biologically complex systems, where organoids derived from different tissues are brought together and allowed to integrate, mimicking organ function and allowing disease modeling.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

OM conceived the review outline. MH wrote the manuscript and made the figures with support from OM. CN and CV contributed to the final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Sylvie Rodrigues-Ferreira for the discussions and comments. We also thank the Foundation Janssen Horizon for supporting MH's Ph.D. thesis.

- Batlle, E., and Clevers, H. (2017). Cancer stem cells revisited. Nat. Med. 23, 1124-1134.
- Beckwitt, C. H., Clark, A. M., Wheeler, S., Taylor, D. L., Stolz, D. B., Griffith, L., et al. (2018). Liver 'organ on a chip'. *Exp. Cell Res.* 363, 15–25.
- Ben-David, U., Ha, G., Tseng, Y.-Y., Greenwald, N. F., Oh, C., Shih, J., et al. (2017). Patient-derived xenografts undergo mouse-specific tumor evolution. *Nat. Genet.* 49, 1567–1575. doi: 10.1038/ng.3967
- Bersini, S., Jeon, J. S., Dubini, G., Arrigoni, C., Chung, S., Charest, J. L., et al. (2014). A microfluidic 3D in vitro model for specificity of breast cancer metastasis to bone. *Biomaterials* 35, 2454–2461. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013. 11.050
- Bhatia, S. N., and Ingber, D. E. (2014). Microfluidic organs-on-chips. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 32, 760–772. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2989
- Bonnans, C., Chou, J., and Werb, Z. (2014). Remodelling the extracellular matrix in development and disease. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 15, 786–801. doi: 10.1038/ nrm3904
- Brancato, V., Gioiella, F., Imparato, G., Guarnieri, D., Urciuolo, F., and Netti, P. A. (2018). 3D breast cancer microtissue reveals the role of tumor microenvironment on the transport and efficacy of free-doxorubicin in vitro. *Acta Biomaterialia* 75, 200–212. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2018. 05.055
- Brandenberg, N., Hoehnel, S., Kuttler, F., Homicsko, K., Ceroni, C., Ringel, T., et al. (2020). High-throughput automated organoid culture via stem-cell aggregation in microcavity arrays. *Nat. Biomed. Eng.* 4, 863–874. doi: 10.1038/s41551-020-0565-2
- Buckley, C. D., Pilling, D., Lord, J. M., Akbar, A. N., Scheel-Toellner, D., and Salmon, M. (2001). Fibroblasts regulate the switch from acute resolving to chronic persistent inflammation. *Trends Immunol.* 22, 199–204. doi: 10.1016/ s1471-4906(01)01863-4

- Calandrini, C., Schutgens, F., Oka, R., Margaritis, T., Candelli, T., Mathijsen, L., et al. (2020). An organoid biobank for childhood kidney cancers that captures disease and tissue heterogeneity. *Nat. Commun.* 11:1310.
- Camp, J. G., Sekine, K., Gerber, T., Loeffler-Wirth, H., Binder, H., Gac, M., et al. (2017). Multilineage communication regulates human liver bud development from pluripotency. *Nature* 546, 533–538. doi: 10.1038/nature 22796
- Cardin, D. B., Goff, L., Li, C.-I., Shyr, Y., Winkler, C., DeVore, R., et al. (2014). Phase II trial of sorafenib and erlotinib in advanced pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Med.* 3, 572–579. doi: 10.1002/cam4.208
- Chambers, A. F., Groom, A. C., and MacDonald, I. C. (2002). Dissemination, and growth of cancer cells in metastatic sites. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 2, 563–572. doi: 10.1038/nrc865
- Chen, A. A., Underhill, G. H., and Bhatia, S. N. (2010). Multiplexed, high-throughput analysis of 3D microtissue suspensions. *Integr. Biol.* 2, 517–527. doi: 10.1039/c0ib00054j
- Chen, H. J., Wei, Z., Sun, J., Bhattacharya, A., Savage, D. J., Serda, R., et al. (2016). A recellularized human colon model identifies cancer driver genes. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 34, 845–851. doi: 10.1038/nbt.3586
- Chen, M. B., Lamar, J. M., Li, R., Hynes, R. O., and Kamm, R. D. (2016). Elucidation of the roles of tumor integrin  $\beta$ 1 in the extravasation stage of the metastasis cascade. *Cancer Res.* 76:2513. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-15-1325
- Chen, M. B., Whisler, J. A., Fröse, J., Yu, C., Shin, Y., and Kamm, R. D. (2017). On-chip human microvasculature assay for visualization and quantification of tumor cell extravasation dynamics. *Nat. Protoc.* 12, 865–880. doi: 10.1038/ nprot.2017.018
- Chen, S., Giannakou, A., Wyman, S., Gruzas, J., Golas, J., Zhong, W., et al. (2018). Cancer-associated fibroblasts suppress SOX2-induced dysplasia in a lung squamous cancer coculture. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 115, E11671– E11680.
- Choi, J., Cha, Y. J., and Koo, J. S. (2018). Adipocyte biology in breast cancer: from silent bystander to active facilitator. *Progr. Lipid Res.* 69, 11–20. doi: 10.1016/j.plipres.2017.11.002
- Choi, Y., Hyun, E., Seo, J., Blundell, C., Kim, H. C., Lee, E., et al. (2015). A microengineered pathophysiological model of early-stage breast cancer. *Lab Chip.* 15, 3350–3357. doi: 10.1039/c5lc00514k
- Clohessy, J. G., and Pandolfi, P. P. (2015). Mouse hospital and co-clinical trial project—from bench to bedside. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 12, 491–498. doi: 10. 1038/nrclinonc.2015.62
- Co, J. Y., Margalef-Català, M., Li, X., Mah, A. T., Kuo, C. J., Monack, D. M., et al. (2019). Controlling epithelial polarity: a human enteroid model for hostpathogen interactions. *Cell Rep.* 26, 2509–2520.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019. 01.108
- Coleman, S. J. (2014). Pancreatic cancer organotypics: high throughput, preclinical models for pharmacological agent evaluation. World J. Gastroenterol. 20, 8471– 8481. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i26.8471
- Condeelis, J., and Pollard, J. W. (2006). Macrophages: obligate partners for tumor cell migration, invasion, and metastasis. *Cell* 124, 263–266. doi: 10.1016/j.cell. 2006.01.007
- Conklin, M. W., Eickhoff, J. C., Riching, K. M., Pehlke, C. A., Eliceiri, K. W., Provenzano, P. P., et al. (2011). Aligned collagen is a prognostic signature for survival in human breast carcinoma. *Am. J. Pathol.* 178, 1221–1232. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2010.11.076
- Day, C.-P., Merlino, G., and Van Dyke, T. (2015). Preclinical mouse cancer models: a maze of opportunities and challenges. *Cell* 163, 39–53. doi: 10.1016/j.cell. 2015.08.068
- De La Rochere, P., Guil-Luna, S., Decaudin, D., Azar, G., Sidhu, S. S., and Piaggio, E. (2018). Humanized mice for the study of immuno-oncology. *Trends Immunol.* 39, 748–763. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2018.07.001
- Dekkers, J. F., Whittle, J. R., Vaillant, F., Chen, H.-R., Dawson, C., Liu, K., et al. (2020). Modeling Breast Cancer Using CRISPR-Cas9–mediated engineering of human breast organoids. JNCI 112, 540–544. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djz196
- del Pozo Martin, Y., Park, D., Ramachandran, A., Ombrato, L., Calvo, F., Chakravarty, P., et al. (2015). Mesenchymal cancer cell-stroma crosstalk promotes niche activation, epithelial reversion, and metastatic colonization. *Cell Rep.* 13, 2456–2469. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.11.025
- Deng, T., Lyon, C. J., Bergin, S., Caligiuri, M. A., and Hsueh, W. A. (2016). Obesity, inflammation, and cancer. *Ann. Rev. Pathol.* 11, 421–449.

- Dijkstra, K. K., Cattaneo, C. M., Weeber, F., Chalabi, M., van de Haar, J., Fanchi, L. F., et al. (2018). Generation of tumor-reactive T cells by co-culture of peripheral blood lymphocytes and tumor organoids. *Cell* 174:1586-98.e12.
- Dijkstra, K. K., Monkhorst, K., Schipper, L. J., Hartemink, K. J., Smit, E. F., Kaing, S., et al. (2020). Challenges in establishing pure lung cancer organoids limit their utility for personalized medicine. *Cell Rep.* 31:107588. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep. 2020.107588
- Dirat, B., Bochet, L., Dabek, M., Daviaud, D., Dauvillier, S., Majed, B., et al. (2011). Cancer-associated adipocytes exhibit an activated phenotype and contribute to breast cancer invasion. *Cancer Res.* 71, 2455–2465. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472. can-10-3323
- Drost, J., van Boxtel, R., Blokzijl, F., Mizutani, T., Sasaki, N., Sasselli, V., et al. (2017). Use of CRISPR-modified human stem cell organoids to study the origin of mutational signatures in cancer. *Science* 358, 234–238. doi: 10.1126/science. aao3130
- Dutta, D., Heo, I., and Clevers, H. (2017). Disease Modeling in Stem Cell-Derived 3D Organoid Systems. *Trends Mol. Med.* 23, 393–410. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed. 2017.02.007
- Duval, K., Grover, H., Han, L.-H., Mou, Y., Pegoraro, A. F., Fredberg, J., et al. (2017). Modeling physiological events in 2D vs. 3D cell culture. *Physiology* 32, 266–277. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00036.2016
- Dye, B. R., Hill, D. R., Ferguson, M. A., Tsai, Y.-H., Nagy, M. S., Dyal, R., et al. (2015). In vitro generation of human pluripotent stem cell derived lung organoids. *eLife* 4:e05098.
- Ehsan, S. M., Welch-Reardon, K. M., Waterman, M. L., Hughes, C. C. W., and George, S. C. (2014). A three-dimensional in vitro model of tumor cell intravasation. *Integr. Biol.* 6, 603–610. doi: 10.1039/c3ib40170g
- Erler, J. T., Bennewith, K. L., Cox, T. R., Lang, G., Bird, D., Koong, A., et al. (2009). Hypoxia-induced lysyl oxidase is a critical mediator of bone marrow cell recruitment to form the premetastatic niche. *Cancer Cell* 15, 35–44. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2008.11.012
- Etzerodt, A., Moulin, M., Doktor, T. K., Delfini, M., Mossadegh-Keller, N., Bajenoff, M., et al. (2020). Tissue-resident macrophages in omentum promote metastatic spread of ovarian cancer. J. Exp. Med. 217:e20191869.
- Fearon, E. R., and Vogelstein, B. (1990). A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell 61, 759–767. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(90)90186-i
- Fernández-Periáñez, R., Molina-Privado, I., Rojo, F., Guijarro-Muñoz, I., Alonso-Camino, V., Zazo, S., et al. (2013). Basement membrane-rich organoids with functional human blood vessels are permissive niches for human breast cancer metastasis. *PLoS One* 8:e72957. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0072957
- Ferreira, L. P., Gaspar, V. M., and Mano, J. F. (2018). Design of spherically structured 3D in vitro tumor models -Advances and prospects. Acta Biomaterialia 75, 11–34. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2018.05.034
- Folkman, J. (1985). "Tumor Angiogenesis," in *Advances in Cancer Research*, eds G. Klein, and S. Weinhouse (Cambridge: Academic Press), 175–203.
- Folkman, J., Watson, K., Ingber, D., and Hanahan, D. (1989). Induction of angiogenesis during the transition from hyperplasia to neoplasia. *Nature* 339, 58–61. doi: 10.1038/339058a0
- Fowler, J. L., Ang, L. T., and Loh, K. M. (2020). A critical look: challenges in differentiating human pluripotent stem cells into desired cell types and organoids. WIREs Dev. Biol. 9:e368.
- Fridman, W. H., Pagès, F., Sautès-Fridman, C., and Galon, J. (2012). The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 12, 298–306. doi: 10.1038/nrc3245
- Friedl, P., Locker, J., Sahai, E., and Segall, J. E. (2012). Classifying collective cancer cell invasion. Nat. Cell Biol. 14, 777–783. doi: 10.1038/ncb2548
- Friedrich, J., Seidel, C., Ebner, R., and Kunz-Schughart, L. A. (2009). Spheroidbased drug screen: considerations and practical approach. *Nat. Protoc.* 4, 309–324. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2008.226
- Fuchs, E. (1990). Epidermal differentiation: the bare essentials. J. Cell Biol. 111, 2807–2814. doi: 10.1083/jcb.111.6.2807
- Fujii, M., and Sato, T. (2020). Somatic cell-derived organoids as prototypes of human epithelial tissues and diseases. *Nat. Mater.* doi: 10.1038/s41563-020-0754-0 [Epub ahead of print].
- Fujii, M., Shimokawa, M., Date, S., Takano, A., Matano, M., Nanki, K., et al. (2016). A colorectal tumor organoid library demonstrates progressive loss of niche factor requirements during tumorigenesis. *Cell Stem Cell* 18, 827–838. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2016.04.003

- Fukuda, A., Wang Sam, C., Morris John, P., Folias Alexandra, E., Liou, A., Kim Grace, E., et al. (2011). Stat3 and MMP7 contribute to pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma initiation and progression. *Cancer Cell* 19, 441–455. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2011.03.002
- Fukumura, D., Xavier, R., Sugiura, T., Chen, Y., Park, E.-C., Lu, N., et al. (1998). Tumor Induction of VEGF promoter activity in stromal cells. *Cell* 94, 715–725. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81731-6
- Fumagalli, A., Drost, J., Suijkerbuijk, S. J. E., van Boxtel, R., de Ligt, J., Offerhaus, G. J., et al. (2017). Genetic dissection of colorectal cancer progression by orthotopic transplantation of engineered cancer organoids. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, E2357–E2364.
- Ganesh, K., Wu, C., O'Rourke, K. P., Szeglin, B. C., Zheng, Y., Sauvé, C.-E. G., et al. (2019). A rectal cancer organoid platform to study individual responses to chemoradiation. *Nat. Med.* 25, 1607–1614.
- Gao, D., Vela, I., Sboner, A., Iaquinta Phillip, J., Karthaus Wouter, R., Gopalan, A., et al. (2014). Organoid cultures derived from patients with advanced prostate cancer. *Cell* 159, 176–187.
- Garcez, P. P., Loiola, E. C., Madeiro da Costa, R., Higa, L. M., Trindade, P., Delvecchio, R., et al. (2016). Zika virus impairs growth in human neurospheres and brain organoids. *Science* 352:40780.
- Gatault, S., Delbeke, M., Driss, V., Sarazin, A., Dendooven, A., Kahn, J.-E., et al. (2015). IL-18 Is Involved in Eosinophil-Mediated Tumoricidal Activity against a Colon Carcinoma Cell Line by Upregulating LFA-1 and ICAM-1. *J. Immunol.* 195, 2483–2492. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1402914
- Gentles, A. J., Newman, A. M., Liu, C. L., Bratman, S. V., Feng, W., Kim, D., et al. (2015). The prognostic landscape of genes and infiltrating immune cells across human cancers. *Nat. Med.* 21, 938–945. doi: 10.1038/nm.3909
- Georgess, D., Padmanaban, V., Sirka, O. K., Coutinho, K., Choi, A., Frid, G., et al. (2020). Twist1-induced epithelial dissemination requires Prkd1 signaling. *Cancer Res.* 80, 204–218. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-18-3241
- Gillet, J.-P., Calcagno, A. M., Varma, S., Marino, M., Green, L. J., Vora, M. I., et al. (2011). Redefining the relevance of established cancer cell lines to the study of mechanisms of clinical anti-cancer drug resistance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 18708–18713. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1111840108
- Gjorevski, N., Sachs, N., Manfrin, A., Giger, S., Bragina, M. E., Ordóñez-Morán, P., et al. (2016). Designer matrices for intestinal stem cell and organoid culture. *Nature* 539, 560–564. doi: 10.1038/nature20168
- Gocheva, V., Wang, H.-W., Gadea, B. B., Shree, T., Hunter, K. E., Garfall, A. L., et al. (2010). IL-4 induces cathepsin protease activity in tumor-associated macrophages to promote cancer growth and invasion. *Genes Dev.* 24, 241–255. doi: 10.1101/gad.1874010
- Goswami, S., Sahai, E., Wyckoff, J. B., Cammer, M., Cox, D., Pixley, F. J., et al. (2005). Macrophages Promote the Invasion of Breast Carcinoma Cells via a Colony-Stimulating Factor-1/Epidermal Growth Factor Paracrine Loop. *Cancer Res.* 65, 5278–5283. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-04-1853
- Goto, H., Shimono, Y., Funakoshi, Y., Imamura, Y., Toyoda, M., Kiyota, N., et al. (2019). Adipose-derived stem cells enhance human breast cancer growth and cancer stem cell-like properties through adipsin. *Oncogene* 38, 767–779. doi: 10.1038/s41388-018-0477-8
- Grisaru-Tal, S., Itan, M., Klion, A. D., and Munitz, A. (2020). A new dawn for eosinophils in the tumour microenvironment. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 20, 594–607. doi: 10.1038/s41568-020-0283-9
- Hammel, P., Huguet, F., van Laethem, J.-L., Goldstein, D., Glimelius, B., Artru, P., et al. (2016). Effect of Chemoradiotherapy vs Chemotherapy on Survival in Patients With Locally Advanced Pancreatic Cancer Controlled After 4 Months of Gemcitabine With or Without Erlotinib: the LAP07 Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 315, 1844–1853. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016. 4324
- Han, K., Pierce, S. E., Li, A., Spees, K., Anderson, G. R., Seoane, J. A., et al. (2020). CRISPR screens in cancer spheroids identify 3D growth-specific vulnerabilities. *Nature* 580, 136–141. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2099-x
- Hanahan, D., and Coussens, L. M. (2012). Accessories to the crime: functions of cells recruited to the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Cell* 21, 309–322. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2012.02.022
- Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell* 100, 57–70.
- Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* 144, 646–674. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013

- Harney, A. S., Arwert, E. N., Entenberg, D., Wang, Y., Guo, P., Qian, B.-Z., et al. (2015). Real-time imaging reveals local, transient vascular permeability, and tumor cell intravasation stimulated by TIE2hi macrophage-derived VEGFA. *Cancer Discov.* 5, 932–943. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.cd-15-0012
- Hassell, B. A., Goyal, G., Lee, E., Sontheimer-Phelps, A., Levy, O., Chen, C. S., et al. (2017). Human organ chip models recapitulate orthotopic lung cancer growth. therapeutic responses, and tumor dormancy in vitro. *Cell Rep.* 21, 508–516. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.09.043
- Herbst, R. S., Soria, J.-C., Kowanetz, M., Fine, G. D., Hamid, O., Gordon, M. S., et al. (2014). Predictive correlates of response to the anti-PD-L1 antibody MPDL3280A in cancer patients. *Nature* 515, 563–567.
- Herland, A., Maoz, B. M., Das, D., Somayaji, M. R., Prantil-Baun, R., Novak, R., et al. (2020). Quantitative prediction of human pharmacokinetic responses to drugs via fluidically coupled vascularized organ chips. *Nat. Biomed. Eng.* 4, 421–436. doi: 10.1038/s41551-019-0498-9
- Heyder, C., Gloria-Maercker, E., Entschladen, F., Hatzmann, W., Niggemann, B., Zänker, K., et al. (2002). Realtime visualization of tumor cell/endothelial cell interactions during transmigration across the endothelial barrier. *J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol.* 128, 533–538. doi: 10.1007/s00432-002-0377-7
- Hida, K., Akiyama, K., Ohga, N., Maishi, N., and Hida, Y. (2013). Tumour endothelial cells acquire drug resistance in a tumour microenvironment. *J. Biochem.* 153, 243–249. doi: 10.1093/jb/mvs152
- Hinshaw, D. C., and Shevde, L. A. (2019). The Tumor Microenvironment Innately Modulates Cancer Progression. *Cancer Res.* 79, 4557–4566. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-18-3962
- Hohwieler, M., Illing, A., Hermann, P. C., Mayer, T., Stockmann, M., Perkhofer, L., et al. (2017). Human pluripotent stem cell-derived acinar/ductal organoids generate human pancreas upon orthotopic transplantation and allow disease modelling. *Gut* 66, 473–486. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2016-312423
- Hsu, T.-H., Xiao, J.-L., Tsao, Y.-W., Kao, Y.-L., Huang, S.-H., Liao, W.-Y., et al. (2011). Analysis of the paracrine loop between cancer cells and fibroblasts using a microfluidic chip. *Lab Chip.* 11, 1808–1814. doi: 10.1039/c1lc20090a
- Hu, B., Castillo, E., Harewood, L., Ostano, P., Reymond, A., Dummer, R., et al. (2012). Multifocal epithelial tumors and field cancerization from loss of mesenchymal CSL signaling. *Cell* 149, 1207–1220. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012. 03.048
- Huang, A., Garraway, L. A., Ashworth, A., and Weber, B. (2020). Synthetic lethality as an engine for cancer drug. (target). discovery. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 19, 23–38. doi: 10.1038/s41573-019-0046-z
- Huang, L., Bockorny, B., Paul, I., Akshinthala, D., Frappart, P.-O., Gandarilla, O., et al. (2020). PDX-derived organoids model in vivo drug response and secrete biomarkers. *JCI Insight* 5:e135544.
- Huang, S., Boda, B., Vernaz, J., Ferreira, E., Wiszniewski, L., and Constant, S. (2017). Establishment and characterization of an in vitro human small airway model (SmallAir<sup>TM</sup>). *Eur. J. Pharmaceut. Biopharmaceut.* 118, 68–72. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpb.2016.12.006
- Huang, S.-M., Lin, C., Lin, H.-Y., Chiu, C.-M., Fang, C.-W., Liao, K.-F., et al. (2015). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor regulates cell motility in human colon cancer. *Endocrine Relat. Cancer* 22, 455–464. doi: 10.1530/erc-15-0007
- Huh, D., Leslie, D. C., Matthews, B. D., Fraser, J. P., Jurek, S., Hamilton, G. A., et al. (2012). A human disease model of drug toxicity–induced pulmonary edema in a lung-on-a-chip microdevice. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 4:159ra147. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3004249
- Huh, D., Matthews, B. D., Mammoto, A., Montoya-Zavala, M., Hsin, H. Y., and Ingber, D. E. (2010). Reconstituting organ-level lung functions on a chip. *Science* 328, 1662–1668. doi: 10.1126/science.1188302
- Hynes, R. O., and Naba, A. (2012). Overview of the matrisome-an inventory of extracellular matrix constituents and functions. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 4:a004903. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a004903
- Jacob, F., Salinas, R. D., Zhang, D. Y., Nguyen, P. T. T., Schnoll, J. G., Wong, S. Z. H., et al. (2020). A patient-derived glioblastoma organoid model and biobank recapitulates inter- and intra-tumoral heterogeneity. *Cell* 180, 188-204.e22.
- Jang, K.-J., Mehr, A. P., Hamilton, G. A., McPartlin, L. A., Chung, S., Suh, K.-Y., et al. (2013). Human kidney proximal tubule-on-a-chip for drug transport and nephrotoxicity assessment. *Integr. Biol.* 5, 1119–1129. doi: 10.1039/c3ib40049b
- Jenkins, R. W., Aref, A. R., Lizotte, P. H., Ivanova, E., Stinson, S., Zhou, C. W., et al. (2018). Ex Vivo Profiling of PD-1 blockade using organotypic tumor spheroids. *Cancer Discov.* 8, 196–215.

- Jeon, J. S., Bersini, S., Gilardi, M., Dubini, G., Charest, J. L., Moretti, M., et al. (2015). Human 3D vascularized organotypic microfluidic assays to study breast cancer cell extravasation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 112, 214–219. doi: 10. 1073/pnas.1417115112
- Jeon, J. S., Bersini, S., Whisler, J. A., Chen, M. B., Dubini, G., Charest, J. L., et al. (2014). Generation of 3D functional microvascular networks with human mesenchymal stem cells in microfluidic systems. *Integr. Biol.* 6, 555–563. doi: 10.1039/c3ib40267c
- Jia, X., Gábris, F., Jacobsen, Ó, Bedics, G., Botz, B., Helyes, Z., et al. (2020). Foliate Lymphoid Aggregates as Novel Forms of Serous Lymphocyte Entry Sites of Peritoneal B Cells and High-Grade B Cell Lymphomas. J. Immunol. 204, 23–36. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1900851
- Jobling, P., Pundavela, J., Oliveira, S. M. R., Roselli, S., Walker, M. M., and Hondermarck, H. (2015). Nerve-cancer cell cross-talk: a novel promoter of tumor progression. *Cancer Res.* 75, 1777–1781. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-14-3180
- Jung, H.-Y., Fattet, L., Tsai, J. H., Kajimoto, T., Chang, Q., Newton, A. C., et al. (2019). Apical-basal polarity inhibits epithelial-mesenchymal transition and tumour metastasis by PAR-complex-mediated SNAI1 degradation. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 21, 359–371. doi: 10.1038/s41556-019-0291-8
- Junttila, M. R., and de Sauvage, F. J. (2013). Influence of tumour microenvironment heterogeneity on therapeutic response. *Nature* 501, 346–354. doi: 10.1038/nature12626
- Kalabis, J., Wong, G. S., Vega, M. E., Natsuizaka, M., Robertson, E. S., Herlyn, M., et al. (2012). Isolation and characterization of mouse and human esophageal epithelial cells in 3D organotypic culture. *Nat. Protoc.* 7, 235–246. doi: 10.1038/ nprot.2011.437
- Kalluri, R. (2016). The biology and function of fibroblasts in cancer. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 16, 582–598. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2016.73
- Kalluri, R., and Zeisberg, M. (2006). Fibroblasts in cancer. Nat. Rev. Cancer 6, 392-401.
- Kaplan, R. N., Riba, R. D., Zacharoulis, S., Bramley, A. H., Vincent, L., Costa, C., et al. (2005). VEGFR1-positive haematopoietic bone marrow progenitors initiate the pre-metastatic niche. *Nature* 438, 820–827. doi: 10. 1038/nature04186
- Kessler, M., Hoffmann, K., Brinkmann, V., Thieck, O., Jackisch, S., Toelle, B., et al. (2015). The Notch and Wnt pathways regulate stemness and differentiation in human fallopian tube organoids. *Nat. Commun.* 6:8989.
- Kim, K., Ohashi, K., Utoh, R., Kano, K., and Okano, T. (2012). Preserved liverspecific functions of hepatocytes in 3D co-culture with endothelial cell sheets. *Biomaterials* 33, 1406–1413. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.10.084
- Koh, I., Cha, J., Park, J., Choi, J., Kang, S.-G., and Kim, P. (2018). The mode and dynamics of glioblastoma cell invasion into a decellularized tissue-derived extracellular matrix-based three-dimensional tumor model. *Sci. Rep.* 8:4608.
- Kumar, V., Patel, S., Tcyganov, E., and Gabrilovich, D. I. (2016). The nature of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the tumor microenvironment. *Trends Immunol.* 37, 208–220.
- Lancaster, M. A., Corsini, N. S., Wolfinger, S., Gustafson, E. H., Phillips, A. W., Burkard, T. R., et al. (2017). Guided self-organization and cortical plate formation in human brain organoids. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 35, 659–666. doi: 10. 1038/nbt.3906
- Lancaster, M. A., and Knoblich, J. A. (2014). Organogenesis in a dish: modeling development and disease using organoid technologies. *Science* 345:1247125. doi: 10.1126/science.1247125
- Langhans, S. A. (2018). Three-dimensional in vitro cell culture models in drug discovery and drug repositioning. *Front. Pharmacol.* 9:6. doi: 10.3389/fphar. 2018.00006
- Lee, E. Y., Parry, G., and Bissell, M. J. (1984). Modulation of secreted proteins of mouse mammary epithelial cells by the collagenous substrata. J. Cell Biol. 98, 146–155. doi: 10.1083/jcb.98.1.146
- Lee, M.-Y., Kumar, R. A., Sukumaran, S. M., Hogg, M. G., Clark, D. S., and Dordick, J. S. (2008). Three-dimensional cellular microarray for highthroughput toxicology assays. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 59–63. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0708756105
- Leslie, J. L., Huang, S., Opp, J. S., Nagy, M. S., Kobayashi, M., Young, V. B., et al. (2015). Persistence and toxin production by clostridium difficile within human intestinal organoids result in disruption of epithelial paracellular barrier function. *Infect. Immunity* 83, 138–145. doi: 10.1128/iai.02561-14

- Li, P., Lu, M., Shi, J., Gong, Z., Hua, L., Li, Q., et al. (2020). Lung mesenchymal cells elicit lipid storage in neutrophils that fuel breast cancer lung metastasis. *Nat. Immunol.* 21, 1444–1455. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-0783-5
- Li, R., Hebert, J. D., Lee, T. A., Xing, H., Boussommier-Calleja, A., Hynes, R. O., et al. (2017). Macrophage-Secreted TNF $\alpha$  and TGF $\beta$ 1 influence migration speed and persistence of cancer cells in 3D tissue culture via independent pathways. *Cancer Res.* 77, 279–290. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-16-0442
- Li, Y., and Kumacheva, E. (2018). Hydrogel microenvironments for cancer spheroid growth and drug screening. *Sci. Adv.* 4:eaas8998. doi: 10.1126/sciadv. aas8998
- Libanje, F., Raingeaud, J., Luan, R., Thomas, Z., Zajac, O., Veiga, J., et al. (2019). ROCK2 inhibition triggers the collective invasion of colorectal adenocarcinomas. *EMBO J.* 38:e99299.
- Lindau, D., Gielen, P., Kroesen, M., Wesseling, P., and Adema, G. J. (2013). The immunosuppressive tumour network: myeloid-derived suppressor cells, regulatory T cells and natural killer T cells. *Immunology* 138, 105–115. doi: 10.1111/imm.12036
- Liu, T., Han, C., Wang, S., Fang, P., Ma, Z., Xu, L., et al. (2019). Cancer-associated fibroblasts: an emerging target of anti-cancer immunotherapy. J. Hematol. Oncol. 12:86.
- Liu, Y., and Cao, X. (2016). Characteristics and significance of the pre-metastatic niche. *Cancer Cell* 30, 668–681. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.09.011
- Lu, Z., Liang, J., He, Q., Wan, Q., Hou, J., Lian, K., et al. (2019). The serum biomarker chemerin promotes tumorigenesis and metastasis in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Clin. Sci.* 133, 681–695. doi: 10.1042/cs20181023
- Lucarini, V., Ziccheddu, G., Macchia, I., La Sorsa, V., Peschiaroli, F., Buccione, C., et al. (2017). IL-33 restricts tumor growth and inhibits pulmonary metastasis in melanoma-bearing mice through eosinophils. *OncoImmunology* 6:e1317420. doi: 10.1080/2162402x.2017.1317420
- Madeo, M., Colbert, P. L., Vermeer, D. W., Lucido, C. T., Cain, J. T., Vichaya, E. G., et al. (2018). Cancer exosomes induce tumor innervation. *Nat. Commun.* 9:4284.
- Magnon, C., Hall, S. J., Lin, J., Xue, X., Gerber, L., Freedland, S. J., et al. (2015). Autonomic nerve development contributes to prostate cancer progression. *Science* 341:1236361. doi: 10.1126/science.1236361
- Mani, S. A., Guo, W., Liao, M.-J., Eaton, E. N., Ayyanan, A., Zhou, A. Y., et al. (2008). The epithelial-mesenchymal transition generates cells with properties of stem cells. *Cell* 133, 704–715.
- Mantovani, A., and Allavena, P. (2015). The interaction of anticancer therapies with tumor-associated macrophages. J. Exp. Med. 212, 435–445. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20150295
- Mantovani, A., Allavena, P., Sica, A., and Balkwill, F. (2008). Cancer-related inflammation. *Nature* 454, 436-444.
- Martin, O. C. B., Bergonzini, A., D'Amico, F., Chen, P., Shay, J. W., Dupuy, J., et al. (2019). Infection with genotoxin-producing *Salmonella enterica* synergises with loss of the tumour suppressor *APC* in promoting genomic instability via the PI3K pathway in colonic epithelial cells. *Cell. Microbiol.* 21:e13099. doi: 10.1111/cmi.13099
- Matano, M., Date, S., Shimokawa, M., Takano, A., Fujii, M., Ohta, Y., et al. (2015). Modeling colorectal cancer using CRISPR-Cas9–mediated engineering of human intestinal organoids. *Nat. Med.* 21, 256–262. doi: 10.1038/nm. 3802
- Mazio, C., Casale, C., Imparato, G., Urciuolo, F., and Netti, P. A. (2018). Recapitulating spatiotemporal tumor heterogeneity in vitro through engineered breast cancer microtissues. *Acta Biomaterialia* 73, 236–249. doi: 10.1016/j. actbio.2018.04.028
- McAleer, C. W., Long, C. J., Elbrecht, D., Sasserath, T., Bridges, L. R., Rumsey, J. W., et al. (2019). Multi-organ system for the evaluation of efficacy and offtarget toxicity of anticancer therapeutics. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 11:eaav1386. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aav1386
- McAllister, S. S., and Weinberg, R. A. (2014). The tumour-induced systemic environment as a critical regulator of cancer progression and metastasis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 16, 717–727. doi: 10.1038/ncb3015
- McCracken, K. W., Catá, E. M., Crawford, C. M., Sinagoga, K. L., Schumacher, M., Rockich, B. E., et al. (2014). Modelling human development and disease in pluripotent stem-cell-derived gastric organoids. *Nature* 516, 400–404.
- McFadden, D. G., Politi, K., Bhutkar, A., Chen, F. K., Song, X., Pirun, M., et al. (2016). Mutational landscape of EGFR-, MYC-, and Kras-driven genetically

engineered mouse models of lung adenocarcinoma. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 113:E6409.

- Mehlen, P., and Puisieux, A. (2006). Metastasis: a question of life or death. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 6, 449–458. doi: 10.1038/nrc1886
- Merlos-Suárez, A., Barriga Francisco, M., Jung, P., Iglesias, M., Céspedes María, V., Rossell, D., et al. (2011). The intestinal stem cell signature identifies colorectal cancer stem cells and predicts disease relapse. *Cell Stem Cell* 8, 511–524. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2011.02.020
- Mhaidly, R., and Mechta-Grigoriou, F. (2020). Fibroblast heterogeneity in tumor micro-environment: role in immunosuppression and new therapies. Semin. Immunol. [Online ahead of print] doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2020.101417
- Michels, B. E., Mosa, M. H., Streibl, B. I., Zhan, T., Menche, C., Abou-El-Ardat, K., et al. (2020). Pooled In Vitro and In Vivo CRISPR-Cas9 screening identifies tumor suppressors in human colon organoids. *Cell Stem Cell* 26, 782-92.e7.
- Middleton, G., Fletcher, P., Popat, S., Savage, J., Summers, Y., Greystoke, A., et al. (2020). The National Lung Matrix Trial of personalized therapy in lung cancer. *Nature* 583, 807–812.
- Nam, S. H., Kim, D., Lee, D., Lee, H.-M., Song, D.-G., Jung, J. W., et al. (2018). Lysyl-tRNA synthetase–expressing colon spheroids induce M2 macrophage polarization to promote metastasis. *J. Clin. Invest.* 128, 5034–5055. doi: 10. 1172/jci99806
- Namekawa, T., Ikeda, K., Horie-Inoue, K., Suzuki, T., Okamoto, K., Ichikawa, T., et al. (2020). ALDH1A1 in patient-derived bladder cancer spheroids activates retinoic acid signaling leading to TUBB3 overexpression and tumor progression. *Int. J. Cancer* 146, 1099–1113. doi: 10.1002/ijc.32505
- Nashimoto, Y., Okada, R., Hanada, S., Arima, Y., Nishiyama, K., Miura, T., et al. (2020). Vascularized cancer on a chip: the effect of perfusion on growth and drug delivery of tumor spheroid. *Biomaterials* 229:119547. doi: 10.1016/j. biomaterials.2019.119547
- Neal, J. T., Li, X., Zhu, J., Giangarra, V., Grzeskowiak, C. L., Ju, J., et al. (2018). Organoid modeling of the tumor immune microenvironment. *Cell* 175, 1972-88.e16.
- Nguyen, M., De Ninno, A., Mencattini, A., Mermet-Meillon, F., Fornabaio, G., Evans, S. S., et al. (2018). Dissecting effects of anti-cancer drugs and cancerassociated fibroblasts by on-chip reconstitution of immunocompetent tumor microenvironments. *Cell Rep.* 25, 3884-93.e3.
- Nombela-Arrieta, C., Ritz, J., and Silberstein, L. E. (2011). The elusive nature and function of mesenchymal stem cells. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 12, 126–131. doi: 10.1038/nrm3049
- Novak, R., Ingram, M., Marquez, S., Das, D., Delahanty, A., Herland, A., et al. (2020). Robotic fluidic coupling and interrogation of multiple vascularized organ chips. *Nat. Biomed. Eng.* 4, 407–420. doi: 10.1038/s41551-019-0497x
- Nowell, P. (1976). The clonal evolution of tumor cell populations. *Science* 194, 23–28. doi: 10.1126/science.959840
- Noy, R., and Pollard Jeffrey, W. (2014). Tumor-associated macrophages: from mechanisms to therapy. *Immunity* 41, 49–61. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014. 06.010
- Öhlund, D., Handly-Santana, A., Biffi, G., Elyada, E., Almeida, A. S., Ponz-Sarvise, M., et al. (2017). Distinct populations of inflammatory fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in pancreatic cancer. J. Exp. Med. 214, 579–596. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20162024
- Ooft, S. N., Weeber, F., Dijkstra, K. K., McLean, C. M., Kaing, S., van Werkhoven, E., et al. (2019). Patient-derived organoids can predict response to chemotherapy in metastatic colorectal cancer patients. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 11:eaay2574.
- Ortiz, M. L., Kumar, V., Martner, A., Mony, S., Donthireddy, L., Condamine, T., et al. (2015). Immature myeloid cells directly contribute to skin tumor development by recruiting IL-17–producing CD4+ T cells. J. Exp. Med. 212, 351–367. doi: 10.1084/jem.20140835
- Palikuqi, B., Nguyen, D.-H. T., Li, G., Schreiner, R., Pellegata, A. F., Liu, Y., et al. (2020). Adaptable haemodynamic endothelial cells for organogenesis and tumorigenesis. *Nature* 585, 426–432. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2712-z
- Palumbo, J. S., Talmage, K. E., Massari, J. V., La Jeunesse, C. M., Flick, M. J., Kombrinck, K. W., et al. (2005). Platelets and fibrin(ogen) increase metastatic potential by impeding natural killer cell-mediated elimination of tumor cells. *Blood* 105, 178–185. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-06-2272

- Papetti, M., and Herman, I. M. (2002). Mechanisms of normal and tumor-derived angiogenesis. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 282, C947–C970.
- Park, J., Morley, T. S., Kim, M., Clegg, D. J., and Scherer, P. E. (2014). Obesity and cancer—mechanisms underlying tumour progression and recurrence. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 10, 455–465. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2014.94
- Pasch, C. A., Favreau, P. F., Yueh, A. E., Babiarz, C. P., Gillette, A. A., Sharick, J. T., et al. (2019). Patient-derived cancer organoid cultures to predict sensitivity to chemotherapy and radiation. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 25, 5376–5387. doi: 10.1158/ 1078-0432.ccr-18-3590
- Pauli, C., Hopkins, B. D., Prandi, D., Shaw, R., Fedrizzi, T., Sboner, A., et al. (2017). Personalized in vitro and in vivo cancer models to guide precision medicine. *Cancer Discov.* 7, 462–477.
- Pelon, F., Bourachot, B., Kieffer, Y., Magagna, I., Mermet-Meillon, F., Bonnet, I., et al. (2020). Cancer-associated fibroblast heterogeneity in axillary lymph nodes drives metastases in breast cancer through complementary mechanisms. *Nat. Commun.* 11:404.
- Plaks, V., Kong, N., and Werb, Z. (2015). The cancer stem cell niche: how essential is the niche in regulating stemness of tumor cells? *Cell Stem Cell* 16, 225–238. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2015.02.015
- Polacheck, W. J., Charest, J. L., and Kamm, R. D. (2011). Interstitial flow influences direction of tumor cell migration through competing mechanisms. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 11115–11120. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1103581108
- Prasad, V., Fojo, T., and Brada, M. (2016). Precision oncology: origins, optimism, and potential. *Lancet Oncol.* 17, e81–e86.
- Puca, L., Bareja, R., Prandi, D., Shaw, R., Benelli, M., Karthaus, W. R., et al. (2018). Patient derived organoids to model rare prostate cancer phenotypes. *Nat. Commun.* 9:2404.
- Reymond, N., d'Água, B. B., and Ridley, A. J. (2013). Crossing the endothelial barrier during metastasis. Nat. Rev. Cancer 13, 858–870. doi: 10.1038/nrc3628
- Richards, Z., McCray, T., Marsili, J., Zenner, M. L., Manlucu, J. T., Garcia, J., et al. (2019). Prostate stroma increases the viability and maintains the branching phenotype of human prostate organoids. *iScience* 12, 304–317. doi: 10.1016/ j.isci.2019.01.028
- Ridky, T. W., Chow, J. M., Wong, D. J., and Khavari, P. A. (2010). Invasive threedimensional organotypic neoplasia from multiple normal human epithelia. *Nat. Med.* 16, 1450–1455. doi: 10.1038/nm.2265
- Roulis, M., Kaklamanos, A., Schernthanner, M., Bielecki, P., Zhao, J., Kaffe, E., et al. (2020). Paracrine orchestration of intestinal tumorigenesis by a mesenchymal niche. *Nature* 580, 524–529. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2166-3
- Ruffell, B., and Coussens Lisa, M. (2015). Macrophages and therapeutic resistance in cancer. *Cancer Cell* 27, 462–472. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.02.015
- Sano, E., Mori, C., Nashimoto, Y., Yokokawa, R., Kotera, H., and Torisawa Y-s. (2018). Engineering of vascularized 3D cell constructs to model cellular interactions through a vascular network. *Biomicrofluidics* 12:042204. doi: 10. 1063/1.5027183
- Sato, T., Vries, R. G., Snippert, H. J., van de Wetering, M., Barker, N., Stange, D. E., et al. (2009). Single Lgr5 stem cells build crypt-villus structures in vitro without a mesenchymal niche. *Nature* 459, 262–265. doi: 10.1038/nature07935
- Schumacher, D., Strilic, B., Sivaraj Kishor, K., Wettschureck, N., and Offermanns, S. (2013). Platelet-derived nucleotides promote tumor-cell transendothelial migration and metastasis via P2Y2 receptor. *Cancer Cell* 24, 130–137. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2013.05.008
- Seano, G., Chiaverina, G., Gagliardi, P. A., di Blasio, L., Sessa, R., Bussolino, F., et al. (2013). Modeling human tumor angiogenesis in a three-dimensional culture system. *Blood* 121, e129–e137.
- Shirure, V. S., Bi, Y., Curtis, M. B., Lezia, A., Goedegebuure, M. M., Goedegebuure, S. P., et al. (2018). Tumor-on-a-chip platform to investigate progression and drug sensitivity in cell lines and patient-derived organoids. *Lab Chip.* 18, 3687–3702. doi: 10.1039/c8lc00596f
- Shultz, L. D., Brehm, M. A., Garcia-Martinez, J. V., and Greiner, D. L. (2012). Humanized mice for immune system investigation: progress, promise and challenges. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 12, 786–798. doi: 10.1038/nri3311
- Silvestri, V. L., Henriet, E., Linville, R. M., Wong, A. D., Searson, P. C., and Ewald, A. J. (2020). A tissue-engineered 3D microvessel model reveals the dynamics of mosaic vessel formation in breast cancer. *Cancer Res.* 80, 4288–4301. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-19-1564
- Smith, S. C., Baras, A. S., Lee, J. K., and Theodorescu, D. (2010). The COXEN Principle: translating signatures of in vitro chemosensitivity into tools for

clinical outcome prediction and drug discovery in cancer. Cancer Res. 70, 1753-1758. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-09-3562

- Sood, D., Tang-Schomer, M., Pouli, D., Mizzoni, C., Raia, N., Tai, A., et al. (2019). 3D extracellular matrix microenvironment in bioengineered tissue models of primary pediatric and adult brain tumors. *Nat. Commun.* 10:4529.
- Spence, J. R., Mayhew, C. N., Rankin, S. A., Kuhar, M. F., Vallance, J. E., Tolle, K., et al. (2011). Directed differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells into intestinal tissue in vitro. *Nature* 470, 105–109.
- Steele, C. W., Karim, S. A., Leach, J. D. G., Bailey, P., Upstill-Goddard, R., Rishi, L., et al. (2016). CXCR2 inhibition profoundly suppresses metastases and augments immunotherapy in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Cell* 29, 832–845. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.04.014
- Strilic, B., Yang, L., Albarrán-Juárez, J., Wachsmuth, L., Han, K., Müller, U. C., et al. (2016). Tumour-cell-induced endothelial cell necroptosis via death receptor 6 promotes metastasis. *Nature* 536, 215–218. doi: 10.1038/nature19076
- Takasato, M., Er, P. X., Chiu, H. S., Maier, B., Baillie, G. J., Ferguson, C., et al. (2015). Kidney organoids from human iPS cells contain multiple lineages and model human nephrogenesis. *Nature* 526, 564–568. doi: 10.1038/nature15695
- Takeda, H., Kataoka, S., Nakayama, M., Ali, M. A. E., Oshima, H., Yamamoto, D., et al. (2019). CRISPR-Cas9-mediated gene knockout in intestinal tumor organoids provides functional validation for colorectal cancer driver genes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 116, 15635–15644. doi: 10.1073/pnas.190471 4116
- Talmadge, J. E., and Gabrilovich, D. I. (2013). History of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Nat. Rev. Cancer 13, 739–752.
- Tang, Y., Soroush, F., Sheffield, J. B., Wang, B., Prabhakarpandian, B., and Kiani, M. F. (2017). A biomimetic microfluidic tumor microenvironment platform mimicking the EPR effect for rapid screening of drug delivery systems. *Sci. Rep.* 7:9359.
- Taniguchi, K., and Karin, M. (2018). NF-κB, inflammation, immunity and cancer: coming of age. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 18, 309–324. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.142
- Taniguchi, S., Elhance, A., Duzer, A. V., Kumar, S., Leitenberger, J. J., and Oshimori, N. (2020). Tumor-initiating cells establish an IL-33–TGF-b niche signaling loop to promote cancer progression. *Science* 369:eaay1813.
- Tanner, K., and Gottesman, M. M. (2015). Beyond 3D culture models of cancer. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 7:283s9.
- Tiriac, H., Belleau, P., Engle, D. D., Plenker, D., Deschênes, A., Somerville, T. D. D., et al. (2018). Organoid profiling identifies common responders to chemotherapy in pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Discov.* 8, 1112–1129.
- Tomasek, J. J., Gabbiani, G., Hinz, B., Chaponnier, C., and Brown, R. A. (2002). Myofibroblasts and mechano-regulation of connective tissue remodelling. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 3, 349–363. doi: 10.1038/nrm809
- Truong, D. D., Kratz, A., Park, J. G., Barrientos, E. S., Saini, H., Nguyen, T., et al. (2019). A Human organotypic microfluidic tumor model permits investigation of the interplay between patient-derived fibroblasts and breast cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* 79, 3139–3151. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-18-2293
- van de Wetering, M., Francies Hayley, E., Francis Joshua, M., Bounova, G., Iorio, F., Pronk, A., et al. (2015). Prospective derivation of a living organoid biobank of colorectal cancer patients. *Cell* 161, 933–945. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.03.053
- van Duinen, V., Trietsch, S. J., Joore, J., Vulto, P., and Hankemeier, T. (2015). Microfluidic 3D cell culture: from tools to tissue models. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 35, 118–126. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2015.05.002

van Zijl, F., Mair, M., Csiszar, A., Schneller, D., Zulehner, G., Huber, H., et al. (2009). Hepatic tumor–stroma crosstalk guides epithelial to mesenchymal transition at the tumor edge. *Oncogene* 28, 4022–4033. doi: 10.1038/onc.2009.253

Vlachogiannis, G., Hedayat, S., Vatsiou, A., Jamin, Y., Fernández-Mateos, J., Khan, K., et al. (2018). Patient-derived organoids model treatment response of metastatic gastrointestinal cancers. *Science* 359, 920–926.

Wang, D., Sun, H., Wei, J., Cen, B., and DuBois, R. N. (2017). CXCL1 is critical for premetastatic niche formation and metastasis in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res.* 77, 3655–3665. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-16-3199

Wang, K., Demir, I. E., D'Haese, J. G., Tieftrunk, E., Kujundzic, K., Schorn, S., et al. (2014). The neurotrophic factor neurturin contributes toward an aggressive cancer cell phenotype, neuropathic pain and neuronal plasticity in pancreatic cancer. *Carcinogenesis* 35, 103–113. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgt312

- Ware, M. J., Keshishian, V., Law, J. J., Ho, J. C., Favela, C. A., Rees, P., et al. (2016). Generation of an in vitro 3D PDAC stroma rich spheroid model. *Biomaterials* 108, 129–142. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.08.041
- Weeber, F., van de Wetering, M., Hoogstraat, M., Dijkstra, K. K., Krijgsman, O., Kuilman, T., et al. (2015). Preserved genetic diversity in organoids cultured from biopsies of human colorectal cancer metastases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 112, 13308–13311. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1516689112
- Weis, S. M., and Cheresh, D. A. (2011). Tumor angiogenesis: molecular pathways and therapeutic targets. *Nat. Med.* 17, 1359–1370. doi: 10.1038/nm. 2537
- Wilson, C. L., Jurk, D., Fullard, N., Banks, P., Page, A., Luli, S., et al. (2015). NFKB1 is a suppressor of neutrophil-driven hepatocellular carcinoma. *Nat. Commun.* 6:6818.
- Wisdom, K. M., Adebowale, K., Chang, J., Lee, J. Y., Nam, S., Desai, R., et al. (2018). Matrix mechanical plasticity regulates cancer cell migration through confining microenvironments. *Nat. Commun.* 9:4144.
- Wörsdörfer, P., Dalda, N., Kern, A., Krüger, S., Wagner, N., Kwok, C. K., et al. (2019). Generation of complex human organoid models including vascular networks by incorporation of mesodermal progenitor cells. *Sci. Rep.* 9:15663.

Xiong, G., Flynn, T. J., Chen, J., Trinkle, C., and Xu, R. (2015). Development of an ex vivo breast cancer lung colonization model utilizing a decellularized lung matrix. *Integr. Biol.* 7, 1518–1525. doi: 10.1039/c5ib00157a

- Yamada, K. M., and Cukierman, E. (2007). Modeling tissue morphogenesis and cancer in 3D. Cell 130, 601–610. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.08.006
- Yin, M., Li, X., Tan, S., Zhou, H. J., Ji, W., Bellone, S., et al. (2016). Tumor-associated macrophages drive spheroid formation during early transcoelomic metastasis of ovarian cancer. J. Clin. Invest. 126, 4157–4173. doi: 10.1172/jci87252
- Zahalka, A. H., Arnal-Estapé, A., Maryanovich, M., Nakahara, F., Cruz, C. D., Finley, L. W. S., et al. (2017). Adrenergic nerves activate an angio-metabolic switch in prostate cancer. *Science* 358, 321–326. doi: 10.1126/science.aah5072
- Zervantonakis, I. K., Hughes-Alford, S. K., Charest, J. L., Condeelis, J. S., Gertler, F. B., and Kamm, R. D. (2012). Three-dimensional microfluidic model for tumor cell intravasation and endothelial barrier function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 109, 13515–13520. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1210182109
- Zhang, J., Goliwas, K. F., Wang, W., Taufalele, P. V., Bordeleau, F., and Reinhart-King, C. A. (2019). Energetic regulation of coordinated leader–follower dynamics during collective invasion of breast cancer cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 116, 7867–7872. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1809964116
- Zhang, N., Zhang, W.-J., Cai, H.-Q., Liu, H.-L., Peng, L., Li, C.-H., et al. (2011). Platelet adhesion and fusion to endothelial cell facilitate the metastasis of tumor cell in hypoxia-reoxygenation condition. *Clin. Exp. Metastasis* 28, 1–12. doi: 10.1007/s10585-010-9353-9
- Zhang, Y., Daquinag, A. C., Amaya-Manzanares, F., Sirin, O., Tseng, C., and Kolonin, M. G. (2012). Stromal progenitor cells from endogenous adipose tissue contribute to pericytes and adipocytes that populate the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Res.* 72, 5198–5208. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-12-0294
- Zheng, Y., Chen, J., Craven, M., Choi, N. W., Totorica, S., Diaz-Santana, A., et al. (2012). In vitro microvessels for the study of angiogenesis and thrombosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 9342–9347. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1201240109

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Haykal, Nahmias, Varon and Martin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Targeting NR4A Nuclear Receptors to Control Stromal Cell Inflammation, Metabolism, Angiogenesis, and Tumorigenesis

#### Daniel Crean<sup>1</sup> and Evelyn P. Murphy<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Veterinary Medicine, University College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland, <sup>2</sup> School of Medicine, University of Limerick, Limerick, Ireland

The NR4A1-NR4A3 (Nur77, Nurr1, and Nor-1) subfamily of nuclear receptors is a group of immediate early genes induced by a pleiotropy of stimuli including peptide hormones, growth factors, cytokines, inflammatory, and physiological stimuli, and cellular stress. NR4A receptors function as potent sensors of changes in the cellular microenvironment to control physiological and pathological processes through genomic and non-genomic actions. NR4A receptors control metabolism and cardiovascular and neurological functions and mediate immune cell homeostasis in inflammation and cancer. This receptor subfamily is increasingly recognized as an important molecular connection between chronic inflammation, altered immune cell responses, and cancer development. In this review, we examine how transcriptome analysis identified NR4A1/NR4A2 receptors as transcriptional regulators in mesenchymal stromal cell (MSC) migration, cell cycle progression, and cytokine production to control local immune responses. In chronic inflammatory conditions, such as rheumatoid arthritis, NR4A receptors have been shown to modify the activity of MSC and fibroblast-like stromal cells to regulate synovial tissue hyperplasia, pathological angiogenesis, and cartilage turnover in vivo. Additionally, as NR4A1 has been observed as a major transcriptional regulator in tumor-stromal communication controlling tumorigenesis, we discuss how advances in the pharmacological control of these receptors lead to important new mechanistic insights into understanding the role of the tumor microenvironment in health and disease.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Océane C. B. Martin, Université de Bordeaux. France

#### Reviewed by:

Carlie De Vries, University of Amsterdam, Netherlands Caroline Ospelt, University of Zurich, Switzerland

> \*Correspondence: Evelyn P. Murphy evelyn.murphy@ul.ie

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

> Received: 31 July 2020 Accepted: 06 January 2021 Published: 09 February 2021

#### Citation:

Crean D and Murphy EP (2021) Targeting NR4A Nuclear Receptors to Control Stromal Cell Inflammation, Metabolism, Angiogenesis, and Tumorigenesis. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 9:589770. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.589770 Keywords: NR4A nuclear receptors, inflammatory homeostasis, fibroblast-like and mesenchymal stromal cells, angiogenesis, cancer immunity and tumorigenesis, NR4A control of tumor-stromal communication

## NR4A SUBFAMILY OF NUCLEAR RECEPTORS

The NR4A1–NR4A3 (Nur77/NGFI-β/TR3, Nurr1/TINUR/NOT, and Nor-1/MINOR/CHN) subfamily of nuclear receptors is a group of immediate early genes induced by a pleiotropy of stimuli including peptide hormones, growth factors, cytokines, inflammatory and physiological stimuli, and cellular stress. NR4A receptors function as potent sensors of changes in the cellular microenvironment to control physiological and pathological processes through genomic and non-genomic actions. NR4A receptors control metabolism, vascular homeostasis, and cardiovascular and neurological functions and mediate immune cell homeostasis in inflammation and cancer. The majority of NR4A activity is due to direct activation or repression of transcriptional target

expression. A growing body of information demonstrates direct non-genomic roles of NR4As through posttranslational modifications and interactions with binding partners (recently reviewed by Herring et al., 2019). NR4A receptors bind directly as monomers or homodimers to promoter regions of target genes that contain the NBRE response element (AAAGGTCA). Furthermore, NR4A receptors can dimerize with retinoid X receptor (RXR) nuclear receptors and bind to a DR5 (direct repeat with 5-bp length spacer) motif, providing a mechanism for NR4A receptors to regulate distinct target genes *in vivo*. Similar to NR4A receptors, RXR is also a member of the nuclear receptor subfamily controlling pathways associated with cell development, differentiation, metabolism, and cell death (Evans and Mangelsdorf, 2014).

Expression levels, subcellular localization, and the cellular context/environment can influence NR4A tissue-specific functional roles as observed in several cancers and diseases characterized by chronic inflammation (Zhao and Bruemmer, 2010; Mohan et al., 2012; Murphy and Crean, 2015). The cross talk of the NR4A1-NR4A3 subfamily members with various oncogene and tumor suppressor pathways is wellestablished (Safe et al., 2014; Beard et al., 2015; Wan et al., 2020). Extensive numbers of studies indicate that NR4A genes can act paradoxically either as oncogenes or as tumor suppressors. For example, they serve as oncogenes in lung cancer, melanoma, and colorectal cancer (CRC) but display tumor suppressor roles in acute myeloid leukemia (AML), breast cancer, and metastatic ovarian cancer. The NR4A1-NR4A3 cross talk with pro-tumorigenic or tumor-suppressive signaling pathways underwrites a dichotomous and context-dependent role(s) for members of this receptor subfamily (reviewed by Beard et al., 2015, and Wan et al., 2020).

Disordered stromal cell function, including altered signaling and secretion of paracrine factors, has been linked to disease progression of cancer and inflammatory disorders (Spaeth et al., 2008; Nissen et al., 2019). The molecular cross talk between cancer cells and their surrounding stroma and tumor microenvironment (TME) has a crucial role in the regulation of tumorigenesis and disease advancement. Evidence on the association between NR4A1-NR4A3 functional activities, their influence on the tumor-stromal cell environment, and the impact on disease pathogenesis is emerging. Innovative studies are providing compelling support that NR4A orphan receptors, by changing the local cellular microenvironment, can mediate inflammatory responses, promote angiogenesis, control cellular metabolism and survival, and alter cancer cell immunity to influence the course and outcome of disease. The purpose of this review is to discuss how recent advances in NR4A nuclear receptor biology are leading to important new mechanistic insights into understanding their role in stromal cells and the TME in health and disease.

## TME AND TUMOR STROMA

The TME is composed of non-malignant host cellular and noncellular components, including cells of the immune system, blood cells, endothelial cells, fat cells, and the stroma. The tumor stroma is an essential component of the TME and is composed of cellular and non-cellular connective tissues that support functional tissues, including fibroblasts, mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs), osteoblasts, chondrocytes, and the extracellular matrix (ECM). While specialized cells of the TME, such as endothelial cells, pericytes, adipocytes, and immune cells, can be included as constituents of the stromal compartment, these cells are more accurately defined as non-stromal cells within the TME (Valkenburg et al., 2018).

It is well-established that the TME plays a pivotal role in tumor progression, and together with cells of the stroma, this milieu plays a major role in maladapting and promoting tumor survival and progression. As outlined, the TME consists of a complex system of heterogeneous cancer cells alongside local host cells and non-stromal components of the TME including adipocytes, pericytes, and immune cells, which also contribute to the tumorstromal communication (de Groot et al., 2017). Within this environment are fluxes in multiple signaling molecules such as cytokines and adenosine, alterations in metabolic states, regions of hypoxia, acidosis, fibrosis, structural/architectural breakdown from factors such as matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), and enhanced angiogenesis concurrent with inadequate perfusion, leading to poor nutrient supply (Liotta and Kohn, 2001; De Palma et al., 2017; Binnewies et al., 2018; Chandler et al., 2019). This complex environment is not only a consequence of cancer progression but also a pivotal factor in aiding its progression (Liotta and Kohn, 2001; Binnewies et al., 2018).

The tumor stroma, like its normal counterpart, is essential for tissue structure and remodeling. It is a vital component of the TME involved in tumorigenesis, cancer progression, and metastasis (Valkenburg et al., 2018). In addition to the main components of the stroma, including MSCs, osteoblasts, and the ECM, the tumor stroma also has a high abundance of cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs). While stromal cells display antitumor activities in normal conditions, in the background of such altered and harsh environments, stromal cells respond and undergo phenotypic changes and in turn play a pivotal role in influencing tumor progression (de Groot et al., 2017). One of the most notable maladaptive responses is the activation of the hypoxia inducible factor-1 $\alpha$  (HIF-1 $\alpha$ )-dependent gene transcription in hypoxic tumors, leading to metabolic changes and increased oxygen supply, which aid tumor survival and progression, leading to worse outcomes for patients (Semenza, 2010). Predictably, several of these tumor-associated alterations, or factors which promote or maintain the complexity of these transformed systems, are targets for cancer therapy design, for example, targeting tumor angiogenesis, reprogramming cellular metabolism, and adjusting inflammatory responses leading to altered immune cell populations, with the goal of correcting the environment, which aids in the survival of cells that promote tumorigenesis (Semenza, 2010; Naing et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2018). As we outline herein, leading reports elucidating the novel regulatory role of the NR4A1-NR4A3 receptors implicate these receptors as important mediators controlling these crucial cellular processes leading to changes in the TME and cancer progression.

## (I) NR4A1-NR4A3 RECEPTORS, THE LOCAL INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE, AND TUMOR STROMAL CELLS

Tumor-stromal communication plays an important role in not only cancer initiation but also the proliferation and metastasis of these cells into distant organs, potentially causing cancer recurrence. Inflammatory cytokines and growth factors released by MSC, CAFs, and tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) initiate a signaling cascade and create a microenvironment conducive to tumorigenesis (Guo and Deng, 2018; Leuning et al., 2018). In 2014, Zhou and colleagues revealed a distinct mechanism by which the microenvironment stimulates breast cancer cell invasion and metastasis. With a genome-wide cDNA screen, it was identified that inflammation-induced NR4A1 (NR4A2 and NR4A3 also respond) is a critical factor for the activation of TGF-B/SMAD-mediated breast cancer cell migration, invasion, and metastasis in vitro and in vivo. Loss of NR4A1 inhibits TGF-\beta-induced epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT), revealing a novel mechanism by which the microenvironment stimulates breast cancer cell invasion and metastasis (Zhou et al., 2014).

Furthermore, a recent study proposes a far-reaching model (using serial single-cell RNA sequencing) of paracrine signaling mediated by the activity of cyclooxygenase (COX-2) enzyme activity and production of the proinflammatory mediator, prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), by prolactin receptor (PLR<sup>+</sup>)expressing tumor cells (Zheng et al., 2019). In this in vivo model of tumorigenesis, stromal cell expression and activity of all three NR4A receptors are activated by the enhanced secretion of PGE2 by neighboring tumor cells. NR4A receptors rapidly heterodimerize with the RXR, and a stromal cell NR4A-RXR complex induces the transcription, production, and secretion of the peptide hormone prolactin. The secreted hormone feeds back to neighboring tumor cells, increasing their proliferation, leading to tumorigenesis. Importantly, it was found that induction of stromal NR4A expression by PGE2 selectively stimulates expression of NR4A receptors but not the RXR family (Zheng et al., 2019). COX-2, prolactin, and prolactin receptor show consistent differential expression in tumor and stromal compartments across several human cancers. The observed cellular paracrine cross talk may be important factors in the efficacy of the anti-inflammatory COX-2 inhibitors in cancer suppression.

The COX-2/PGE2/NR4A signaling findings complement previous studies where NR4A has been shown to be a regulator of stromal and immune cell functions (Murphy and Crean, 2015) and linked to the expression of prolactin expression in inflammatory joint disease (McCoy et al., 2015). Further, in rheumatoid arthritis (RA), psoriasis, and colon cancer, the NR4A subfamily has previously been singled out as a downstream effector of prostaglandin (PGE) signaling. PGE2 potently induces NR4A2 expression levels via a cAMP/PKA-dependent pathway (Holla et al., 2011; McMorrow and Murphy, 2011). Studies by Holla et al. (2011) suggest that the molecular cross talk between PGE2 and NR4A2 is central to controlling CRC survival mediated through the regulation of apoptosis by blocking cleavage of caspase-3, with NR4A2 playing a central role as a point of transcriptional integration coupling eicosanoid and metabolic pathways.

Chronic inflammation can generate an immunosuppressive microenvironment that allows advantages for cancer formation and progression. MSCs, and their secreted paracrine factors, can modulate inflammatory and immune responses (Fontaine et al., 2016). The immunosuppressive environment has been shown to be PGE2 regulated in several cancers (Wang and Dubois, 2018). Recent investigations into the adaptation of the leukemic mesenchymal microenvironment reveal a novel COX-2/PGE2-NR4A/WNT signaling axis, correlating chronic inflammation with changes in cellular metabolism, leading to reduced immune surveillance (Wu et al., 2018). Reduced secretion of prostaglandins by the mesenchymal inhibition of COX-2 led to decreased expression of NR4A receptors and regulatory T-cell (Treg) genes, FOXP3 and CTLA4, in the MSC-cocultured CD34<sup>+</sup> cells. The significance of these findings highlights that upregulated NR4A-WNT/β-catenin signaling functions to attenuate antileukemic immunity by upregulating Tregs and blocking the production of leukemia-reactive CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T lymphocytes.

Tregs, which prevent overt immune responses and autoimmunity, have been shown to accumulate aberrantly in some types of TMEs to suppress antitumor immunity and to sustain the establishment of an immunosuppressive environment. Impeding Treg-mediated immune tolerance is central when considering cancer immunotherapy. Mice lacking NR4A1 and NR4A2 genes, specifically in Treg cells, show resistance to tumor growth in transplantation models without exhibiting any serious systemic autoimmunity (Hibino et al., 2018). Treatment with a chemotherapeutic agent, camptothecin, together with a COX-2 inhibitor was found to inhibit induction and transcriptional activity of NR4A factors, and they synergistically display antitumor effects in vivo (Hibino et al., 2018). Thus, genetic inactivation or pharmacologic inhibition of NR4A receptors can unleash effector activities of CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T cells and stimulate potent antitumor immune responses within the TME. Chen et al. (2019) further ascertained that an NFAT-NR4A axis controls the expression of several inhibitory receptors and that treatment of tumor-bearing mice with CAR-T cells, lacking all three NR4A receptors, results in tumor regression and prolonged survival. Collectively, these studies indicate translational and therapeutic implications in the development of effective TME anticancer therapies by modulating NR4A receptor function in tumor-infiltrating T cells.

It is thought that MSCs exhibit a gain of function which allows them to preferentially migrate toward tumor sites as they would to a wound (Spaeth et al., 2008). The molecular mechanisms behind this movement are still not fully elucidated but are becoming more recognized as important, owing to the fact that MSCs within the TME are often linked with poorer prognosis, augmenting angiogenesis, tumor formation, and metastasis (Karnoub et al., 2007). In breast cancer, for example, many studies have used the MDA-MB-231 cell line to examine the plausible chemotactic factors responsible for this movement

(Dwyer et al., 2007; Lin et al., 2008). This MDA-MB-231 cell line models the most invasive and migratory triple-negative (TN) form of breast cancer (Lanning et al., 2017). Signaling molecules including SDF-1a, TGF-B, IL-6, PDGF, MCP-1, and cyclophilin B were identified as trophic factors associated with MSC recruitment, but it is proposed that they are not working alone and that additional signaling pathways, transcriptional mechanisms, and regulatory elements need to be ascertained to fully understand the complexity of the molecular processes involved. The NR4A family is associated with the migration of MSCs and their movement into tumor sites. In a study examining the difference in gene profiles between migratory and nonmigratory MSCs, it materialized that, of the 12 genes which displayed differential expression, both NR4A1 and NR4A2 genes showed the highest expression change in the migratory variety in response to SDF-1a and PDGF, signifying a potential regulatory role for these transcription regulatory factors (Maijenburg et al., 2012). Enhanced NR4A1 and NR4A2 expression levels in MSCs lead to increased cytokine and growth factor production, suggesting that these receptors regulate migratory MSCs with the capacity to specifically modulate the local immune response.

## (II) NR4A196NR4A3 RECEPTORS, THE TME, AND STROMAL CELL HYPERPLASIA

One of the first indicators that normal cells may be switching to a cancerous phenotype is the initiation of hyperplasia and changes in metabolic activity, where the tissue of an organ is enlarged due to an abnormal increase in cell reproduction and proliferation (Dupont et al., 1993). Recent studies discerning the associations with stromal and non-stromal cells of the TME and NR4A1-NR4A3-dependent changes on cell density, metabolic activity, cell hyperplasia, survival, and invasion are described herein.

In breast cancer, the density of the breast tissue, "how many" stromal cells it has, has often been associated with increased cancer risk and poorer prognosis. A functional role for NR4A2 has been suggested by a study examining the mechanisms behind obesity-associated breast cancer risk (Ghosh et al., 2010). In human adipose stromal cells (ASCs), NR4A2 is established to be a key regulator of aromatase gene transcription. The function of aromatase is the enzymatic conversion of androgen to estrogen, which catalyzes the final and rate-limiting step in estrogen biosynthesis. This increase in aromatase activity and subsequently estrogen levels in adipose tissue is proposed to be one of the main causal factors in the substantial increased likelihood that women classified as obese will develop breast cancer (Bulun et al., 2005). Ghosh et al. hypothesized that with increased breast cell density, there is a concomitant decrease in the tumor-suppressive function of BRCA1 and NR4A receptors. When NR4A2 expression and activity are depleted in isolated human ASCs, there is a substantial increase in aromatase gene expression and, therefore, estrogen biosynthesis, increasing the likelihood of breast cancer occurrence (Ghosh et al., 2010).

As a major component in the breast cancer microenvironment, ASCs are capable of secreting large quantities of metabolic substrates, such as fatty acids, to establish a metabolic TME. NR4A1 has been identified as a regulator for

fatty acid uptake in breast cancer, leading to restrained fatty acid metabolism and inhibiting breast cancer progression both in vitro and in vivo. This study reveals that NR4A1 binds and recruits a corepressor molecule to the promoter regions of CD36 (also known as FA translocase) and fatty acid-binding protein 4 (FABP4), leading to transcriptional suppression, which hampers fatty acid uptake, leading to the inhibition of cell proliferation and impeding tumor cell growth in vivo (Yang et al., 2020). In contrast, in a study of melanoma, NR4A1 contributes to the metabolic adaptation of melanoma cells by regulating fatty acid uptake and oxidation (Li et al., 2018). The NR4A1-dependent metabolic adaptation protects melanoma cells undergoing loss of attachment (LOA) to the ECM and supports the survival of circulating tumor cells in the circulation. As highlighted, eicosanoid signaling and fatty acid metabolism through PGE2mediated upregulation of NR4A2 receptors in colon cancer cells have been established (Holla et al., 2011). The studies propose that COX-2-derived PGE2 potentially regulates an adaptive shift in metabolism and NR4A2 activity central to this process. NR4A2 transcriptional activity increases fatty acid oxidation by inducing the expression and activity of several enzymes central to the fatty acid metabolic pathway. Collectively, these studies indicate that alteration of NR4A activity may fine-tune an adaptive shift to energy utilization via fatty acid oxidation, a metabolic adjustment that is observed in several types of cancer.

The role of NR4A1 in the TME has been further recognized with in vivo studies of tumor metastatic spreading models in wild-type (NR4A1<sup>+/+</sup>) mice and NR4A1<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Hanna et al., 2015; Li et al., 2017). Expression of host NR4A1 was identified as a critical factor in antitumor metastasis because, in the absence of NR4A1, metastatic spreading was greatly accelerated (Li et al., 2017). Furthermore, this study reveals two potential key mechanisms by which the absence of NR4A1 expression facilitates cancer cell invasion and metastasis. Lack of NR4A1 in TME macrophages promotes inflammatory cytokine TNF- $\alpha$  production, which stimulates cancer cells to undergo EMT and promotes invasive properties. In addition, lack of NR4A1 results in reduced levels of colony-stimulating factor-1 receptor (CSF-1R) expression, which decreases the migratory capacity of inflammatory cells and subsequently hinders cell chemotaxis and tumor infiltration. These results unveil a novel function of NR4A1 in regulating tumor invasion and metastasis, which is consistent with a previous study reporting that NR4A1deficient mice specifically lack "patrolling monocytes," resulting in increased cancer lung metastasis in vivo (Hanna et al., 2015).

NR4A1 protein expression is also decreased in the mouse basal-like mammary tumors during the tumor progression process and in a large proportion of human TN breast cancer (TNBC) tumors. The low expression of NR4A1 protein in human TNBC samples is associated with advanced tumor stage, lymph node metastasis, and disease recurrence. Expression of NR4A1 in TNBC MDA-MB-231 cells significantly inhibits the proliferation, viability, migration, and invasion of these cells in culture and *in vivo* and the growth and metastasis of these cell-derived tumors in mice (Wu et al., 2017). These results demonstrate that NR4A1 functions to inhibit the initiation and growth of the MDA-MB-231 cell-derived tumors in mice by reducing their proliferation rate.

Constitutive migration and TGF\beta-induced migration of breast cancer cells are reliant on nuclear and extranuclear expression of NR4A1, respectively, and it has been shown that selective NR4A1 antagonists inhibit both pathways by decreasing the NR4A1dependent expression of *β*1-integrin, inhibit TGFβ-induced nuclear export of NR4A1, and induced EMT (Hedrick et al., 2016). It has been recognized in CRC tissues that aberrant NR4A1 expression in cancer tissues and cells of the TME acts to promote cell growth and survival by serving as an important mediator of the WNT/β-catenin and AP-1 signaling pathways (Wu et al., 2011). Moreover, the receptor can promote metastasis and invasion through controlling the MMP9/E-cadherin axis (Wang et al., 2014) and β1-integrin (Hedrick et al., 2017) and forming a feedforward loop with  $\beta$ -catenin under hypoxic conditions (To et al., 2014). These studies propose a novel molecular basis for understanding the biological properties of tumorigenesis and reveal that selective targeting of NR4A1 functional activity may represent a mechanism for altering cancer metastasis in vivo.

## (III) NR4A EXPRESSION AND ACTIVITY IN TUMOR ANGIOGENESIS

Angiogenesis is one of the key factors associated with cancer progression, with studies finding that the balancing levels of pro- and anti-angiogenic factors, including vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) levels, in tissue reflect the aggressiveness with which tumor cells spread. Additional cellular players involved in angiogenesis include CAFs (Kalluri, 2016; Santi et al., 2018). VEGF has been found to potently activate the expression and functional activity of all three NR4A members, and in NR4A1<sup>-/-</sup> knockout mice, tumor growth, angiogenesis, and microvessel permeability are almost completely inhibited, further purporting a critical mode for these orphan receptors in tumorigenesis (Zeng et al., 2006). Recent studies strengthen this significant body of work, further demonstrating that NR4A1 is essential for VEGF-A-induced pathological angiogenesis, tumor growth, and metastasis in vivo (Ye et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2020). Extending previous findings that tumor growth was inhibited in NR4A1 knockout mouse models, metastasis of colorectal tumor was completely inhibited in NR4A<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Tumor masses were increased by  $\sim$ 70% and decreased by  $\sim$ 40% in transgenic EC-NR4A1-S mice and EC-NR4A1-DN mice, in which the full length and a dominant negative mutant of NR4A1 were induced and specifically expressed in the mouse endothelium. In human disease, NR4A1 is highly expressed in the vasculature and tumor cells of human melanoma and CRC tissues, but not in normal tissues. Furthermore, tumor angiogenesis and modulation of genes associated with angiogenesis were critically reduced in tumor tissues treated with NR4A1 shRNAs and selective minigenes (Ye et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2020). Silencing endothelial NR4A1 inhibits the proliferation and migration of tumor cells, indicating that the NR4A1 receptor functions as a regulator of tumor growth and metastasis in vivo. Together, these studies demonstrate that NR4A1 is a prospective therapeutic target with translational potential for several human cancers by targeting the vasculature within the TME.

## (IV AND V) CAFS, INTRA-TUMORAL FIBROSIS, AND NR4A RECEPTORS

CAFs are the dominant cell type within the stroma of tumors. They orchestrate paracrine pro-tumorigenic signaling with adjacent tumor cells, thus exacerbating the hallmarks of cancer and accelerating tumor malignancy. In breast cancer, up to 80% of the normal fibroblasts in breast tissue acquire the CAF phenotype during cancer progression (Kalluri, 2016; Santi et al., 2018). Molecular insights into the transcriptional programs that enable the oncogenic function of CAFs are emerging (Chan et al., 2018). The complete human NR profile in CAFs from clinical cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) biopsies has recently been accomplished (Chan et al., 2018). Interestingly, both NR4A2 and NR4A3 are significantly upregulated in microdissected CAFs (n = 10). A highly similar NR4A2/NR4A3 profile was observed between the microdissected CAFs and explanted CAFs, indicating that the NR profile of SCC CAFs is retained during in vitro culture. Pharmacological targeting of specific driver NRs in CAFs diminished SCC invasiveness, proliferation, drug resistance, energy metabolism, and oxidative stress status.

Tumors have often been described as "wounds that do not heal," and as such, it is not unforeseen that fibrosis not only is a major consequence of progressing tumors but also plays a causal role in their progression (Chandler et al., 2019; Chen and Song, 2019). It is CAFs within the stroma that are the main protagonists of such fibrosis in cancers, while other cells, such as immune cells, may also contribute in secreting fibrotic activators (Yamauchi et al., 2018). To date, the specific cell origin of these CAFs remains unknown, with the likelihood that they are derived from diverse cell types within the stroma (Cirri and Chiarugi, 2011; Kalluri, 2016). Interestingly, several factors involved in fibrosis are similarly implicated in multiple stages of cancer progression. Numerous ECM proteins, including fibronectin, are secreted by CAFs and have been shown to enhance tumor aggression, invasion, and metastasis. TGFB, a major pro-fibrotic factor, has been shown to drive the differentiation of fibroblasts to CAFs, which aid in tumor aggression and invasiveness (Kalluri, 2016). Additionally, TGF $\beta$  receptor activation is responsible for the secretion of multiple MMPs within tumors, which play pivotal roles in tissue breakdown enhancing the metastatic capabilities (Hawinkels et al., 2014). Of note, activation of NR4A1 in breast cancer enhances TGFB3 signaling, potentiating its oncogenic activities, by inducing SMAD7 degradation. Moreover, NR4A1 was shown to enhance TGF<sub>β</sub>-induced EMT, a process later shown to be dependent on NR4A1 nuclear export. These studies confirm a pivotal role for NR4A1 in mediating TGFB/p38dependent induction of β-catenin in TNBC migration and invasion (Hedrick et al., 2016, 2017; Hedrick and Safe, 2017).

In a separate analysis, inflammatory cytokines, IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  potently induce NR4A2 expression, which, in the presence of TGF $\beta$ , potentiates SMAD activation of fibrosis and cancer development (Zhou et al., 2014; Palumbo-Zerr et al., 2015). These responses are significantly amplified when NR4A is overexpressed, leading to TGF $\beta$ /SMAD-induced EMT and invasion by interacting with and promoting

AXIN2-RNF12/ARKADIA-induced SMAD7 degradation to enhance the expression of activated TGF $\beta$  type I receptor (T $\beta$ RI). These observations suggest that both NR4A1 and NR4A2 are important mediators in responding to inflammatory stimuli by activating TGF $\beta$  signaling and underline the need for further identification of NR4A1–NR4A3-specific functions in controlling intra-tumoral fibrotic pathways and the impact on EMT.

The functional activity of NR4A3 in breast and lung cancer progression has been examined, and a notable association between this NR4A family member and the tumor suppressor p53 was determined (Fedorova et al., 2019). NR4A3 gene expression is a direct transcriptional target of p53, suggesting that the NR4A3 functional activity and tumor suppressor role in cancer progression is activated by p53. As part of this study, patient survival analysis, using a publicly available clinical data repository, was conducted, establishing that high levels of NR4A3 expression positively correlate with increased survival rates for patients with breast and lung cancers. Thus, these studies reveal that NR4A3 is a novel transcriptional target of p53, which triggers apoptosis and has a tumor-suppressive role in breast and lung cancers (Fedorova et al., 2019). Whether NR4A3 is a bona fide tumor suppressor needs further elucidation. However, several lines of evidence support this notion. In NR4A1/NR4A3 doubleknockout mice, it was reported that loss of these two genes can result in the development of AML, due to uncontrolled expansion of myeloid progenitor cells (Boudreaux et al., 2012, 2019).

## (VI) NR4A1-NR4A3 RECEPTORS IN RHEUMATIC DISEASES

NR4A1–NR4A3 expression is elevated in synovial tissue MSC and fibroblast-like stromal cells (FLSs), macrophage, endothelium, cartilage, and PGE2-stimulated chondrocytes from patients with RA, psoriatic arthritis, or osteoarthritis, making NR4A receptors attractive targets in rheumatic and skin diseases (McMorrow and Murphy, 2011; Marzaioli et al., 2012; Shi et al., 2017; Xiong et al., 2020). Stromal cell hyperplasia and development of a "tumor-like pannus" are characteristics of chronic inflammatory diseases including RA and psoriatic arthritis (Bottini and Firestein, 2013). Expression of NR4A1/NR4A2 subfamily members are significantly upregulated in the pannus tissue and are mediators of cytokine, growth factor, and prostanoid (PGE2) action contributing to the hyperplastic and invasive phenotype of FLSs that leads to the modulation of MMP production and cartilage homeostasis (Mix et al., 2012).

## POTENTIAL FOR TARGETING NR4A RECEPTORS

NR4A receptors' expression and function in stromal cells and their influence on non-stromal cells of the TME are emerging as a promising area for the promotion of novel therapeutic targets in the treatment and prevention of human cancer progression. Developments on mechanisms of NR4A silencing and/or strategies for their activation are leading to new therapeutic interventions (Lee et al., 2014; Safe et al., 2014; Boudreaux et al., 2019). Over the last decade, multiple agents have been identified to modulate NR4A1-NR4A3 expression and functional activity in vitro and in vivo (Safe et al., 2014, 2016). While previously it was understood that NR4A receptors were not "druggable" targets given their bulky and inhospitable ligand binding domain (de Vera et al., 2019), endogenous mediators, including fatty acids, have been shown to act as potent modulators (de Vera et al., 2016, 2019). These modulating agents, both agonists and antagonists, have been examined extensively, with their binding capabilities and exact mechanisms of action being rationalized systematically (Safe et al., 2014, 2016; Munoz-Tello et al., 2020). More recently, Conneely et al. have made important therapeutic innovations in AML with the identification of several drugs that modulate NR4A1/NR4A3 expression and function (Boudreaux et al., 2019). Both NR4A1 and NR4A3 are silenced in AML and display tumor-suppressing qualities suppressing MYC activity. NR4A1/NR4A3 silencing in AML is mediated through the blockade of transcription elongation, while treatment with dihydroergotamine (DHE) rescued NR4A silencing and allowed their tumor-suppressing ability to reactivate with concomitant slowing of AML progression in vivo (Boudreaux et al., 2019).

Thus, recent findings (summarized in Figure 1) support the targeting of NR4A receptors as potential specific therapeutic targets in enhancing the efficacy of cancer treatments and include (i) pursuing NR4A receptors (downstream of COX-2/PGE2 activity) as key regulators of prolactin production and signaling by stromal cells to reduce cancer cell proliferation and tumorigenesis; (ii) modulating NR4A2 transcriptional activity as a regulator of fatty acid utilization in CRC and aromatase transcription and production of estrogen in TNBC; (iii) controlling NR4A1-NR4A3 as regulators of angiogenesis, with the functional activity of NR4A1 in mediating VEGF-A-induced pathological/tumor angiogenesis facilitating cell proliferation and cancer cell migration; (iv) CAF activity, migration of MSCs and immune cells into tumor sites, and their role as mediators of EMT and cell metastasis; and (v) further analyzing the molecular interactions of this subfamily with the ECM, TGFB/SMAD signaling, and control by altered p53 activity, which could also prove extremely beneficial to elucidating the NR4A1-NR4A3dependent molecular mechanism(s) controlling cell survival, hyperplasia, and death and altering immune tolerance against cancer. Modulation of NR4A1-NR4A3 receptors as therapeutic targets in cancer biology reveals a novel category of mechanismbased therapies, and future efforts, due to their dichotomous responses, should involve meticulous evaluation of the cancer cell type targeted and moreover the method(s) of drug delivery, given the tissue- and cell-specific functional roles that NR4A receptors display in controlling cancer biology.

## SUMMARY

While it is well-established that the initiation and development of cancer is a disease brought about by mutations in the cancer cells themselves, there is no doubt that the TME and stromal microenvironment are critically important for



receptor dimerization with RXR receptors (downstream of pro-inflammatory COX-2/PGE2 activity) functions as potent regulators of prolactin production/signaling by stromal cells. (ii) Adipocytes: NR4A activity promotes an adaptive shift to energy utilization via fatty acid oxidation with NR4A2 regulating *aromatase* transcription and production of estrogen in TNBC. (iii) Endothelium and CAFs: NR4A receptors regulate VEGF-A-induced pathological/tumor angiogenesis, CAF activity, and tumor metastasis. (iv) MSC: NR4A1 functions in mediating MSC proliferation and cytokine and growth factor production, leading to cell migration resulting in altered immune (T regulatory, T cytotoxic, and macrophage) cell function. (v) ECM: cross talk between NR4As and the stroma, including interaction with the ECM, TGFβ/SMAD signaling, and p53 activity.

disease progression and tissue response to therapy. Recent developments discerning NR4A1-NR4A3 receptor function in cells within the tumor-stromal environment highlight the distinct functional role(s) that these receptors perform in modulating pro-inflammatory signaling, proliferation, hyperplasia, death/survival, migration, angiogenesis, and tumor immune surveillance. The described NR4A studies uncover the fundamental molecular mechanisms controlling cell-specific activity that facilitates tumor-stromal cell communication within the TME. With the development of mechanism-based NR4A biologics demonstrating efficacy at transforming tumor angiogenesis, growth, metastasis, and immune surveillance, these intracellular receptors may function as central receptors demonstrating translational capacity in cancer cell biology.

## REFERENCES

- Beard, J. A., Tenga, A., and Chen, T. (2015). The interplay of NR4A receptors and the oncogene-tumor suppressor networks in cancer. *Cell Signal.* 27, 257–266. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2014.11.009
- Binnewies, M., Roberts, E. W., Kersten, K., Chan, V., Fearon, D. F., Merad, M., et al. (2018). Understanding the tumor immune microenvironment (TIME) for effective therapy. *Nat. Med.* 24, 541–550. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0014-x
- Bottini, N., and Firestein, G. S. (2013). Duality of fibroblast-like synoviocytes in RA: passive responders and imprinted aggressors. *Nat. Rev. Rheumatol.* 9, 24–33. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2012.190
- Boudreaux, S. P., Duren, R. P., Call, S. G., Nguyen, L., Freire, P. R., Narayanan, P., et al. (2019). Drug targeting of NR4A nuclear receptors for treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia* 33, 52–63. doi: 10.1038/s41375-018-0174-1
- Boudreaux, S. P., Ramirez-Herrick, A. M., Duren, R. P., and Conneely, O. M. (2012). Genome-wide profiling reveals transcriptional repression of MYC as a core component of NR4A tumor suppression in acute myeloid leukemia. *Oncogenesis* 1:e19. doi: 10.1038/oncsis.2012.19
- Bulun, S. E., Lin, Z., Imir, G., Amin, S., Demura, M., Yilmaz, B., et al. (2005). Regulation of aromatase expression in estrogen-responsive breast and uterine disease: from bench to treatment. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 57, 359–383. doi: 10.1124/pr.57.3.6
- Chan, J. S. K., Sng, M. K., Teo, Z. Q., Chong, H. C., Twang, J. S., and Tan, N. S. (2018). Targeting nuclear receptors in cancer-associated fibroblasts as concurrent therapy to inhibit development of chemoresistant tumors. *Oncogene* 37, 160–173. doi: 10.1038/onc.2017.319
- Chandler, C., Liu, T., Buckanovich, R., and Coffman, L. G. (2019). The double edge sword of fibrosis in cancer. *Transl. Res.* 209, 55–67. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2019.02.006
- Chen, C., Li, Y., Hou, S., Bourbon, P. M., Qin, L., Zhao, K., et al. (2020). Orphan nuclear receptor TR3/Nur77 biologics inhibit tumor growth by targeting angiogenesis and tumor cells. *Microvasc. Res.* 128:103934. doi: 10.1016/j.mvr.2019.103934
- Chen, J., Lopez-Moyado, I. F., Seo, H., Lio, C. J., Hempleman, L. J., Sekiya, T., et al. (2019). NR4A transcription factors limit CAR T cell function in solid tumours. *Nature* 567, 530–534. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-0985-x
- Chen, X., and Song, E. (2019). Turning foes to friends: targeting cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 18, 99–115. doi: 10.1038/s41573-018-0004-1
- Cirri, P., and Chiarugi, P. (2011). Cancer associated fibroblasts: the dark side of the coin. *Am. J. Cancer Res.* 1, 482–497.
- de Groot, A. E., Roy, S., Brown, J. S., Pienta, K. J., and Amend, S. R. (2017). Revisiting seed and soil: examining the primary tumor and cancer cell foraging in metastasis. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 15, 361–370. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-16-0436
- De Palma, M., Biziato, D., and Petrova, T. V. (2017). Microenvironmental regulation of tumour angiogenesis. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 17, 457–474. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2017.51

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

EM conceived the theme of the review. EM and DC wrote the manuscript and finally approved the manuscript.

## FUNDING

This work was funded by School of Medicine, University Limerick, Ireland.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Ruth O'Connor for helpful discussions and for provision of the diagrammatic representation shown in **Figure 1**.

- de Vera, I. M., Giri, P. K., Munoz-Tello, P., Brust, R., Fuhrmann, J., Matta-Camacho, E., et al. (2016). Identification of a binding site for unsaturated fatty acids in the orphan nuclear receptor Nurr1. *ACS Chem. Biol.* 11, 1795–1799. doi: 10.1021/acschembio.6b00037
- de Vera, I. M. S., Munoz-Tello, P., Zheng, J., Dharmarajan, V., Marciano, D. P., Matta-Camacho, E., et al. (2019). Defining a canonical ligand-binding pocket in the orphan nuclear receptor Nurr1. *Structure* 27, 66–77.e65. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2018.10.002
- Dupont, W. D., Parl, F. F., Hartmann, W. H., Brinton, L. A., Winfield, A. C., Worrell, J. A., et al. (1993). Breast cancer risk associated with proliferative breast disease and atypical hyperplasia. *Cancer* 71, 1258–1265. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(19930215)71:4<1258::AID-CNCR2820710415>3. 0.CO;2-I
- Dwyer, R. M., Potter-Beirne, S. M., Harrington, K. A., Lowery, A. J., Hennessy, E., Murphy, J. M., et al. (2007). Monocyte chemotactic protein-1 secreted by primary breast tumors stimulates migration of mesenchymal stem cells. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 13, 5020–5027. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-0 7-0731
- Evans, R. M., and Mangelsdorf, D. J. (2014). Nuclear receptors, RXR, and the big bang. *Cell* 27, 255–266. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.03.012
- Fedorova, O., Petukhov, A., Daks, A., Shuvalov, O., Leonova, T., Vasileva, E., et al. (2019). Orphan receptor NR4A3 is a novel target of p53 that contributes to apoptosis. *Oncogene* 38, 2108–2122. doi: 10.1038/s41388-018-0566-8
- Fontaine, M. J., Shih, H., Schafer, R., and Pittenger, M. F. (2016). Unraveling the mesenchymal stromal cells' paracrine immunomodulatory effects. *Transfus Med. Rev.* 30, 37–43. doi: 10.1016/j.tmrv.2015.11.004
- Ghosh, S., Hu, Y., and Li, R. (2010). Cell density is a critical determinant of aromatase expression in adipose stromal cells. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 118, 231–236. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2009.12.001
- Guo, S., and Deng, C. X. (2018). Effect of stromal cells in tumor microenvironment on metastasis initiation. *Int. J. Biol. Sci.* 14, 2083–2093. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.25720
- Hanna, R. N., Cekic, C., Sag, D., Tacke, R., Thomas, G. D., Nowyhed, H., et al. (2015). Patrolling monocytes control tumor metastasis to the lung. *Science*. 350, 985–990. doi: 10.1126/science.aac9407
- Hawinkels, L. J., Paauwe, M., Verspaget, H. W., Wiercinska, E., Van Der Zon, J. M., Van Der Ploeg, K., et al. (2014). Interaction with colon cancer cells hyperactivates TGF-beta signaling in cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Oncogene* 33, 97–107. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.536
- Hedrick, E., Lee, S. O., Doddapaneni, R., Singh, M., and Safe, S. (2016). NR4A1 Antagonists inhibit beta1-integrin-dependent breast cancer cell migration. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 36, 1383–1394. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00912-15
- Hedrick, E., Lee, S. O., and Safe, S. (2017). The nuclear orphan receptor NR4A1 regulates beta1-integrin expression in pancreatic and colon cancer cells and can be targeted by NR4A1 antagonists. *Mol. Carcinog.* 56, 2066–2075. doi: 10.1002/mc.22662
- Hedrick, E., and Safe, S. (2017). Transforming growth factor  $\beta$ /NR4A1-inducible breast cancer cell migration and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition is

 $p38\alpha$  (mitogen-activated protein kinase 14) dependent. Mol. Cell Biol. 28:18. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00306-17

- Herring, J. A., Elison, W. S., and Tessem, J. S. (2019). Function of Nr4a orphan nuclear receptors in proliferation, apoptosis and fuel utilization across tissues. *Cells* 8:1373. doi: 10.3390/cells8111373
- Hibino, S., Chikuma, S., Kondo, T., Ito, M., Nakatsukasa, H., Omata-Mise, S., et al. (2018). Inhibition of Nr4a receptors enhances antitumor immunity by breaking treg-mediated immune tolerance. *Cancer Res.* 78, 3027–3040. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-3102
- Holla, V. R., Wu, H., Shi, Q., Menter, D. G., and Dubois, R. N. (2011). Nuclear orphan receptor NR4A2 modulates fatty acid oxidation pathways in colorectal cancer. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 30003–30009. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.184697
- Kalluri, R. (2016). The biology and function of fibroblasts in cancer. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 16, 582–598. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2016.73
- Karnoub, A. E., Dash, A. B., Vo, A. P., Sullivan, A., Brooks, M. W., Bell, G. W., et al. (2007). Mesenchymal stem cells within tumour stroma promote breast cancer metastasis. *Nature* 449, 557–563. doi: 10.1038/nature06188
- Lanning, N. J., Castle, J. P., Singh, S. J., Leon, A. N., Tovar, E. A., Sanghera, A., et al. (2017). Metabolic profiling of triple-negative breast cancer cells reveals metabolic vulnerabilities. *Cancer Metab.* 5:6. doi: 10.1186/s40170-017-0168-x
- Lee, S. O., Li, X., Hedrick, E., Jin, U. H., Tjalkens, R. B., Backos, D. S., et al. (2014). Diindolylmethane analogs bind NR4A1 and are NR4A1 antagonists in colon cancer cells. *Mol Endocrinol.* 28, 1729–1739. doi: 10.1210/me.2014-1102
- Leuning, D. G., Beijer, N. R. M., Du Fosse, N. A., Vermeulen, S., Lievers, E., Van Kooten, C., et al. (2018). The cytokine secretion profile of mesenchymal stromal cells is determined by surface structure of the microenvironment. *Sci. Rep.* 8:7716. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-25700-5
- Li, X. M., Wang, J. R., Shen, T., Gao, S. S., He, X. S., Li, J. N., et al. (2017). Nur77 deficiency in mice accelerates tumor invasion and metastasis by facilitating TNFα secretion and lowering CSF-1R expression. *PLoS ONE* 12:e0171347. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0171347
- Li, X. X., Zhi-jing, W., Yu, Z., Yun-feng, G., Peng-bo, Y., Xiang, C., et al. (2018). Nuclear receptor Nur77 facilitates melanoma cell survival under metabolic stress by protecting fatty acid oxidation. *Mol. Cell* 69, 480–492. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2018.01.001
- Lin, S. Y., Yang, J., Everett, A. D., Clevenger, C. V., Koneru, M., Mishra, P. J., et al. (2008). The isolation of novel mesenchymal stromal cell chemotactic factors from the conditioned medium of tumor cells. *Exp. Cell Res.* 314, 3107–3117. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2008.07.028
- Liotta, L. A., and Kohn, E. C. (2001). The microenvironment of the tumour-host interface. *Nature* 411, 375–379. doi: 10.1038/35077241
- Maijenburg, M. W., Van Der Schoot, C. E., and Voermans, C. (2012). Mesenchymal stromal cell migration: possibilities to improve cellular therapy. *Stem Cells Dev.* 21, 19–29. doi: 10.1089/scd.2011.0270
- Marzaioli, V., McMorrow, J. P., Angerer, H., Gilmore, A., Crean, D., Zocco, D., et al. (2012). Histamine contributes to increased RANKL to osteoprotegerin ratio through altered nuclear receptor 4A activity in human chondrocytes. *Arthritis Rheum.* 64, 3290–3301. doi: 10.1002/art. 34554
- McCoy, J. M., Walkenhorst, D. E., McCauley, K. S., Elaasar, H., Everett, J. R., and Mix, K. S. (2015). Orphan nuclear receptor NR4A2 induces transcription of the immunomodulatory peptide hormone prolactin. *J. Inflamm.* 12:13. doi: 10.1186/s12950-015-0059-2
- McMorrow, J. P., and Murphy, E. P. (2011). Inflammation: a role for NR4A orphan nuclear receptors? *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 39, 688–693. doi: 10.1042/BST0390688
- Mix, K. S., McMahon, K., McMorrow, J. P., Walkenhorst, D. E., Smyth, A. M., et al. (2012). Orphan nuclear receptor NR4A2 induces synoviocyte proliferation, invasion, and matrix metalloproteinase 13 transcription. *Arthritis Rheum.* 64, 2126–2136. doi: 10.1002/art.34399
- Mohan, H. M., Aherne, C. M., Rogers, A. C., Baird, A. W., Winter, D. C., and Murphy, E. P. (2012). Molecular pathways: the role of NR4A orphan nuclear receptors in cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 18, 3223–3228. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-2953
- Munoz-Tello, P., Lin, H., Khan, P., de Vera, I. M. S., Kamenecka, T. M., and Kojetin, D. J. (2020). Assessment of NR4A ligands that directly bind and modulate the orphan nuclear receptor Nurr1. J. Med. Chem. 63, 15639–15654. doi: 10.1021/acs.jmedchem.0c00894

- Murphy, E. P., and Crean, D. (2015). Molecular interactions between NR4A orphan nuclear receptors and NF-kappaB are required for appropriate inflammatory responses and immune cell homeostasis. *Biomolecules* 5, 1302–1318. doi: 10.3390/biom5031302
- Naing, A., Infante, J. R., Papadopoulos, K. P., Chan, I. H., Shen, C., and Ratti, N. P. (2018). PEGylated IL-10 (pegilodecakin) induces systemic immune activation, CD8(+) T cell invigoration and polyclonal T cell expansion in cancer patients. *Cancer Cell* 34, 775–791.e773. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2018.10.007
- Nissen, N. I., Karsdal, M., and Willumsen, N. (2019). Collagens and cancer associated fibroblasts in the reactive stroma and its relation to cancer biology. J. Exp. Clin. Cancer Res. 38:115. doi: 10.1186/s13046-019-1110-6
- Palumbo-Zerr, K., Zerr, P., Distler, A., Fliehr, J., Mancuso, R., Huang, J., et al. (2015). Orphan nuclear receptor NR4A1 regulates transforming growth factorβ signaling and fibrosis. *Nat. Med.* 2, 150–158. doi: 10.1038/nm.3777
- Safe, S., Jin, U. H., Hedrick, E., Reeder, A., and Lee, S. O. (2014). Minireview: role of orphan nuclear receptors in cancer and potential as drug targets. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 28, 157–172. doi: 10.1210/me.2013-1291
- Safe, S., Jin, U. H., Morpurgo, B., Abudayyeh, A., Singh, M., and Tjalkens, R. B. (2016). Nuclear receptor 4A (NR4A) family - orphans no more. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 157, 48–60. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2015.04.016
- Santi, A., Kugeratski, F. G., and Zanivan, S. (2018). Cancer associated fibroblasts: the architects of stroma remodeling. *Proteomics* 18:e1700167. doi: 10.1002/pmic.201700167
- Semenza, G. L. (2010). Defining the role of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 in cancer biology and therapeutics. Oncogene 29, 625–634. doi: 10.1038/onc.2009.441
- Shi, X., Ye, H., Yao, X., and Gao, Y. (2017). The involvement and possible mechanism of NR4A1 in chondrocyte apoptosis during osteoarthritis. *Am. J. Transl. Res.* 9, 746–754.
- Spaeth, E., Klopp, A., Dembinski, J., Andreeff, M., and Marini, F. (2008). Inflammation and tumor microenvironments: defining the migratory itinerary of mesenchymal stem cells. *Gene Ther*. 15, 730–738. doi: 10.1038/gt.2008.39
- To, S. K., Zeng, W. J., Zeng, J. Z., and Wong, A. S. (2014). Hypoxia triggers a Nur77-beta-catenin feed-forward loop to promote the invasive growth of colon cancer cells. *Br. J. Cancer* 110, 935–945. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2013.816
- Valkenburg, K. C., de Groot, A. E., and Pienta, K. J. (2018). Targeting the tumour stroma to improve cancer therapy. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 15, 366–381. doi: 10.1038/s41571-018-0007-1
- Wan, P. K., Siu, M. K., Leung, T. H., Mo, X. T., Chan, K. K., and Ngan, H. Y. (2020). Role of Nurr1 in carcinogenesis and tumor immunology: a state of the art review. *Cancers* 12:3044. doi: 10.3390/cancers12103044
- Wang, D., and Dubois, R. N. (2018). Role of prostanoids in gastrointestinal cancer. J. Clin. Invest. 128, 2732–2742. doi: 10.1172/JCI97953
- Wang, J. R., Gan, W. J., Li, X. M., Zhao, Y. Y., Li, Y., Lu, X. X., et al. (2014). Orphan nuclear receptor Nur77 promotes colorectal cancer invasion and metastasis by regulating MMP-9 and E-cadherin. *Carcinogenesis* 35, 2474–2484. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgu157
- Wang, W., Marinis, J. M., Beal, A. M., Savadkar, S., Wu, Y., Khan, M., et al. (2018). RIP1 kinase drives macrophage-mediated adaptive immune tolerance in pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Cell* 34, 757–774.e757. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2018.10.006
- Wu, H., Bi, J., Peng, Y., Huo, L., Yu, X., and Yang, Z. (2017). Nuclear receptor NR4A1 is a tumor suppressor down-regulated in triple-negative breast cancer. *Oncotarget* 8, 54364–54377. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.17532
- Wu, H., Lin, Y., Li, W., Sun, Z., Gao, W., and Zhang, H. (2011). Regulation of Nur77 expression by beta-catenin and its mitogenic effect in colon cancer cells. *FASEB J.* 25, 192–205. doi: 10.1096/fj.10-166462
- Wu, L., Amarachintha, S., Xu, J., Oley, F. Jr., and Du, W. (2018). Mesenchymal COX2-PG secretome engages NR4A-WNT signalling axis in haematopoietic progenitors to suppress anti-leukaemia immunity. *Br. J. Haematol.* 183, 445–456. doi: 10.1111/bjh.15548
- Xiong, Y., Ran, J., Xu, L., Tong, Z., Adel Abdo, M. S., Ma, C., et al. (2020). Reactivation of NR4A1 restrains chondrocyte inflammation and ameliorates osteoarthritis in rats. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 8:158. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.00158
- Yamauchi, M., Barker, T. H., Gibbons, D. L., and Kurie, J. M. (2018). The fibrotic tumor stroma. J. Clin. Invest. 128, 16–25. doi: 10.1172/JCI93554
- Yang, P. B., Hou, P. P., Liu, F. Y., Hong, W. B., Chen, H. Z., and, Sun, X. Y., et al. (2020). Blocking PPARγ interaction facilitates Nur77 interdiction of fatty acid

uptake and suppresses breast cancer progression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 117, 27412–27422. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2002997117

- Ye, T., Peng, J., Liu, X., Hou, S., Niu, G., Li, Y., et al. (2019). Orphan nuclear receptor TR3/Nur77 differentially regulates the expression of integrins in angiogenesis. *Microvasc. Res.* 122, 22–33. doi: 10.1016/j.mvr.2018.10.011
- Zeng, H., Qin, L., Zhao, D., Tan, X., Manseau, E. J., Van Hoang, M., et al. (2006). Orphan nuclear receptor TR3/Nur77 regulates VEGF-A-induced angiogenesis through its transcriptional activity. *J. Exp. Med.* 203, 719–729. doi: 10.1084/jem.20051523
- Zhao, Y., and Bruemmer, D. (2010). NR4A orphan nuclear receptors: transcriptional regulators of gene expression in metabolism and vascular biology. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 30, 1535–1541. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.191163
- Zheng, Y., Comaills, V., Burr, R., Boulay, G., Miyamoto, D. T., Wittner, B. S., et al. (2019). COX-2 mediates tumor-stromal prolactin signaling to initiate tumorigenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 116, 5223–5232. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1819303116
- Zhou, F., Drabsch, Y., Dekker, T. J., De Vinuesa, A. G., Li, Y., Hawinkels, L. J., et al. (2014). Nuclear receptor NR4A1 promotes breast cancer invasion and metastasis by activating TGF-beta signalling. *Nat. Commun.* 5:3388. doi: 10.1038/ncomms 4388

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Crean and Murphy. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

